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Corporate

Profile

Automated Systems Holdings Limited (“ASL" or the “Group”) was listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited in 1997 (Stock Code: 771). The Group's three
main DevSecOps businesses are innovative solutions, intelligent cybersecurity, and
integrated managed services. The Innovative Solutions business is offering holistic
business solutions to accelerate customers’ digital transformation. Intelligent
Cybersecurity business is specialized in digital asset protection & risks prevention.
Integrated Managed Services business is to manage clients’ IT infrastructure to
cloud platform in the entire IT lifecycle with its world-class, end-to-end and industry-

specific services.

The Group's primary business operations are located in Hong Kong and Macau,
with a presence extending to the Asia Pacific, Europe and the U.S. With ASL's
numerous offshore development centers and service centers in Asia Pacific, over
a thousand of high-caliber experts, the Group is a professional and trustworthy

unified technology services partner.
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Unified for Success!

mal e E > HEIRK

Our Purpose

BB R

Our Vision

HKfipEESR

Our Mission

K fFIinvfEes

Our Core Value

BinZ o EE

We'll build a bridge connecting innovative technology to your business
environment.

ERERBR > BRI  BREGEFNERAES -

A unified digital world, with technology that makes life better and creates
value for people, organizations and society.

BE—EHFLRAHR  BAXEEEE > HEAA - BENLZAEEE-

Become the Unified Technology Services leader bringing success to multiple
sectors worldwide.

AR S EEZNREN R EESE » BIEMRNERRK -

Our core values define us, driving our actions and shaping a culture of
excellence and innovation.

PR OVBERRER T EXNEXNES » 153IAETAER - B sl
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TRUST =¥

Transform &%
Respect &
Unity &1F
Sustainability 54&
Top-notch =itk



Unified Technology Services - UTS

MERERFBE(UTS)

Proven in various industry sectors, our UTS empowers and accelerates an organization's digital transformation by applying the
DevSecOps model to deliver ongoing digital value and achieve unified goals

RFMUTSEREITEENZERY > BIBREADevSecOpsE R sRiR 1

it}

Tech unifying, consulting and
business planning, opportunity
scoping, solutions development,
data management, and artificial
intelligence (“Al") implementation/
cloud strategy

Unified
Technology

TRENHBUBELERAFNER - MR MEE B HEEE

Risk evaluation, cloud security, data
center security, threat prevention,
device management, and threat
intelligence

RBgEHE ~ BR2E ~ FEPLRE
RBRE - RETE > UKBEREE

BARLS © FEARITSARE ~ T Services ol
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ATRAERER,BiR RS

EEEEIRT Operations GD

Ongoing systems optimization, Al operation, ITSM

management, managed services, integration services,

and opportunity monitoring
FENRGREE s ATEEE
ERRTS » MRS BT

Reasons to Believe {H{SYI2H

Unified teamwork B[} R

Our cohesive unified team with multiple skillsets and rich
industry know-how, build a bridge connecting innovative
technology to your business environment.

RPEE - EZER S RNRERSENTENS » cH(F
AERBR > NAAMME > BEEAEFHNERSS

Unified resources &EE4&

We support our customers’ business strategy, needs and
development by integrating resources across different
regions.

RMEEEATAMENERSIFEREBRE - ERRERE -

# ~ ITSMEIE « BIERF -

Unified technology R &H%

We empower your integrated digital journey with one stop
coverage, sector-focused and converged cutting edge
technologies.

HFIRE-IENNRT - BRETREXLREAIRE » AR
BUARE BB Z IR

Unified goals XFB1&

We create value for all our stakeholders with trust, experience
and technologies, and chart a better digitalized future
together.
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01 Group Performance Overview

EEIES

- ( Summary HE ) N

Revenue of the Group’s core business (namely in Hong Kong o ERZOET (BIEBREMIE NME 2~ 25) WA RS
and other Asia Pacific regions) recorded HK$2,373.0 million, 2,373.0B8#T  REFRIFER
representing a growth as compared to last year

The Group's gross profit was HK$246.0 million EEFRNEN2246.08EET

Adjusted EBITDA of the Group's core business EEZOEBCTEEBITDAZES110.6 BB AT

recorded HK$110.6 million

The Group recorded a profit for the year of HK$149.3 million, EEFERNGEANA149388B8 T REFE1313BEAT

an increase of 13.7% compared to HK$131.3 million last year. EE13.7% o ZIERFEZHARF ERAKEGEEA
The increase was primarily attributable to an increase in BIEBEREFIER

interest income and an improved share of results of
associate as compared to last year

\ Y,
FLLLEELEETE i Group Consolidated Financial Result SEEATSBATEEELS (LTI

Revenue Profit for The Year
KA FERiaFl
A 0.5% HK$2,373.0 A 13.7% HK$149.3

(2023: HK$2,360.4) (2023: HK$131.3)

Basic Earnings Per Share Final Dividend
SRER G REARG S

(HK Cents 7#1lL) (HK Cents #1ll)

17.91 3.0

(2023: 15.75) (2023: 3.0)

LECLEERELEEEEEEEEEE L LT T T Core Business #ZaChZEFE 1L EEEEEEE T T

Orders T - System Integration & Orders J& - Unified Technology Revenue
Other Businesses R4l K H Services RS R ARTE KA
W 2.5% HK$1,221.3 A 6.0% HK$1,319.0 A 0.5% HK$2,373.0
(2023: HK$1,252.0) (2023: HK$1,244.4) (2023: HK$2,360.4)
Adjusted EBITDA * Adjusted Net Profit * Adjusted Operating Cash Flow *
#ZEAEE EBITDA * KRR * RREKERENRE *
¥ 1.2% HK$110.6 A 9.4% HK$87.1 A 105.7% HK$124.8
(2023: HK$111.9) (2023: HK$79.6) (2023: HK$60.7)

Interests in Associates & Non-Operating Items Bf& A ) RIEEEIEH

Non-Operating Items JE{EEIEH Interests in Associates & ATE R

Adjusted Costs

T Corporate & R Share of Results of Associates Net gain on Disposal and Deemed Disposal of Partial

Interests in Associates, net of tax

S R B B AR A PEAEH B AR IR IR E R B E AT B2 FRA
HK$(2.8) HK$3.9 HK$61.1
(2023: HK$(8.0)) (2023: HK$(1.7)) (2023: HK$61.1)

Please turn to the last page of the section to read notes. s5EIZI L E & > B E4RRIMT5F o
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Innovative
Solutions Business

BT R RS RER

DevSecOps Core Business Highlights

DevSecOps 1% EFH 5

Application Development FERTZFRIZ -
Enhance Customer Experience with Innovative Applications FIBEIF ERERNIRAZFEEE (Dev)

Win Cases

+ Increase in orders for application development and IT outsourcing services
In terms of sector performance, the Group secure numerous orders from the government and
healthcare sectors, which many involved the development of public services for the benefit of all
Hong Kong citizens, including a medical consultation system
Won a benchmark Chinese-brand technology project from a disciplined force, providing a large-
scale human resources management system, with a contract sum of over HK$100 million

Key Developments

+ Continuing to focus in specific departments

S]]
FERREIIREE « BB IMIRFSETEE M
TERR L BEAVHFRERELSE > HPHFZBEEIRFAEEREBTRINQALRT > 8%
—BREEZIERSR
I RMEBFE-—BRTE2TERERIER » IREARANEREERN » SREHEA—E
BT

BHEE
TN BB PIF R

Intelligent
Cybersecurity
Services Business

BRI R ES

Cybersecurity B4R 2 -
Protect Your Assets with Intelligent Security Technology iZRE R 2 KT RE TN EE (Sec)

Win Cases
Addressed demand from threat detection, risk response, and security managed services
In terms of sector performance, the Group received a large-scale 7x24 network security
monitoring services from the government
Security Operation Center (SOC) business has grown significantly, benefiting from government's
push to legislate for the security of critical infrastructure computer systems last year
The Group’s SOC in Guangzhou has successfully obtained the Level 3 certification of Information
System Security Level Protection issued by the Ministry of Public Security of the People’s Republic
of China, meeting the highest security management standards for non-banking organisations

Key Developments
Completed the hardware and intelligent deployment of SOC services in the Greater Bay Area

e ES]

c WETXERBEBEA - EEEHRZE2EERTBER
ITERIR L > BEMESBIRE AL 724N 2 2 B IEARTS
Z2EERL (SO0 EBREIL R » REREFHRESH DA REMBERRTEMARZEHNER
EEURBEMNNSOCERFEARANBAZMBEENEEAMZEZRIRES ZMNE » ERSFE
THRENRSZEEERE

ERIEE
TR AE & SOCARFS VB Fe B AL B E

Integrated
Managed Services
Business
BB EM
EERBES

Omni-channel Managed Services & EEEIBRFS -
Simplify Your IT Operations to Increase Efficiency f{E/SRITEIBLUIREME (Ops)

Win Cases

+  Received numerous projects in ITSM, DevSecOps, and managed services
In terms of sector performance, the Group successfully received a large managed services project
from a financial institution
Accomplished great achievement in the aviation industry, including the provision of large-scale
managed services for an airline that has been cooperating with the Group for nearly 20 years
Steady development of the Group’s managed services, with the expansion of the scope of services
from basic maintenance to complex ITSM projects

Key Developments
Established an Offshore Development Center in Zhuhai in the second half of 2024

e ES]
FERDITSM ~ DevSecOps K BEERFEHIER
TEREHE > MEE-HKSREBN AL ERRFER
EMEERSEERR » BEA—RAFT20FENME R BIRHEAEERS
BERBREERE > REBENENEREREEENITOIMIER

ERIEE
R NFETNHFEERERIUBEREMERL



epening the Capability of ITAI anc

03 Unified Technology Services
#CIER R A S ERFSEED

(REBAITERNBSRENER FRYEREEEERBEERR

T Promoting integration and innovative application of IT products from
Mainland China and the rest of the world, expanding Chinese brands
ecosystem to serve Greater Bay Area clients

O Bl

RSt 8 BENARGR
EIFRRITSE (M0U) BB ~

AACEAEE ] SI AR E MR ETERAE REH A LSRR KBV E

Deepening technical capability, introduction of Chinese brand for product testing,
exploring business opportunities in Al technology

B TE R EEE 5 S \ s
o B W EEBTHS E—TEE T =lF0y
— BRI S ERAR R =
Forge partnership with the leader Precisely addressing the needs of Further enhancing

in artificial intelligence - SenseTime the Hong Kong market the “Center of Excellence”



Sector-focus and Expansion in

04 the Greater Bay Area and Asia Pacific
RETE EFEE REX

RIESABBTEEH

LI actively participated in activities within NN
our competitive sectors

RITERA - BRAERFEN@RETR

Further enhance its brand image in the government, healthcare and finance sectors

RECIORREZIL 7 HEMENSE ZBEFFRZE O

Established the fourth Offshore Development Center (ODC) in the west bank of Pearl River Estuary

A 1t Sy S Ut Y C oSN D VA

Established a new office in the United Kingdom in Q4 2024



05 Business Performance of Associates

BE AR EHRIRA

An Associate with business in Europe and the U.S.

BR M2

ST

Grid Dynamics Holdings, Inc. (“GDH")

(HK$ million, USD/HKD exchange rate of 7.76 is used for conversion B&HB7T » UE1ETR7.768THH)

Revenue Non-GAAP EBITDA Non-GAAP Net Income
A JEiEFAE T AIEBITDA JEiE R s EREF
A 12.0% A 18.6% A 17.5%
$2,721.7 $407.4 $289.0

Business Developments

Achieved a record-high annual revenue in 2024, and reached
a milestone of over US$100 million in revenue in the fourth
quarter

Once again achieved its highest-ever billable engineering
headcount, a strong indicator of future growth

Particularly strong performance in the retail sector, along
with revenue growth in the financial sector

ERRE

o ZEIEF WARITTRABRES S EREOSEEWA
1B ETT

o HHENIRAEBHEBRXRE THE  BERALEENRY
Eip

o TETENRRRY  RESMITENRAREE LA

One of the Major Associates in Asia Pacific -

FEEEEEEEEEEEE e e gﬁtigﬂ
i-Sprint Holdings Limited (“i-Sprint”)

(HK$ million, SGD/HKD exchange rate of 5.71 is used for conversion BEA7T » UE1HINFITRS. 718 TIRE)

Revenue

’l-.\\_.lz_ RN N RN RN RN

WA EBITDA
A 13.4% W 17.2% A 22.9%
$145.8 $34.6 $10.2

Business Developments

Signed a memorandum of understanding with Tencent to
collaborate on the development of cybersecurity solutions

Earned ongoing industry recognitions in the field of
cybersecurity

ELER

o HAREMIhRTRBETSE  SFREREERERRSE

o EREREETEEEERE



Outlook
06

KRERERE

Optimize operating system in three dimensions: technical
capabilities, industry breakthroughs, and regional
expansion

Continuously strengthen DevSecOps integration and
delivery capabilities while expanding the talent pool in the
Greater Bay Area

Plan to expand into Southeast Asia and established
offices in Malaysia and Australia in February 2025, further
promoting DevSecOps managed services maturity model,
platform-driven services, and sector-focus solutions

Establish a cross-regional, full-stack government and
healthcare industry business groups

Enhance pre-sales, development, and after-sales service
capabilities for the banking, finance, and insurance
industries to meet market demands

Accelerate application of innovative technologies, such as Al
to enhance market competitiveness comprehensively

ERAMTEEN] ~ TERWREEMR=ZAEERECEERER

Fi&RIEDevSecOpsBEHRMRES » WRAE R ANERE

FENRERERER > YN S - AF_ATESERATKE
MERIL TIERR > E—F#ESHDevSecOpsEERHBMAEIR
B TR bRBRITERRT REVHEE

RUBGE - ERENBNREETEEERN

RFHRIT - SMRRSTENER  BRREEBISES > 1
BRIHRER

IMEATEEZARRMNER > 2EREATERFEN

Strive to be a leading
Unified Technology Services Partner in the region

NS EMNELNRHSERRFESS
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Unified
for success
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Adjusted EBITDA: Adjusted Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation,
and Amortisation (“Adjusted EBITDA") is calculated based on profit for the year
excluding interest income and expenses, tax, depreciation and amortisation,
fair value loss on investment properties, equity-settled share-based payments
expense, share of results of associates, net gain on disposal of interests in
associates, net gain on deemed disposal of partial interest in an associate,
one-off professional fees and remeasurement of employee benefit obligations.

Adjusted Net Profit: Adjusted Net Profit is calculated based on Adjusted
EBITDA adding back depreciation and amortisation and income tax expense
and tax adjustments from the equity-settled share-based payments expense,
net gain on deemed disposal of the partial interest in an associate and
remeasurement of employee benefit obligations.

Adjusted Operating Cash Flow: Operating cash flow of core business is
calculated based on net cash from operating activities of the Group excluding
one-off professional fees, tax paid/refund in relation to disposal of the partial
interest in an associate and including the impact on cash flow of time deposits.

Adjusted Costs Related to Corporate & Others: Mainly represent the fair
value change on investment properties, equity-settled share-based payments
expense, one-off professional fees, tax adjustments from the gain on disposal
of the partial interest in an associate, finance costs and income and the
remeasurement of employee benefit obligations.

System Integration & Other Businesses: Being the business of information
technology in supplying of information technology and associated products
carried out by the Group, and Professional Service carried out by subsidiaries,
other than Automated Systems (H.K.) Limited.

Unified Technology Services: Being the business of information technology
in providing systems integration, software and consulting services, engineering
support for products and solutions and managed services carried out by a
subsidiary, Automated Systems (H.K.) Limited.

*  The information is not a measure required by or presented in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("“HKFRS"). The use of this non-HKFRS measure
has limitations as an analytical tool, and you should not consider it in isolation from,
or as a substitute for analysis of, our results or operations or financial condition as
reported under HKFRS.

LZRMEEBITDA : LREEERREIN « ITEE R MHAIFH
58 (TEHEEBITDAY) T E R F AT S UL
ARFS ~ 8~ FrERBE « REVEZARE
BEEE - UROAERAINRES « BEBHERS
EE - HEMEQARREZ BN  RIFLE—/H
BERATMOREZ BFWE - —RUEBXEAKE
BRMNEEEMTEFE -

BAREEN . CARGRMNZESBLENKHEE
EBITDANNEITEE K ~ FTSMERARURMD AE
WMWY« REAHE—HBE AR DEE
2R R REEENEXEHMtE

KARKERERE | ROEBLLKERSRED
BERNAEREREERRE RS WA FRNB—X
MEEER  BAREKREQATMORDERZIRE
Sl REREEEREFRHRERZZE

EHEEEREMBBEERRE : T2RAHKRE
MEZ RABELES  URODASERZABIMAX
—RUFXEER HEBMEQATROBEZ MR
B WHERARBAREERMNEEEMTE -

RAEENREMER  IAEBEEBREARKER
RABERZEARREBRBTF AR EBHRMR (B
B)BRABMINEMFRABIRMEZ BERT -

MERHXIRT : R TFRAREHAR (FB)BRA
BRMHEAREN - RERBEBRT - ERKRBRS
R TR AREERG 2 EMREER -

*OBEHLFEAREESEMBREER ((SBMBERSEE
Bl ) RENFEBHLFRESEHFBREENZT -
FRZIFEBYHREENF BRI IAFERR
Mo METAERE B E8RABINRMAREEEY
BIRERERPT2RVEERFHRRIEERETAR
DITEREERMBRINELTA -
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Quality Policy of ASL
HEIRGFENEBEKRS

As a professional and trustworthy unified technology services partner,
we strive to bring success across multiple sectors worldwide. With unified
teamwork, technology and resources, we endeavor to accelerate digital
transformation by applying DevSecOps model and remain steadfast to our
core value “TRUST", so as to deliver ongoing digital value and achieve unified
goals.

“T" - Transform

Transform in view of new ways of working. New capabilities and advanced
technologies are the way forward in the dynamic business environment. We
believe technologies and agile working methods create opportunities and
enable us to tackle challenges and change.

“R"” - Respect

Respect is at the heart of our interactions. We recognize and value differences
among individuals, their roles, and responsibilities. We promote cooperation,
understanding the impact of our actions on others, and building strong and
successful relationships in the workplace.

“U” - Unity

Collaboration and teamwork are essential for us. We foster a culture that
values trust, respect, and collaboration. We appreciate diverse viewpoints,
share experiences, and contribute knowledge, acknowledging that the
collective effort of our talented team leads to greater achievements.

“S" - Sustainability

Embracing accountability and conducting business responsibly are our guiding
principles. We endeavor to provide advanced technology services to drive
long-term success, foster career growth, and build a comprehensive partner
ecosystem, all while creating a sustainable future for businesses, society, and
the environment.

“T" - Top-notch

Excellence is our standard. We are driven by a commitment to deliver high-
quality work. Our focus is on doing things right the first time, striving for
excellence in every endeavor. With a continuous improvement mindset, we
constantly seek to refine our processes and elevate our performance.

Automated Systems Holdings Limited and Guangzhou Automated Systems Limited
BHRAEEARARREMNIEXEESRRERAR

& cMMIDEV /5"

Capability Maturity Model Integration for Development (CMMI)
Version 3.0 without SAM -Maturity Level 5 -DEV
Software Development and Support Service Organization

BBRS (FR)FRATDERENLEXEESRRAMRAT

Automated Systems (H.K.) Limited

FABXETENMARKERHELH > RATER
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ELM Computer Technologies Limited
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Service Delivery
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Certificate No.: CC 5337
Sales Operation Division
SHERIEIEER

Certificate No.: CC5406
IT Service Center
Security Operation Center
EARH AR
HERZ2EEDL

Certificate No.: HK12/00068
Security Operation Center
HRZ2EEDL

Certificate No.: CC 3268
Service Delivery
BR¥S AT



Sustainable Teamwork and Community Engagement

mmE -1 8k 4B

In 2024, The Group consistently progressed in its dedication to sustainability, focusing the —Z U4 » AEBIFEAF(CAIIFES
creation of lasting value for shareholders, customers, employees, and the wider community. E&s » EXARE - FH - BT R
Our strategic approach to incorporating sustainable practices across our operations has ZaAERHHEE - BBTSNHRLE > &
strengthened the confidence and backing of our stakeholders, setting us up for ongoing FISFSEERMAZERZ » AR
EBFHNERERNEERZFT > Ak
EEBERRIMEEREEMR -

success and resilience moving forward.

ASL continued to make a positive impact on society through our expanding Graduation Trainee program, which provided mentorship,
skills training, and educational opportunities to empower youth, showcasing our enhanced effort in contributing to society.
Additionally, we sponsored the CoolThink@]C Competition for the fifth consecutive year, supporting various educational programs to
develop their computational thinking skills, inspiring the next generation.

BPRMEBTHRERNEXLIEEHINENLIELBIBTE > ZS 2 AFTRAREEMEE - KESINHSHE > LARGEMFT -
BRARTHRMESMHEFEMNMNEET - it RMEEFHEED 28/ )\ BLEEFRMLEE ) > XFEEHBEE > ERMMAN
EBEBMES > BB T

Friday Lunchtime Light Turn-off

ASL made strides in environmental sustainability through our “Green Activities within ASL Group” initiative, promoting the “Reduce,
Reuse, Recycle” (3Rs) approach and encouraging employees to “Recycle More, Dump Less.” We vigorously promoted the reduction
of disposable item usage, particularly in office areas, significantly reducing the supply of paper cups. Employees were also
encouraged to adopt energy-saving practices, such as turning off lights during Friday lunchtimes, reducing our environmental
footprint and raising awareness about sustainability.

BEHRGES ASL @ERFEZHIHITREIFELRSFENETER  #E TR~ EEA ~ B GR) RE) » THEHET %6
W DEE)  RMANRERLD —REVRNER > BHRENRALAER > BERL THRMNMEE - B > WAZEE TRAMER
i GIENEE DA AR R - TR D IRIG B BRI & B I R M AYEDAT o

Governance Training Program

&)

e

Anti-Fraud

Anti-Corruption Anti-Competitive

ASL demonstrated a strong commitment to employee
well-being and development through regular workshops, such
as horticultural therapy workshops, to help employees
enhance mental health, and foster personal growth. We also
introduced the “Meet with CEO" event, fostering open
communication, transparency, trust, and collaboration
between leadership and staff.

BHAMRRTHE T RUAMERNEE RS > BB T RN
Mg flNMEZARIFY > UEBETRACERE > I
TREBARR o RFEHL T8 CEO B 1ED) » (RERTEHR
BT ZEMNREBEE  BRE -~ EEEEF-

ASL conducted online and offline workshops on anti-corruption,
anti-fraud, and anti-competitive behavior. These training
sessions equipped our employees with the knowledge and tools
to uphold the highest standards of integrity and compliance,
ensuring our organization operates with professionalism and
responsibility.

BHRGEM TR LRETHRES « RFFMIRRITANIME
o BEATRRRERMANE T AE THERSHEM S HEEY
MFATH > BEERMVESEUSEEN S TENRBEEF -

Automated Systems Holdings Limited BE1R4AEBMBRAT
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

WANG Weihang (Chairman)
WANG Yueou (Chief Executive Officer)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

ZHANG Bingxia

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE

DIRECTORS

PAN Xinrong
DENG Jianxin
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DENG Jianxin (Chairman)
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PAN Xinrong (Chairman)
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WANG Weihang (Chairman)
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DENG Jianxin
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RESULTS
£

Financial Summary

R 75 45 22

For the year ended 31st December

BHE+_"_A=1+—HLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—EClUE “EBEC=F “EBEHF B _TTHF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET TH7T FET FHET
From continuing and REFERE
discontinued operations R iR IHESE TS
Revenue A 2,372,976 2,360,425 2,215,486 2,049,620 2,155,459
Profit before income tax PRPISIRAT A A 168,087 148,914 119,386 29,909 1,143,206
Income tax expense P8z (18,765) (17,595) (17,801) (25,777)  (287,064)
Profit for the year FREF] 149,322 131,319 101,585 4,132 856,142
Loss for the year attributable FEPER RIS
to non-controlling interests FAEE = = S = (156)
Profit for the year attributable to RATRAFTFE A
equity holders of the Company FEAL Pz 149,322 131,319 101,585 4,132 856,298
BEREE
=]
At 31st December
®+ZB=+—H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
CECNE —T=fF T HF T —F “IZTTHF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TF#ET FHET TaT FET FHET
Total assets mEE 3,276,421 3,110,894 3,032,283 2,886,677 3,247,997
Total liabilities wald 999,513 933,578 972,464 896,352 1,054,204
Equity attributable to equity RABREFFE A
holders of the Company FE(G 2,276,908 2,177,316 2,059,819 1,990,325 2,193,793

Automated Systems Holdings Limited BEVRAHAEBRBRAE 7
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Chairman’s Statement

EFREERS

market.

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”), | am pleased to present to
the shareholders the annual report of Automated Systems Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively “ASL" or the “Group”).

In 2024, Hong Kong's economy grew moderately amidst uncertainties in the
external environment and the challenge of talent drain. Despite this, the Group
capitalized on business opportunities with the business recording a stable
performance. The Group’s total revenue in 2024 were HK$2,373.0 million,
representing a growth as compared to last year. The Group recorded a profit
for the year attributable to the Company’s equity holders of HK$149.3 million,
representing an increase of 13.7% over last year's HK$131.3 million. The
increase was primarily attributable to an increase in interest income and an
improved share of results of associates as compared to last year. The Group’s
financial position remained healthy, with bank balances and cash and time
deposits of approximately HK$714.4 million in total. The Board has resolved to
recommend the payment of a final dividend of 3.0 HK cents per share.

Annual Report 2024 ¥

FR o AEBFEEFRBKFE &
& E—TERIETERMHEE  RBEHES
EXERE > WIRED AT °

During the year, the Group continued to
elevate its service standards, focus on
industry development, further enhance
the ecosystem for Chinese brands, actively
expand its business into the Greater Bay
Area, and extend its reach into the Asia-Pacific

BT

Mr. WANG Weihang
Chairman
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The orders newly secured by the Group in Hong Kong and other Asia
Pacific regions is similar to last year. In the era of cloud computing and
artificial intelligence, the Group's three core businesses - Innovative
Solutions (Application Development, Dev), Intelligent Cybersecurity Services
(Cybersecurity, Sec) and Integrated Managed Services (Omni-channel Managed
Services, Ops) - all achieved steady growth in its service revenue when
compared with last year.

During the year, to further enhance customer service quality and improve
customer loyalty, the Group continued to focus on industry demands and
actively expanded its business. We have successfully secured multiple large-
scale orders in various key sectors such as government, healthcare, banking,
finance, securities and insurance, aviation and education, fully demonstrating
the Group's deep understanding of customer application scenarios and all-
round DevSecOps service capabilities.

In addition, with the further integration of Hong Kong with Mainland China,
the Hong Kong Government's active promotion of the development of digital
economy and the construction of Hong Kong Smart City, the Group has
been keen to capture the trend of the market's application of diversified
technologies, including both Information Technology Application Innovation
(ITAl) products from mainland China and the products from the rest of the
world. Leveraging its rich experience in serving international organizations,
the Group invested substantial resources in 2024 to master over Chinese-
brand technologies and to explore how these innovative technologies can be
applied to government departments and organizations in various industries
to enhance service quality and operational efficiency. In the second half of
the year, the Group further enhanced the ecosystem of Chinese brands by
joining hands with Kylinsoft and SenseTime Group Inc., two leading companies
in Mainland China, to explore business opportunities. Notably, the Group's
success in winning a benchmark Chinese-brand technology project fully
demonstrated the Group's leading position in technology integration and
innovative applications.

Chairman’s Statement

FEHBRSE

RERTSEREMTAMEZ NETEREF
HE  FEEAERALSE A) B AEED
ZIEROER - BIRTTERRAARE (ERERMHE
Application Development » Dev) ~ EHEEARLR Z 2R
75 (4848 2 2 Cybersecurity » Sec) B MR ERR
BIERE (2 REBERFOmMNI-channel Managed
Services » Ops) Z ARFEWM A BLEFABLL » 98B F
BIEE -

FR BE—TREAZTFRBEEENRESEL BH
B> ZEBFEUTERERAED RIBILEX
5o RPN BUF ~ B - R1T - &/~ 55F 7
B MEREESLEEEEMINESLEAR
B ROBRTN T AEEHEAERBSINEZE
R K2 5 IBIDevSecOpsARFEAES] ©

b4 BEEEBEPEANME—TRE » BTREIE
EHURFRELERSREERER  AEEHNE
REITIHH LRl 0 BEBERNERRTERA
# (T{5811) (Information Technology Application
Innovation, ITANE @& EISMNE RN ERBE o /&
EBTRBERKENEELR  2xEEAR_-Z
“HERAXREER  FAREBPE QBRI 0 I
B SEUN AT 15 L B B R 1T FE AR IS BT BB P e B AT 2
B URARBEEMNEENE - TH¥F» K&
EiE— S EB(CRE RABERRE - B E R R
BEHEESEERMBERATEF > HEMED
o B —RNE  AERRIIRESETFE2FE
MERRIEE > TABR T AEETERMTE S EA
R R GBI RSB ITHAL o
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Chairman’s Statement

FEHRSE

During the year, the Group continued to enhance its service level, focus on
sector development and actively expand its presence in the Greater Bay Area
as well as Asia Pacific regions. As such, the Group's Security Operation Center
(SOQ) in Guangzhou has successfully obtained the Level 3 certification of
Information System Security Level Protection issued by the Ministry of Public
Security of the People’s Republic of China and completed the hardware and
intelligent deployment of SOC services in the Greater Bay Area. In addition,
the Group continued to facilitate its strategy of platform-driven service and
establish its fourth Offshore Development Center (ODC) in the Greater Bay
Area on the west bank of the Pearl River Estuary in September to undertake
software development projects in Hong Kong, Macau and overseas. In the
fourth quarter, the Group further expanded its international presence with
the establishment of an office in the United Kingdom to accelerate business
expansion in the Asia Pacific regions and to enhance cost-effectiveness,
technical capabilities and operational resilience.

Grid Dynamics Holdings, Inc. (“GDH,” NASDAQ ticker symbol: GDYN), an
associate with business in Europe and the U.S., achieved a record-high annual
revenue in 2024, reaching a milestone of over US$100.0 million in revenue
in the fourth quarter. According to the Form 10-K for the year ended 31st
December 2024 of GDH published on the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission website, the total revenue of GDH for the year amounted
to US$350.6 million (equivalent to approximately HK$2,721.7 million),
representing a growth of 12.0%, while non-GAAP EBITDA was US$52.5 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$407.4 million).

i-Sprint Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively “i-Sprint”), one of
the major associates in Asia Pacific, continued to optimize management and
deepen relationships with key customers, driving double-digit growth in both
revenue and EBITDA for the year to HK$145.8 million and HK$34.6 million
respectively. In addition, i-Sprint, in 2024, successfully obtained the FIDO2
patent certification and signed a memorandum of understanding with Tencent
to collaborate on the development of network security solutions.

10 Annual Report 2024 3R
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Operation Center » SOC) RN ESHE A RELM

BEAZBEENEERRZEFRFES MR
& WETTMAE ESOCHE%&E’]E@#& S AE1E &P
B o ItHh » AEBFEEERE T oERE > A

BREWIOABARRIL T AB&FIOERFREHRL
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Looking ahead, as a leading Unified Technology Services Partner in the region,
the Group is optimizing its operating system in terms of technical capabilities,
industry breakthroughs and regional expansion, strengthening its sector-
focus DevSecOps integration and delivery capabilities, expanding its talent
resources, developing high value-added managed services, and expanding
business opportunities in the Asia Pacific regions. With the rise of the artificial
intelligence system - DeepSeek and its global impact, the Group accelerate the
application of innovative technologies such as artificial intelligence, continue to
solidify its leading position in the industry, and work hand in hand with various
stakeholders to build a brighter future. Together, we are Unified for Success!

Last but not least, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to all customers, shareholders and investors of the Group for
their continued trust and support, which is an inexhaustible impetus for the
Group to drive its business, and to all staff for their dedication to maintaining
innovation and vigor.

Wang Weihang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26th March 2025

Chairman’s Statement

FEHBRSE

BERKR > FRERBELENRER L RB B
(Unified Technology Services Partner) » Z&EE#
WEMEEN ~ TERBEEEHEREBLCEESRZR
BIEUITEAEBMDevSecOpsEEERTAES
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Chief Executive Officer's Statement

THABRERS

The Group is optimizing its operational system
across three key dimensions: technical capabilities,
industry breakthroughs, and regional expansion.
By continuously strengthening its DevSecOps
integration and delivery capabilities, the Group aims
to further solidify its leading position in the industry.

AEBEERRRMESD ~ ITERR R EEIARE = KM

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS

Financial Results

For the year ended 31st December 2024, total revenue and gross profit
of the Group were HK$2,373.0 million and HK$246.0 million respectively,
representing a similar result as compared to last year. During the year, product
sales was decreased by 5.9% to HK$1,109.7 million and service revenue was
increased by 7.0% to HK$1,263.3 million. In addition, product sales and service
revenue contributed 46.8% and 53.2% to total revenue respectively, compared
to 50.0% and 50.0% respectively of last year.

For the year ended 31st December 2024, commercial and public sector sales
contributed 44.8% and 55.2% to total revenue respectively, compared to 42.4%
and 57.6% respectively of last year.

During the year under review, the Group recorded a profit for the year
attributable to the Company's equity holders of HK$149.3 million, an increase
of 13.7% compared to last year of HK$131.3 million. The increase was primarily
attributable to an increase in interest income and an improved shared of
results of associates as compared to last year.

For the year ended 31st December 2024, orders newly secured by the Group's
amounted to approximately HK$2,540.3 million. As at 31st December 2024,
the Group’s order book balance was approximately HK$1,649.8 million.
The Group's bank balances and cash and time deposits in total stood at
approximately HK$714.4 million with a working capital ratio of 1.99:1 (2023:
1.92:1). The Group maintained a healthy financial position. As at 31st
December 2024, the Group has no outstanding borrowings.

Annual Report 2024 ¥
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Mr. WANG Yueou
Chief Executive Officer
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Chief Executive Officer's Statement

Adjusted EBITDA for the year ended 31st December 2024 was HK$110.6
million, representing a similar result as compared to last year. The “Adjusted
EBITDA" excludes certain items that are non-cash or non-recurring in nature.
It is @ non-HKFRS financial measures used by the Company's management to
evaluate the operating performance and trends of the Group's core business,
to make strategic decisions regarding the allocation of capital and investments.
“Adjusted EBITDA” is not a measure required by or presented in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”). The use of it has
limitations as an analytical tool, and should not be considered in isolation
from, or as a substitute for analysis of, our results or operations or financial
condition as reported under HKFRS.

The reconciliations from “Profit for the year” to “Adjusted EBITDA” for year
ended 31st December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

THBRESE

AEEBE_Z_ME+_BA=+—HLFEZ K
SFATEEBITDAI A 1106 BB BT » BEAFAE - 1K
AEEBITDAI A EEETHREHIFEREE R
B UAEARTREEERLUHEAERZOERE
ERBEREE > UFABERDERKRESHREKME
REZIFEBYHREEDSE o HEFEEEBITDAY
WIRARBEBYHREERN (TEBMBREE
) MENABRUIFRBEEBEYHZREER 2
P o EALEFEBMBREENFEFEA/ADINT
AEFEERARY > AMAETERGABINAER
REEBMFREEANFMERNEFBEIMHRRHK
RERETBER O AREERMBRRNER -

BEZENNER-_E-=F#+"/B=+—HIF
Bz TEREHN ) E TEREEBITDAIHRWT ¢

Year ended 31st December

BE+_"_A=+—HLEFE

2024 2023
—E-mE —EI=fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FExT
Profit for the year - HKFRS measure FEREF - FBMBHREENHE 149,322 131,319
Interest expenses FEZH 1,162 2,563
Interest income FEUWA (22,759) (10,736)
Income tax expenses FRiSHRR 18,765 17,595
Profit before interest and tax & B AR 146,490 140,741
Adjustments for non-cash items: JEREEEHZRAE
Depreciation and amortisation HrEE R dghH 26,493 25,521
Equity-settled share-based payments expense MR n BT (R 171 1"
Share of results of associates RIS A B ER (3,918) 1,685
Fair value loss on investment properties BEMEZ ARNBEEEE 2,300 1,200
Adjustments for non-recurring items: JERMEEZRE
Net gain on disposal of interests in associates HEMEATEE 2 BN (14,199) (668)
Net gain on deemed disposal of partial interest RIEHEHS AR O R
in an associate FUWER (47,107) (60,394)
Remeasurement of employee benefit obligations BENstERERERNEE - 3,839
One-off professional fees —RMEEER 344 -
Adjusted EBITDA - Non-HKFRS measure {SAEEEBITDA— JEEBMIBRE
EREE 110,574 111,935

Core Business Review

The orders newly secured and the revenue of the Group recorded HK$2,540.3
million and HK$2,373.0 million respectively, similar to last year. The adjusted
net profit of the Group increased by 9.4% to HK$87.1 million.

FEXRBOE
FEEH BT ERBMADRBS2 540 3EBETR

2,373.0888x > BEFHE - AEEEREEFE
MixF87 1 BEBIT > £F9.4% ©
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Chief Executive Officer's Statement

THABHES

Innovative Solutions Business

(Application Development - Enhance customer experience with innovative
applications; Dev)

Innovative Solutions Business saw an increase in service orders newly secured
during the year as compared to last year. The increase was mainly attributable
to the higher number of orders for application development and the provision
of IT outsourcing services. During the year, its service revenue recorded
HK$521.7 million.

In the second half of the year, the Group focused on providing sector-focus
solutions to public sector and commercial customers, leveraging technologies
such as big data, analytical tools and DevOps to drive digital transformation.
During the year, the Group received numerous orders in the government and
healthcare sectors, many of which involved the development of public services
for the benefit of all Hong Kong citizens, including a medical consultation
system, demonstrating our ability to cope with complex requirements and
tight delivery schedules. In addition, the Group, by applying its DevSecOps,
has successfully received a benchmark all Chinese-brand technology project
with a contract sum of over HK$100.0 million from a disciplined force for
the provision of a large-scale human resources management system, further
demonstrating the Group’s expertise in the integration of Information
Technology Application Innovation (ITAl) products.

Intelligent Cybersecurity Services Business

(Cybersecurity - Protect your assets with intelligent security technology; Sec)

Regarding the Intelligent Cybersecurity Services business, the volume of
service orders newly secured remained stable and the service revenue
amounted to HK$213.5 million, principally due to the demand for threat
detection, risk response and security managed services.

For sector performance, the Group received a large-scale 7x24 network
security monitoring services from the government. Its Security Operation
Centre (SOC) business has grown significantly, benefiting from, among others,
the government's push to legislate for the security of critical infrastructure
computer systems last year. In addition, the Group further strengthened its
market position by successfully renewing contracts with a number of key
customers in the retail, transportation, financial and professional services
sectors. Meanwhile, the Group’s SOC in Guangzhou has successfully obtained
the Level 3 certification of Information System Security Level Protection
issued by the Ministry of Public Security of the People’s Republic of China,
demonstrating that the Group has met the highest security management
standards for non-banking organizations and has completed the hardware and
intelligent deployment of SOC services in the Greater Bay Area.
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Chief Executive Officer's Statement

Integrated Managed Services Business

(Omni-channel Managed Services - Simplify your IT operations to increase
efficiency; Ops)

During the year, the Integrated Managed Services Business continued to
receive numerous service orders newly secured, supported by the market
demand for IT Service Management (ITSM) projects, DevSecOps, and managed
services. The service revenue amounted to HK$477.2 million.

For sector performance, the Group successfully received a large managed
services project from a financial institution and accomplished great
achievement in the aviation sector, including the provision of large-scale
managed services to an airline that has been cooperating with the Group
for nearly 20 years, demonstrating the Group’s strengths in the application
of cloud technology and industry expertise. The steady development of the
Group's managed services has benefited from the high level of customer
recognition of its Service Level Agreement (SLA) and the expansion of
the scope of services from basic maintenance to complex ITSM projects,
illustrating the Group’s competitiveness in the market. During the year, the
Group continued to implement platform-driven service and set up an offshore
development center in Zhuhai in the second half of the year to provide service
coverage in the Greater Bay Area and to enhance cost-effectiveness, technical
capabilities and operational resilience.

Deepening the Capability of ITAl and Unified Technology
Services

The Group has been actively responding to the demand for ITAI technologies
in the private and public sectors by deepening its technological capabilities
and introducing Chinese brands for product testing, expanding the ecosystem
of Chinese brands to precisely meet the needs of the Hong Kong market,
and further enhancing the “Center of Excellence” established in mid- 2024
in the area of artificial intelligence. The Group has also established a “Joint
Development Technology Testing Center” with Kylinsoft and partnered with
SenseTime Group Inc. (Stock Code on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited: 0020), a leading company in artificial intelligence (Al) technology, to
jointly explore business opportunities. Many of the Group'’s customers have
conducted tests of various Chinese software through the aforementioned
Centre of Excellence.

Sector-focus and Expansion in the Greater Bay Area and
Asia Pacific

During the year, the Group actively participated in various industry events
to further enhance its brand image in target markets, particularly in the
government, healthcare and financial sectors, and to share technology trends
and offer the latest innovative applications to our customers.
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In addition, the Group established its fourth Offshore Development Center
(ODQ) in the Greater Bay Area on the west bank of the Pearl River Estuary in
September this year to undertake software development in Hong Kong, Macau
and overseas. The center will provide remote, omni-channel 7x24 managed
services. The center is equipped with the Al technology to identify and resolve
problems in a swift manner. Subsequently, the Group has set up an office in
the United Kingdom in the fourth quarter of 2024 to accelerate expansion in
the Asia Pacific region.

Business of Associates

Grid Dynamics Holdings, Inc. (“GDH", NASDAQ ticker symbol: GDYN), an
associate with business in Europe and the U.S., achieved a record-high annual
revenue in 2024, reaching a milestone of over US$100.0 million in revenue in
the fourth quarter. In addition, it once again achieved its highest-ever billable
engineering headcount by the end of the fourth quarter, a strong indicator of
future growth. According to the Form 10-K for the year ended 31st December
2024 of GDH published on the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
website, the total revenue of GDH for the year amounted to US$350.6
million (equivalent to approximately HK$2,721.7 million), representing a
growth of 12.0%, while non-GAAP EBITDA was US$52.5 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$407.4 million). GDH's performance in the retail sector was
particularly strong, with revenue in 2024 accounting for approximately one-
third of the year's total revenue. In addition, driven by increased demand from
fintech and insurance sectors, as well as business acquisitions, revenue from
the financial sector rose by 108.6% compared to the previous year.

i-Sprint Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively “i-Sprint”), one of
the major associates in Asia Pacific, continued to optimize management
and deepen relationships with key customers, driving double-digit growth
in both revenue and EBITDA for the year to approximately HK$145.8 million
and approximately HK$34.6 million respectively. In addition, i-Sprint, in
2024, successfully obtained the FIDO2 patent certification and signed
a memorandum of understanding with Tencent to collaborate on the
development of cybersecurity solutions. Furthermore, i-Sprint has won
numerous awards in the field of cybersecurity.

Outlook and Prospects

Looking ahead to 2025, there are both opportunities and challenges.
Geopolitical tensions and trade conflicts will continue to affect the global
business environment. With Mainland China’s economy expected to continue
its modest recovery, Hong Kong's interest rates on a downward trend, the
emergence of new competitors in the Mainland, and Hong Kong facing a talent
drain, we will closely monitor the impact of the above on the global and Hong
Kong economies, and make timely adjustments to our strategies in order to
capitalize on future development opportunities.
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Chief Executive Officer's Statement

In relation to information technology, Hong Kong is further integrating
into the overall development of China. The Hong Kong Government is fully
committed to promoting its city as an international center of innovation and
technology and accelerating the introduction of diversified technologies. To
this end, the Group has invested substantial resources in advance in 2024 to
set up an industry-leading Centre of Excellence to facilitate the integration of
technologies from mainland China and the rest of the world, and to build an
ecosystem of China brands. Currently, the Group has received support from
over 70 international IT vendors and more than 30 ITAI IT vendors, and has
successfully built a benchmark case of China-brand technology and diversified
technologies for products from mainland China and the rest of the world. With
our experience in serving international organizations and our mastery over
Chinese brand technologies, the Group can satisfy our customers’ needs for
diversified technologies. We will actively support relevant government policies
to promote the development of digital economy and jointly build a smart Hong
Kong.

As a leading unified technology services partner in the region, the Group
is optimizing its operating system in three dimensions, namely, technical
capabilities, industry breakthroughs and regional expansion, continuing to
strengthen its DevSecOps integration and delivery capabilities, and expanding
its talent pool in the Greater Bay Area. Meanwhile, the Group plans to expand
its business and ODC in Southeast Asia and has set up offices in Malaysia
and Australia in February 2025 to further promote the DevSecOps managed
services maturity model and platform-driven services. In addition, the Group
has set up cross-regional, full-stack business groups for the government and
healthcare sector, leveraging its strengths in customer applications. It has
also enhanced its pre-sales, development and after-sales service capabilities
in areas such as banking, finance and insurance to meet market demands.
With the rise of the Al system - DeepSeek and its global impact, the Group will
accelerate the application of innovative technologies such as Al, to enhance its
market competitiveness comprehensively, and continue to solidify its leading
position in the industry.

Financial Resources and Liquidity

As at 31st December 2024, the Group's total assets of HK$3,276.4 million
(2023: HK$3,110.9 million) were financed by current liabilities of HK$834.1
million (2023: HK$757.4 million), non-current liabilities of HK$165.4 million
(2023: HK$176.2 million) and equity attributable to equity holders of the
Company of HK$2,276.9 million (2023: 2,177.3 million). The Group had a
working capital ratio of approximately 1.99:1 (2023: 1.92:1).
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As at 31st December 2024, the Group had an aggregate composite banking
facilities from banks of approximately HK$270.3 million (2023: HK$226.6
million). All bank borrowings were fully repaid for the year ended 31st
December 2024. As at 31st December 2024, the Group had pledged land
and buildings with carrying amount of approximately HK$154.7 million (2023:
HK$156.0 million) and pledged investment properties with carrying amount
of HK$47.0 million (2023: HK$50.8 million) to secure banking facilities granted
to the Group. The performance bonds issued by the Group to customers as
security of contracts were approximately HK$113.2 million (2023: HK$126.8
million) as at 31st December 2024. The Group's gearing ratio (bank borrowings
over equity attributable to equity holders of the Company) was 0.0% as at 31st
December 2024 (2023: 0.5%).

Material Acquisition and Disposal

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 13th
September 2024, discloseable transaction in relation to the disposal of shares
of GDH. Unless otherwise stated, capitalized terms used hereinafter shall have
the same meanings as those defined in the abovementioned announcement.

On 12th September 2024 (New York time), GDD, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, disposed of a total of 913,387 GDH Shares by way of
block trade through the Broker, representing approximately 1.19% of the
total issued and outstanding GDH Shares, at an aggregate consideration of
approximately US$11.7 million (approximately HK$91.2 million) (exclusive
of transaction costs). The selling price for each GDH Share is approximately
US$12.8 (approximately HK$99.8 per GDH Share), representing a discount
of approximately 8.90% to the closing price of US$14.05 per GDH Share as
quoted on NASDAQ on 12th September 2024 (New York time).

The aggregate consideration of the Disposal of approximately US$11.7 million
(approximately HK$91.2 million) (exclusive of transaction costs), which the
selling price applied a discount of approximately 8.90% to the closing price
of US$14.05 per GDH Share as quoted on NASDAQ on 12th September 2024
(New York time), was determined based on arm'’s length negotiations with
the Broker with reference to the prevailing market price of GDH Shares. The
consideration of the Disposal is settled in cash on completion, which took place
on 16th September 2024 (New York time).

As at the date of the abovementioned announcement and prior to completion
of the Disposal, the Group, through GDD, held 14,802,570 GDH Shares,
representing approximately 19.31% of the total issued and outstanding
GDH Shares. Upon completion of the Disposal, the Group holds 13,889,183
GDH Shares, representing approximately 18.12% of the total issued and
outstanding GDH Shares based on publicly available information as at the
date of the abovementioned announcement, and GDH will continue to be
accounted for as an associate of the Company.
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Chief Executive Officer's Statement

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31st December 2024, neither
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had other material acquisition or
disposal.

Treasury Policies

The Group generally financed its operations with internally generated
resources and credit facilities provided by banks. Banking facilities available for
the Group include trust receipt banking loans, clean import loans, overdrafts
and term loans. The interest rates of most of them are fixed by reference to
the respective countries’ Interbank Offer Rate. The bank deposits are mainly
denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HKD") and United States dollars (“USD").

Foreign Exchange Exposure

The Group mainly earns revenue and incurs costs in HKD and USD. Foreign
exchange exposure to USD of the Group will continue to be minimal as long
as the policy of The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region to link HKD to USD remains in effect. There was no material exposure
to fluctuations in exchange rates and therefore no related hedging financial
instrument was applied during the year ended 31st December 2024 (2023:
same).

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31st December 2024, performance bonds of approximately HK$113.2
million (2023: HK$126.8 million) had been issued by the bank on behalf of the
Group to customers as security of contracts.

Capital Commitments

As at 31st December 2024, the Group had contracted capital commitment
in respect of property, plant and equipment of approximately HK$2.0 million
(2023: HK$0.4 million).

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year ended 31st December 2024, the five largest customers and
single largest customer of the Group accounted for approximately 25.9% and
9.6%, respectively, of the Group's total revenue. The five largest suppliers and
single largest supplier of the Group accounted for approximately 36.0% and
10.9%, respectively, of the Group's purchases.

At no time during the year ended 31st December 2024 did a Director, their
close associate or any shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge
of the Directors owns more than 5% of the number of the Company's issued
shares) has an interest in any of the Group's five largest customers or
suppliers.
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Employee and Remuneration Policies

As at 31st December 2024, the Group, excluding its associates, employed
1,596 permanent and contract staff (2023: 1,495) in Hong Kong, Mainland
China, Taiwan, Macau and Thailand. The Group remunerates its employees
based on their performance, working experience and the prevailing market
conditions. The Group also provides mandatory provident fund, insurance,
medical benefits, internal and external training and discretionary bonuses
based on individual performance. The share option scheme and share scheme
are in place to provide long-term incentives to the selected key staff of the
Group.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR
2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Company will convene the forthcoming annual general meeting on
Wednesday, 21st May 2025. For determining the entitlement to attend and
vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting, the register of members of
the Company will be closed from Friday, 16th May 2025 to Wednesday, 21st
May 2025, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of the
Company will be registered. In order to determine the entitlement to attend
and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting, all completed transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company's branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Tengis Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong,
for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 15th May 2025.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR
PROPOSED FINAL DIVIDEND

The proposed final dividend is subject to the approval of the shareholders at
the forthcoming annual general meeting. The record date for entitlement to
the proposed final dividend is Tuesday, 3rd June 2025. For determining the
entitlement of the final dividend, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Thursday, 29th May 2025 to Tuesday, 3rd June 2025, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of the Company will
be registered. In order to qualify for the final dividend, all completed transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company's branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Tengis Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 28th May 2025.
The final dividend warrants are expected to be despatched to the qualifying
shareholders (except for holders of treasury shares, if any) of the Company on
Tuesday, 17th June 2025.
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Chief Executive Officer's Statement

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31st December 2024, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities (including sale of treasury shares, if any).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

As at the date of this annual report, the Directors are not aware of any
significant events related to the business or financial performance of the
Group after reporting period.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, risk
management and internal control systems and financial reporting matters
including the review of the audited annual results.

By Order of the Board

Wang Yueou
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 26th March 2025
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Activity Highlights
HENTER

In 2024, we embarked on the next chapter of our journey, building on the —ZE_NF > RALEET S _=FL+BENZ
momentum of our 50th anniversary in 2023. We are committed to becoming 58 BIEN T HiRE c RPN HIM AR SRR
the Unified Technology Services (UTS) leader, bringing success to multiple  (Unified Technology Services, UTS) NEEE » 51
sectors worldwide, guided by a focus on enhancing DevSecOps integration,  F42F DevSecOps BEEEST ~ FLITEZEAHMN
deepening sector expertise, and expanding our regional footprint. BARMNEHZE S » A2IRSETEBRMRI

Throughout the year, we pursued initiatives and marketing activities aligned — E—&E » JPIRDFESHEER it 5 HERZE
with these priorities, driving progress in Hong Kong and the Greater Bay Area.  BIRJZEEFHIEES » (RES BN AEENEE o
These efforts have garnered positive feedback from stakeholders, recognizing EYEENHEBTZFMHENSTE » MFETHRME
our dedication to delivering value, fostering innovation, and solidifying our  $2fHEE ~ #HAIFUKREE(EATE AR
position as a trusted partner in the technology landscape, across Mainland — EERHRABEEBESBN A EB LA AIRIRKEE o
China and Southeast Asia.

Sector-focus Promotion

TERERE

Vs .
ccover the power of )
hinese tech pioneers

erited by Leo Che
et/ 2024

& V
China Tech Talk 2024 Hospital Authority Joint Universities Computer Super Terminal Expo
hERH g Convention Centre Luncheon BARBAHEE S
BirEEEMTAE2024 AEHSBREPOFES

Industry Leaders’ “The Future of Fintech: Hong Kong Fintech Week AML & Cyber Defenses Conference
Thought x-Change Forum Leveraging Artificial Intelligence SEEMEEE IR B R EE
EXEHEDRE and Data” Luncheon
FERBHEIRE  MRATIEER
Y FEE

In 2024, we successfully hosted a series of events tailored to our five key sectors: Government, Healthcare, Banking, Finance,
Securities, and Insurance (BFSI), Education, and Aviation. Addressing market needs, we introduced the latest technological trends,
showcasing our ability to integrate innovations from Mainland China and the rest of the world. Highlights included digital government
solutions, advanced healthcare systems, innovative Fintech platforms, comprehensive e-learning tools, and aviation optimization
technologies, equipping our clients to lead in their industries and succeed in the digital age.
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Activity Highlights
EENTER

Promoting Integration and Innovative Application of IT Products from Mainland China and
the Rest of the World

(REEAKRENNERERERNES RRIHRER

Establishment of Jointly Establishment of China Tech Driving SenseTime and ASL

Center of Excellence an Innovative Testing Center Innovation Workshop MOU Signing Ceremony
FaR O SAREBAE MR SRR RHR SRR T(F [ERzEs N =EIEY
B & BB AR AR O BIFRRETHREZEL

HPE Discover More Al Honoured with Cisco “Growth Red Hat Summit: BMC Day Hong Kong 2024
Hong Kong 2024 Partner of the Year” Award Connect 2024 20244 BMC &%8H
20244 E HPE Discover More Al HEIR 2024FA1E 18
EBRG FGrowth Partner of the Year 14218

Supported by over 70 international IT vendors and more than 30 ITAI vendors, ASL provided professional consultancy services,
conducting rigorous testing on new systems and producing comprehensive analytical reports. These reports include impartial
assessments and comparisons for technologies originating from Mainland China. Leveraging our extensive experience in serving
international brands, we excel at seamlessly integrating IT products from Mainland China with those from the rest of the world,
delivering the highest value to our clients.

TBEt+REFEARZEEEMN=+2K ITA #HEFNZE T > ASL IRHFEEBRY > BNARETESIREREL2EN TR
& o BLEREVIFEH KRB REAMIRATII A EFEFLER < RERMERFBEERENESER  ROABRETEAAMN TEREDIRE
titENERREEES > AEFRERSEME -

Expansion in GBA with Enhanced Service Capability

EXREERR G52 RFEEE N

V.2, Rantheon "ab)

Establishment of Zhuhai Offshore Development Center (ODC) Received Blackpanda Best Pantheon Lab and ASL Macau
PosBt RS0 (ODC) AL Strategic Partner Award (Macau) MOU Signing Ceremony
HEBlackpandanBg Pantheon Lab £2 ASL J&P9
RIEEEAEBHEE (RPI) Z et ETREEERN

The Group advanced into the Greater Bay Area with its fourth offshore development center, undertaking software development
tasks from Hong Kong, Macau, and overseas. Partnering with leading security and deep learning technology providers, the Group is
enhancing its offerings to bring exceptional value and innovation to regional clients.

EEESAEE > R T EOERFREFRL > RIBREEE  RPIRBINNRARHEER - BEENZENRESBRITHERSE
EEEERAERY > AREFP RSB EMRF
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Major Contracts Secured in the Year

RENFREZEEZSHN

CUSTOMER
'R

SCOPE OF WORK
GHEE

A disciplined force

— AR EBRX

A benchmark Chinese-brand technology project with the provision of a large-scale
human resources management system including artificial intelligence, business
intelligence and mobile technology

REABANEREERMNTERERFRMER > EhEEATEE BTG
o dE S UERES

A government department
—BURERPS

System implementation & systems integration for new online questionnaire

module of data collection
Ay T EESEBRRERAETRREHNARZRES

A government department

— BT BRFY

Business Process Re-engineering and Developing a Flexible Application
Processing and Workflow Management System (APWMS) for Administering
Research Funding Schemes
ﬁﬁigﬁﬁi%&ﬁ%%%‘i%ﬁ@Eﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁilf’ﬁfﬁﬁ BIERFAAPWMS) » AR EBST
El)=¢:

A government-owned bank in Thailand
—XREHERT

Provision of server cluster infrastructure, storage solutions and enterprise-grade
virtualization platforms with data migration services
REARBEEER BERKFBRRDEREERERCTE  WREEBERE

A healthcare organization

—BEKE

Provision of a medical consultation system

RUEBEEARR

A leading fintech company
—EENEREHR AT

Provision of new managed security services under the hybrid cloud environment
(including the Security Operation Center (SOC) services)
RENEEERIE L2 MEER 2R (BEPSERLZ2EERLD (SO0) IR

A leading telecom service provider in Macau
—HERPIRENBERBHES

Platform Revamp with Infoblox Domain Name System, Dynamic Host Configuration
Protocol, IP Address Management (DDI) and 24x7 Technical Support Services
Infoblox

AR - B FMECE 5 (DHCP) ~ IPHILLEIR (DDI) ZFaF & » IRH24x7H
i Sz 5 AR TS

A private real estate company

—MEEMERF]

Provision of Security Operation Center services and managed security services

RZ2EEPLRERZEEERE

A recreation & entertainment company
in Macau

PRSI 2

Service renewal and upgrade of facial recognition solution with 5-year
maintenance

N B Bl AR TS R IRFS B HA B A 4R B T SR AR AR TS

A renowned bank
—ZEZIRT

Provision of data center relocation services
REEHEF O BRRT

An aircraft engineering and
maintenance firm
—RIETIERAEEBAT

Provision of deskside and server side IT support services

RHEEE R ERSEHE AR IERE

An enterprise engaging in electronic
payment system
—EKRBEFZMNRMBIEE

Supported the provision of cross-border payment services across the Greater Bay
Area and Southeast Asia and Europe
MEKNEEEIER « REgn REUN S (T IRFB IR At &

Numerous Fortune 500 brands

ZE(AE) 50058 %

Provision of digital transformation services by leveraging the strength on artificial
intelligence and data
ERALSERMBEERDRHBISEERS

One of the largest local charitable
organizations
— M EREEHE

Provision of help desk services, onsite support, planning, scheduling and
deployment of upgrade to Microsoft 365 for more than 7,500 devices covering
Hong Kong, Shenzhen, Guangzhou and Beijin
#EBIB7,5006 F ﬁﬁﬁiﬁ[ﬁ‘“ AR ~ JIHs ik ~ RE
BERE > BEEE Rl ~ BNAIIRME

s BE2 R FH4RE] Microsoft 365

The consortium of the tertiary institutions of
Hong Kong
BN

Launched an inter-institutional academic platform using blockchain technology
and enhanced its technical support and application of APP
ER—EGREIRERMTMERREN TS > WIERHEREF RIS FNER

Various renowned banks
LREZIRIT

Provision for AccessMatrix software maintenance, implementation and
deployment services
IR fHAccessMatrixER - 4EsE ~ B BB AR
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

Executive Directors

O —

TES

Mr. WANG Weihang
FHfEMTE

Chairman

ES

Mr. Wang, aged 58, has been the Chairman of the Board of the
Company since May 2019 and a Director of the Company since
September 2009. He has been a director of Grid Dynamics
Holdings, Inc., an associate of the Company which listed on
Nasdagq (ticker symbol: GDYN), since March 2020. Mr. Wang is
currently the chairman of Beijing Teamsun Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Teamsun”), the Company'’s ultimate holding company listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 600410.SH), the
sole director of Teamsun Technology (HK) Limited (“Hong Kong
Teamsun”), the Company's immediate holding company, and
the chairman of Telink Semiconductor (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., a
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
688591.SH). He is currently a director of certain subsidiaries of
Teamsun. Mr. Wang was the vice chairman and general manager
of the first board of directors of Teamsun, the vice chairman and
president of the second to fourth board of directors of Teamsun,
the chairman and president of the fifth board of directors of
Teamsun, and the chairman of the sixth board of directors
of Teamsun. Mr. Wang was also the president of the seventh
council of Beijing Software Industry Association. Mr. Wang
holds an Executive Master's Degree in Business Administration
from Tsinghua University in the People's Republic of China
("PRC") and a Master's Degree in Semi-Conductor Materials and
Microelectronic Technology from the Information and Electronic
Engineering Department of Zhejiang University in the PRC. Mr.
Wang was awarded as FREIEMHEZEEHBEZESK (China Software
Industry Outstanding Entrepreneur Laureate#) and FHEIEN {4 Z
ETHB) AY) (China Software Industry Prestige Award Laureate#)
by China Software Industry Association in 2009. He was also
awarded the “Innovation Outstanding Personality of Chinese
Brand Award” in 2011.

EFRE > REETN\E > BZE-NFLARBLERARTNEEZSEE
BERE_ETZNENAREEAATES - HE_S_TSFE=AE
BEARRBFRMETER L (RERE S TGDYN)) ZHE ABIGrid
Dynamics Holdings, Inc. ZE % o REERBRAT N LBFEFZ
S (T E32Fr)) B (BR94ESRE - 600410.5H) 2 RA&ZER AT
FEBRABEROBRAR ((EBRR) 2EFRE - ARBZEH
FERABEBRMA (58) BRAR (TEEBEBRMI) 2
—EEMRH L3R £ (BRASE © 688591.5H) Z AT REME
F (LB RGBERABDNZEER - WRAEBARETHEATZ
ER - IRERAEBARE EESSRNESERELE FZ
EENEESCRESEREY FIRESEESRAEIUR
BREEEGESRR - TAETEAELRBHTEREELERS
FEE o THAEFATREARLME (THE) BEAZBEEZ SR
BEABIHEEBELEMURTENIABEEBTIR2AMES
B TEBETEMN - TAEN - STNERTIERFITER SR
BN EEGHCERRPEARGEENBAY - BAR D
——FENEEE TR RARBIF R E AL ©

EFREREEAESGN

Mr. WANG Yueou
FTHEEEXSE

Chief Executive Officer
TR

Mr. Wang, aged 50, has been the Chief Executive Officer and
an Executive Director of the Company since September 2016
and September 2015 respectively. He joined the Group in
2011 and was the Financial Controller, the Chief Financial
Officer and the Joint Company Secretary of the Company. Mr.
Wang has been a director of Grid Dynamics Holdings, Inc., an
associate of the Company which listed on Nasdagq (ticker symbol:
GDYN), since March 2020. He is currently a director of certain
subsidiaries and associates (i.e. i-Sprint Holdings Limited and
i-Sprint Innovations Pte Ltd) of the Company. Mr. Wang was a
director of Teamsun, the chief financial officer and a director of
Carnation Software Ltd., a subsidiary of Teamsun, a supervisor
of Victorysoft Technology Ltd, the joint venture company of
the Company in the PRC, the chief financial officer and a board
secretary of Guangzhou Headway Technology Co., Ltd. and
the regional finance manager (China) of Wistron Information
Technology & Services Corporation. Mr. Wang holds a Bachelor's
Degree in International Accounting from Jinan University in
the PRC, a Master's Degree in Business Administration from
University of Wales in the United Kingdom and an Executive
Master's Degree in Business Administration from Research
Institute of Tsinghua University in the PRC.

FhE > RERA+E PNBEB-E—R"ENARZE—AFNAR
HERRB ZTHRRKRIITES - RN _E—FMBEREEK
BAKRNT 2 B ELIR  MEBERMEASME - THAEBT
ZTBFE= ARBEARBNMETER L (REASEA TGDYNY)
2 H#E /A BIGrid Dynamics Holdings, Inc. 2 E%E o IR AR AT
EFME AT KEEAS (Bli-Sprint Holdings Limited &i-Sprint
Innovations Pte Ltd) 2 E % o FRABEEBRMLCES ~ ERHX
2B ATIEMNAEM st ERBGBRAB MR RES « &
AERHFEZ EEATIERERBREARARZEE « EMNEER
BERARZMBRERETEWE » URERTHERNBRAT
ZHEEMBHLIE o TEAFAREBEAZBEHESGTEL
24 s HEEBRTAZRESE Y THSEET20 0 URPEEBE
BIRESE Y SREEAS TS IEE T2 -
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

EFREREEASHN

Non-Executive Director

/— -.--|-$

JE

Ms. ZHANG Bingxia
RRERL

Ms. Zhang, aged 49, has been a Non-executive Director and a
member of the Management Committee of the company since
May 2023. She joined Beijing Teamsun Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Teamsun”), the Company’s ultimate holding company listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 600410.SH) in
December 2016 and is currently the chief financial officer and
senior vice-president of Teamsun. She served as the chief
financial officer of The Purse Gold (Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd.#,
(a subsidiary of Guangdong Homa Group Co., Ltd. listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 002668. S7)) EEER

(Itm) BEZAHERASR), the chief financial officer and the vice
president of ShengDaWuXian Group# (B AEARER) (Currently
known as Huayou Digital Media Technology Co., Ltd.#) (¥k
B FIERIARAT), a senior financial manager of Prosten
Technology Holdings Limited (Currently known as China Brilliant
Global Limited, a company listed on the GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock Code: 8026)), a senior
financial supervisor in Sohu.com Limited# (It RIEINE 4B A F])
and a principle staff member of Tax Administration Department
in Shanxi Provincial Taiyuan Municipal Bureau of State Taxation
of the People’s Republic of China# (FFEILLFEE KEHERIRG
B).

Ms. Zhang has over 20 years of experience in financial
management in internet companies and is familiar with the
financial management of companies listed in the U.S., Hong
Kong and Mainland China. Ms. Zhang has extensive experience
in finance, taxation, investment and capital operating. She
obtained a Dual Bachelor's Degree in Economic (major in
accounting and taxation) at Shanxi College of Finance and
Economics (Currently known as Shanxi University of Finance
and Economics), and a Master's Degree in Economics at Central
University of Finance and Economics.

Rat o BEMN+AHR 5_7_ fﬁﬁﬁﬁ‘_ﬂjﬁﬁ/\jiﬁﬂﬁﬁ
ENEEZESHE - HE_T—"FE+__AMBARTN LEE
%Q%Fﬁiﬁ?(ﬂyﬁ}ﬁsﬁ 600410.SH) > B4R ERR /A I RER K
@ﬂﬁzﬁx{ﬁﬁﬁﬁ’\ﬁ(ri%%ﬁm) ’fﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁizéfﬁﬁkaﬁ
SHEIEE - BHEEROSR IR REARAT (AR FEYIESE
R LR ABERERESERMERAE (BRD A5 © 002668)
Z?’AT\)ZE%? BE BARGER (RBERUBEERTA
BRAE)) 2 BEERAEY EBHMERZFABERABGEM L™
’Aﬁﬁéﬂﬁﬁﬁgﬁﬁﬁ’\j(ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁi@ﬁ’i%lﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ BRH R
5% 0 8026) BESHIAFHEE  LRENMERBEATDN 2SHRTHE
ERTEUAGAETERREBEZIERNETERIE -

SRUEINEMEARERE U BEIREEE » A EE -
£ BENEDZARMBER > THMH - 05 REK é?ZISLT’EH
Eﬁtbfr‘“ 2% 1&%1EEPI_IJJEE#%%5BE (RIBUIFAM A E) a3

o5t 5 76 75 5 0 T 2 B 8 o o R A A 2 B
ZRBEBE LR o

#  For identification purpose only
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

BIERITES

Mr. PAN Xinrong
BRI E

Mr. Pan, aged 71, has been an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company since September 2015. He is currently
an mdependent director of Shanghm Bokesoft Information
Co., Ltd.# (L /BTEMNERRNDBRAE). He was an executive
director and the deputy chairman of Smopec Kantons Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock Code: 934) from 2004 to
2007 and was the chief executive officer of Petro-Cyberworks
Information Technology Co., Ltd. from 2006 to 2014. Mr. Pan
also held financial positions in various companies, including
China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation (“SINOPEC"), China
Petrochemical Corporation, China Eastern United Petrochemical
(Group) Company Limited and SINOPEC Anging Company
(formerly known as China Petrochemical Anging Petrochemical
Plate). Mr. Pan graduated from China Huazhong University
of Science and Technology with a profession in Quantitative
Economics. He was awarded the “Outstanding Management
Award” by China Petroleum and Chemical Industries Integration
of Informatization and Industrialization in 2011 and the First
Prize of SINOPEC Technology Advancement in 2014.

BRECRELT—m BCE—RAFNAESERALEREBIUF
WITES - f)ﬁfﬁ%ilméﬁiﬂéuﬂﬁxfﬁﬁBE@T@i%% REIRZ
SEMEE " BB EFFEBMSTIFMARABIR LT AT
AEEEERARAR (RMASE 1 934) BERATEERETER
REZZZ2AFEEZZ-NIERAOEAMESRMARSEARIHEE
EEHTERA o BEEFBRFRA R IRGARAR ((HE
A1) » PEAIMEIEEARAR ~ PERBMAICERFRE
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

EFREREEASRTN

Independent Non-Executive Directors

BILERITES

Mr. DENG Jianxin
BHEmkE

Mr. Deng, aged 60, has been an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company since September 2015. He is currently
an executive director of Shenzhen Zhuoyuan Capital Investment
Management Co., Ltd.# (R ETERKRESEERAR),
an executive director of Shenzhen Zhuoyuan Enterprise
Consultants Co., Ltd# (FIITE T EBERERLQE) and an
independent director of Eternal Asia Supply Chain Management
Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 002183.5Z). Mr. Deng was a supervisor of Shanghai Dobe
Cultural & Creative Industry Development (Group) Co., Ltd.,
a partner of Beijing JD Capital Co., Ltd., a partner of Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu Limited (“Deloitte”), a full-time member of
the 7th and 8th Stock Offering Approval Committee of China
Securities Regulatory Commission, a director of Shandong
Bori Bioenergy Co., Ltd., a company listed on the New Third
Board (Stock Code: 871585.0C), the chairman of Shanghai
4Smart Technology Co., Ltd.# (LBBEEERLERAT), the
chairman of Hangzhou Zhuoyuan Ledao Holding Co., Ltd.# (1
M B TTEIEER AR /AT, an executive director of Shenzhen
Zhuoyi Management Consulting Co., Ltd. # CRYIT Rz EIEE
#AFRAE) and the chairman of Shanghai Debimai Enterprise
Management Consulting Co., Ltd.# (EB@ENIRTEBIEEN
BBRAR]). Mr. Deng was mainly responsible for managing and
auditing the listing of companies as well as the merger and
acquisition services in Deloitte. He holds a Bachelor Degree
in Accounting from Zhongnan University of Economics and
Law in the PRC and an Executive Master's Degree in Business
Administration from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business
in the PRC.

B BENTR > BE_E—AFNAESZEARRTIBILIFHN
TES - REARTETERREEERRABDNTES R
TEThEBERARABRTERRRYIEBFZ S LT RERY
IR BHIEER N ARAR (B 1002183) ZHUESE - &
FREBELBREAXRIBEXER (ER) RNBERAE (A1
EEELXCAIREXER (EM) BRAR) BEE - IREENE
REEEBRATSHBA ~ BEGSHANELAT (MEE ) A% A~ F
HEFEEEELEEFtEAE/\ERZETEZEZETERE
B =R ETRABURENEMERLERRHBERAE (BRI :
871585.00) = « LBIFEBRERNKARABDEER NS
LEERARABDESR  RITRIZEEERNBRADNTES
R LB XEEENARATNESR - WAENEHTIEE
B EHNEERER > UAEHBRBZER - KISEPES
AHMEBZAREHRAB L BUNTERIBESRBEE . SREE
AETHEEELTSM -

#  For identification purpose only

*EHHEF)

Ms. OR Siu Ching Rerina
fhERL

Ms. Or, aged 55, has been an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company since April 2017. She is currently a non-
executive director of Analogue Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (Stock Code: 1977) since April 2023. Ms. Or was a
senior vice-president of Schneider Electric SE (collectively with
its subsidiaries, “Schneider Electric”), a company listed on the
Euronext Paris Stock Exchange (Stock Code: SU), from 2019 to
2021. She joined Schneider Electric in 1994 and retired after
27 years of services. She held various senior management
positions with Schneider Electric, including director and the
president of Schneider Electric (Hong Kong) Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Schneider Electric between 2015 and
January 2019, a vice president of global purchasing of Schneider
Electric between 2012 and 2014, the president of Schneider
Electric Taiwan Co., Ltd. between 2008 and 2011 and director of
certain subsidiaries of Schneider Electric. Ms. Or was a member
of Energy Advisory Committee of The Government of Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region from 2016 to 2022. She has
over 20 years’ management experience in energy management
and automation industry. Ms. Or holds an Executive Master’s
Degree in Business Administrative from the Kellogg School of
Management at Northwestern University in the United States
of America and the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology, and a Master's degree of Science in Management
from ESSEC Graduate School of Management in France.

Lt BER+TARE  BE-E—tFONAESEALRTBEILIF
HITES - WA T _=—FNAEEEIEBMSRZMARAREZE
REBABZETIRRERBRAR (RMHAE : 1977) ZIFRITE
FEoNZETRN _E-—NEE_Z_—FHEIEEBRIBESIZM
EHRABMMEERBRHBRAT RMAIE : SU) (BREKEBR
B 78 NN EER ) 2 SMEIRE RIS — A HEIN AT
BER > UNRB_+CERENK - RBERHMEERZESRE
BB BN - -AFE T -NFHEARNEER2EN
BREANEER (B8 BERADEFREH - N2 ——FF—
T-NEHBSHNEERENRELRIEN - R2TTNEFEZ
T——FHEA G ERNTEERARARNBHAETHNEERS
FRBABZES - HLEIN -2 REE_Z__FRESBEE
ATTHEEREAZEGNE - WNEREERBBCITERESE
BT+ EEEEER - MY TRHAXEBRILARIEREESERRE
BREABTHRABIHEEELT2ULFESEEEMEEIEN
FEBR(ESSEC) BB 2 24 ©

Automated Systems Holdings Limited B81##EBREBERAT 27



Profile of Directors and Senior Management

EFREREEASHN

Senior Management
=REEAS

Mr. Ngan Wai Hing
FREEEE
Chief Financial Officer and

Joint Company Secretary
HBBERBEAGNE

Mr. Ngan, aged 53, has been the Financial Controller and the
Company Secretary of the Company since September 2016 and
was re-designated as Chief Financial Officer and Joint Company
Secretary of the Company in January 2022. Mr. Ngan joined the
Company in 2009 and was a financial controller of a subsidiary
of the Company. He was also the Joint Company Secretary of the
Company from September 2014 to August 2016.

Mr. Ngan holds a Bachelor's Degree in Financial Administration
(major in accounting) from University of New England in
Australia and is a certified public accountant of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a certified
practicing accountant of CPA Australia.

BERL > RERA+=m% > BZE—AFNARLERRBDMFHEE
BRABWE  UR B —F-ABEARAR M HBEE K
FBRENE - BAENR—EENEFMBERAREHERLE—F
WEABZMHREE - RITE - E—MOFNAAEZZ—RF/\AB
BERBZBERBWE °

BRAERARNTREHARZMBEES T2 (ZTBEHE) »
REAEBGTMAGTMEAMEOEM ST RA G AL S SHED o
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Ms. LAU Nga Ting
EL L

Joint Company Secretary
BEAEWE

Ms. Lau, aged 38, joined the Company in 2019 and has been
the Joint Company Secretary of the Company since January
2022. Ms. Lau is a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered Governance
Professional and an associate member of both The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance
Institute in the United Kingdom. She holds a Bachelor's Degree
of Arts in Business Administration from the Birmingham City
University and a Master's Degree in Corporate Governance from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

But > BE=Z+/\®k > B-E-NFNBERE > TE-F "
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BT RS\ ABEARRTE -



Corporate Governance Report

The Company recognizes the importance of good corporate governance to the
Company's healthy growth and has devoted considerable efforts to identifying
and formulating corporate governance practices appropriate to the needs of
its business.

The Company's corporate governance practices are made pursuant to the
code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code") as set out
in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
During the year ended 31st December 2024, the Company has complied
with all the code provisions. The Company regularly monitors and reviews
its corporate governance practices to ensure these continue to meet the
increasing stringent regulatory requirements and to improve its practices.

The Company wishes to highlight the importance of its board of directors
(the “Board”) in ensuring effective leadership and control of the Company and
transparency and accountability of all operations.

The key corporate governance principles and practices of the Company are
summarized as follows:

THE BOARD

Corporate Culture

The Board leads to establish, promote and continually reinforce the desired
corporate culture of the Group which is underpinned by our corporate values
of committing highest standard of business ethics and integrity. Our sound
corporate culture reaches all levels of the Group, and aligns with the strategic
and core values of the Group. For detailed information about the strategic and
core values of the Group, please refer to the section headed “Quality Policy of
ASL" on page 2 of this annual report.

Responsibilities

The Company has formalized and adopted the written terms on the division of
functions reserved to the Board and delegated to the management.

The Board provides leadership and approves strategic policies and plans with a
view to enhancing shareholder interests while the day-to-day operations of the
Company are delegated to the management.

The Board reserves its decisions for all major matters of the Company,
including the approval of long-term objectives and strategies, changes to
capital and overall corporate structure, risk management and internal control
systems, material transactions (in particular those which may involve conflicts
of interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other
significant financial and operational matters.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as well as
the advice and services from the Joint Company Secretaries, with a view to
ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are
followed.

EEERRS
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Corporate Governance Report

EXEARS

TH E BOARD (Continued)

Responsibilities (Continued)

Each Director is normally able to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances at the Company's expense, upon making request to
the Board.

The day-to-day management, administration and operations of the Company
are delegated to the Chief Executive Officer and senior management. The
delegated functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed. Approvals
have to be obtained from the Board prior to entering into any significant
transactions by the above-mentioned officers.

The Board has the full support from the Chief Executive Officer and senior
management to discharge its responsibilities.

Composition

The Board has in its composition a balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives necessary for independent decision making and fulfilling its
business needs.

The Board currently comprises six members, consisting of two Executive
Directors, one Non-Executive Director and three Independent Non-Executive
Directors. The number of Independent Non-Executive Directors represents
more than one-third of the Board as required by Rule 3.10A of the Listing
Rules.

The Board currently comprises the following members:

Executive Directors
Mr. Wang Weihang (Chairman)
Mr. Wang Yueou (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-Executive Director
Ms. Zhang Bingxia

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Pan Xinrong

Mr. Deng Jianxin

Ms. Or Siu Ching Rerina

None of the members of the Board has any financial, business, family or other
material relationships with each other.

During the year ended 31st December 2024, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
Independent Non-Executive Directors with at least one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed

“Profile of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 25 to 28 of this annual
report.
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TH E BOARD (Continued)

Composition (Continued)

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company from time to time pursuant to the
Listing Rules and is available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure that independent views
are available to the Board. The Nomination Committee also reviewed and
considered that the following mechanisms are effective in ensuring that
independent views are provided to the Board.

(a) The Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three Independent Non-Executive
Directors with at least one of whom possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

(b) The Nomination Committee reviews annually each Director’s time
commitment to the Company. Directors’ attendance records in 2024 are
disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report contained in this annual
report.

(c) The Independent Non-Executive Directors receive fixed fee(s) for their role
as members of the Board and Board Committee(s) as appropriate. The
Company will not grant any equity-based remuneration (e.g. share options
or grants) with performance-related elements to the Independent Non-
Executive Directors to ensure their decision-making and compromise their
objectivity and independence.

(d) All Directors are entitled to seek advice from the Group’s Joint Company
Secretaries or the in-house legal department as well as from independent
professional advisers at the Company's expense.

(e) A Director (including Independent Non-Executive Director) who has a
material interest in a contract, transaction or arrangement shall not vote
or be counted in the quorum on any Board resolution approving the same.

The Company has received from each Independent Non-Executive Director an
annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to the requirements
of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all Independent Non-Executive
Directors are independent in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Non-Executive Director and Independent Non-Executive Directors bring a
wide range of business and financial expertise, experiences and independent
judgement to the Board. Through active participation in Board meetings and
affairs of the Company, taking the lead in managing issues involving potential
conflicts of interests and serving in Board committees, all Non-Executive
Director and Independent Non-Executive Directors make various contributions
to the effective direction of the Company.
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EXEARS

TH E BOARD (Continued)

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Company has established formal, considered and transparent procedures
for the appointment of Directors.

The Company has adopted the procedures for shareholders to propose a
person for election as a Director of the Company. These procedures are
available and accessible on the Company's website at www.asl.com.hk.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of
Directors are as set out in the Bye-laws of the Company. The Board established
a Nomination Committee to review the structure, size, composition and
diversity of the Board at least annually, identify suitable candidates for the
Board, and to make recommendations on any matters in relation to the
appointment and re-appointment of members of the Board. Appointment of
new Directors is reserved for the Board's approval.

The Nomination Committee ensures that the Board comprises members
with a diverse range of skills and experience with the appropriate knowledge
necessary to oversee the business development, strategies, operations,
challenges and opportunities of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”). The Nomination Committee takes that person’s skills, qualifications
and expected contributions to the Company into account before making
any recommendations to the Board in relation to the appointment or re-
appointment of members of the Board.

Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Board will carry out the selection
process, with the advice provided by the Nomination Committee, by making
reference to the proposed candidates’ skills, experience, professional
knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments as well as the needs of
the Company and other relevant statutory requirements and regulations. An
external recruitment agency may be engaged to carry out the recruitment and
selection process when necessary.

In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company, at each annual general
meeting of the Company ("“AGM") one-third of the Directors for the time being,
or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest
to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation, provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years and any new Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as
additional Director shall be subject to re- election by shareholders at the first
general meeting after appointment.

Each of the Non-Executive Directors is appointed under a specific term
and they are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at AGM in
accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company.

The Independent Non-executive Directors have historically and consistently
demonstrated strong commitment, and the ability to devote sufficient time to
discharge their responsibilities at the Board. Their commitment is also subject
to self-confirmation each year.
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TH E BOARD (Continued)

Appointment and Re-election of Directors (Continued)

The Company has formal service agreements or letters of appointment for all
Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors (including the Independent
Non-Executive Directors) which setting out the key terms and conditions of
their appointment and the terms of references have set out the work scope
of the Board committees and delegation were made by the Board in respect
of the responsibilities of the Non-Executive Directors (including Independent
Non- Executive Directors) in such Board Committees.

In accordance with the Bye-law 99 of the Company, Mr. Wang Yueou, Mr. Pan
Xinrong and Ms. Or Siu Ching Rerina will retire from office by rotation at the
forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Mr. Pan Xinrong was appointed as Independent Non-Executive Directors
since September 2015. In accordance with the CG Code provision B.2.3, if an
independent non-executive director has served more than nine (9) years, such
director’s further appointment should be subject to a separate resolution to be
approved by the shareholders of the Company. In accessing the independence
of Mr. Pan, the Nomination Committee and the Board has taken into account:
(i) the factors under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules; (ii) whether Mr. Pan is able to
provide objective and independent perspectives to the Board; and (iii) the fact
that Mr. Pan has never held a management position in the Group and has no
relationship with any Director, senior management, substantial or controlling
shareholder of the Company. The further appointment of Mr. Pan Xinrong will
be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by shareholders of the
Company at the forthcoming AGM.

The Board recommended the re-appointment of these Directors standing for
re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

The Company's circular regarding the notice of the forthcoming AGM contains
detailed information of the Directors standing for re-election.

Training for Directors

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a Director of the Company and of
the conduct, business activities and development of the Company. Each newly-
appointed Director receives a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction
on the first occasion of his/her appointment, so as to ensure that he/she has
an appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Company
and that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations under
the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

The Company is responsible for arranging and funding suitable training
for its Directors. All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Directors are continually updated on developments in the statutory and
regulatory regime and the business environment to facilitate the discharge of
their responsibilities. Continuing briefing and professional development for
Directors are arranged where necessary.
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EXEARS

THE BOARD (continued) EHET

Training for Directors (Continued) - a1 1)

During the year ended 31st December 2024, the Company organized anonline BHE_Z_WNF+_BA=+—HILEEE » ZATRN
training with relevant training materials in November 2024 regarding Chapter —Z & +—BRWAER(LEHRA) £+IOAS-
14A of the Listing Rules - Disclosure of Connected Transactions, and the  BEEZFMIBE K& (FHLEEERRIESE)) BRFAA QT
provisions of the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance concerning anti-corruption  RERMIEERE LRl > W HESIRHEAREE
regulations for private companies. All Directors have provided the Company  ##k} - FREESHAALATRME T RERMNEIIE
with records of the training during the year. According to the training records % o RIBEAABRENIZINEE > SEENEXNFR
maintained by the Company, the types of trainings received by each of the  ZEZHIRIIMERIARLENT :

Directors during the year are summarized as follows:

Types of Training
1EENEER
Attending
seminar(s)/
Receiving updates conference and/or
and briefings  forums conducted
from the Company/ by the Company or

self-study external parties
HEBRF AT
KR A A E] 41 BB EE (i SR 3R EY
RgERER e, &
Name of Director BHEE RN/ B8 ) Y% b
Executive Directors PITESR
Wang Weihang FHEM v
Wang Yueou FEES v/
Non-executive Director FERITES
Zhang Bingxia RERE v
Independent Non-executive Directors BIERTES
Pan Xinrong EIE v
Deng Jianxin GigER v
Or Siu Ching Rerina N v
Insurance Cover for Directors EHMREEHE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal XAGTEMEESAEEEENERTHLIHTE
action against its Directors to comply with the requirement of the CG Code. BIRER > U EEEERTRZEE -
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tEELRRS
THE BOARD (continued) EFTw
Attendance Records of Directors and Committee members JHEERZETREHFERCHR
Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance EERYREFLEANY
The Board has at least four regular meetings a year and holds additional BEZ@RSEEHSTRLOREHE > TN
meetings on other occasions as needed. BRMEMSETRITRIMNGE -

During the year ended 31st December 2024, the Board held four Board HE_Z_NE&+_A=+—HLEFE EEgH
meetings. BITORNGE ©

The individual attendance records of each Director at the Board meetings, &EERHE_ZS_NE+_A=+—HIEESL
meetings of Board committees and/or the general meetings of the Company f{THAATEEERHEETEZEGNTER TR
held during the year ended 31st December 2024 are set out below: RAGZERLEE keI T

Attendance/Number of Meetings held during the tenure of directorship

RESEHNLRE/ CRTEETY
Special
Remuneration Audit  Nomination ~Management Investment General
Board ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee  Committee 2024 AGM Meeting
k- :
Name of Directors g2y B3¢  HMERE  BHEEE  RRZAE  EHEEY  KEZRY  RWAFAT  BRMMAg
Executive Directors WirEs
Wang Weihang Thh 44 NiA NIA 1 4t 414 " NIA
ER TR TBE
Wang Yueou IEE 44 N/A N/A N/A 44 44 10 10
el TR TER
Non-Executive Director FHES
Zhang Bingxia FRE 414 N/A N/A N/A 44 N/A 10 N/A
el TER TER TER el
Independent Non-Executive BUFHTES
Directors
Pan Xinrong B 44 44 44 n N/A 44 N i
TER
Deng Jianxin e 414 414 414 11 N/A 414 17 17
TER
Or Siu Ching Rerina g 414 414 414 N/A N/A N/A 17N n
TER TER TER
None of the meetings set out above was attended by any alternate Director. ritesmERITAEIESEE

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman of the Board held a meeting [(E=ae®iHezi  HE_ S _NE+_A2
with the Independent Non-Executive Directors without the presence of other =+4+—HII&E > EEeTELRBIIIEHTES
Directors during the year ended 31st December 2024. AHMEERENBER TS T —NaE o
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EXEARS

TH E BOARD (Continued)

Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Regular Board meetings are scheduled in advance to facilitate maximum
attendance of the Directors. Notices of regular Board meetings are served to
all Directors at least 14 days before the meetings. For other Board meetings
and Board committees meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

Agenda and Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least three days before (or other
period as agreed) each Board meeting or Board committees meeting to keep
the Directors apprised of the latest developments and financial position of
the Company and to enable them to make informed decisions. The Board
and each Director also have separate and independent access to the senior
management whenever necessary.

The management has provided all members of the Board with monthly
updates giving a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company's
performance, position and prospects in sufficient detail to enable the Board as
a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.

The Joint Company Secretaries are responsible to take and keep minutes of all
Board meetings and Board committees meetings. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to Directors for comment within a reasonable time after each
meeting and the final version is open for Directors’ inspection.

According to current Board practice, any material transaction, which involves
a conflict of interest for a substantial shareholder or a Director, will be
considered by the Board and dealt with by a physical board meeting rather
than a written resolution. The Company's Bye-laws also contain provisions
requiring Directors to abstain from voting and not to be counted in the quorum
at meetings for approving transactions in which such Directors or any of their
associates have a material interest.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Company fully supports the division of responsibility between the
Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer to ensure a balance of
power and authority.

The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are held by Mr. Wang
Weihang and Mr. Wang Yueou respectively. Their respective responsibilities are
clearly defined and set out in writing.

The Chairman provides leadership and is responsible for the effective
functioning of the Board in accordance with good corporate governance
practice. With the support of the senior management, the Chairman is also
responsible for ensuring that the Directors receive adequate, complete and
reliable information in a timely manner and appropriate briefing on issues
arising at Board meetings.

The Chief Executive Officer focuses on implementing objectives, policies
and strategies approved and delegated by the Board. He is in charge of the
Company's day-to-day management and operations. The Chief Executive
Officer is also responsible for developing strategic plans and formulating
the organizational structure, control systems and internal procedures and
processes for the Board's approval.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy effective since 30th August
2013. The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board to enhance the quality of its performance. All board appointments will
be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered based on objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

According to the board diversity policy, selection of candidates will be based
on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge, independence and length of service. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.
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EXEARS

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (continued)

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises six Directors. Two
of them are female. Three of them are Independent Non-Executive Directors,
thereby promoting critical review and control of the management process.
The Board is also characterised by significant diversity, whether considered in
terms of gender, professional background and skills. The Company considers
that there is gender diversity on the current Board and in considering
director candidates in the future, it will continue to identify and select female
individuals with a diverse range of skills, experience and knowledge in the
field of the Group's business from time to time, for promoting gender diversity
of the Board. The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the
diversity of the Board. Furthermore, the Nomination Committee will monitor
and evaluate the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy annually to
ensure its continued effectiveness. The workforce of the Group (including its
senior management) comprised approximately 77% male employees and 23%
female employees as at 31st December 2024. Due to the nature of work in
information technology industry, the Group mainly considers factors such as
the candidates’ ability and experience, rather than their gender, in recruiting
employees.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy effective since 31st December 2018.
This policy aims to set out guidelines for the Board to determine whether
dividends are to be declared and paid, and the level of dividend to be paid
to the shareholders of the Company. The Board endeavours to maintain a
balance between meeting shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital
management with a sustainable dividend policy.

In proposing any dividend payout, the Board should also take into account,
inter alia, the following factors:

(a) the actual and expected financial results of the Group;
(b) economic conditions and other internal or external factors that may have
an impact on the business or financial performance and position of the

Group;

(c) the Group's business strategies, including future cash commitments and
investment needs to sustain the long-term growth aspect of the business;

(d) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the
Group's lenders;

(e) the current and future operations, liquidity position and capital
requirements of the Group; and

(f) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.
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DIVI DEN D POLICY(Cont‘mued)

Subject to the Laws of Bermuda, the Bye-Laws of the Company and any
applicable laws, rules and regulations, dividends may be paid in cash or be
satisfied wholly or partly in the form of allotment of shares of the Company.
The Board may also consider the issuance of bonus shares on a basis
permitted by the applicable laws and regulations. The dividend shall include
scrip dividends, distributions in specie or in kind, capital distributions and
capitalization issues.

The Board may from time to time determine and pay to the Company’'s
shareholders interim dividends as appear to the Board to be justified by the
position of the Company. The Board may recommend the payment of final
dividends which are required to be approved by shareholders of the Company
in general meetings.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established five committees, namely Remuneration Committee,
Audit Committee, Nomination Committee, Management Committee and
Investment Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company's
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established with defined
written terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee, the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee are posted
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange and/or are available
to shareholders upon request.

Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company's expense.

The Board shall establish other committees for specific purposes from time to
time to facilitate the Company’s operations.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three Independent Non-
Executive Directors, namely Mr. Pan Xinrong, Mr. Deng Jianxin and Ms. Or Siu
Ching Rerina. Mr. Pan Xinrong is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.
The primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee include making
recommendations on and approving the remuneration policy and structure
and remuneration packages of all Directors and the senior management and
share options matters. The Remuneration Committee is also responsible
for establishing transparent procedures for developing such remuneration
policy and structure to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates
will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration, which remuneration
will be determined by reference to the performance of the individual and the
Company as well as market practice and conditions.
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BOARD COM M ITTEES (Continued)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year for reviewing
the remuneration policy and structure and determination of the annual
remuneration packages of all Directors and the senior management and other
related matters. The Remuneration Committee shall consult the Chairman
of the Board and/or the Chief Executive Officer of the Company about these
recommendations on remuneration policy and structure and remuneration
packages.

The Remuneration Committee held four meetings during the year ended
31st December 2024. At the meeting, the Committee reviewed and/or
discussed the Directors’ remuneration packages (including their service
agreements) and bonuses payable and determined, with delegated
responsibility, the change and remuneration packages of all Directors and
senior management. Remuneration Committee has reviewed the share option
schemes of the Company and relating matters.

During the year ended 31st December 2024, the Remuneration Committee
approved the adoption of the Amended Share Option Scheme (“2017
Amended Share Option Scheme”) and the New Share Scheme (2024 Share
Scheme”) to align with the latest requirements under the Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules and to permit the Company to grant of other types of awards
by way of issuing new shares, etc. Additionally, the Remuneration Committee
approved grant of restricted share units (“RSUs") to directors and certain
employee participants of the Company on 11th December 2024.

Under the rules of the 2017 Amended Share Option Scheme and the 2024
Share Scheme, the Board has the absolute discretion to determine the
performance targets or other conditions, restrictions or limitations in relation
to the vesting of options/awards on a case-by-case basis. The Company will
assign a performance rating as the measurement tool for granting options/
awards to each grantee, such that the performance target would only be met
if a selected grantee consistently reaches or exceeds the performance rating
during the vesting period.

In respect of the clawback mechanism under the 2017 Amended Share Option
Scheme and the 2024 Share Scheme, in the event that:

(a) a Grantee ceases to be an eligible participant under the Amended Share
Option Scheme or the New Share Scheme by reason of the termination
or cessation of his/her employment or directorship with the Company or
the relevant member of the Group on any one or more of the grounds
of misconduct, bankruptcy, insolvency, composition with his creditors
or conviction of any criminal offence involving his integrity or honesty
or (in the case of the Grantee being an eligible participant by reason of
his employment with the relevant company and if so determined by the
Board) on any other ground on which an employer would be entitled to
terminate such grantee's employment at common law or pursuant to any
applicable laws or under the grantee's service contract with the relevant
company; or
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BOARD COM M ITTE ES (Continued)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

(b)

the granting of any option/award, or its becoming exercisable was based
on material misstatements in financial statements or any other materially
inaccurate performance metric criteria; or

the option/award to the grantee will no longer be appropriate and
aligned with the purpose of the Amended Share Option Scheme and
the New Share Scheme, then the Board may make a determination at its
absolute discretion that: (A) any option/award granted to that grantee
but not yet exercised shall immediately lapse, regardless of whether
such options/awards have vested or not and/or (B) with respect to any
shares issued to that grantee, the grantee shall be required to transfer
back to the Company or its nominee (1) the equivalent number of shares,
(2) an amount in cash equal to the market value of such shares, or (3) a
combination of (1) and (2).

Every grantee under the 2017 Amended Share Option Scheme or the 2024
Share Scheme must hold an option/award for at least 12 months before he/
she can exercise such option/award, but may be subject to a vesting period
shorter than 12 months as deemed appropriate at the discretion of the Board
or (where the Grantee is a director or a member of the senior management of
the Company) the Remuneration Committee in the following circumstances:

(a)

grants of “make-whole” options/awards to new participants to replace
the share awards or options they forfeited when leaving the previous
employer;

grants to a participant whose employment is terminated due to death or
disability or occurrence of any out-of-control event;

grants with performance-based vesting conditions in lieu of (in whole or in
part) time-based Vesting criteria;

grants of options/awards the timing of which is delayed in order to
accommodate administrative or compliance requirements that entailed
Share Options generally being made in batch during a year, in which
case the vesting period may be adjusted to take into account the time
from which the option/award would have been granted if not for such
administrative or compliance requirements;

grants with a mixed or accelerated vesting schedule such that the options/
awards may vest evenly over a period of 12 months; or

grants with a total vesting and lock up period of more than 12 months.

Corporate Governance Report

EXEARS

EFETETEET »
TNEEE @)

(b) RIEEABERE RBREATEDERYH
BRERNERHERR M EMTHMEBARTEER
RIEIRRE ; 5

(0 MERARLERE REBEFIBEERFS
%%%%TE%EQT%%%‘JZEE’\J CIEFEET 2B

EEE  AEMZARARLEBHEHRTERZ
Eﬁ%ﬁﬂ&/ﬁ%ﬂﬁé_ﬂﬂ?&xﬁ( » B SRR
B/ RBREEHE 0 &WB) BT FRA
BAZEARBME @ 2ARABREZRK)
BEHEZRD > QEEBERZERMOTHEZR

T HER)NKRR)ZES  BEAATHH
REAN e
TE—tFRETERESE R ST IFERMGE

BTHNEIARALBREEERE REE/D +_
(1 2)ERBA AITEZ SRR 2R - BETIIE
MTF - EFE (HARARARRFAESHEREEREE
RE) RFNEZE SN ERABENER FTHIER
EHBREESHAENARABTENTZ2EAN
R

(a) MFNESESHEERT HELEI ERE R
By LU SRR R B =B R X80 IR 17 22 B
SEBRE ;

(b) MASZ ~ BERNEEEFREEHMALRE
ERAGNREESHERTHBRE R ;

(@ URBERBBHREMAR (2HHED) U
HERBITER T ERE RE

(d ATHHEGRERMEBRTRERERZE
BEE > HEESERE-—FAORHRTER
#2E > TERERT > IHEREBETH
B UEBIMREBAZETHAERER
KGR T REMRIESLRBIRER

() BYWHEANMERFERBLZEMERE 12
B BINARAMSRE, SRR ITET—(12)EA N
M REE ; 3L

Hh BFRENTEHRS
128

HBB12E BB

Automated Systems Holdings Limited BE1R4AEBMBRAT

4



42

Corporate Governance Report

EXEARS

BOARD COM M ITTEES (Continued)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

Details of the vesting periods of the share options granted in 2017 under the
2017 Amended Share Option Scheme are set out in the section headed “2017
Amended Share Option Scheme” on pages 95 to 99 of this annual report. No
option/award was granted under the 2017 Amended Share Option Scheme
during the year.

The Company has granted RSUs involving 2,150,000 Shares to the Directors
and RSUs involving 4,300,000 Shares to certain employees of the Group under
the 2024 Share Scheme on 11th December 2024.

The performance targets of the grantees cover a mixture of the core business
performance of the Group for the financial year ending 31st December 2024,
performance of the business unit that the grantee belongs to, as well as
individual performance based on (in the case of grantees who are employees
of the Group) his/her performance rating assessed through the annual
performance review process and/or (in the case of grantees who are executive
Directors) the assessment and approval by the Remuneration Committee,
except for the non-executive and independent non-executive Directors whose
grants are not subject to any performance targets.

The RSUs granted to independent non-executive Directors are not subject to
any performance target. The Board is of the view that such an arrangement
is appropriate under code provision E.1.9 of Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules,
whereby listed issuers generally should not grant equity-based remuneration
with performance-related elements to independent non-executive directors to
ensure their objectivity and independence. The RSUs granted to each of the
independent non-executive Directors have been fixed at the same number of
Shares, with the same vesting schedule as other RSUs granted as a recognition
of their continuous contributions for objective and independent insights
to the Board and Board committees for enhancing the sustainability of the
Group's business development. The Board considers that the grant of RSUs
will reinforce the commitment of the independent non-executive Directors to
serve the Company while maintaining their objectivity and independence and
is therefore consistent with the objectives of the 2024 Share Scheme.

The RSUs granted to the non-executive Director are also not subject to
any performance target. The Remuneration Committee is of the view that
performance targets are not necessary given that the non-executive Director is
not involved in the daily operations of the Group and that the vesting period as
stated above would ensure that the non-executive Director and the Company's
long term interests are aligned and that the non-executive Director would be
motivated to contribute towards the sustainability of the Group's business
development. The RSUs granted to other Director are also not subject to
performance target stated above. The Remuneration Committee is of the view
that the grant of RSUs to Director would be motivated to contribute towards
the sustainability of the Group's business development.
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BOARD COM M ITTE ES (Continued)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

Therefore, the Remuneration Committee was of the view that such
arrangements align with the purpose of the 2024 Share Scheme and also align
with the interests of grantees, the Company and its shareholders.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other material matters relating to the
2017 Amended Share Option Scheme and the 2024 Share Scheme that were
required to be reviewed for approval by the Remuneration Committee during
the reporting period in accordance with Rule 17.07A of the Listing Rules.

To recognize and support the Group's strategic directions and align the
interests of the Directors and shareholders, the remuneration policy
for directors setting the procedure for fixing remuneration package for
Directors, including Executive Directors and all the Non-executive Directors,
chairmanship fee of the Board and Audit Committee and so forth. The
remuneration policy for directors states that the Company seeks to offer
competitive and fair market remuneration to attract, retain and motivate
the directors while avoiding paying more than is necessary for this purpose.
Remuneration of each director is determined based on individual duties and
responsibilities, experience and prevailing market condition, with reference
to remuneration offered to comparable position in the market and advice of
independent professional consultants where appropriate. No Director shall
be involved in deciding his own remuneration. The Company also recognizes
the importance of a formal and transparent remuneration policy covering its
Board.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements. In addition, pursuant to the CG Code provision E.1.5, the
annual emoluments of the members of senior management (except Directors)
by band for the year ended 31st December 2024 are set out below:
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BOARD COM M ITTEES (Continued)

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises three Independent Non-Executive
Directors, namely Mr. Pan Xinrong, Mr. Deng Jianxin and Ms. Or Siu Ching
Rerina, among them one Independent Non-Executive Director possesses
the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. Mr. Deng Jianxin is the chairman of the Audit
Committee. None of the members of the Audit Committee is a former partner
of the Company's existing external auditor.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

(a) toreview the financial statements and reports and consider any significant
or unusual items raised by the management, internal auditor or external
auditor before submission to the Board;

(b) to review the relationship with the external auditor with reference to
the work performed by the auditor, its independence, fees and terms
of engagement, and make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditor;

(c) to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’'s financial
reporting system, risk management and internal control systems and
associated procedures; and

(d) to report the findings and make recommendations to the Board for
improvements or implementations in relation to the above matters.

The Audit Committee held four meetings during the year ended
31st December 2024. At these meetings, the Committee reviewed and/or

discussed the following:

(a) the financial results and reports, financial reporting and compliance
procedures;

(b) the reports from the external auditor, management letters and
management response;

(c) the corporate governance matters;

(d) the matters in relation to the risk management and internal control
systems as well as internal audit function; and

(e) the re-appointment of the external auditor.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditor two times via video
conference during the year ended 371st December 2024.

There is no material uncertainty relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee
regarding the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of external
auditor.

The Company's annual results for the year ended 31st December 2024 have
been reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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BOARD COMM ITTE ES (Continued)

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises the chairman of the Board
and two Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Weihang,
Mr. Pan Xinrong and Mr. Deng Jianxin. Mr. Wang Weihang is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee.

The primary functions of the Nomination Committee include the following:

(a) to review the structure, size, composition and diversity (including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge, independence and length of service) of the
Board at least annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company's corporate strategy;

(b) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships;

(c) to access the independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors; and

(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, in
particular the Chairman of the Board and the chief executive.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year ended
31st December 2024. At the meeting, the Committee reviewed and/or
discussed the following:

(a) the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board;
(b) the independence of Independent Non-Executive Director(s);

(c) to make recommendation to the Board about the proposed re-election of
Directors who were due to retire at the AGM; and

(d) the time spent by Non-Executive Director(s) to fulfill their duties.

A set of nomination procedures for selection of candidates for directorship of
the Company has been adopted by making reference to the skills, experience,
professional knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments of such
individuals, the Company's needs and other relevant statutory requirements
and regulations.
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Nomination Committee (Continued)

A nomination policy of the Company (the “Nomination Policy”) has been
adopted by the Board on 31st December 2018 and will be reviewed by the
Board annually. The key nomination criteria and principles of the Company for
the nomination of Directors constitute the Nomination Policy as set out below:

(a) to review the structure, size, composition and diversity (including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge, independence and length of service) of the
Board at least annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company's corporate strategy;

(b) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships;

(c) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, in
particular the chairman of the Board and the chief executive;

(d) before recommending an appointment, to evaluate the balance of skills,
knowledge, experience and diversity on the Board, and, in the light of this
evaluation, prepare a description of the role and capabilities required for a
particular appointment. In identifying suitable candidates, the Nomination
Committee shall:

(i) use such method or methods to facilitate the search as it may deem
appropriate;

(i) consider candidates from a wide range of backgrounds; and

(iii) consider candidates on merit and against objective criteria and with
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board, taking care that
candidates have enough time available to devote to the position; and

(e) to ensure that on appointment to the Board, Non-Executive Director(s)
receive a formal letter of appointment setting out clearly what is expected
of them in terms of time commitment, committee service and involvement
outside Board meetings, where appropriate.
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BOARD COMM ITTE ES (Continued)

Management Committee

The Management Committee currently comprises two Executive Directors
and one Non-Executive Director, namely Mr. Wang Weihang, Mr. Wang Yueou
and Ms. Zhang Bingxia. Mr. Wang Yueou is the chairman of the Management
Committee.

The Management Committee is primarily responsible for managing and
reviewing the Company's day-to-day operations and financial reporting, and
making recommendations in respect of the objectives and strategies of the
Group. The Management Committee meets as appropriate and when required
to discuss the related issues.

Investment Committee

The Investment Committee currently comprises two Executive Directors
and two Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Weihang,
Mr. Wang Yueou, Mr. Pan Xinrong and Mr. Deng Jianxin. Mr. Wang Weihang is
the chairman of the Investment Committee.

The Investment Committee is primarily responsible for identifying and
evaluating existing and potential investment opportunities for the Company,
and making recommendations to the Board. The Investment Committee meets
as and when required to discuss the related issues.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") as set out in Appendix C3 to the
Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the Directors have
confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code throughout the year
ended 31st December 2024.

The Company has also established written guidelines on no less exacting
terms than the Model Code (the “Employees Written Guidelines”) for securities
transactions by employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
inside information of the Company.

No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written Guidelines by the
employees was noted by the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board has delegated the duties and responsibilities in performing its
corporate governance functions to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee
is responsible for corporate governance functions with the following duties:

(a) to develop and review the Company's policies and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to Directors and employees; and

(e) to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT
OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31st December 2024.

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial
statements of the Company with a view to ensuring that such financial
statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and
that relevant statutory and regulatory requirements and applicable accounting
standards are complied with.

The Board has received from the management explanation and relevant
information which enable the Board to make an informed assessment for
approving the financial statements.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

The statement of external auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” on pages 107 to 112 of this annual report.

The remuneration paid and payable to Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
and Grant Thornton network firm, in respect of audit services and non-audit
services for the year ended 31st December 2024 amounted to HK$2,014,000
and HK$1,092,000 respectively. The non-audit services mainly consist of review
of interim financial information and other reporting services.

Other audit firms provide local audit services at a fee of HK$214,000.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The main features of the Group's risk management and internal control
systems are to provide a clear governance structure, policies and procedures,
as well as reporting mechanism to facilitate the Group to manage its risks
across business operations.

The Group has established a risk management framework, which consists of
the Board of Directors, the Audit Committee and the senior management. The
Board has evaluated and determined the nature and extent of risks (including,
among others, material risks relating to Environmental, Social and Governance
("ESG")) that shall be taken in achieving the Group's strategic objectives, and
has overseen the senior management in the design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems (including,
among others, material risks relating to ESG).

The Group has formulated and adopted Risk Management Policy in providing
direction in identifying, evaluating and managing significant risks. At least on
an annual basis, the senior management identifies risks that would adversely
affect the achievement of the Group's objectives, and assesses and prioritises
the identified risks according to a set of standardised criteria. Risk mitigation
plans and risk owners are then established for those risks considered to be
significant.

In addition, the Group has engaged an independent professional advisor to
assist the Board and the Audit Committee in ongoing monitoring of internal
control systems of the Group. Deficiencies in the design and implementation
of internal controls are identified and recommendations are proposed for
improvement. Significant internal control deficiencies are reported to the Audit
Committee and the Board on a timely basis to ensure prompt remediation
actions are taken.

Risk management report and internal control report which covered financial,
operational and compliance control for the year ended 31st December 2024,
has submitted for the Audit Committee's and the Board's reviews. The Group
has an internal audit function in place to provide an independent appraisal of
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems in accordance with the CG Code. The Board had performed
an annual review on the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and
internal control systems during the year, including but not limited to the
change, since the last annual review, in nature and extent of significant risk,
and the Group's ability to respond to changes in its business and external
environment; the scope and quality of management's ongoing monitoring
of risk management and internal control systems; the extent and frequency
of communication with the Board in relation to monitoring result of risk and
internal control review; significant failures or weaknesses identified and their
related implications; and the effectiveness of the Company's processes for
financial reporting and Listing Rules compliance. The Board considers the
Group's risk management and internal control systems are effective and
adequate. The Board in particular considers the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company's accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (Continued)

The risk management and internal control systems above are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

Procedures and Internal Controls for the Handling and
Dissemination of Inside Information

The Group complies with requirements of Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the "SFO") and the Listing Rules. The Group discloses inside information to
the public as soon as reasonably practicable unless the information falls within
any of the Safe Harbours as provided in the SFO. Before the information is
fully disclosed to the public, the Group ensures the information is kept strictly
confidential. If the Group believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality
cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may have been breached, the
Group would immediately disclose the information to the public. The Group
is committed to ensure that information contained in announcements are not
false or misleading as to a material fact, or false or misleading through the
omission of a material fact in view of presenting information in a clear and
balanced way, which requires equal disclosure of both positive and negative
facts.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with shareholders is
essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding of the
Group'’s business performance and strategies. The Company endeavours to
maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders and in particular, through
AGMs and other general meetings. The Chairman of the Board, all Executive
Directors, Non-Executive Director, Independent Non-Executive Directors, and
the Chairmen of all Board committees or their delegate(s) will make themselves
available at each AGM to meet shareholders and answer their enquiries.

The 2024 AGM was held on 29th May 2024 (the “2024 AGM") and the special
general meeting held on 4th September 2024 (the “2024 SGM"). The chairmen
of the Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee, Nomination Committee,
Management Committee and Investment Committee or their delegate, and the
Company's external auditor have attended the 2024 AGM and the 2024 SGM to
answer questions.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND |NVESTORS (Continued)

Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Board has adopted a shareholders’ communication policy in 2014
(the “Shareholders’ Communication Policy”) setting out the Company's
procedures in providing the shareholders with clear communication and
easy access to information about the Company. The Board will review the
Shareholders’ Communication Policy annually to reflect current regulatory,
community, investor requirements. Below is a summary of the Shareholders’
Communication Policy.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website at
www.asl.com.hk, where extensive information and updates on the Company’s
business developments and operations, financial information, circulars,
announcements, notice of general meetings, corporate governance practices
and other information are posted. Such information will also be released to
the website of the Stock Exchange in accordance with continuous disclosure
obligations.

During the year, the Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the Shareholder Communication Policy. The Company's website was updated
on a regular basis to maintain an effective ongoing communication with
shareholders and shareholders could access the latest information of the
Company through the same. Information released by the Company to the Stock
Exchange was also posted on the Company's website as soon as reasonably
practicable thereafter. Shareholders were provided with the opportunities to
communicate with the Directors and senior management directly at general
meetings. Enquiries from investors are dealt with in an informative and timely
manner. Based on the above, the Board was of the view that the Shareholder
Communication Policy was effective.

Constitutional Documents

The latest version of the Company’'s Memorandum of Association and Bye-
laws are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
During the year ended 371st December 2024, there was no change in the
Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, a separate resolution is
proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings, including
the election of individual Directors. Save as provided under the Listing Rules,
resolutions put to vote at the general meetings of the Company (other than
procedural matters) are taken by poll and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange after the general meetings.

Convening of Special General Meetings on Requisition by
Shareholders

Under Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (the “Companies Act”), shareholders
holding in aggregate of not less than one-tenth (10%) of the paid-up capital
of the Company may convene a special general meeting ("SGM") by written
requisition.

The written requisition, duly signed by the shareholders concerned, must state
the purposes of the meeting and must be deposited at the registered office of
the Company.

The Company would take appropriate actions and make necessary
arrangements in accordance with the requirements under Section 74 of
the Companies Act once a valid requisition is received. The shareholders
concerned would be responsible for the expenses incurred in giving effect
thereto.

If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the date of the deposit
of the requisition proceed duly to convene a SGM, the requisitionists, or any
of them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may themselves convene a SGM, but any SGM so convened shall not
be held after the expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the
requisition.

A SGM so convened by the requisitionists shall be convened in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings are to be convened by
the Directors.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued)

Procedures for Making Proposals at General Meetings by
Shareholders

The Companies Act allows certain shareholders to make requisition to the
Company to give notice to the shareholders in respect of any resolution which
is intended to be moved at AGM of the Company or circulate a statement in
respect of any proposed resolution or business to be considered at a general
meeting of the Company.

The number of shareholders necessary to put forward such proposal for
consideration at a general meeting of the Company shall be:

(a) either any number of members representing not less than one-twentieth
(5%) of the total voting rights of all the shareholders having at the date of
the requisition a right to vote at the meeting; or

(b) not less than 100 shareholders.

The requisition specifying the proposal, duly signed by the shareholders
concerned and together with a statement of not more than 1,000 words
with respect to the matter referred to in the proposal, must be deposited at
the registered office of the Company. The Company would take appropriate
actions and make necessary arrangements, and unless the Company otherwise
resolves, the shareholders concerned would be responsible for the expenses
incurred in giving effect thereto in accordance with the requirements under
Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act once valid documents are received.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company, shareholders
may send written enquiries to the Joint Company Secretaries who will direct the
enquiries to the Board for handling. The contact details of the Joint Company
Secretaries are as follows:

Contact Details

Joint Company Secretaries

Automated Systems Holdings Limited

15th Floor, Topsail Plaza, 11 On Sum Street, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong
Tel: +852 2601 6998

Fax: +852 2608 6585

Email: ir@asl.com.hk

For avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send the original
duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case
may be) to the above address and provide their full name, contact details and
identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be
disclosed as required by law.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

The Joint Company Secretaries, Mr. Ngan Wai Hing (“Mr. Ngan”) and Ms. Lau
Nga Ting (“Ms. Lau"), both are full time employees of the Company, who are
responsible for advising the Board through the Chairman of the Board on
governance matters and facilitates induction and professional development
of the Directors. The Joint Company Secretaries report to the Chairman of
the Board. All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Joint
Company Secretaries to ensure that Board procedures, all applicable law, rules
and regulations are followed.

As at 31st December 2024, Mr. Ngan held 1,056,000 share options granted

under 2017 Amended Share Option Scheme and held 400,000 RSUs granted
under the 2024 Share Scheme respectively.

The Company has complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules since Mr. Ngan
and Ms. Lau have undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training during the year ended 31st December 2024.

On behalf of the Board

Wang Yueou
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 26th March 2025
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ABOUT THE REPORT

The Group is dedicated to creating long-term, sustainable value for our
stakeholders and strive to integrate this objective into our practices and
governance to promote social and environmental sustainability.

For any organization committed to being responsible and sustainable,
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") reporting is important because
it allows organization to demonstrate, with facts, what it have achieved and
how it plans to meet the challenges ahead. Not only that, but through the ESG
Report we also want to share our vision with all our stakeholders, providing
them with a better understanding of the Group’s progress and direction on
sustainable development, and gaining their commitment and support. As
without them, it will be difficult for us to achieve sustained growth.

Reporting Scope

Unless otherwise stated, the scope of this ESG Report include environmental
and social issues relating to the Group’s core business operations at the Hong
Kong headquarters for the year ended 31st December 2024 (the “Reporting
Year”). Such scope has included all operations and businesses under the
Group's direct management and control that have a significant financial and
operational impact.

Going forward, the Group will continue to determine the scope of reporting
in accordance with the “materiality” principle and improve our internal data
collection systems to provide stakeholders with more comprehensive and
accurate information.

For details of the Group’s other aspects including corporate governance
and director’s information, please refer to the section headed “Corporate
Governance Report” and “Directors’ Report” on pages 29 to 54 and 87 to 106 of
this annual report respectively.

Reporting Standards

The ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide” (“ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix
C2 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Recognizing the importance
of being accountable to our stakeholders for the information disclosed, we
adhere to the following reporting principles.

Materiality: The Group continually communicates with stakeholders to
understand and identify the ESG areas that are most important to them.

Quantitative: Where feasible, information is presented in a quantitative
manner and accompanied by narrative, interpretation and comparative
analysis.

Balance: The ESG Report is prepared in an unbiased manner, with clear
explanations of positive and negative impacts, enabling stakeholders to
make a reasonable assessment of the Group'’s overall performance.
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Consistency: The ESG Report presents information on a consistent basis,
enabling stakeholders to analyze and assess changes in performance over
time.

Confirmation and Approval

A system of internal oversight, review and risk management has been put in
place by the Group to ensure that all information presented in the ESG Report
is accurate and reliable.

The ESG Report was confirmed and approved by the Board on 26th March
2025.

Feedback

If you have any questions about the content of the Report, please feel free to
contact the Group.

Address: 15th Floor, Topsail Plaza, 11 On Sum Street, Shatin, New Territories,
Hong Kong

Email: ir@asl.com.hk

Tel: +852 2601 6998

SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to high standards of corporate governance. The
Company’s Board is responsible for decision-making, strategy and risk
management, and oversees our ESG matters. Our Joint Company Secretaries
are the coordinators of specific ESG issues, helping the Board develop
strategic ESG programmes, assess and manage ESG risks, as well as set targets
and review progress, while communicating ESG management plans to other
departments.

As an integral part of corporate governance, the Group believes that risk
management and internal control systems have a key role and importance
in achieving business objectives. Our identifying significant risks related to
ESG matters relies on evaluation of management of the Company. During the
Reporting Year, the Group has identified the following major ESG risks and
ensured that the corresponding measures are adequate and effective.
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Major ESG risk
FER - HEREBRR
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Impact

wE

RIE-HERELBHRS

Control measures

B fEiEhE

Shortage of IT talents in Hong Kong
BHBEMEHR AL R

Hong Kong has made great strides in driving
the development of the IT industry over
the years. Owing to the rapid development
of Fintech, big data analytics, artificial
intelligence and cyber security in the industry,
the related demand for manpower with
comprehensive knowledge and experience
has increased. While competition for
recruiting IT talents has intensified due
to the huge demand in the market, the
political unrest over the past few years has
undoubtedly caused an outflow of local talent.
Since the customers’ demands are growing,
the talent shortage poses a challenge to meet
the rapidly growing manpower.

EBZERIERDENANITERRSE—ERN
BRENED - ERERMB ~ KEEEDT - A
ITEEREEZ2AENARER > WIEHAS
RO R AL BRI A STHAERATE SR A PRGN © 12
M IBREA BRI EREE R AL BIHR
BN Z R - BEUFENBUAB RN BT
HAMAA TR c HRERTBRTENEE > ELb
AT REERE R R IR RO A D SR HEEL o
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To manage such risk, the Group has
actively explored ways to close the skills
gap, expand talent pool and embrace new
work models by:

HEEAMAR  FEEBEBBEBEUTAR
SHHEERRAEERE « BAATBERER
IR :

- Talent training
A

- Expansion of service centers (i.e.
opened our headquarters in the
Greater Bay Area)

BRARBE O (AR K EE R LA D)

- Expansion of technical team in the
Greater Bay Area
RREB@BEAALE

- Introduction of automation to
improve service quality
SIABEMELUIREREER
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There are also ESG-related policies in place across the Group covering areas
such as employment and labour practices, business integrity, environment
and community. These policies help us to optimise our internal management
system and ensure the protection of our stakeholders. For example, a series
of well-established employment policies safeguard the rights of employees,
regular training programme to employees for providing high-quality products
and services to customers to maintain sustainable business growth, and the
compliance with applicable laws and regulations to maintain healthy business
development and strengthen confidence of shareholders and investors in the
Group.

The department heads are responsible for overseeing the implementation of
the ESG-related policies, ensuring ongoing communication with employees
and reviewing the policies on a regular basis. All employees and relevant
stakeholders should be informed of any changes to the policies.

With enhanced sustainability governance in the Group, we intend to continue
to assess our ESG performance and global trends from time to time and plan
to set ESG targets in the near future.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group values the participation of stakeholders' and strongly believes that
building a relationship of trust not only enables stakeholders to understand
the Group’s work and performance in promoting sustainable development,
but also enables the Group to understand stakeholders’ opinions and needs
so as to examine potential risks and opportunities. We regularly engage
key stakeholders in daily operations through meetings, events, and other
communications and feedback channels. The key stakeholder groups and
methods of communication are illustrated in the table below:

Stakeholders

FaE BFRENBRSR

Methods of communication with stakeholders

REBETHE RIRE - £ EREBEEE 5 &
BEEBARFIER BEAE BREKLEFE
o WEHRAPEERBEANMERRM > WHE
REFNENRE - BOME > —RIITENER
HERLURIERESER - EREESETEIINUD
ZERIREEBENEMERT  UEFEBNUREE
%R URETHRINERIRGILURFREES
¥R WINRKRRAREEHRERNED

WFITEEEHERIE - B LEREBBERNH
7 BAREEESNFESE > WEMBSEE - Ff
BREERBERNE S EETEMBREE -

BEXEEMRAIFELERER  *EEREET
BT IR - HEREARRREMEBY > L5
POAEEAREIETIRIE - HERERBR -

EAVE =R

FEBERFNE 220 BRERIEEHET
ERLHNETBRAEENEETREERSERN
THRERR > TRLAERTHENEZERAES
ZoNMBRETARERE - AEEBBEEE
EBRHEMBRERERE  EHSIERHESR
EARBEE - TEFMNEEI BB AN TRE
Hi:

Shareholders and Annual General Meeting and special general
meetings

RRBFERERRRFHAG

Notices, circulars and announcements

BE S BRRAS

Regular corporate publications (including
financial reports)

EHREETIY) (BEMHRE)

Corporate website
NSIEEY

Investors
RREKESE

Customers
g2l

Satisfaction survey

WRERE

Customer service hotline and email
= PRI AR K TBFE

Customer direct communication
HEFRERER
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Press release

mEs

Social media

A IRRE

Enquiries or feedback to the Board via the
Group's Joint Company Secretaries

BB EBZMEADNENEETEEHN
[z 88

Exhibitions and conferences
BRERE®
Meetings

3
@ 231
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Stakeholders

RIE-HERELBHRS

Methods of communication with stakeholders

FnE HRFNENBEATR
Employees Regular meetings Training sessions and orientation
=11 RS E 1B S R T
Annual performance appraisal Employee activities
FEXRREZ EEES
Internal memos Emails and intranet
A BB S 8% BN
Suppliers Tendering On-site assessment
HrER AR EHET L
Business meetings Vendor evaluation exercise
BHEE HEEREHE
Community Charitable activities and donations Social media
HE BEEERIE HATIRRE
Corporate website Community volunteering events
NSIE s HeFBRIEH
Government and Statutory filings and notification Conferences and workshops
supervisory institutions 5 BT IE R IB A SRS
EAT A B B A Regulatory or voluntary disclosures Tax return
SENBMEKE wiR

Note:

1. Stakeholders refer to groups and individuals who have a major impact on, or are
impacted by, the Group's business.

To the Group, material issues are those that would affect the decisions,
actions and performance of our business and stakeholders. In preparing the
ESG Report, we designed a survey to assist the Board in reviewing ESG issues
against the ESG Reporting Guide and industry trends, and identifying material
issues based on their importance to stakeholders and the Group. Below are six
material issues identified by the Board:

Anti-corruption Product Responsibility

R&E5 EREE
Customer Satisfaction Innovation
BERRMEE Bl

The Group believes that stakeholders’ views can provide management with a
comprehensive understanding of sustainability risks and develop improvement
measures accordingly. Going forward, We will continue to strengthen our
interaction with stakeholders and expand more channels, such as conducting
guestionnaires among more stakeholders to increase opportunities to
understand their expectations.

MEE

1. FBHERHAEREXBRAEARE  AREFFE
BOBERE R MELA -

HAEEMS » EAHEEREEAEBRZ EBRE
MERRR - THARREBRZENGEE - RRIR
B HEREBREE > RARABEUBHES
BIRBIRE - HEREARERIIRITEEREDS
BIE - S RERRME > UREBEHFNHERE
ERZEZURNEARE - UTHESFHHD
TNEEKRMERE

Cyber Security
Training and Development

eI 3

AEEBAE FHEZRRAISEEE2E THH
FEsRAR > LRILFISINERR - BEAREK
B EENaEATNEZTDS » URIDEES
R HESHHEETHEREE » WEMT#
FREZIENHSE -
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COMPLIANCE AND INTEGRITY

The Group recognises that breaches of laws and regulations will have a
significant impact on our business operations, performance, financial position
and reputation. Our business is governed by various laws and regulations,
including but not limited to the following which have a significant impact on
the Group: the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, the Employment Ordinance,
the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance, the Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance, the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance, and the Competition
Ordinance. Measures are implemented to keep abreast of the latest regulatory
developments to ensure compliance.

Meanwhile, all operations are run with a high degree of ethics, transparency,
responsibility and integrity. To meet the fair and ethical requirements, the
Group has established a Code of Conduct (including the anti-corruption
system and anti-bribery system), Competition Compliance Policy, Whistle-
Blower Policy and Gift and Donation Policy to ensure that our operations are
free from all forms of corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud, money laundering
and anti-competitive practices and that employees are aware of and comply
with these requirements and do not engage in any improper activities.

Management Approach Description
EB5H Rk

SHRAmE

FEERD  ERERRROREFER 2 ZHE
BEW - UBRARBEBELEERTE - ££H
ZEBRRBERLRGEE » SFEFRIUT
HAEBABEAXENERRRAG  (BAEH
(FARR) R 51D ~ (REIRGI) ~ (REREMRG) ~ (B
Ez2RBEEHRA) ~ (B EBBRRIRE)) K (P 1%
BI) o AL EIREE LR T R E R U
BEREMR o

tE5h > FTEEBIIUBKTNERERE - BAE
BEEKAEEE - ARERATREBXBREER » &
EEEHNETATI (ERaERESHERRERE
FIE) ~ BB ROIEREER « BMBRURAE A
BRBEER > LEREAERZEETEEATANE
5 BAEE ~ B MF  MBRRBIITR 0 LHE
REETHAETHHAZK  BUERFEEFTTE
hE e

Code of Conduct -

(=l involved in our operations.

It is based on the Group's values and aims to promote honest behaviour by all those

HUARERBZEBEREAER  SEREMBE2HEAERSE ALHHRETS
- Employees must not solicit or accept an advantage as a reward or inducement for doing
any act or showing favour to any person or corporate without the permission of the

Group.

RERERRE - EEFTSEBARNSRZHEESRMIFF > AEMALIEEELER

7% NEERE -

- It encourages employees to actively report any malpractice and misconduct that may be
detrimental to the interests of the Group to the Senior Legal Manager and/or Head of

Human Resources.

HEBREABREHEER,/ RANEREIETH LREMAIEESAEBNEZTETH

RAETR -

- All potential corruption cases reported will be recorded and assessed. Upon receipt of
the report, the Senior Legal Manager and/or Head of Human Resources should promptly
initiate an investigation of the case, identify the issues, facts and any remedial actions.
FTE _LRMERIIF LR KL T c BREABCER / RANERESHEREE > BRER
FEZAT « TR « FEMERBIE o

- All investigation will be reported and informed to Chief Executive Officer and/or the
Chairman of Audit Committee. An investigation report will be issued and recorded.
FTARERRETBNTEERR, NEZEEGEE - HEEBEREWLRETER

Competition Compliance Policy
PR SRR
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It has been adopted by the Group's subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong.
FEBFEREBSENNE QBB RMBRIEER

Its aim is to prohibit any conduct that prevents, restricts or distorts competition.
HEMTRIEEApHE  REISGRMHEE 2174 o



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Management Approach Description
EETH it

RIE-HEREBHRS

Whistle-Blower Policy -
SRR

It encourages employees to actively report any malpractice and misconduct that may be
detrimental to the interests of the Group to the Senior Legal Manager.

HEBEENERFHEETH LREMDIEEBEAERN T2 NETARTETS °

- Anyone can report in real name or anonymously. The whistleblower’s identity will be kept
completely confidential, and his or her legitimate interests will be protected.
FAALIIIELRHESER - BRAZINRTE2RE > BESERERRRE

- All cases reported will be recorded and assessed. Upon receipt of the report, the Senior
Legal Manager should promptly initiate an investigation of the case.
FE EROVEZRITRRC IS - BREBKERERRE > BREEMERAE -

A briefing session on the above policies will be organized for employees upon
their commencement of employment. These policies are also available on our
intranet for easy access by employees. Any employee who is in doubt about the
legality of any business activity can seek advice from the Senior Legal Manager.
In addition, during the Reporting Year, an anti-corruption online training and
relevant training materials provided to our Directors to further enhance their
relevant awareness.

As part of our commitment to ethical business practices, we have taken several
steps to strengthen our anti-corruption framework and foster a transparent
and accountable organizational culture.

During the Reporting Year, we participated in one anti-corruption seminars
organized by the Hong Kong Independent Commission Against Corruption
(“ICAC") which exclusively conducted for senior management. We also
organized an online training for the Directors on the provisions of the
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance concerning anti-corruption regulations for
private companies. These seminar and training provided a platform for our
employees to engage with ICAC officers and the professional body, gaining
valuable insights into the latest developments, best practices, and emerging
challenges in the field of anti-corruption.

Also, we distributed training materials and shared training video to our staff for
increasing their awareness of anti-corruption.

Additionally, we actively remind our staffs during such festive periods to
remain vigilant,raise awareness about corruption loopholes among staff
during festivals and adhere to our policies to mitigate any potential risks
associated with gifts or donations by re-sharing our comprehensive Code of
Conduct, Whistle-Blower Policy, and Gift and Donation Policy with all our staff
members. We considered that these documents serve as essential tools to
guide our employees on expected behaviours, reporting mechanisms, and the
responsible acceptance of gifts or donations during festive occasions.

During the Reporting Year, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance
with laws and regulations. There were also no legal cases of corrupt practices
against the Group and our employees.

FEBERREEARE  AEBTHRM LB
BAEE - WEBRTEHNAEBZBE > LUE
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CONTRIBUTION TO SUSTAINABILITY

The Group desires to unite all our staff members in working towards a
common goal - to participate in building the community in which we conduct
operations and protecting the natural environment from which we obtain
resources, while always meeting the expectations of our stakeholders and
bringing them mutual benefits. To this end, we seek to create value for each of
the five capitals important to our business:

Human Capital

ABERE

Produced Capital
EXES

Social Capital
HEES

While the financial capital is already reflected in the Group’s financial
statements, we highlight our performance in the other four capital areas in this
ESG Report.

Produced Capital

The Group's mission as a service provider is to create value for our customers
by providing them with quality and value-added services and solutions. Our
produced capital lies in the creation and management of knowledge and
technology in the field of information technology. In the ongoing digitalisation
process, we are committed to continuous innovation to better assist our
clients in their digital transformation.

Quality Assurance

The Group places great importance on ensuring the quality and reliability of
our services. Through regular quality reviews and internal audits by the Quality
Office, we take initiative to identify potential areas for continual improvement
on our services provided to customers in the context of quality management
standards. For any risks that may affect the quality of our services, the Quality
Office proposes risk mitigation plans and monitors the effectiveness of the
corrective measures taken.

Over recent years, our main subsidiaries, Automated Systems (H.K.) Limited

(“ASLHK") and ELM Computer Technologies Limited (“"ELM"), have been
recognised for the following quality achievements.
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Natural Capital
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Type of Service Provision
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Awarding Bodies

FEMBAE mmE R fRILARFSLER LT
ASLHK ISO 9001:2015 Quality Enterprise Information Technology Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency
Management System Services SBMERER
EYCEEIEN 1SO 9001:2015 RA MR IRTS
REEEER
ISO/IEC 20000-1:2018 Service Desk Operation, Hosting Services,  Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency
IT Service Management System Infrastructure Hardware & Software SHBMERER
ISO/IEC 20000-1:2018 Maintenance Services
EERMRBEERR RBEEE > FERBH
ERER RO MR8
ISO/IEC 27001:2013 Information Security Monitoring Service SGS Hong Kong Limited
Information Security
Management System
ISO/IEC 27001:2013 Bz EERE BEBERRAZEERAT
ENZ2EERR
Capability Maturity Model Software Development and CMMI® Institute
Integration® (CMMI-DEV) Support Service Organization
Version 2.0, Maturity Level 5
Capability Maturity Model R RS RREES CMMI®FFZEFR
Integration® (CMMI-DEV) 2.08k
SRR
ELM ISO 9001:2015 Quality IT System Integration, Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency
Management System Software Development, Installation EBMERER
and Maintenance Support Services
IR EE B 1SO 9001:2015 BB ARRES ~ IR

mESERA

LR MEEZRIRS

Owing to the nature of information security involved in IT services,
the associated risk assessment and management are of paramount
importance. The Group has developed and implemented an IT Security
Policy which requires relevant staff to comply with regulations in relation
to physical security, access control security, data security and network and
communication security, to protect the customers’ information. To address
security incidents, such as network or system software failures, the Group has
adopted a set of reporting and handling procedures, which are implemented
by relevant personnel and a Customer Care Unit.

Intellectual Property

The Group is committed to protecting intellectual property of the Group
and our partners from infringement and to complying with non-disclosure
agreement and licensing system. Employees are reminded that the Group has
exclusive ownership of the intellectual property and that all material produced
or edited by them in the course of their work is the property of the Group, as
set out in the Group's Code of Conduct.

ERNEARERB I RENZE2NWEE - HERR
A REEEFEE - xEEEHRERBHE
BRZEHER > EXEMETEBTAREREZE
FRENZE « HBRZERBEIERAZEHREG
DREERER - BRALL2FRN (WRERNARR
HigE) » AEBERM—ERHERABRETFPRIR
WNEETERY E R K R IEAE T o

HIHERE

AEBRONFRESEBREGER IR BER
RREL > BETAFREGZRFFAIHE o H0
FEBZTRTAFRE > AERESEEXZTER
HENBMEREBRERR > BESNIFAR
PR SRR PT A MRS B AR EE R E -
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Relevant key intellectual property rights ownership clause has been
incorporated into the onboarding process for new employees to ensure they
are aware from the start. Also, we created channels for employees to report
concerns or breaches.

Innovation

The Group has strived to drive developments for its DevSecOps, integrated
IT services, by integrating our unique advantages - application development
(Dev), cybersecurity (Sec) and omni-channel management services (Ops) into
“Unified Technology Services”, to meet market needs.

With the further integration of Hong Kong with Mainland China, the Hong Kong
Government's active promotion of the development of digital economy and the
construction of Hong Kong Smart City, the Group has been keen to capture
the trend of the market's application of diversified technologies, including both
Information Technology Application Innovation (ITAl) products from mainland
China and the products from the rest of the world. The Group has been actively
responding to the demand for ITAI technologies in the private and public
sectors by deepening its technological capabilities and introducing Chinese
brands for product testing, expanding the ecosystem of Chinese brands to
precisely meet the needs of the Hong Kong market.

Supply Chain

A good supply chain management enables the Group to provide high quality
products and services to our customers. Under the Vendor Management
Policy, the Group has established a vendor selection mechanism to assess,
including but not limited to, the background and specialty of the vendor and
years of experience, recommendation from the customer or head office,
assessment by a recognised authority to a National or International Standard
e.g. ISO 9001, product certifications obtained and information on potential
business engagement. The policy also includes other controls over vendors,
including monitoring, suspension and blacklisting where necessary. The
certification of our vendors in various management systems demonstrates our
commitment to high standards in the vendor selection.

The Group has established a supplier code of conduct to our suppliers to
ensure that our operations align with our ethical values and commitments. This
Supplier Code of Conduct outlines the standards and expectations we hold for
all our suppliers, including compliance with legal requirements, ethical labour
practices, environmental sustainability and integrity in business dealings. It
helps mitigate risks, maintain the integrity of our supply chain and foster a
responsible business environment throughout our supply chain.
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Number of vendors with certifications EISEMMERESE

ISO 9001 - Quality management systems ISO 9001 - MEEBERR 32
ISO 27007 - Information security management systems ISO 27001 - EHLZLEERAMR 22
ISO 20000-1:2018 - IT service management systems ISO 20000-1:2018 - EHRHERBEER 1
ISO 45001:2018 - Occupational health and safety management systems SO 45001:2018 - B2 REHEHEL2EEAR 4
ISO 14001:2015 - Environmental management systems ISO 14001:2015 - IRIFEIE R4 3

Both the Ukraine crisis and Middle East uncertainty present significant
challenges to global supply chains. The Group need to adopt strategies to
mitigate these risks, such as diversifying suppliers, placing advance orders
with suppliers, and enhancing supply chain resilience. By staying informed
and proactive, the Group can better navigate these complex geopolitical
landscapes.

The Group is dedicated to promoting sustainability and reducing our
environmental footprint across all facets of our operations. As a leading IT
company in Hong Kong, the Group understand the critical role that our supply
chain plays in achieving our sustainability goals. In line with our ESG strategy,
the Group prioritize suppliers who demonstrate strong environmental
practices and hold relevant environmental certifications. The Group believe
that sustainability is a journey, not a destination. Therefore, the Group
work collaboratively with our suppliers to improve their environmental
performance.

The Group is committed to sustainable sourcing practices. This includes
the use of recycled materials, certified sustainable resources, and efforts to
minimize the impact on natural ecosystems. Sustainable sourcing not only
helps preserve our planet's resources but also contributes to the overall
quality and reliability of our products.

Social Capital

Against the background of global interconnectedness and integration brought
about by the information age, the Group recognises that any individual or
group in the world, no matter how large or small, has an impact on others.
It is only through solidarity and greater understanding that solutions to the
multiple problems facing society can be found. Therefore, building trust and
fostering long-term relationships are essential for sustainable development.

BrEHNARTEELHIRMEEERTE
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Customer Engagement

The Group understands the importance of listening to our customers, and
their opinions can help us to continuously improve our services. We have
launched a policy with a set of procedures to handle customers’ feedbacks or
complaints in a professional manner.

Customers can file complaints in writing or verbally. Upon receipt of a
complaint or feedback, the acknowledgement of complaint case shall be given
on receipt of the complaint by a member of the Customer Care Unit and
subsequently our Customer Care Unit must arrange for it to be dealt with
by a dedicated person and give the customer a response in due course. If
necessary, it will also escalate the feedback or complaint to the appropriate
level of management. During the Reporting Year, there were 4 substantiated
complaints received relating to the provision and use of products and services.

Customer surveys in forms of paper or electronics are available for customers
to express opinions on regular basis. The Group treasures every survey and
open to listen customers’ voices. With data collection by relevant parties,
the measurement result of customer satisfaction will be reported to senior
management.

Privacy Protection

The Group places importance on customer privacy and all data must be
collected, held, used and processed in a lawful and discreet manner. In
accordance with the IT Security Policy, our employees are required to observe
and comply with the non-disclosure agreement entered into with the Group
and the agreements entered into from time to time between the Group and
our customers. We provide channels for employees to report data protection
concerns or breaches.

The Group may collect personal information of different parties when
conducting business. We will disclose the collection statements or we will
undertake to follow the data protection principles when collecting, using,
holding or processing it in a lawful way. In addition, we also follow customer’s
own data protection and privacy requirements.

Community Investment

The Group takes its commitment to social responsibility and is concerned
with helping the disadvantaged in the communities in which it operates. Our
core subsidiary, ASLHK, has been awarded the Caring Company Award by the
Hong Kong Council of Social Service since 2010. During the Reporting Year, the
Company has donated and sponsored to Hong Kong Sheng Kung Hui Welfare
Council Limited.

For more activities, please refer to “Sustainable Teamwork and Community
Engagement” on page 3 of the annual report.
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Human Capital

A skilled and stable workforce is the engine of value creation for our
stakeholders. The Group therefore makes significant efforts to attract and
retain talent, including investment in capacity building, fair remuneration
and management, and a safe and healthy working environment. Deeply
acknowledging the growing concern on labour standards and rights, the Group
endeavours to promote its new core values “TRUST” to enhance the corporate
culture so as to operate a harmonious and diversity workplace.

For detailed information about the strategic and core values of the Group,
please refer to the section headed “Quality Policy of ASL" on page 2 of this
annual report.

Development and Training

The Group believes that the development of a corporate is inseparable from
the continuous development of its employees. With this in mind, the Group
offers regular training, development programmes and training sponsorship to
our employees.

Types of Training Description
o= H ki) it

RIE-HERELBHRS

ABE®H

ARERENETIRMDAEEBZHNEREE
BERNESHEE - @Al > ZEBEBHRSIKFEE A
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BRRIE

FEERR > CEZERBHESZFEERER
Ao o At > AERSRERSREEHEFI - R
B IEFIER

Orientation training
mEr

Orientation is provided to new employees covering the corporate culture, corporate
systems and policies to give them a basic understanding of the different positions.

A AR ESRMRERFENIE - EEFERBERNEMEI > ULHEETRABUERELT

%@o

Internal on-the-job training
R ERTEREE H

future business development needs.

Regular training programmes are designed for our employees to support current and

ISR AEERZEBERS » UXFHEARARRNEBERBR

External training

ShERIE I

To raise the professionalism of IT staff, the Group promotes an e-learning platform where
they can learn hard and soft skills, and are required to take tests related to the learning
content. For the development of non-IT staff, we encourage department heads to maintain
close communication with them to assess their training needs in order to better assist their
professional development and competence.

AIRAEMEREINERKT » ZEERLREEHZ2TE > BRETIN T8 LE8BR
B WESMASBRSERZAE - ERFFEARKETINERE  AEEZBEFIEE
RESFRFBER  TEEENIER  LE—TS B EEZFEERBKRAES

Additionally, workshops are offered to management and supervisory staff with the aim of
enhancing their management skills and career development.
LS s REETAEEEREEASRMEMSNE > EERSHEERIIRBERE -

The Group encourages employees to participate in training provided by external
organizations based on their needs. Sponsorship is available to employees who meet

certain conditions set by the Group.

AEEZEESRBHEEZSMINEHBIRENE - FEFERRTENETHREZEETER

&hf e

Staff training for the entire Group amounted to 3,813 hours during the
Reporting Year. Going forward, the Group will establish a more systematic
training management system, further standardise staff training programmes
and formulate relevant management policies.

RREFER > BEEEZETIHIIES I3/ -
RERE  AEERFRIEMARENFIEER
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Employment System

As of 31st December 2024, the Group had 1,315 employees in the reporting
scope. The following table sets out the number of our employees by
employment category.

1 FIE

ESZI_V_IEEE—I- A=+—H > x&EERKSHE
RHEAF1315%EE - TR FEEZESLEHR]!
%‘JQZEE%@°

Number of employees

Employment category {ES%ER EE#E
Senior Manager AR IE 3
Middle Manager B AT 9
Manager pEs il 245
Supervisor TE 84
IT professional BB EEALT 895
Others Hih 79
Total st 1,315

The Group believes that we maintain good working relationships with our
employees and we have not experienced any major labour disputes or
difficulties in recruiting staff. This is thanks to the Group’s employment system
which respects and safeguards the labour rights of our employees.

We have internal policies such as a series of Employment Policies that strives to
improve the employment relationship and promotion mechanism, and protect
the rights and interests of our employees. The Group’s employment-related
management practices are detailed below.

Employment-related management practices

FERBE > rERRESHEFSRIFNITERRE
FERTELREMNEASEUDANBEELS
EEBRE - &tE%IE@K%@%E&T%BE(EE%I
a2 [ERHIE

FEBRERE -RIVERBRENIEER » BHIK
ZRERFBAG KRS ARG > RRERESNEN KR
m o AEEEEFEEMVEREMFRIT -

S{EEERNEIRIES

Recruitment

)

Remuneration

#ro

Promotion

a7t
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All acts of recruitment are subject to employment-related legislation. Contracts are signed to
protect the rights of both the employers and employees.
FREBIEIT AR EBEREFAR - BT ARERERESE S ZHEF -

Different remuneration policies formulated and reviewed by the Human Resources (“HR")
Department are adopted for different categories of employees. In general, employees’
salaries include a percentage of performance incentives, the amount of which will be
adjusted based on the Group's performance and the results of the employees’ appraisals.
TR EERATEFINEE > HEABERBEANER(TAHEIR]) EFH i&%%ﬂ o —f% M
= EEHFMEEETIANRERE  HeBRRAEENREREEZZEREITHAE -

The Group follows the principles of consistency, objectivity, fairness and impartiality to
conduct regular performance appraisals for employees as a reference for their promotion.
Employees will be promoted based on merit, with due consideration given to their ability,
past performance and potential to take on new job roles. Department Manager shall submit
detailed justifications to support the employee’s promotion. Promotion Panel is required for
positions at Team Head and above levels.
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Employment-related management practices

BUE{EIERR EIRE R

Termination of employment
®RIHERA

Working hours and rest period
TR RARE R

Other benefits and welfare
HhF &= K@

Equal opportunity, diversity and
anti-discrimination
TERS - 2O RRIER

Child labour and forced labour
ERWEE:EECE)

Communication
iR

In future, the Group will improve its employment-related policies, including
more specific guidelines on equal opportunities, diversity and anti-
discrimination, to better maintain a diverse and equal working environment.

Generally, either the Company or employees should terminate the employment by giving the
other party a notice period according to the agreement set out in the employment contract
and completing the handover procedures by the last working day.

—RME > AR WEERRBEBRSOFIRZBE » EBOTH—AEN > ITREE—EL
EERITEM AT - UL IEIR BRI o

The Group is committed to managing employees’ working hours, rest periods and leave in
accordance with our contracts and internal policies.
AEERNNIBBEESHAKRANBERERRES 2 TIERME - KBRS -

Employees are entitled to paid time off such as annual leave, bereavement leave, marriage
leave, examination leave, jury service leave, maternity and paternity leave. Completion of
the leave approval process is necessary for the approval and payment of paid leave to
employees.

EEZATHNR > MER - BB BR - TR BEER - ERKEER - TRARELIE
FF RS B THF MR Z BT o

The statutory benefits for employees, including the Mandatory Provident Fund, are paid in
accordance with local policy requirements and the Group’s relevant systems. We also offer
job-related allowances, insurance schemes and share option scheme as company benefits.
EEZEERN (BERFIEATRE) NREAMBRRERAEBZABBGE T - ZEETR
HE T (EAERA 2 BRG ~ (RSB SRR ST BIE A R B RRF

The Group recognises individual differences as a driver for sustainable development and
emphasises equal opportunities in recruitment or promotion, without discrimination against
individuals on the basis of age, gender, race, family status, sexual orientation, disability,
nationality or region.

AEERERBEEAVREERZEHRE > USRAABREISARHTERS > FT2RAFEH
MR ~ R ~ REARR ~ MM~ BR -~ BTt R AL AR o

The Group prohibits child labour and forced labour. During the recruitment process, each
candidate’s personal details are confirmed.
FEMBIFBETRRIAHE - RWRBBET » JBREAEZEABERITERED -

All employees who are required to work overtime or on holiday must be approved in advance
by their supervisors and compensated accordingly.
FRERZER LRNENES - KAFLERIEIE » WESHERERHE -

There is an open dialogue maintained between the Group and our employees to promote
transparent two-way communication. If there are any comments or suggestions on
management and administration, employees can provide feedback to their supervisors or
relevant departments.
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Health and Safety

Work related injuries and occupational health issues are not significant risk
factors due to the nature of our business. Nevertheless, the Group places
importance on providing a safe, healthy and high-quality workplace and
protecting employees from occupational hazards.

With the view to ensuring the safety of our employees, the Group has defined
the safety responsibilities of the Administration Department to identify
dangerous risks and factors in the workplace and to take effective preventive
and control measures, including occasional monitoring and review of safety
and security management and regular inspections of the entire office to
ensure that furniture, fixtures and equipment are well maintained and
replaced when necessary to avoid unnecessary physical injury. In addition, first
aid kits are available at an easily-accessible location on every floor of the entire
office.

On top of this, the Group wants to evolve from the traditional focus on the
physical safety risks towards a concept of a healthy and pleasant working
environment in our occupational health and safety programme. We prohibit
smoking throughout the office, including enclosed offices, meeting rooms
and other open areas, while maintaining proper lighting and ventilation
to safeguard the health of our employees. In addition, we promote health
awareness and habits among our employees through internal training and
newsletters. The Group has also organised events to improve work-life balance
and strengthen employee relations.

Natural Capital

The community has called on business to engage in the implementation and
achievement of the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs),
specifically Goal 13: Climate Change, to promote greater global ambition in
mitigation and adaptation actions. In the face of Hong Kong's 2050 carbon
neutrality target, the Group is also stepping up efforts to address the challenge
of climate change, using resources responsibly and wisely, and managing our
impacts vigilantly, in the hope to run our business sustainably.

Management of Emissions and Use of Resources

The Group is committed to complying with all applicable laws and regulations,
such as the Waste Disposal Ordinance, the Air Pollution Control Ordinance
and the Water Pollution Control Ordinance, and to going beyond minimum
requirements to manage and reduce environmental impacts of our day-to-day
operations, fostering an environmental responsible operating culture at each
of our sites. To this end, we have established specific management guidelines
and measures based on our Environmental Policy.

70 Annual Report 2024 53R

ek

ENAERZEBME » TERBEEERBELIF
EXEABRER - AM > 2EBMEREHRZE  #5F
REBEENTIESM > TRESIRZHERSE -

AERAEREENZ D > AEBEARTEEM
WZ2EE > UHH TESMNERRR KA
T EREVE BV TERT RAZ R T - BE AN EHRER K
BEL2RREEE  UNERRESBREARAE -
NREA - RERRBIRERE > TNEER
EITER > UBREAUENSEREE o b Z(E
MAESEREITRE BN EARNSHRER -

FRIEZ 9N » ZEERBERERZZEEIT » BN
MASZ2REBRHNEREMEBMEEN RN IR
BZEE o BERAEYE (BEBRNAE - 83
EREMAREE) 9ARE » MRFEERBRE
B > LREREEE © s > RERBEBAEE
REHBENRSEEZEREEHRREE - ZE/TF
EEMESLINE TFREEZ PERIMNBE TH
e

BARS

HETHECXSUBRABRBSEAIREERE
2 BHRERIZ I RIEEME > DUBESINBER
BRERIGEETEFEBRD o SR EB2050F 5
RHER > AEETNEEERIGEZEHE - L&
BEERBAENAXNERER > UEEREEAERY
T8 LBUAFERNEERES -

R EEERERER

FEBRNHETHRABRAERKRRG  (EYEE
1B ~ (CERISRERERB) K (K5 REFIERBG) -
THBEREERNEERROAERBEEENIR
B2 URFERLAMMEEHREEENEE
XA o #ltt - AEBBRBHIRFERGEABEE
VaEapsdi-biil



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Emissions of Greenhouse Gases and Air Pollutants

During the Reporting Year, we generate greenhouse gas emissions mainly
from purchased electricity and fuel consumed by company vehicles. Below are
the assess the Group's greenhouse gas emissions, including carbon dioxide,

RIE-HERELBHRS

mERBERERSRMHEK

RESFEER > 2EEZREREHREZRINE
BB NIRRT EEFHFEME o TS ERERN
BEREHNE (BE_ALH - BRk&atna) ¢

methane and nitrous oxide:

Scope

EE

Emissions
(Tonnes of CO?
Equivalent)

B E (B_atREE)

Scope 1 Direct Emission

Scope 2 Indirect Emission

Total Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Greenhouse Gas Emission Intensity
(tonnes of CO, equivalent/employee)

HE 1 B 4,98
2 PR 1,014.36
BERSESME 1,019.34
BERBHEE

G (==t =1 =) 1.5682

Since vehicle use also generates air pollutants, the Group has also quantified ~HREWEBRTEEEEZRSRY > 2EETER

the relevant emissions to monitor our impact on the environment. RPN EUGERERHBIRREZFE -
Type Emissions (Kilograms)
= B2 (AF)
Nitrogen Oxides asa1ty 2.41
Sulphur Oxides ety 0.03
Respiratory Suspended Particles o O S8 % - 0.18

In line with our goal to minimize greenhouse gas and air emissions, the
Group has adopted video conferencing system to replace its previous
physical meetings. In addition, half of the company vehicles are electric. These
measures have further reduced our emissions.

AEGRMBAVEERERERFRZER &
EEBREEZERM  URABENEREEE - It
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Waste

For the disposal of hazardous waste generated in Hong Kong, the Company
has registered as a Chemical Waste Producer under the Waste Disposal
(Chemical Waste) (General) Regulation and sends the waste to specialists for
recycling. In addition, under the principle of waste reduction at source, the
Group has promoted various waste management measures and ensures that
relevant employees are aware of the disposal requirements for hazardous and
non-hazardous waste. During the Reporting Year, we have taken the following
measures to minimise the waste generated from office operations.

Applied the “3R” principle of “reduce”, *

wastes;

reuse” and “recycle” to manage

Encourage paper conservation by printing on both sides of office papers
and reusing one-side printed papers;

Applied the use of electronic document for document issuance and
notification to promote a paperless office environment;

Redeployed usable and suitable office furniture within the Group to
reduce the amount of material going to landfill;

Sent used batteries to specialists for recycling; and

Reused or recycled computer parts through the selection of a team of
engineers, and sent parts and materials that the Group cannot reuse to
specialist for further recycling.

The Group analyses the use of resources and the generation of waste on a
regular annual basis. During the Reporting Year, the Group's office operations
generated 4.50 tonnes of hazardous waste, consisting mainly of used batteries
and fluorescent light bulbs, which were collected and disposed of by qualified
contractors. As for non-hazardous waste, it mainly consisted of paper and used
computer parts, with a total weight of 4.12 tonnes, lower than in the previous
year.
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Energy and Water

A range of internal control policies and procedures have been adopted to
improve the efficiency of our resource consumption, including energy. For
example, we promote green office practices such as using high-performance
and high-quality all-in-one “multifunction printers” that combine the
functions of printer, scanner and copier in one device to minimise the power
consumption of a large number of devices; using new digital automatic water
dispenser to reduce the demand on bottle water and the use of plastic bottles;
and using energy-efficient lights in all office areas. Environmental Policy is
available on the Company’s intranet which is accessible to all employees.

During the Reporting Year, total electricity consumption of our offices in Hong
Kong was approximately 2,697 MWh. Compared to last year, total energy
consumption increased due to increase in manpower and electrical appliances.
In terms of water consumption, the Hong Kong office operations consumed a
total of approximately 456 m® of water, which represents a 10.14% increase
compared to 2023.

Moving forward, we will further strengthen education on resource
conservation and emissions reduction and will continue to monitor resource
consumption and make improvements to the policy, such as conserving water
management, based on the principle of “materiality”. At the same time, we
will use the data from the Reporting Year as a basis for setting improvement
measures and energy conservation and emission reduction targets.

Management of Environmental and Climate Risks

The Earth's climate is changing and has impacts on several aspects of our
stakeholders, company operations and communities. Average temperatures
rise, climate science finds that acute hazards such as heat waves and floods
grow in frequency and severity and chronic hazards, such as drought and
rising sea levels, intensify. To address the climate change, we identified that
environmental conservation is the most important part to our society. An
Environmental Policy (including climate change elements) has been established
and the Group is committed to take all possible actions to reduce the impact,
such as conserving resources, reducing carbon footprint, minimising waste.
To capitalize on these possibilities and monitor the dangers, the Group has
been closely analyzing the impacts of climate change. The Environment Policy
will be reviewed once annually so that the Group may assess any updated
environmental risk of our business and, where necessary, take preventive
measures to mitigate them and ensure compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations.
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PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW

Environmental

Key environmental performance indicators

RRERIRIR AR SIEIR
Unit 2024 2023
B —EmE —¥_=
Air Pollutant emissions?
ERISRMBERE?
Nitrogen oxides kg 2.41 0.88
aa1ty Nz
Sulphur oxides kg 0.03 0.03
maty Nz
Respiratory suspended particles kg 0.18 0.07
PR OR AR R F /NI
GHG Emissions?
mEREHRES
Scope 1 Direct emissions tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 4.98 478
HENEEW M EEHES
Scope 2 Energy indirect emissions tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 1,014.36 1,133.52
E6[E 258 R EEBER MR —SEhiEE
Total GHG emissions tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 1,019.34 1,138.30
A= RSN E WA —SEhiEE
GHG intensity (by area) tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent/sqgm 0.1275 0.1423
BRERBRE (ZEH) mE_EtREE FHK
GHG intensity (by employee) tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent/ 1.5682 1.7512
BERBTE (ZES) employee
mE_EtHREE B
Hazardous waste
BEEEEY
Total hazardous waste tonnes 4.59 4.61
BEERYRE i
Hazardous waste intensity (by area) tonnes/sgm 0.00057 0.00058
AEEEYRE (ER) Mg, 75K
Hazardous waste intensity (by employee) tonnes/employee 0.00705 0.00709
BEREEYEE (ZES) ng,/ B8
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Key environmental performance indicators

RRESIRIRARIEIT

Unit 2024 2023

Bl —E_MEF —®==
Non-hazardous waste
BREEREN
Total non-hazardous waste tonnes 4.12 4.72
BEEEVES L
Non-hazardous waste intensity (by area) tonnes/sgm 0.00052 0.00059
BEERYRE (ER) WE, 75K
Non-hazardous waste intensity (by tonnes/employee 0.00634 0.00726
employee) L7
BEEEEYEE (ZES)
Energy Consumption
Petrol MWh 18 17
i I
Electricity MWh 2,697 2,806
B/ JKELF
Total energy consumption MWh 2,715 2,823
AERHFERRE JKEEF
Energy intensity (by area) MWh/sgm 0.3395 0.3530
BETRHFER E (IHER) KRB, FF5K
Energy intensity (by employee) MWh/employee 4.1772 4.3435
SERHERE (RES) KEE,BE
Water Consumption
FeK
Total water consumption m?3 456 414
BEEkE I T5K
Water intensity (by area) m3/sgm 0.0570 0.0518
FERBE (FREE) IFRFTK
Water intensity (by employee) m3/employee 0.7015 0.6369
FEREE (REER) IHKRE

Notes: BEE <

1. Emission factor is referenced to the Stock Exchange “How to prepare an ESG Report 1. BEREF2EBET (U EEERE e REAER
- Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs". S-MiER T | IRIBRABERUEIEERISS ] ©

2. Scope 1 includes emissions from the consumption of fossil fuels by vehicles; Scope 2. #HE1GEEFNELAREEENIRE ; 8E2E
2 includes emissions from the consumption of purchased electricity in offices. RN HERSEHELSENEERE - EHRFEE
Emission factor is referenced to the Stock Exchange “How to prepare an ESG Report MRS THN AR IBE « M REARE-Mtg— ;18
- Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” and CLP 2024 Climate B RARENEEIZERISS | P E S " MR R{TER
Action Finance Report. BRE
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Social

Key social performance indicators

PRt EAIEIE
Total employees*
EEAAH
Male
By gender B4 1,014
BIER Female
g 301
Below 35
35 LT 585
By age group 35-45
BEHAER 35 E455% 374
Above 45
458 E 356
Full-time
By employment type eSS 1,295
BEWER S
3 20
Total
485 1,315
Total other workers®
HithS T4 A8
Male
By gender Bt 27
IR Female
714 5
Below 35
35T 15
By age group 35-45
REEAER 35 E455% 8
Above 45
455 LA E 9
Full-time
By employment type g 29
R Esan Part-time
TR 3
Total
st 32
Notes: B5E

3. All employees were in Hong Kong.

4. All other workers, i.e. secondment staff, worked in Hong Kong.
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RIE-HERELBHRS

Key social performance indicators

R+ S ARREEIR

Turnover Rate
R
Male
By gender B 27%
el Female
fogis 34%
Below 35
35T 40%
By age group 35-45
R EEARR 35 EASH 20%
Above 45
458U E 24%
Total
W8t 30%
Health and safety®
fREREARES
Work-related injuries (employees)
ITHER{ES) 3
Lost days due to work-related injuries (employees)
EIEEZE(RE)BEIIEBE 14
Percentage of employees trained
ZilEEE ALt
Male
By gender B 75%
LR Female
fogis 25%
Senior Manager
= AR AR 0%
Middle Manager
g AL IR 1%
Manager
By employee category 52 19%
RRERR Supervisor
Ed 4%
IT professional
BRRREEAL 75%
Others
Hith 1%
Total
M8t 25%
Note: BEE -

5. There were no work-related fatalities in the past three years (including the Reporting 5. RIBA=ZF (BERSEE) N > LERTERIGRER
Year). HISETEZ ©
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Key social performance indicators

R+t S ARREEIR
Average training hours
FI9ZIEFER
Male
By gender %’l‘ﬁf 2.96
LR Female
7z 2.69
Senior Manager
B R ATE 0.00
Middle Manager
AR 0.44
Manager
By employee category 32 3.57
ES %8R! Supervisor
TE 0.71
IT professional
Bl EEAL 3.15
Others
Hith 0.70
Total
w5t 2.90
Total suppliers
e AR EN
Australia
=D 7
Austria
B3t A 1
Belgium
EE A B 1
Canada
MER 2
Mainland China
FREI At 16
Denmark
By region % 2
wie Germany
BE 1
Hong Kong
&t 636
India
ENE 1
Ireland
W 7
Macau
P 1
Philippines
JFRE 1
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Key social performance indicators

R EAERIER
Total suppliers
BT
Romania
#EEDR 1
Singapore
N 14
Thailand
Z=E 3
United Kingdom
BE 5
U.S.
=B 25
By region Finland
ZE X 1
Cambodia
RS 1
Malaysia
Bk 2
Netherlands
fer il 2
France
e 1
Vietnam
HE 1
Service
By type AR5 497
Eie it Hardware
ks 235
Total
st 732
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THE STOCK EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING R (IRIE - 1S RERHR
GUIDE CONTENT INDEX S5 BT ES|

Aspects Description

[Em it

A1 Emissions

A1 B

General Disclosure Information on: 70-71
—RIE BRBRMBERBEHMN ~ MAKERLTHBEES s BEX
BEBEEYNELSN !

(@) the policies; and
K &

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
BTHETABEAXENEREZRROHN

A1 The types of emissions and respective emissions 71,74
data.
BEm e E R AR RAHE B o

A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) 71,74
greenhouse gas emissions and intensity.

B (BE) kEREZE (BE2) AERBIRERE
}_g o

A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and intensity. 72,74
FRELAEERMEERTE -

Al.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and intensity. 73,75
FRELBREEEYHBERTE °

A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken 71-72
to achieve them.
HHFrEI IR E B R R A EEA K B RAT I

A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous 71-72
wastes are handled, and a description of reduction
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
HREEASRBEERYNG L > RMEFTSTIIAR
FE B 1R 2RI A R B ARFTERERBI P BR o
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Aspects Description Remark Page
BE Ei::2 st BR
A2 Use of Resources
A2 BiRfER
General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including 73
—AR R EE energy, water and other raw materials.
BRERER (BIEER ~ KEREMEME) BB
A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in 73,75
total and intensity.
RENEDNERER,SREEREEEREE o
A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. 73,75
BFEKBREE °
A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and 70-73
steps taken to achieve them.
i 5] LAY AR R A W B IR kA &R B R B R
PREXRY P BR o
A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing There were
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) no issues in
set and steps taken to achieve them. sourcing water
it SR EE A AR LI BRI R RE > UK PrsT LRI A K fit for purpose.
Wi B IR A EEIA R B ARPRERERAY 5% © EEERRSE
A RIRE o
A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products The use of
and per unit produced. packaging materials
Bk PR EEME R R EGEEBAEE is irrelevant to the
Group's operating
businesses.
BEMIIRY
e ALY
EIEERER o
A3 The Environment and Natural Resources
A3 RERXRAER
General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact 70
—AR on the environment and natural resources.
EET ABIRIE R RAREREMEARZENEER -
A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities 70-73

on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them.
R EREHHRE A RXARAERNEAT ERERN

BIEAR BT -
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Aspects Description Remark Page
=[] falt st BR
A4 Climate Change
A4 RIREME
General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant 73
— AR IR climate-related issues which have impacted, and
those which may impact, the issuer.
B REHEEKAISEEHETAEERENERRIE
HERIEEHYECR o
A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues 73
which have impacted, and those which may impact,
the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.
BB R EERETAEERENEAREAER
BH > KEHTE
B1 Employment
B1 {Ef#
General Disclosure Information on: 60-61, 67-70
— AR BRI R ~ B REA - TS -~ R~ %
HE ~ Ll - RIERUKREMGEREF :
(@) the policies; and
BH; &
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
BTHETAREAZENERERRREHN
Bh o
B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age 68,76
group and geographical region.
%R~ BFEL - FRER KB DN RERH
B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and 77

geographical region.

®IER) ~ FEERFE R DRSS MKER o
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Aspects Description Remark Page
BE Ei::2 st BR
B2 Health and Safety
B2 fZRE R
General Disclosure Information on: 60, 70
— AR ARREZE TR R REESRRHELEREN :
(@) the policies; and
BH; &
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from occupational
hazards.
BTHETAREAZENERERERBEHN
Bl o
B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred There were no
in each of the past three years including the reporting work-related
year. fatalities in the
BE=F (BEERFE) SFRIUTHMHABUKRLEE - past three years
(including the
Reporting Year).
RBE=%F
(BFEREFE)RA
R R TR (R
ERIIFETEZE ©
B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. 77
AITHBELATIERE -
B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety 70
measures adopted, and how they are implemented
and monitored.
H P RMBI B R R AT 2 > LURABRI T &
85k e
B3 Development and Training
B3 &R RiF:N
General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and 67
— AR EE skills for discharging duties at work. Description of
training activities.
BHRAEBEBIT LB ENN B R RENEEE -
g IES) o
B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and 77
employee category.
ZER R EEER B DVZIIEEB DL
B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee 78

by gender and employee category.
RUENKREEHFE D > ERESTREINTS
BRr 8 o
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environmentally preferable products and services
when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
HRERERERREES AIRRERKRBNIESL >
AR ABREET S 822 75 0% ©

Aspects Description Remark Page
=[] falt st BR
B4 Labour Standards
B4 % T 48|
General Disclosure Information on: 60-61, 69
—AR BRAPG LB T ai58%I%5 T :
(@) the policies; and
BH; &
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
BTHETAREAZENERERRBEHN
EGR
B4.1 Description of measures to review employment 69
practices to avoid child and forced labour.
AR ST R EE B BV E HE LB R 2 T ResR BI85 T o
B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices | The Group did not
when discovered. encounter such
Rt E B IRERIEREDHIRE RIE NPT IRERIFZ BY o practices during the
Reporting Year.
FERNREFER
WA HIRILERIER ©
B5 Supply Chain Management
B5 fifESEEIE
General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks 64-65
—HREE of the supply chain.
ERHEEIRIE R B RRECR o
B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. 78-79
it R HEEEE o
B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging 65
suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices
are being implemented, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
H A RS R EERENIES > mERTAREMNHE
A  MURERAITRERTTE -
BS5.3 Description of practices used to identify 64-65
environmental and social risks along the supply chain,
and how they are implemented and monitored.
M BRHAHEREEGEREHNIRE R T AR
186 » URAERIRIT R EE R 37k ©
B5.4 Description of practices used to promote 65
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Aspects Description Remark Page
BE Ei::2 st BR
B6 Product Responsibility
B6 EREE
General Disclosure Information on: 60-63, 66
— AR ARFFREERMNRFNEREZE « BS ~ REL
EENEWDYSEEb  gapry: TN
(@) the policies; and
BH; &
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters relating to products and
services provided and methods of redress.
BTHETAREAZENERERERBEHN
B o
B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject The issue is
to recalls for safety and health reasons. irrelevant to the
EEHBEFEREHIRAL 2 ERRIEHAMARLIWAY |  Group's operating
Btk businesses.
B R B A EE Y
EEEGER -
B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints 66
received and how they are dealt with.
RN E R RIRFSIRFEE UL B 757% o
B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and 63-64
protecting intellectual property rights.
it B S R R IB A B R RARYIE D) o
B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall | The Group was not
procedures. involved in any
i E ST IBE & EmEIIEF © recall procedures.
AREEE Y e
ERIEREIWIZRF ©
B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and 63, 66

privacy policies, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

HHUH BEEERMRBRIARER » UREBRITRER
ik ©
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Aspects Description Remark Page
Em falt st BR
B7 Anti-corruption
B7 R&i5
General Disclosure Information on: 60-61
—AR BRAPLEFRRE ~ $13 ~ BGFREREN ¢
(@) the policies; and
BH; &
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.
BTHETABEAZENEREZERROIN
Bi e
B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt 61
practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the
cases.
RERPAANETASHEESRD T ESEMNESHN
ZHEE REFRMER ©
B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle- 61
blowing procedures, and how they are implemented
and monitored.
LB AT R B RAZ T - LURABRIIT R BEZE 0% o
B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to 61
directors and staff.
HilmEERETRENRETE -
B8 Community Investment
B8 HtERE
General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand 57, 66
— AR EE the needs of the communities where the issuer
operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.
B2 R TREEMTHEREMERAER
EHEERTENEIBER o
B8.1 Focus areas of contribution. 66
I EREE -
B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area. 66
TEEIHBREAER
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are pleased to present their
report together with the audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31st December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and provides corporate
management services. The principal activities of its major subsidiaries and
associates are set out in Notes 46 and 22, respectively, to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATION

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December 2024 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement
of comprehensive income on pages 113 and 114 of this annual report
respectively.

The board of Directors (the “Board”) recommended the payment of a final
dividend of 3.0 HK cents per share held by the shareholders of the Company
whose names appear on the register of members on Tuesday, 3rd June 2025
for the year ended 371st December 2024 (2023: 3.0 HK cents per share).

2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Company will convene the forthcoming annual general meeting on
Wednesday, 21st May 2025. For determining the entitlement to attend and
vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting, the register of members of
the Company will be closed from Friday, 16th May 2025 to Wednesday, 21st
May 2025, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of the
Company will be registered. In order to determine the entitlement to attend
and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting, all completed transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
branch share registrar and transfer office of the Company in Hong Kong, Tricor
Tengis Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre,16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong,
for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 15th May 2025.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group's business during the year, a description of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing, particulars of important events
affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the financial year
2024 and an indication of likely future development in the Group's business as
required under Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”
and “Chief Executive Officer's Statement” on pages 8 to 11 and 12 to 21 of this
annual report respectively. For the financial key performance indicators for an
understanding of the development, performance or position of the Group's
business, it can also be found under the same sections and the “Financial
Summary” on page 7 of this annual report.

Directors’ Report
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B USI N ESS REVI EW (Continued)

In addition, discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and
performance, relationships with the Group's key stakeholders as well as
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Group are set out in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on
pages 55 to 86.

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business and operation of the Group. During the year, there
was no materials breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations by the Group.

To achieve the Company's vision of becoming the most competitive entity in
Asia information technology (“IT") sector, strengthening business practices in
environmental protection and corporate social responsibilities are always an
integral part of the Group's corporate business strategy.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the year
ended 31st December 2024 are set out in the Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity on pages 117 to 118 of this annual report.

As at 31st December 2024, the Group's special reserve and retained earnings
totalled approximately HK$1,536,472,000 (2023: HK$1,416,934,000).

The Company's reserves are available for distribution to the shareholders as at
31st December 2024 included special reserve and retained earnings totaling
approximately HK$103,402,000 (2023: HK$104,924,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year ended 31st December 2024, addition to (also included the
amount of reassessment of lease term and lease modification, if applicable)
property, plant and equipment amounted to approximately HK$12,818,000
(2023: HK$18,846,000).

Details of these and other movements during the year ended 31st December
2024 in property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in Note 19 to
the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentage of the Group's purchases and sales attributable to major
suppliers and customers are as follows:

During the year ended 31st December 2024, the five largest customers and
single largest customer of the Group accounted for approximately 25.9% and
9.6% of the Group's revenue from continuing operations respectively. The
five largest suppliers and single largest supplier of the Group accounted for
approximately 36.0% and 10.9% of the Group’s purchases from continuing
operations respectively.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

(Continued)

At no time during the year ended 31st December 2024 did a Director, an
associate of a Director or a shareholder of the Company (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the number of the
Company’s issued shares) had an interest in any of the Group's five largest
customers or suppliers.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share movements during the year ended 31st December 2024
in share capital of the Company are set out in Note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this annual
report are:

Executive Directors

Wang Weihang
Wang Yueou

Non-Executive Director

Zhang Bingxia

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Pan Xinrong
Deng Jianxin
Or Siu Ching Rerina

In accordance with Bye-law 99 of the Company, Mr. Wang Yueou, Mr. Pan
Xinrong and Ms. Or Siu Ching Rerina will retire from office by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election.

Mr. Pan Xinrong was appointed as Independent Non- Executive Directors
since September 2015. In accordance with the CG Code provision B.2.3, if an
independent non-executive director has served more than nine (9) years, such
director’s further appointment should be subject to a separate resolution to be
approved by the shareholders of the Company. In accessing the independence
of Mr. Pan, the Nomination Committee and the Board has taken into account:
(i) the factors under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules; (i) whether Mr. Pan is able
to provide objective and independent perspectives to the Board; and (iii) the
fact that Mr. Pan has never held a management position in the Group and
has no relationship with any Director, senior management, substantial or
controlling shareholder of the Company. Both the Board and the Nomination
Committee believe that he possesses the required character and integrity to
act as a director of the Company. Hence, the Board considers that Mr. Pan as
independent and recommends the re-election of Mr. Pan as an independent
non-executive director at the upcoming annual general meeting. The further
appointment of Mr. Pan Xinrong will be subject to a separate resolution to be
approved by shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming AGM.
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D I RECTO RS (Continued)

As at the date of this report, each of the Directors has entered into a service
agreement or a letter of appointment with the Company. All Directors are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Bye-
laws of the Company.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The Company has received, from each of the Independent Non-Executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”). The Company
considers all of the Independent Non-Executive Directors are independent.
Please also see page 45 of the “Corporate Governance Report” for the
assessment by the Nomination Committee in this regard.

UPDATE ON DIRECTORS' INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in information of
Directors of the Company are set out below:

Details of changes

1. Mr. Wang Weihang has been the chairman of Telink Semiconductor
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (“Telink”) since January 2021. Telink was listed on the
Sci-Tech Innovation Board of the Shanghai Stock Exchange in August 2023,
with stock code 688591.SH.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected and Related Party
Transactions” below, no transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance to which the Company, or any of its holding companies or fellow
subsidiaries or subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company
or his/her connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year ended 31st December 2024 or at
any time during the year.
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EFEHRS

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING EENRBEFZES
BUSINESS

Pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules, during the year ended 31st BB EHRAUESI0ERE > REE_T M4+
December 2024, the following Directors were considered to have interests +ZB=+—HIEERN > U TEEWRAEE
in the businesses which competed or be likely to compete, either directly or B3R EAEBEFEN R I AR AEBEBER
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group, particulars of which are set out  EBHHBEI 2 EHPES#aE > EFEHYWT
below:

Name of the entities which were Description of businesses of the
considered to compete or likely entities which were considered to
to compete with the businesses compete or likely to compete with Nature of Director’s
Name of Director of the Group the businesses of the Group interest in the entities
WA A EEEFIEME [t e R a)
EEHR AR R 2 B R BERFzERZEBHET BEERZERBZERNEE
Wang Weihang Beijing Teamsun Technology Co., Ltd. IT product service, application software Chairman, director and
("“Teamsun”) development, value-added distribution and substantial shareholder
system integration
TR BREBREBERNBRAT BRRKERRY - BRREXHNGRE - BENH FFR -EZRIERR
(TERERAL) REGES
Teamsun Technology (HK) Limited Window company of Teamsun in Hong Kong and Sole director
("Hong Kong Teamsun") mainly provides administrative support to the
clients of Teamsun in the PRC and Hong Kong
EBPRAEH (B8) BIRAT EBRUEEBREAR > TEREBRMNZER W—EF
(TEBEBRM) KPR EBRETESE
Certain subsidiaries of Teamsun IT related Director
EPFAMZETHEAT HERE AR 5%
Wang Yueou Teamsun IT product service, application software Director

development, value-added distribution and
system integration

TEE EBRA BRRRERRY - BRREXGRURE  BENH =FF
REGESL

Zhang Bingxia Teamsun IT product service, application software Chief Financial Officer and
development, value-added distribution and Senior Vice-President
system integration

RERE EBRA BRRKERRY - BRRENGRE - BENH EREVHEERSRIEH
REGES

Pan Xinrong Shanghai Boke Information Software engineering automation research Independent Director

Technology Co., LTD management and new generation of IT service
BN LEBREARNERAE EERHTIEEDEHARTI—REERMRE BiIEgE

As the Board is independent from the board of directors of the aforesaid HREZFSBUN LARATZESTIRULEEH
companies, and as none of the above Directors controls the Board, the Group  EEHIEEE » ZEEAEILR LA E Z 2B
is capable of carrying on its business independently of, and at arm’s length ~ AFEEFEABEELETS o

from, the businesses of the aforesaid companies.
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ESEHRE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31st December 2024, the interests or short positions of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO")) which (a) were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which the Directors and
chief executives of the Company were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); or (b) were recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or (c) were required,
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”), to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange (“Directors’ and Chief Executives' Interests in Shares and Underlying
Shares”), were as follows:

ESRESITHRASZRGRK
1HRARR (R Z

RTETME+"A=+—H > EERARE R
TT&/\EﬁAj&@__\&ﬁfiﬂmEﬁwf@(E%}z 53%&
HEERG (FBEBIHES =) (TEH RBEERE)
SEXVER) Z B ~ MRARMN RERETES (F) ER
BRFRIAEIRBIEXVEE 7 R8N B AN G A A
KB A2 Fr 2 s A (BIERBE S R E R Z
ZERNEERFRBERSTHAERRANEF
REZEDSUEA) ; 3(2) BEREES RS KRS
%3521'TZ’§/&__|’E%1E@ZEDEH%FEDE£?<Z% £ 5033

; (A ERBALERETAEZETESIZM
*%‘%A?E'JNWE—EA?EUJ)Z,E%D‘§$@E&H““FEZ%
@Ik ((EERESITHRABZRHGRERERKRN
ZHEm )T

(a) Shares () Befn
Approximate
Personal Family Corporate percentage of
Name of company Director interests interests interests Other Total shareholding
PGES ] Bz B AR Rixtei G Hith BEt RESRSESL
Teamsun, the ultimate Wang Weihang 43,717,039 = = = 43,717,039 3.99%
holding company THEm
of the Company
EBRA
KRB ZREERAR
Zhang Bingxia 250,000 = = = 250,000 0.02%
Grid Dynamics Holdings, Wang Weihang 34,626 = = = 34,626 0.05%
Inc. ("GDH") T
Wang Yueou 34,626 = = = 34,626 0.05%
TEB
Telink Wang Weihang 32,953,040 = = = 32,953,040 13.73%
REH FiEm
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EFEHRS

ESRESITHRASZRGRK

(b) Underlying shares (Z) ¥Rk {7
Approximate
Personal Family Corporate percentage of
Name of company Director interests interests interests Other Total shareholding
GE Bz B AR ENL S G Hith @it REBRSESL
The Company Wang Weihang 450,000 = = = 450,000 0.05%
NS T
Wang Yueou 5,420,000%3 = = = 5,420,000 0.65%
TEB
Zhang Bingxia 300,000 = = = 300,000 0.04%
Pan Xinrong 200,000° = = = 200,000 0.02%
Deng Jianxin 200,000 - - - 200,000 0.02%
i
Or Siu Ching Rerina 200,000° = = = 200,000 0.02%
g
GDH Wang Yueou 42,397 = = = 42,397 0.06%
TEB
Telink Wang Weihang 75,0000 = = = 75,000 0.03%
REM T
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ESEHRE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' EEREEITHRAEZEGGR
INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING #HBARB (R ZHExE o
SHARES (Continued)

Notes: ByaE -

1. Restricted stock units granted under the equity incentive plan of GDH effective on 1. 1REGDHR B -_ZE&=B A AL BEHENEt2

5th March 2020. R RRHIIRD EAL -

2. Share options (4,620,000 shares) to acquire ordinary shares of the Company undera 2. RIE—tH£=A+=BHFMERETEBETE
share option scheme adopted on 13th March 2017, with an amendment approved in FNEEIEAR 2 BEARAE (4,620,0008%8%1%) » HETH
the special general meeting on 4th September 2024, further details of which are set —ENFENAHAKRRENIAEHE  BRZE
out in section headed “Share Schemes” below. —TEEIBHN T X TR 58— o

3. Restricted Share Units (800,000 shares) of the Company granted under a new share 3. RIZ-MEHBMNBARMNZHTIROEETRERE
scheme adopted on 4th September 2024, further details of which are set out in 2 PRI A9 BB i (800,000 /2 17) - BRIZIE—D 5%
section headed “Share Schemes” below. BER T TR 58— o

4. Stock options to subscribe for shares of common stock of GDH under the equity 4. @}FGDHEC:’;:’EEEEEEEIEWZH%%?%YEU%%U
incentive plan of GDH effective on 5th March 2020. REEGDHE BN IVBERRIE -

5. Mr. Wang Weihang was granted 25,000 and 50,000 restricted shares under Telink's 5. RERZEM S-Sk _T_ MERHIM4KREZNE

2023 and 2024 restricted share incentive schemes, respectively. The restricted & EHERE D RIERF25,0000% 550,000 %R
shares of Telink will vest in tranches according to the agreed proportion, twelve BIMRKRE - ZEMREEREEEREFZHETZ
months after the initial grant, provided that the vesting conditions are met. Details of BA Tﬁ?‘fﬁ)‘i%ﬁ?ﬂxfﬁéﬁé}ﬁ?ﬁ‘jmttﬁjﬁ'kﬁfﬁl: =]
Telink's 2023 restricted share incentive scheme were disclosed in the announcement MREM S _=FREEREHE S EFBECRE
of Telink dated 23rd January 2024, and details of Telink's 2024 restricted share REEMBBA S _NF—A_+=BZ2A5A
incentive scheme were disclosed in the announcement of Telink dated 13th BRAREM - ZIHFREIMREZ BN T EFIEE R
December 2024. BRREMHBRAZZ_ME+_A+=H2ZRER

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st December 2024, none of the Directors and ~ FR EXFritESh » RZFE-_ME+"A=+—H >
the chief executives of the Company had any Directors’ and Chief Executives' ESZEERARTRSTHRAEEEEAES R
Interests in Shares and Underlying Shares. BITHA B ZRH RAERERD 2 -
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SHARE SCHEMES

A. 2017 Amended Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 13th March 2017,
with an amendment approved in the special general meeting on
4th September 2024 (the “2017 Amended Share Option Scheme”). The
2017 Amended Share Option Scheme will expire on 12th March 2027. A
summary of the 2017 Amended Share Option Scheme is as follows:

The purpose of the 2017 Amended Share Option Scheme is to enable
the Company to grant options to eligible participants as incentives or
rewards for their contribution to the Company and/or the subsidiaries to
subscribe for ordinary shares of par value HK$0.10 each of the Company.
The eligible participants include any employee, executive or officer of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries (including executive, non-executive
and independent non-executive directors of each of the abovementioned
companies).

The total number of shares of the Company which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the 2017 Amended Share
Option Scheme and any other share schemes of the Company shall not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of shares of the Company in
issue (excluding treasury shares) as at 4th September 2024, the date of
approval of the amendment of the 2017 Amended Share Option Scheme.
The total number of shares of the Company available for issue under the
2017 Amended Share Option Scheme are 52,618,335 as at 1st January
2024 and 76,919,649 as at 31st December 2024, representing 6.31% and
9.23% of the total number of shares of the Company in issue (excluding
treasury shares) as at the date of this annual report, respectively. As at
the date of this report, the number of issued shares of the Company was
833,696,492.

As at 31st December, 2024, the remaining life of the 2017 Amended Share
Option Scheme was 2 years and 2 months.

Unless approved by the shareholders of the Company, the total number
of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted
to each eligible participant (including both exercised and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the total number
of shares of the Company in issue (excluding treasury shares) and the total
number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted to a substantial shareholder of the Company or an Independent
Non-Executive Director, or any of their respective associates (including
both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period must
not exceed 0.1% of the total number of shares of the Company in issue
(excluding treasury shares).
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SHARE SCH EM ES (Continued)

A. 2017 Amended Share Option Scheme (Continued) A.

R stEl
“E—tFRETIRRENE (@

Options granted must be taken up within 28 days of the date of offer,
upon payment of HK$1 as consideration per grant. The Board may at
its absolute discretion impose any minimum period for which an option
must be held before it can be exercised and/or any performance targets
which must be achieved by the eligible participant before the option can
be exercised. The period during which an option may be exercised will be
determined by the Directors at its absolute discretion, save that no option
may be exercised more than ten (10) years after it has been granted.

The exercise price is determined by the Board, and shall be at least the
higher of:

(@) the closing price of the shares of the Company on the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date an offer is made;

(b) the average of the closing prices of the shares of the Company on the
Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the
date an offer is made; and

(c) the nominal value of a share of the Company.

Details of the 2017 Amended Share Option Scheme are set out in Note
38(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

The following table discloses movements in the Company's share options
under the 2017 Amended Share Option Scheme during the year:

EREBRECARREARES —+AX
R EMEERHFASZN1IBTEASN
B -BE=Gr2ENBRMNNEREN] TITE
AEERSEBAFTABREZEARERR
R/ HERERFIIEACERSEERER
ZEARBER - AJITRBREZMRRERE
NEEZ2RBETE  BEABRE—ZR
BREHBBES T10)FBRITE -

TEENEMERRET ) EETEORUT=
EPZHEE

(a) FRABRMNEHEBNZ BIEKKHE
HIRERFIFZITHE ;

(b) FRABRMONEZRHENZ HHARAE
EXE QMRS HREXRMY Z T
HE; &

(@ —RARBRMHNEE -

TE—CFEEITBRESB ZFRENGS
AR EE38(a) ©

AAT) ZB— TR BB T 25
BN ERERZ BT :

Number of share options

BlREYE
Vesting Period At 1st Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled At 31st
and Exercise January during during during during December
Date of grant  Period Exercise 2024 the year the year the year the year 2024
Participants R HEH Price R-B-mE RERE REE REE REE RIE-RE
2% kiEas BT [y —-R-H Rl RfTiE AES mi# +-B=+-A
HK$
B
Directors
gz
Wang Yueou 3132017 (Note 1) 0970 4,620,000 - - - - 4,620,000
TER (MEET)
Other Employees 31.3.2017 (Note 1) 0.970 10212125 - - (118,800) - 10093325
Eftfeg (Hf3E1)
284.2017 (Note 1) 0.909 7,260,000 - - - - 7,260,000
(ME1)
13122017 (Note 1) 0.867 503,400 - - (158,400) - 345,000
(1)
Total 22,595,525 = = (277,200) - 22318325
ot

a7
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SHARE SCH EM ES (Continued)

A. 2017 Amended Share Option Scheme (Continued)

R stEl
A. “E—tFLETRRESE @

Notes: ByEE -

On 31st March 2017, the Company granted share options to certain eligible
participants under the 2017 Amended Share Option Scheme to subscribe for
a total of 19,140,000 shares of the Company at the exercise price of HK$1.28.
The share options are divided into four tranches, each of which consists of one
fourth of the share options and is associated with performance targets within
a specific financial period, the details of which are disclosed in the Company's
announcement dated 31st March 2017.

On 28th April 2017, the Company granted share options to certain eligible
participants under the 2017 Amended Share Option Scheme to subscribe for
a total of 6,500,000 shares of the Company at the exercise price of HK$1.20.
The share options are divided into four tranches, each of which consists of one
fourth of the share options and is associated with performance targets within
a specific financial period, the details of which are disclosed in the Company's
announcement dated 28th April 2017.

On 13th December 2017, the Company granted share options to certain eligible
participants under the 2017 Amended Share Option Scheme to subscribe for
a total of 1,388,000 shares of the Company at the exercise price of HK$1.04.
The share options are divided into four tranches, each of which consists of one
fourth of the share options and is associated with performance targets within
a specific financial period, the details of which are disclosed in the Company's
announcement dated 13th December 2017.

The vesting period and exercise period of each tranche of the share options
granted on 31st March 2017, 28th April 2017 and 13th December 2017,
respectively, are as follows:

RIZE—tE=B=+—H > ARFARE_E
—tELETEREAEDETaER2HER
HEBRHE > R E 19,140,000 & 5 &
% TEEA1.288T - BHZEREDEM
#t > SHEIEMSD — 2 BB R 5145 7 i 75 AR
A2 RFEEEHER FBERBERAATEHEAZ
E—+tF=B=+—HZAER°

RIZ2—tHFOAZ+NE > ARABRE_-Z
—tEEETBRESERETAERSHEE
RHERE > LIRS 6,500,000/ A&~ E K
7 ITHEES1208T - RHZBREDFT
o SHEEmD — 2 BRE RS E MBI
N2 RRERARM > FERENEAATBHRSZ
T—tFMA-+NBZAER -

RIZE—tE+ZA+=H > ARFAREZE
— Lt ERETERESIDNETEERSHE
RHEBAE > LEBHE A 1,388,00008 4 A B IR
% TEEA1.0487T - BHZERESEM
#t > SHEIEMSD — 2 AR R 5145 7 i 75 AR
A2 RFEEEHER FBERBERAATHEAZ
e S N S s /A=

PR _E—tE=ZA=+—H  _E—tEMN
BZ+N\BEZZ—tF+ZA+=HEEZE
HEERE Y BB RATERRNT -

Percentage of options
of each tranche shall
be exercisable

Date of grant Tranches Vesting Period Exercise Periods FithERaE
B EA R HFEH 1T1ER AIF{TEZERLE
31.3.2017 First tranche 31.3.2017 to & 1.4.2019 31.3.2017 to = 30.3.2027 50%
F—it 1.4.2018 to Z 30.3.2027 25%

1.4.2019 to & 30.3.2027 25%

Second tranche 28.3.2018 to & 1.4.2020 28.3.2018 to = 30.3.2027 50%

FTH 1.4.2019 to & 30.3.2027 25%

1.4.2020 toE30.3.2027 25%

Third tranche 20.3.2019to & 1.4.2021 20.3.2019 to = 30.3.2027 50%

F=H 1.4.2020 to & 30.3.2027 25%

1.4.2021 toE30.3.2027 25%

Fourth tranche 25.3.2020 to & 1.4.2022 25.3.2020 to = 30.3.2027 50%

YUt 1.4.2021 to & 30.3.2027 25%

1.4.2022 to & 30.3.2027 25%
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SHARE SCH EM ES (Continued)

A. 2017 Amended Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

1. (Continued)

BR{nstE )
A. —E—tFLETHERES @
HizE © (48)

1. (&

Percentage of options
of each tranche shall
be exercisable

Date of grant Tranches Vesting Period Exercise Periods ZitrgpaiE
bk = R SEH 1T1EH AIFITEZESLE
28.4.2017 First tranche 1.6.2018 to & 1.6.2020 1.6.2018 to & 27.4.2027 50%
F—it 1.6.2019 to & 27.4.2027 25%

1.6.2020 to & 27.4.2027 25%

Second tranche 1.6.2019 to & 1.6.2021 1.6.2019 to & 27.4.2027 50%

BTH#t 1.6.2020 to & 27.4.2027 25%

1.6.2021 to & 27.4.2027 25%

Third tranche 1.6.2020 to & 1.6.2022 1.6.2020 to & 27.4.2027 50%

F=H 1.6.2021 to & 27.4.2027 25%

1.6.2022 to & 27.4.2027 25%

Fourth tranche 1.6.2021 to = 1.6.2023 1.6.2021 to & 27.4.2027 50%

SOt 1.6.2022 to & 27.4.2027 25%

1.6.2023 to & 27.4.2027 25%

13.12.2017 First tranche 1.4.2019 to = 1.4.2021 1.4.2019 to & 12.12.2027 50%
E—it 1.4.2020 to & 12.12.2027 25%

1.4.2021 to & 12.12.2027 25%

Second tranche 1.4.2020 to = 1.4.2022 1.4.2020 to £ 12.12.2027 50%

FHE 1.4.2021 to £ 12.12.2027 25%

1.4.2022 to £ 12.12.2027 25%

Third tranche 1.4.20271 to &£ 1.4.2023 1.4.2021 to & 12.12.2027 50%

F=i#t 1.4.2022 to & 12.12.2027 25%

1.4.2023to & 12.12.2027 25%

Fourth tranche 1.4.2022 to £ 1.4.2024 1.4.2022 to £ 12.12.2027 50%

St 1.4.2023 to &£ 12.12.2027 25%

1.4.2024 to & 12.12.2027 25%
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SHARE SCH EM ES (Continued)

A. 2017 Amended Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

2. The closing prices of the shares of the Company immediately before 31st March
2017, 28th April 2017 and 13th December 2017 on which the share options
were granted under the 2017 Amended Share Option Scheme were HK$1.25,
HK$1.08 and HK$0.90 per share of the Company, respectively.

3. There was no share option exercised during the year ended 31st December
2024. Therefore, the weighted average closing price of the share of the
Company immediately before the dates on which the share options were
exercised is not applicable.

4. Given that no share option was granted and vested during the year, the
number of shares that may be issued in respect of options granted under the
2017 Amended Share Option Scheme during the year divided by the weighted
average number of shares in issue is not applicable.

2024 Share Scheme

The Company adopted a new share scheme on 4th September 2024 (the
"2024 Share Scheme”). The 2024 Share Scheme will expire on 12th March
2027. A summary of the 2024 Share Scheme is as follows:

The purpose of the 2024 Share Scheme is to enable the Company to
grant awards/options in the form of Share Options, restricted share
units or restricted share awards to the eligible participants as retention
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group, and to attract
suitable personnel to enhance the development of the Group. The
eligible participants include any employee, executive or officer of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries (including executive, non-executive
and independent non-executive directors of each of the abovementioned
companies).

The total number of shares of the Company which may be issued upon
exercise of all options/awards to be granted under the 2024 Share
Scheme and any other share schemes of the Company shall not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of shares of the Company in
issue (excluding treasury shares) as at 4th September 2024, the date of
approval of the adoption of the 2024 Share Scheme. The total number of
shares of the Company available for issue under the 2024 Share Scheme
is 83,369,649, representing 10% and 10% of the total number of shares
of the Company in issue (excluding treasury shares) as at the date of
approval of the adoption of the 2024 Share Scheme and as at the date of
this annual report, respectively. As at the date of this report, the number
of issued shares of the Company was 833,696,492. The number of awards/
options available for grant under the 2024 Share Scheme as at 1st January
2024 is nil and 31st December 2024 is 76,919,649, representing 9.23%
of total number of issued shares of the Company as at the date of this
report.
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SHARE SCH EM ES (Continued)

2024 Share Scheme (Continued)

As at 31st December, 2024, the remaining life of the 2024 Share Scheme
was 9 years and 7 months.

Unless approved by the shareholders of the Company, the total number
of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options/awards
granted to each eligible participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of
the total number of shares of the Company in issue (excluding treasury
shares) and the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options/awards granted to a substantial shareholder of
the Company or an Independent Non-Executive Director, or any of their
respective associates (including both exercised and outstanding options)
in any 12-month period must not exceed 0.1% of the total number of
shares of the Company in issue (excluding treasury shares).

Options/awards granted must be taken up within 28 days of the date of
offer, upon payment of HK$1 as consideration per grant. The Board may
at its absolute discretion impose any minimum period for which an option/
award must be held before it can be exercised and/or any performance
targets which must be achieved by the eligible participant before the
option/award can be exercised. The period during which an option/award
may be exercised will be determined by the Directors at its absolute
discretion, save that no option/award may be exercised more than 10
years after it has been granted.

The exercise price is determined by the Board, and shall be at least the
higher of:

(a) the closing price of the shares of the Company on the Stock
Exchange's daily quotation sheets on the date an offer is made;

(b) the average of the closing prices of the shares of the Company on the
Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the
date an offer is made; and

(¢) the nominal value of a share of the Company.

Details of the 2024 Share Scheme are set out in Note 38(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE SCHEMES (continuea) HQ{QE'I'EIJ (&)
B. 2024 Share Scheme (Continued) B. —E-UERHRETE @)
The following table discloses movements in the Company's share awards KABZEZMFERM BB T 2 BRD RN
under the 2024 Share Scheme during the year: FERNZEBHWT :
Number of share awards
RiiEEHE
Vesting Period At At 31st
and Exercise 1st January Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled December
Period Performance 2024 during during during during 2024
Participants Date of grant  SIEH Targets RZEZmE the year the year the year theyear RZZEZME
28% bhi]=h RiTfEH KEER —B-B REEAEL REERTE REEARR REEREE +-A=+-A
Directors
£
Wang Weihang 11.12.2024 (Note 1) (Note 3) - 450,000 - - - 450,000
T4 (HzE1) (Hi5E3)
Wang Yueou 11122024 (Note 1) (Note 3) - 800,000 - - - 800,000
TER (HzE1) (M3E3)
Zhang Bingxia 11.12.2024 (Note 1) (Note 2) - 300,000 - - - 300,000
RRE G2 (M)
Pan Xinrong 11.12.2024 (Note 1) (Note 2) - 200,000 - - - 200,000
R (HfE1) (M&2)
Deng Jianxin 11.12.2024 (Note 1) (Note 2) - 200,000 - - - 200,000
B (M) (M£2)
Or Siu Ching Rerina ~ 11.12.2024 (Note 1) (Note 2) - 200,000 - - - 200,000
& (&) (M3£2)
Other Employees  11.12.2024 (Note 1) (Note 3) - 4,300,000 - - - 4,300,000
HftifES (W& (MaE3)
Total - 6,450,000 - - - 6,450,000
s
Notes: B EE

1.

On 11th December 2024, the Company granted restricted share units (“RSUs")
involving a total of 6,450,000 shares of the Company to certain eligible
participants under the 2024 Share Scheme. The RSUs granted are divided into
three tranches, each of which is associated with performance targets within a
specific financial period, except for the non-executive and independent non-
executive Directors whose grants are not subject to any performance targets,
the details of which are disclosed in the Company's announcement dated 11th
December 2024.

The vesting period of each tranche of the RSUs granted on 11th December 2024
are as follows:

the first 50% of the RSUs granted will vest on the first anniversary of the

Date of Grant (i.e. 11th December 2025);

ii. the next 25% of the RSUs granted will vest on the second anniversary of
the Date of Grant (i.e. 11th December 2026); and

iii.  the remaining 25% of the RSUs granted will vest on the third anniversary of
the Date of Grant (i.e. 11th December 2027).

RIBZWFE+ZB+—H > a28REZ

_EEHZT"‘Jr?'F‘]%%Eéﬁ?f%%ﬁi%?*tﬂﬁf&
546,450,000 A&~ B R BIZ IR &R 15 B (U
(TRIRFBIARID L) R Z RIRFIRMH EL
DE=#t > SHEREMBHERNZRBEERE
B EIRITESRRBIIFRITEERRSN » 5518
BERARBARAA T _NE+-"A+—HZ

AER o

ZECME+ A+ — AR ZRGIKRMN BN
ZBRBHNT :

(BES50%HM B HSZ RHI (D B AR H
HENE—EEFE (M- -AF+-42
+—H) 58 ;

ii. HB25%MEREZIRFEIRMBARIRET
HHYENEZ@EEFE (T F+2A2
+—H) %8 &

ii. BRT25%MEIRHZREIRMD EMRKIRZE
HENE=EEFE (T -tF+=A2
+—H)&E -
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SHARE SCHEMES (Continued)
B. 2024 Share Scheme (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

2. The RSUs granted to independent non-executive Directors are not subject to
any performance target. The Board is of the view that such an arrangement
is appropriate under code provision E.1.9 of Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules,
whereby listed issuers generally should not grant equity-based remuneration
with performance-related elements to independent non-executive directors to
ensure their objectivity and independence. The RSUs granted to each of the
independent non-executive Directors have been fixed at the same number of
shares, with the same vesting schedule as other RSUs granted as a recognition
of their continuous contributions for objective and independent insights
to the Board and Board committees for enhancing the sustainability of the
Group's business development. The Board considers that the grant of RSUs
will reinforce the commitment of the independent non-executive Directors to
serve the Company while maintaining their objectivity and independence, and
is therefore consistent with the objectives of the 2024 Share Scheme. The RSUs
granted to the non-executive Director are also not subject to any performance
target. The Remuneration Committee is of the view that performance targets
are not necessary given that the non-executive Director is not involved in the
daily operations of the Group and that the vesting period as stated above would
ensure that her and the Company's long term interests are aligned and that
she would be motivated to contribute towards the sustainability of the Group's
business development.

3. The performance targets of the grantees cover a mixture of the core business
performance of the Group for the financial year ending 31st December 2024,
performance of the business unit that the grantee belongs to, as well as
individual performance based on (in the case of grantees who are employees
of the Group) his/her performance rating assessed through the annual
performance review process and/or (in the case of grantees who are executive
Directors) the assessment and approval by the Remuneration Committee.

4. The closing price of the shares of the Company immediately before 11th
December 2024 on which the RSUs were granted under the 2024 Share Scheme
was HK$0.68 per share of the Company.

5. Inrespect of the RSUs granted during the year, details of fair value per RSU
on the date of grant is set out in Note 38(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

6.  Given that the granted RSUs have not been vested during the year, the number
of shares that may be issued in respect of RSUs granted under the 2024 Share
Scheme during the year divided by the weighted average number of shares of
the relevant class in issue (excluding treasury shares) is not applicable.

7.  Event after reporting period:

On 8th January 2025, the Company granted RSUs involving a total of 6,290,000
shares of the Company to 65 eligible participants (all the grantees are
employees participants) under the 2024 Share Scheme. The RSUs granted
are divided into three tranches, each of which is associated with performance
targets within a specific financial period. The details of which are disclosed in
the Company's announcement dated 8th January 2025.

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed in the sections headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executives' Interests in Shares and Underlying Shares” and “Share Schemes”
above, at no time during the year ended 31st December 2024 was the
Company, or any of its holding companies or fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors or their connected entities
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Schemes” above, the Company
did not enter into any equity-linked agreement during the year ended 31st
December 2024 and there was no equity-linked agreement subsisted as at the
end of the year.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 27th January 2025
and reference is made to the announcements of the Company dated 26th
October 2018 and 19th December 2018, in relation to, among other things, the
2025 Supply Agreement and 2018 Supply Agreement. Unless otherwise stated,
capitalized terms used hereinafter shall have the same meanings as those
defined in the abovementioned announcements.

Since the 2018 Supply Agreement expired on 31st December 2020, the
Company has been (i) procuring Teamsun Services and (ii) providing ASH
Services to Teamsun Group from time to time. Each of these transactions,
whether on a standalone basis or in aggregate over any 12-month period at
the time of each transaction, was less than HK$3,000,000 and the applicable
percentage ratios calculated in accordance with Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules
were less than 5%. As a result, these transactions constituted de minimis
continuing connected transactions under Rule 14A.76(1)(c) of the Listing Rules
and were fully exempt from the requirement of reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval.

As the Group and Teamsun Group anticipate that the volume of transactions
for services and Products between them will increase in the future and are
likely to exceed the de minimis threshold, and they will no longer be exempt
from reporting, announcement, annual review, and disclosure requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. In order to better manage the
continued connected transactions between the Group and Teamsun Group,
and formally establish a blanket aggregated annual cap governing such
transactions, the Group and Teamsun Group entered into the 2025 Supply
Agreement to govern the transactions in relation to (i) provision of Products;
and (ii) provision or sharing of ASH Services and Teamsun Services for the
term commencing from 27th January 2025 to 31st December 2027 (both days
inclusive).

Both the Group and Teamsun Group are reputable IT infrastructure, solution
and services providers, and have well-established distribution channels and
networks in the Greater China region and the PRC respectively. The 2025
Supply Agreement will enhance the efficiency and sales capabilities of the
Group's existing distribution channels and networks by sharing the business
know-how between the Group and Teamsun Group.

As part of their strategic initiatives, the Group is planning to further expand
its operation in the Greater Bay Area and beyond, while Teamsun Group is
targeting to grow its presence in the Southeast Asia region. By leveraging
the Group’s and Teamsun Group's existing networks, resources, and
expertise, both parties stand to create significant synergies that will support
their respective expansion goals. Furthermore, the Directors believe that
the cooperation between the Group and Teamsun Group would allow
the realisation of substantial benefits, particularly in areas among others,
convenience, support and marketing of the Group's products and services.
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CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRAN SACT'ONS (Continued)

Entering into the 2025 Supply Agreement will also provide a single basis for
the Company to comply with the reporting and announcement requirements
under the Listing Rules, thereby reducing the Company’s administrative
burden and costs for complying with such requirements in relation to the
execution of each product or service contract.

The table below sets out the Aggregated Annual Caps of each type of the
contracts for the period from 27th January 2025 to 31st December 2027
indicated below:

FIERFEALRS @

ST hFHERER AT ARREET LS
MAIAERIR A AEZRNE—BE > HMEEERR
AINITHEERETAERNTEERARBEE
ZEERBIBLE o

TRHEINZBEONRTERATE_ST_LF—A8
:+t5ti_$_t¢+_ﬁ:+—5%ﬁﬁi
F_HPRABER

Proposed Annual Caps

ER2F LR
For the year ending 31st December
HE+-A=+—ALEE

Transaction 2025 2026 2027
x5 “SHE ZEIARE k- Sy -3

(HK$ million) (HK$ million) (HK$ million)

(55 %) (B&#7T) (BE%7T)

Purchase of Teamsun Group Product(s) by the Group 3 3 3
FEEBEEBRNERER
Sales of the Group Product(s) to Teamsun Group 3 3 3
HEAEREREEBRNER
Procurement of Teamsun Services by the Group 17 17 17
ZEE B R EE RS R A ARTS
Provision of ASH services to Teamsun Group by the Group 17 17 17

KEBEREBRMERRBASHRT

As our executive Director, Mr. Wang Weihang is a shareholder, the chairman
and a director of Teamsun and a chairman and a director of certain
subsidiaries of Teamsun, and our non-executive Director, Ms. Zhang Bingxia
is a shareholder, the chief financial officer and the senior vice-president of
Teamsun, they have both abstained from voting on the resolutions of the
Board relating to the 2025 Supply Agreement. Saved as disclosed above,
none of the other Directors has any material interest in the transactions
contemplated under the 2025 Supply Agreement.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31st December 2024, none of
the related party transactions entered into by the Group set out in the section
headed “Related Party Transactions” in Note 45 to the consolidated financial
statements constitutes connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction which is required to be disclosed under the Listing Rules. The
Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31st December 2024, so far as the Directors and chief executives of the
Company are aware, the following persons (other than the interests of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company) had interests or short positions
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
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F AR ERBIEXVERE 2R3 BV IR X AR AN E
WENIRIBEE S R EREB336F AT ETHET
2Bz BEmIKE > REMEERF K

the Company under Section 336 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the R T
Company and the Stock Exchange:
(a) Shares (a) Rz
Number of
ordinary Percentage
shares of the of issued
Company held share capital
Name of shareholders  Capacity Nature FEZXAR HERTREZ
BRRBE 15 HH TiEkziREHE BAL
Hong Kong Teamsun Beneficial owner Long Position 564,110,657 67.66%
BBEBRM R A 5
Teamsun Interest of controlled corporation Long Position 564,110,657" 67.66%
BN ERAEETE 5
Note: g2
1. Teamsun was interested in the entire issued share capital of Hong Kong 1. EBFREAREBEBRRNEHESETREATE

Teamsun and was therefore deemed to be interested in the 564,110,657 shares
of the Company in which Hong Kong Teamsun was interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st December 2024, no other person
(other than the Directors or chief executives of the Company) had any
interest or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31st December 2024, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed
securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws of the
Company, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with the CG Code set out in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31st December 2024.

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules. The Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors
regarding any non-compliance with the Model Code during the year ended
31st December 2024, and they all confirmed that they have fully complied with
the required standards set out in the Model Code.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, based on the information publicly available
to the Company and to the best of Directors’ knowledge, information and
belief, the Company has maintained sufficient public float as required under
the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

As permitted by the Bye-laws of the Company, every Director and other officers
shall be indemnified out of the assets of the Company from and against all
losses and liabilities incurred or sustain by him/her as a Director, to the extent
permitted by Bermuda law. Such permitted indemnity provision has been in
force during the year and as of the date of this annual report.

The Company has also arranged directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
during the year, which provides appropriate coverage for legal action against
its Directors and officers.

As permitted by the articles of association of the subsidiaries of the Company
in Hong Kong (“Hong Kong Subsidiaries”), a director or a former director
of the Hong Kong Subsidiaries may be indemnified out of the Hong Kong
Subsidiaries’ assets against any liability incurred by the director to a person
other than the Hong Kong Subsidiaries or an associated company of the Hong
Kong Subsidiaries, to the extent permitted by law. Such permitted indemnity
provision is currently in force at the time of approval of this annual report.

DONATION

During the year ended 31st December 2024, the Group made charitable
donations amounting to HK$5,000 (2023: HK$11,000).

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee met four times during the year ended 31st December
2024. During the meetings, the Audit Committee reviewed with the
management accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
including the review of the annual results and interim results, and discussed
various auditing, financial reporting and risk management and internal control
system matters.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st December 2024
have been audited by Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited (“Grant Thornton”),
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. A resolution will
be tabled in the forthcoming annual general meeting to re-appoint Grant
Thornton as the independent auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Wang Yueou
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 26th March 2025
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Independent auditor’'s report

~a' Grant Thornton
- HE

To the members of Automated Systems Holdings Limited
BERGEEARAF

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Automated Systems
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”)
set out on pages 113 to 235, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31st December 2024, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31st December
2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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Independent auditor’s report

BIZHENRS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS AR EIXHIE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were  FAREZZEISRBERMANE LN E > DAE K
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the R4 EMERENERRAETENTE - 2ZFE
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of xET_aTﬂFﬂ%ffEE SR aMBREAREARMNER
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion  BEFE{TERIEN - BRI SHZS BB HEBN

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 2R o
Key Audit Matter How the Key Audit Matter was addressed in our audit
mM#RELER EMNEZNARENREZFHE

Revenue recognition

W ARERD

Refer to notes 3(p), 4(b)(ii) and 7 to the consolidated financial statements
BB S BEIREMEE3(D) ~ 4b)ii) K7

For the year ended 31st December 2024, revenue was approximately ~ Our audit procedures in relation to revenue recognition included:
HK$2,372,976,000. PRI NEIZIZF B
BE_Z_NF+_A=+—HIFE » RA#2,372,976,00087T °

understanding the revenue and business process of the Group

Revenue included revenue from contracts with customisation or and the internal controls on revenue cycle and testing, on a sample
integration work of HK$347,243,000, which recognised using the basis, the effectiveness of key controls;

cost-to-cost method to estimate progress towards completion, which BiE BEENAEEREERE R ABIR A IS > 15
is calculated as a ratio of “total cost incurred” to “total estimated RS REARERNERNY ;

costs for each contract”. Based on the stage of completion, the Group

recognises revenue as a percentage of the total contract amount at  +  assessing the appropriateness of the Group's revenue recognition
the end of reporting period. accounting policy in line with HKFRS Accounting Standards;

WA BEREERHEMRTERNSHKALZ47,243,0008 T > ZF At EEERNBRARREABREAN BN B REER ;
AR AR AL St TAERE » TREEREN AR MEHK

7 BT A ML EHE o EEEUEREEAER RS - performing analytical review on revenue and gross profit margin to
KA D LN SN B EERTUA © identify signiﬂcant or unusual fluctuation on revenue;

HWAMENRETONEEZ > UHBBANEANER K ;

Revenue recognition is identified as a key audit matter because of the

significance of the amount of revenue to the consolidated financial - testing, on a sampling basis, the existence of revenue transactions
statements. recorded during the year by comparing the details of the
HARBASERGREVBRRNEEN  IWARZHHARREZE underlying documentation, including the underlying sales invoices,
e contracts and relevant documentation evidencing the delivery and

acceptance of the goods or services;

Bt A VRS E RSB AR ZNEE » @B LERER AR
e > BREEEER  ARUKEREMHRFBRMEZRIEBEX
(i

selecting samples of revenue transactions recorded close to
before and after the year end and comparing the details, including
the date of the underlying sales invoices, contracts and relevant
documentation evidencing the date of delivery and acceptance
of the goods or services to assess whether the related revenue
has been recognised in the appropriate accounting period in
accordance with the Group's revenue recognition accounting
policies;

HERTERABLHNBARZZEE > BBLEREREX AR -
BEHEER « GRMBAEYHRBZANZR BARERX S
LEMEAEMBUARERR SEENBRARDEHBRTEZNE
HAR ST ;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
mRELER

Revenue recognition

WA FERD

Refer to notes 3(p), 4(b)(ii) and 7 to the consolidated financial statements
(Continued)
BRI EHBIREMNEEI (D) ~ Ab)i)R7 (&)

Independent auditor’s report

BIAZHENRS

FASEEIZEIE )

How the Key Audit Matter was addressed in our audit

HfNSENAERMEEEEE

testing, on a sampling basis, the accuracy of the revenue
recognised using cost-to-cost method by comparing the estimated
cost and the actual cost incurred, such as material costs and
labour costs etc. with the supporting documents; and

DUt TRV ER A Bl A 38 Bl A A (i 51 Te Bl FE R SR WA RO 22 B 1
BB h T PR A BN A R RA (MR AR ~ A TphA%) BER
NHETHR ; &

identifying any significant adjustments to revenue during the
reporting period and after the reporting period, understanding
the reasons for such adjustments and comparing the details of the
adjustments with relevant underlying documents.

HA RS AN R SR E B ARNTRERDE - BEBENREL
1 R AOAR B BLARRA RO B S (T EE B ©

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information in the 2024 annual report of the Company,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

Hithg#

EEANHMENESE - HIENESE SR8
T INEFRFTENAAER BN BEGREHE
R R ZIEIR S o

RO GEEUFRENERLTHEEMER -
7RI ERLE B R R A RIZEER o

MEMAH GRSV BRENEZMS > RANSER
FRISEEMER > tMmEEEMEN RS RIREHE
BREAARMETEZBEREENENEFEETERT
0 WUAFFEERERERLL

HERMERENTH I EFER ZERBAaHEM
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Independent auditor’s report

BIZHENRS

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
review of the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Independent auditor’s report
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Independent auditor’s report

BIZHENRS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

11th Floor, Lee Garden Two

28 Yun Ping Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong SAR

26th March 2025

Lau Kwong Kei
Practising Certificate No.: P07578
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
EeEER

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

2024 2023
ZTmE B
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
FEE TF#T TEx
Revenue WA 7 2,372,976 2,360,425
Cost of goods sold HE A (962,312) (1,034,782)
Cost of services rendered IRMEARFE Z A (1,164,678) (1,079,686)
Other income HA 8 28,379 15,736
Other gain, net B3 9 60,526 59,713
Fair value loss on investment properties BEMEZ ARBERBE 20 (2,300) (1,200)
Selling expenses HEER (104,736) (101,218)
Administrative expenses THER (63,138) (66,075)
Finance income BRSO 10 614 249
Finance costs BATSRRAR 11 (1,162) (2,563)
Share of results of associates EIEHE AT & 22 3,918 (1,685)
Profit before income tax BRER1S R ANEF 12 168,087 148,914
Income tax expense FriSiif 16 (18,765) (17,595)
Profit for the year attributable to equity FAFREIFE AEEEREF
holders of the Company 149,322 131,319
HK cents HK cents
A Bl
Earnings per share attributable to equity AT AEGSREF
holders of the Company: 18
- Basic - BEK 17.91 15.75
- Diluted - e 17.90 15.75

The notes on pages 120 to 235 are an integral part of these consolidated  HRE 1208 F 2358 MEBRAGSMBHRERZT
financial statements. BISERER D o
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

FEEEWER

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

2024 2023
—EWE =4
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
F5E F#ET FHET
Profit for the year FRiEF 149,322 131,319
Other comprehensive (loss)/income: Hth2m (§518), ke -
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to  BEERFT R ER HIEEE 7 A
profit or loss: EH
Revaluation (loss)/surplus of land and buildings T REFEMH (5F18) /B 19 (870) 5016
Remeasurement of long service payment RARBcBENENE
obligations (957) -
Deferred taxation arising from revaluation of TR FEMEES ZIEERIE
land and buildings 36 144 (828)
Equity investment at fair value through other RANBEESBEMEEEG
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) - net PR R B — A REE
movement in fair value reserve (non-recycling) HEFEH (R ENEE) 6(d) (3,892) -
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to EER s ES R Em
profit or loss: EH
Exchange differences on translation of overseas {AEEIINEFFZERER
operations (13,030) 1,931
Share of other comprehensive (loss)/income of  E{fE=E AT EMEE (E8)
associates W 22 (6,285) 5,059
Total comprehensive income for the year FATRESIHFE AEEER
attributable to equity holders of the 2EUNE4REE
Company 124,432 142,497

The notes on pages 120 to 235 are an integral part of these consolidated  #HRE120E$2358 2 W@z oM BREZ T
financial statements. BISEAEE D o
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

EaMBIKRR

As at 31st December 2024 R—_Z_M&E+_F=+—H

2024 2023
—E-ME —EC=fF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5F TF#T T#ET
Non-current assets JERENEE
Property, plant and equipment ME ~ BMERHRE 19 320,638 337,048
Investment properties BEYE 20 48,500 50,800
Intangible assets ELEE 21 - -
Interests in associates = Y/NEIL i 22 1,219,206 1,258,056
Prepayments SEINE e 28 10,291 2,350
Financial asset at FVOC| BAREESAEMEENETIER
HERE E 23 - 3,906
Finance lease receivables FEUN R B BRI 27 15,310 2,499
Deferred income tax assets IRIEFRISIMEE 36 127 781
1,614,072 1,655,440
Current assets RENEE
Inventories w8 25 333,911 295,890
Trade receivables W & 57 =h1E 26 192,410 228,692
Finance lease receivables fEUN B B &I 27 6,808 1,726
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments HAEWGERIE « S RIEfHIE 28 74,853 41,900
Contract assets BHEE 29 337,834 344,583
Tax recoverable EIEEL 2,140 3,044
Time deposits TEHATF R 30 415,306 287,218
Bank balances and cash RITERRRE 30 299,087 252,401
1,662,349 1,455,454
Total assets BmEE 3,276,421 3,110,894
Equity T
Share capital [iZiN 31 83,370 83,370
Share premium A mEER 403,164 403,164
Reserves 5 1,790,374 1,690,782
Equity attributable to equity holders of the ZAFRRAIFHE AEGERE
Company 2,276,908 277,316

The notes on pages 120 to 235 are an integral part of these consolidated  #HRXE120EF235B 2 MisFBMEEHBREZT
financial statements. BIEAEE D o
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mEMBIRRER

As at 31st December 2024 R—_Z_M&E+_F=+—H

2024 2023
—TmE B4
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 F#ET TFEx

Non-current liabilities JERBAR
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEFRISIRAaE 36 163,077 170,229
Lease liabilities HESRE 37 2,353 5,969
165,430 176,198

Current liabilities RENAE
Trade payables BB SR8 32 298,705 302,821
Other payables and accruals HE R IB R EsTE R 33 179,849 179,245
Receipts in advance FEW K 34 344,568 253,535
Current income tax liabilities BMEAFREMRAas 5,177 5,331
Bank borrowings RITIEE 35 - 11,259
Lease liabilities HEaE 37 5,784 5,189
834,083 757,380
Total liabilities WaR 999,513 933,578
Total equity and liabilities HiEERAER 3,276,421 3,110,894
Net current assets RENEEFEE 828,266 698,074
Total assets less current liabilities MEERRSEE 2,442,338 2,353,514
WANG Weihang WANG Yueou
E4EM FEEE
Director Director
BF EE2

The notes on pages 120 to 235 are an integral part of these consolidated  EHRE120EF235B 2 MEBMEEHFREZ T
financial statements. RISRERER S
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HMAEHmEBER

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

FATRERE AR
Special  Property Share- based
Share Share reserve  revaluation Translation  payment  Refained
capital ~ premium (Note (i) reserve reserve reserve  eamings Total
LA
Bl HES AEM
e Bbagk 00 B ERpE  xfidE  REERA o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn T TEn TEn Thn TEn Tin TEn
At Tst January 2023 RZE-=F-F-H 83310 403,164 34350 261,775 (6,341) 7,704 1275797 2,059,819
Comprehensive income: 2ERE !
Profit for the year EREF - - - - - - 131319 131,319
Other comprehensive income/(loss): RtRERE /(54 .
Revaluation surplus of land and buildings THRIEFEERR - - - 5016 - - - 5016
Deferred taxation arising from revaluation of land ~ HHRIETERELZ EERE
and buildings - - - (828) - - = (828)
Exchange differences on translation of overseas BEENER ERER
operations - - - - 1931 - - 1931
Share of other comprehensive income of associates  FEfEBFEATEM2ENE (22
(Note 22) - - - - 5059 - - 5059
Total comprehensive income for the year ER2ERGER - - - 4188 6990 - 13319 140497
Transactions with owners: HREEAZRS
Final dividend for the year ended 31st December 2022 #E-%_"£+_A=+—HItEE
(Note 17) ZRERE (H217) = = - - - - (25,011) (25,011)
Recagnition of equity-settled share-based payment  BERLUR( AR 2% (##38)
(Note 38) - - - - - 1 - 11
Lapse of share options transferred ERERERAZ XY ERE
to retained earnings - - - - - (479) 479 -
Total transactions with owners SREAZRZ4E = - - = = (468) (2453 (25000
At 31st December 2023 RIEZ=F+ZA=1-H 83370 403,164 34350 265963 649 7236 1382584 2177316

The notes on pages 120 to 235 are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mAEHREHR

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

BATRESE AL
Fair value Share-
Special  Property reserve - hased
Share Share  reserve revaluation Translation non-  payment  Retained
capital  premium  (Note(i))  reserve  reserve recycling  reserve  earnings Total
MfEE Wi
KGR ng fife- AER

B RiEk (K0
HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000
TR TEm TEn

Efifd ERER TIENR  xfRR  REEN 4%
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000
fan  TEm  TEm  TEm  TEn TEn

At 1st January 2024 KZE-mE-B-H 83,370 403,164 34,350 265,963 649 - 7236 1,382,584 2,177,316
Comprehensive income; 2EKE
Profit for the year Egd] - - - - - - - 149322 149,322

Other comprehensive (loss)/income: Eth2E (§18) /W

Revaluation loss of land and buildings THREFEEEE - - - (870) - - - - (870)
Remeasurement of long service payment  REFRBEEENERHE

obligations - - - - - - - (957) (957)
Deferred taxation arising from revaluation of  THRIBFEfEL ZELIE

[and and bulldings - - - 144 - - - - 144
Exchange differences on translation of hERIEBZ EREE

0Verseas operations - - - - (13,030) - - - (13,030)
Share of other comprehensive loss of REHEATHN2EES

associates (Note 22) (Hi=222) - - - - (6,285) - - - (6,285)
Equity investment at FVOCI - net movement  #AAEEEBAMEERET

in fair value reserve (non-recycling) K2 RERE-AnBEGRE

) (TE1E) - - - - - (3.892) - - (3,892)

Disposal of equity investment RERAAEEBBEMEENE

at voCl (non-recycling) Sk R E (FIERH) - - - - - 3,802 - (3,892) -
Total comprehensive (loss)/income FRRE(FE) / WaeE

for the year - - - (726) (19,315) - - 144473 124,432
Transactions with owners: AREAZRS:
Final dividend for the year ended 31st HETE-ETCA=t-AL

December 2023 (Note 17) EEZRIBRE (W17) - - - - - - - (1) (2501)
Recognition of equity-settled share-based  BESBMRM ARMS (T 2B%

payment (Note 38) (H7238) - - - - - - m - m
Lapse of share aptions transferred EREREENZ AN ERE

toretained earnings - - - - - - (76) 76 -
Total transactions with owners BREAZRAEE - - - - - - 95 (2493)  (24840)
At 31st December 2024 KZS-mE+ZR=+-A 83,370 403,164 34,350 265,237 (18,666) - 7331 1502122 2,276,908

Note (i): The special reserve of Automated Systems Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) represents the difference between
the nominal value of the shares of the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal
value of the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition at the time of the Group
reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company's shares in 1997.

The notes on pages 120 to 235 are an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

IFElRE

N
/)

= B

TE R

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

2024 2023
ZE-MmE —EC=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
MEE F#ET FHET
Operating activities REE
Cash generated from operations BEERZIREWA 40(a) 137,967 82,501
Tax paid BEfiRIE
- Hong Kong profits tax - HBNER (13,828) (20,497)
- Overseas tax - BIMRIE (12,290) (1,283)
Tax refunded R[EIIRIE
- Hong Kong profits tax - HBTER 2,457 -
- Overseas profits tax - BIMRIE - 8,552
Net cash from operating activities REER RSN 114,306 69,273
Investing activities REEE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE BMEKRZE (9.475) (10,029)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - BERREMERIE
plant and equipment - 53
Proceeds from disposal of an associate, net B E A B 2 RS RIA 89,033 1,029
Placement of time deposits FAEHRER (128,088) (281,223)
Interests received BUFIR 25,590 4,482
Dividends received from an associate BEl—EERAT ZKRE - 699
Net cash used in investing activities BREEFHZRESZHFHE (22,940) (284,989)
Financing activities REES
Proceeds from bank borrowings IRITEEPTE™M 10,000 -
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITEE (21,250) (45,000
Principal portion of lease payments HE MR ED (6,279) (7,355)
Interests paid BEFER (1,179) (2,676)
Dividends paid BKRE (25,008) (25,008)
Net cash used in financing activities LB EE 2 RE S HIBEE (43,716) (80,039)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash HERIRSLEEMZEm, (Grl)
equivalents JBEA 47,650 (295,755)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning FNZRERIREEEY
of the year 252,401 547,635
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes SMNERER BT > R (964) 521
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year FRZIHERIBELEEY 30 299,087 252,401

N FB120EH 2358 2 MEBGREMHRERZA
BISHEAER D o

The notes on pages 120 to 235 are an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.

Automated Systems Holdings Limited BEB1R2%EEERAST 119



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

&7 5 1 55 R R MY 5E

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Automated Systems Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in
Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and its shares are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
At 31st December 2024, its immediate holding company is Teamsun
Technology (HK) Limited (“Hong Kong Teamsun”), a company incorporated
in Hong Kong. Its ultimate holding company is Beijing Teamsun Technology
Co., Ltd. (“Teamsun”), a company incorporated in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC") and its shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
of the PRC. The addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street,
Hamilton HM10, Bermuda, and 15th Floor, Topsail Plaza, 11 On Sum
Street, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong, respectively.

The Company is an investment holding company and provides corporate
management services to its subsidiaries. The principal activities of
its major associates and subsidiaries are set out in Notes 22 and 46
respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands
of Hong Kong dollars (“HK$'000"), unless otherwise stated. These
consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue by the
board of directors (the “Board”) on 26th March 2025.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards which collective term
includes all applicable individual HKFRS Accounting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKAS") and Interpretations (“HKFRS Accounting
Standards”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and the accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
include the applicable disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR5 M R M

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

The material accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are summarised in Note 3. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented unless
otherwise stated. The adoption of new or amended HKFRS Accounting
Standards and the impacts on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements, if any, are disclosed below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost basis except for land and buildings, investment properties
and equity investment classified as financial asset at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI"), which are stated at fair values.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS Accounting Standards requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies.
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

The impacts of the adoption of the new and amended HKFRS Accounting
Standards are discussed below:

(a) Amended HKFRS Accounting Standards that are
effective for the annual periods beginning on 1st
January 2024

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time the
following amended HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
HKICPA, which are relevant to the Group’s operations and effective for
the Group's consolidated financial statements for the annual period
beginning on 1st January 2024:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Except for mentioned below, the adoption of the amended HKFRS
Accounting Standards has no material impact on how the results and
financial position of the Group for the current and prior periods have
been prepared and presented.

2. fRBUEAE o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(a) Amended HKFRS Accounting Standards that are

2. (RBUEAE )
QMR- ZE-_ME—B—HMEKZH

effective for the annual periods beginning on 1st
January 2024 (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current” (“2020 Amendments”) and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 and Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants” (“2022 Amendments”)

The amendments clarified the classification of debt and other
liabilities as current or non-current, depending on whether an entity
has a right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve
months from the end of the reporting period and this right has to be
existed at the end of the reporting period. Any expectations about
events after the reporting period do not impact the assessment of the
classification of the liabilities make at the end of the reporting period
as to the classification of the liability.

Covenants of a loan arrangement that an entity must comply with on
or before the reporting date (even if the covenant is only assessed
after the reporting date) affect the classification of that liability as
current or non-current. Covenants that the entity is required to
comply with after the reporting date do not affect the classification at
the reporting date.

The amendments also define “settlements” of a liability, which
includes transfer of entity's own equity instrument. However, if the
holder's conversion option in a convertible bond is classified as equity
in accordance with HKAS 32, the transfer of equity instruments by
exercising the conversion option does not constitute settlement of
liability and would be disregarded when determining whether the
liability is current or non-current. If the holder's conversion option
is classified as liability, such option must be considered for the
determination of current/non-current classification of a convertible
bond.

The amendments are applied retrospectively.

Based on the Group's outstanding liabilities as at 1 January 2024, the
application of amendments did not result in reclassification of the
Group's liabilities.

In addition, the adoption of the amendments also resulted in a
change in the Group's accounting policy for the classification of
borrowings which is set out in note 3(h).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR5 M R M

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(b) Issued but not yet effective HKFRS Accounting

Standards

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial
statements, certain new and amended HKFRS Accounting Standards
have been published but are not yet effective, and have not been
adopted early by the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards - Volume 112

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification
and HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Contracts Referencing Nature-
and HKFRS 7 dependent Electricity?
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements?®
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability: Disclosures?
Amendments to Hong Kong Presentation of Financial Statements
Interpretation 5 - Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause?
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture*

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January 2025
Z Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January 2026
9 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January 2027

& Effective date not yet determined

The directors anticipate that all of the pronouncements will be
adopted in the Group's accounting policy for the first period
beginning on or after the effective date of the pronouncement.
Information on new and amended HKFRS Accounting Standards
that are expected to have impact on the Group's accounting policies
is provided below. Other new and amended HKFRS Accounting
Standards are not expected to have a material impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(b) Issued but not yet effective HKFRS Accounting

2. RBUEEE .
(b) EHERKREMNEBMERS

Standards (Continued)

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements”
and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements”. It
carries forward many of the existing requirements in HKAS 1, with
limited changes, and some HKAS 1 requirements will be moved to
HKAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and
Errors” and HKFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”.

HKFRS 18 will not impact the recognition and measurement of
financial statements items but the presentation of them. It introduces
three major new requirements, including:

reporting newly defined subtotals (namely “operating profits” and
“profits before financing and income tax”), and classifying items

nou

into five newly defined categories (namely “operating”, “investing”,
“financing”, “income tax” and “discontinued operation”),
depending on the reporting entity’'s main business activities, in

the statement of profit or loss;

Disclosure of management-defined performance measures
("MPMs") in a single note to the financial statements; and

enhanced guidance of aggregation and disaggregation of
information in the financial statements.

Besides, narrow-scope amendments have been made to HKAS 7
“Statement of Cash Flows”, which includes:

using “operating profit or loss” as the starting point for indirect
method for the presentation of operating cash flows purposes;
and

the option for classifying interest and dividend cash flows as
operating activities is eliminated.

In addition, there are consequential amendments to several other
standards.

HKFRS 18, and the amendments to the other HKFRS Accounting
Standards, are effective for annual period beginning on or after
1 January 2027 and must be applied retrospectively with specific
transition provisions. The directors of the Group are still in the
process of assessing the impact of HKFRS 18, particularly with respect
to the structure of the Group's consolidated statement of profit
or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of cash flows and the additional disclosures
required for MPMs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

(a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31st
December each year.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls
an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing whether the Group
has power over the entity, only substantive rights (held by the Group
and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions and cash
flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Where unrealised losses on sales of intra-group asset
are reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested
for impairment from the Group's perspective. Amounts reported in
the financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where
necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted
by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity on a subsidiary not
attributable directly or indirectly to the company, and in respect of
which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the holders
of those interests which would result in the Group as a whole having
a contractual obligation in respect of those interests that meets the
definition of a financial liability. For each business combination, the
Group can elect to measure any non-controlling interests either
at fair value or at their proportionate share of the subsidiary's net
identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from equity
attributable to the equity holders of the Company. Non-controlling
interests in the results of the Group are presented on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement
of comprehensive income as an allocation of the profit or loss and
total comprehensive income for the period between non-controlling
interests and the equity holders of the Company.
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3. EEEEHER »

(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued) (a) iZEaEE W

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do not result in
a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions, whereby
adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling and non-
controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the change
in relative interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no
gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on
disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate
of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of
the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
and any non-controlling interests. Where certain assets of the
subsidiary are measured at revalued amounts or fair values and
the related cumulative gain or loss has been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, the amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the Company had
directly disposed of the related assets (i.e., reclassified to profit or
loss or transferred directly to retained earnings). The fair value of
any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for
subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” or,
when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.

In the Company's statement of financial position, subsidiaries are
stated at cost less impairment losses, unless the subsidiary is
classified as held for sale or included in a disposal group. Cost is
adjusted to reflect changes in consideration arising from contingent
consideration amendments. Cost also includes direct attributable
costs of investment.

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividends received and receivable at the reporting date.
All dividends whether received out of the investee's pre or post-
acquisition profits are recognised in the Company’'s profit or loss.

126 Annual Report 2024 %R

HAEERNBARNZEZEH T ER
BRIERIRE > BIfESIRERRZ AR > M
mEREAZEREIMERED S (F
HEEE > WRBAERERDEE > EHET
T UREREDBER

EAEBRREWMB AR ZERIRER > HE
EEZR@mVBUTME ZZ85E ()
PRRAEBEZ AN BELEENREERZA
REEZLEE ; R(INBARZEE (B1F
) haERERIFHERER 2 STARE
B HZENBRARAZETEENREME
B ARBEFE > MEBZRF WD
BRENHM2E WD PEE N B R
5t 0 RISERTE R B fth 2 E W e FE s8I0 12 1
MRS ZERUAMA AT EEEHER
MEEZFRARBIEMDEERERNE
EFEBEFREAEN) c RAREFRZAN
AINBARREZERREZAREE >
RBEEBMBREERIEOREMTE
EREBARBRASVNIEIDZANE
B> HEER) T EIBNBERDRNS
BhEZREZNAE

RAERABHBFRREA > KRB RB IR
B AGRERBERETUER » BN
AFERERBFAHERN ZKRER
G o BRA B 1E RN R RS ARBBET
FREEZABET - AT EERRER
AR Z Al o

M B A B ZEENARATRERKRER
g BEE AR o FTA UL AT 312 5 A FT IR
Ik BIEER A AT R IRm PR o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR5 M R M

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. BEEEHHE »

(Continued)

(b) BHE QB =

(b) Interests in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence,
but not control or joint control, over its management, including
participation in the financial and operating policy decisions of the
investee but is not control or joint control of those policies.

In consolidated financial statements, an investment in an associate
is initially recognised at cost and subsequently accounted for
using equity method. Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the
Group's share of the acquisition-date net fair values of the investee'’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is recognised as
goodwill. The goodwill is included within the carrying amount of the
investment and is assessed for impairment as part of the investment.
The cost of acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair
values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or
assumed and equity instruments issued by the Group, plus any costs
directly attributable to the investment. Any excess of the Group's
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment,
is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the determination of the
Group's share of the associate’s profit or loss in the period in which
the investment is acquired.

Under the equity method, the Group's interest in the associate
is carried at cost and adjusted for the post acquisition change in
the Group's share of the associate’s net assets less any identified
impairment loss, unless it is classified as held for sale (or included
in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale). The Group's
share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the investees
and any impairment losses for the year are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, whereas the Group's
share of the post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’ other
comprehensive income is recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income. Adjustments are made to bring into line
any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associate
are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in the associates.
Where unrealised losses on assets sales between the Group and its
associate are reversed on equity accounting, the underlying asset is
also tested for impairment from the Group'’s perspective. Where the
associate uses accounting policies other than those of the Group for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances, adjustments are
made, where necessary, to conform the associate accounting policies
to those of the Group when the associate’s financial statements are
used by the Group in applying the equity method.
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3. EEEEHER »

(b) Interests in associates (Continued) (b) BAEQTEIER (@)

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest in the
associate, the Group's interest is reduced to nil and recognition of
further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is the
carrying amount of the investment under the equity method together
with the Group's long-term interests that in substance form part of
the Group's net investment in the associate.

After the application of equity method, the Group determines
whether it is necessary to recognise an additional impairment loss
on the Group's investment in its associate. At each reporting date,
the Group determines whether there is any objective evidence
that the investment in associate or joint venture is impaired. If
such indications are identified, the Group calculates the amount of
impairment as being the difference between the recoverable amount
(i.e. higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) of the
associate or joint venture and its carrying amount. In determining
the value in use of the investment, the Group estimates its share
of the present value of the estimated future cash flows expected to
be generated by the associate, including cash flows arising from the
operations of the associate and the proceeds on ultimate disposal of
the investment.

The Group discontinues the use of equity method from the date
when it ceases to have significant influence over an associate. If the
retained interest in that former associate is a financial asset, the
retained interest is measured at fair value, which is regarded as its
fair value on initial recognition as a financial asset in accordance
with HKFRS 9. The difference between (i) the fair value of any
retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest
in the associate; and (ii) the carrying amount of the investment
at the date the equity method was discontinued, is recognised in
the profit or loss. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to that associate on the same basis as would have been required
if the associate had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by the investee would be reclassified to
profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the
entity reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, retained interest is not remeasured. Instead,
the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity
method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR5 M R M

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(c) Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker.
The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments,
has been identified as the executive directors that makes strategic
decisions.

(d) Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

Iltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group's entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars (HKD or HK$), which is the
Company's functional currency and the Group's presentation
currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions or valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange
rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are
presented in the statement of profit or loss, within finance costs.
All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the
statement of profit or loss on a net basis within other gain, net.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on
assets and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of
the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation differences
on non-monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") are recognised in
profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and translation
differences on non-monetary assets such as equities classified as
fair value through other comprehensive income are recognised
in other comprehensive income.
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3. EEEEHER »

(d) 5MEIRE )

(iii) Group companies (iii) EEARF]

(d) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none
of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that
have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position
presented are translated at the closing rate at the reporting
date;

(i) income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss
presented are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at
the rate on the dates of the transactions); and

(iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in the
translation reserve in equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of
a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate. Currency translation
differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in the translation reserve in
equity.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, loss of joint control over a joint venture that
includes a foreign operation, or loss of significant influence
over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of the
accumulated exchange differences in respect of that operation
attributable to the Group are reclassified to profit or loss. Any
exchange differences that have previously been attributed to
non-controlling interests are derecognised, but they are not
reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR5 M R M

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. BEEEHHE »

(Continued)

(e) MZ - BB Rt

(e) Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings are stated at fair value. Property, plant and
equipment, other than land and buildings, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of
the items.

Land and buildings are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the
date of revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation
and amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Revaluations
are performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amount
does not differ materially from that which would be determined using
fair values at the reporting date.

Any revaluation increase arising on revaluation of land and buildings
is credited to the property revaluation reserve, except to the extent
that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same assets previously
recognised as an expense, in which case the increase is credited
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss to the extent of the
decrease previously charged. A decrease in net carrying amount
arising on revaluation of an asset is dealt with as an expense to the
extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, on the revaluation reserve
relating to a previous revaluation of that asset.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated using
the straight-line method to allocate cost or revalued amounts to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:
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Motor vehicles 20% A 20%

Computer and office 162/,% - 50% BIRIMAZERE 16%,% - 50%

equipment

Right-of-use assets Shorter of lease term or useful life of FEREEE THEFHASY Pl L A 1A

2 - 5years 2-5%F (LEESEE
FHZE)

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted
if appropriate, at each reporting date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. When revalued assets are
sold, the amounts included in other reserves are transferred to
retained earnings.
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(f) Investment properties

Property that is held for long-term rental yields and is not occupied by
the Group, is classified as investment properties. Investment property
is measured initially at its cost, including related transaction costs and
where applicable borrowing costs. Cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment property.

After initial recognition at cost, investment properties are carried
at fair value, representing open market value determined at each
reporting date by external valuers. Fair value is based on active
market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the
nature, location or condition of the specific asset. If this information
is not available, the Group uses alternative valuation methods such
as recent prices on less active markets or discounted cash flow
projections. Changes in fair values are recorded in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an investment
property because its use has changed, any difference resulting
between the carrying amount and the fair value of this item at the
date of transfer is recognised in equity as a revaluation of property,
plant and equipment. However, if a fair value gain reverses a previous
impairment loss, the gain is recognised in the consolidated statement

of profit or loss.

(g) Impairment of non-financial assets

The following assets are subject to impairment testing:
Intangible assets;
Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets);
Interests in associates; and
The Company's investments in subsidiaries

All assets are tested for impairment whenever there are indications
that the asset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable.
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. BEEEHHE »

(Continued)

(g) Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

(g) IFERMBEZRE®)

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately for the
amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting
market conditions less costs of disposal, and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessment of time value of money and the risk specific to the
asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent from those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group
of assets that generate cash inflows independently (i.e., a cash-
generating unit). As a result, some assets are tested individually
for impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit level.
Corporate assets are allocated to individual cash-generating units,
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified.

(h) Financial assets and liabilities

(i) Financial assets

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

debt instruments to be measured at amortised cost; and

equity instruments to be measured subsequently at FVOCI.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the
cash flows.

For debt instruments, the classification depends on the entity's
business model for managing the financial assets and its
contractual cash flows characteristics. For investment in equity
instrument, this will depend on whether the Group has made an
irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account
for the equity investment at FVOCI.
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3. EEEEHER »

(h) EMBEERER @
() BEMBE ()

(h) Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)

Classification (Continued)

The Group reclassifies debt instruments when and only when its
business model for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits
to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised
when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets
have expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at
its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at FVTPL,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried
at FVTPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Debt instruments at amortised cost

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group's business model for managing the asset and the
cash flow characteristics of the asset. Assets that are held
for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash
flow represent solely payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other gain
together with foreign exchange gains and losses.

The Group's financial assets at amortised cost comprise “trade

nou

receivables”, “other receivables and deposits”, “finance lease

receivables”, “time deposits” and “bank balances and cash” as set
out in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR5 M R M

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(h) Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Financial assets (Continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity instruments at fair
value. Where the Group’s management has elected to present
fair value gains and losses on equity instruments in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in “Fair value reserve -
non-recycling” in equity, there is no subsequent reclassification
of fair value gains and losses to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss. Upon disposal of the equity instruments,
cumulative gain or loss in “Fair value reserve-non-recycling” will
be transferred to retained earnings. Dividends from such equity
instruments continue to be recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss as other income when the Group's
right to receive dividend payments is established. Impairment
losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity instruments
at FVOCI are not reported separately from other changes in fair
value.

Financial liabilities

The Group's financial liabilities include “trade payables”, “other
payables and accruals”, “bank borrowings” and “lease liabilities”.

Financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the financial instruments.
Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are initially
measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for
transaction costs unless the Group designated a financial liability
at FVTPL.

Subsequently, financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method
except for derivatives which are not designated and effective as
hedging instruments and financial liabilities designated at FVTPL,
which are carried subsequently at fair value with gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss.

All interest related charges are recognised in accordance with the
Group's accounting policy for borrowing costs (see Note 3(r)).
Accounting policies of lease liabilities are set out in Note 3(t).

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

3. EEEHHE »

(h) EMEERER®
(i) EHEEE)

Bz TH

FEEZANBERESERARE
RE - HAEEEEBEENRHAMS
EWERIRRIEREZ ARBER
mRBERRFRREARZAREE
#ERIEDHE) BIERESH
NEARBERDREEEREGED
xoBRERERER > ARBER
B (R ENE) 2 REtEaE R EER
BEM - ExEEAREEKRER
ZEREZREBEBN TG IEm &M
SBRAEMBA - BRARBEEBHEM
EENEIIRZ RERENRERSX
(R EBEER) T ERANBEE
FIFETIR

(i) EFHEE

FEEZEREEEE TBRUEZR
B~ THMEMRIERESER
HRITHEE & TRESRE) -

TREENRAEERAEMIAS
iRz —H RS - AR (EE
BRI R ARBENE - UK
(MER) R ZMAHE » FRIERER
BEUADBEBERDIERNER
BfastE e

fetz - ERER (BEERRN) Bk
BEBRMZ LSRR8 > R
EERETARNITETEMUAR
BEFEEBETIIRNERE R
Sh > WHBREAABETIER  FHE
FREESDAENS ©

FRE T EABRERE S L IR S A &2 E i
BRARM & BRERRD (R
3(r) °

S &S &t BRI E S

TRERNNERERETHNEBR
FRIR B EE S B I T B AR LEBEST ©

Automated Systems Holdings Limited BE1 R 4GEBERAT

135



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

47 5 M35 R R M 5E

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3. EEEEHER »

(h) EMBEERER @
(ii) A ()

(h) Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

(ii) Financial liabilities (Continued)

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in
the respective carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

Trade payables and other payables and accruals

They are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs
incurred and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.

Bank borrowings

They are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs
incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost;
any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs)
and the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the
period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

They are classified as current liabilities unless as at the end of the
reporting period, the Group has a right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

Covenants that the Group is required to comply with, on or
before the end of the reporting period, are considered in
classifying loan arrangement with covenants as current or non-
current. Covenants that the Group is required to comply with
after the reporting period do not affect the classification.

(iii) Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR5 M R M

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. BEEEHHE »

(Continued)

(i) THEERSHNEEZRIE

(i) Impairment of financial assets and contract

assets

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected
credit losses (“ECL") associated with its debt instruments carried at
amortised cost and contract assets as recognised and measured
under HKFRS 15.

The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk. Note 6(b) details how the
Group determines whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade receivables, contract assets and finance lease receivables,
the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9,
which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables.

For all other financial assets, the Group adopted a “three-stage”
model for impairment based on changes in credit quality since initial
recognition as summarised below:

The receivables with low credit risk on initial recognition is
classified in “Stage 1" and has its credit risk continuously
monitored by the Group;

If a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition is
identified, the receivables is moved to “Stage 2" but is not yet
deemed to be credit impaired;

If the receivables is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is
then moved to “Stage 3".

Receivables in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an amount equal
to the portion of lifetime ECL that result from default events possible
within the next 12 months. Instruments in Stage 2 or 3 have their ECL
measured based on ECL on a lifetime basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

47 5 M35 R R M 5E

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. BEEEHHE »

(Continued)

(i) THEERSHEEZRE®

(i) Impairment of financial assets and contract

assets (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a probability-weighted
estimate of credit losses over the expected life of the financial
instrument.

When estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative
information and analysis, based on the Group's historical experience
and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking
information.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from
possible default events within the 12 months after the reporting
date; and

lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from
all possible default events over the expected lives of the items to
which the ECL model applies.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of the financial instrument since initial
recognition, in which case the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Detailed analysis of the ECL assessment of trade receivables, contract
assets, finance lease receivables and other financial assets measured
at amortised cost are set out in Note 6(b).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR5 M R M

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. BEEEHHE »

(Continued)

(j) Contract assets and contract liabilities

() EHNEERGHARE

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises revenue
(see Note 3(p)) before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration under the payment terms set out in the contract.
Contract assets are assessed for ECL in accordance with the policy set
out in Note 3(i) and are reclassified to receivables when the right to
the consideration has become unconditional (see Note 3(h)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue (see
Note 3(p)). A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group
has an unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised (see Note 3(h)). Contract liability
is disclosed as receipts in advance in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract asset
or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple contracts,
contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not
presented on a net basis.

(k) Inventories

(i) Inventories

Inventories comprise goods held for resale and goods pending
for customers’ acceptance and are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-
out method. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling
expenses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

47 5 M35 R R M 5E

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3. EEEEHER »

(k) Inventories (Continued) (k) ZFE®

(i) BtE#IRZ

(ii) Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the incremental costs of
obtaining a contract with a customer or the costs to fulfil a
contract with a customer which are not capitalised as inventory
(Note 3(k)(i)) or property, plant and equipment (Note 3(e)).

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the
Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it would
not have incurred if the contract had not been obtained e.g. an
incremental sales commission. Incremental costs of obtaining
a contract are capitalised when incurred if the costs relate to
revenue which will be recognised in a future reporting period and
the costs are expected to be recovered. Other costs of obtaining
a contract are expensed when incurred.

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs relate directly
to an existing contract or to a specifically identifiable anticipated
contract; generate or enhance resources that will be used to
provide goods or services in the future; and are expected to
be recovered. Costs that relate directly to an existing contract
or to a specifically identifiable anticipated contract may include
direct labour, direct materials, allocations of costs, costs that are
explicitly chargeable to the customer and other costs that are
incurred only because the group entered into the contract (for
example, payments to sub-contractors). Other costs of fulfilling a
contract, which are not capitalised as inventory, property, plant
and equipment or intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Impairment losses are
recognised to the extent that the carrying amount of the
contract cost asset exceeds the net of (i) remaining amount of
consideration that the Group expects to receive in exchange for
the goods or services to which the asset relates, less (ii) any costs
that relate directly to providing those goods or services that have
not yet been recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is charged to profit or
loss when the revenue to which the asset relates is recognised.
The accounting policy for revenue recognition is set out in Note

3(p).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR5 M R M

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(I) Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks
with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts.

(m)Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental cost directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity
as deduction, net of tax, from the proceed.

(n) Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax.
Tax is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on
the current period's taxable income based on the applicable income
tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax
assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to
unused tax losses.

(i) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date
in the places/countries where the Company's subsidiaries and
associates operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on
the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

3. EEEHHE »

() RERFEEFEN

ERERERERN > RERFEEFEY
BEFEREREE  RERARR=EASUR
ZEBRRIRITZ BN ERRIRITES

(m) g%

HiERTy DA - RETHRMOIR
PEARMERELE ISR AR AT
TEFF1SFREINIRIE B GOERRIA) ©

(n) BPRARLAEIEFRISTR

FEAIRIEST B AR R IEIEIRTE © 1R
B RiReRm RERS  HEERSHMt
cENENEEEEOERZBERRE
BRON o FEILIBERT » MBETFDREFSH
MW N EIF RS o

RSB IR RERESBEEER
ZBERAMERNEEN AR A E
B ZiRE » TEEREERARESANE
BRERZIELENREERAEZEIHF
HEHEE o

(i) EPREFRTZ

ARSI U A ERZ ER &
B EL SRR WA PTTEH, BRI
HRHERMREERMZINEAE
ESHE - BB M ERIRE R
AEHRBZ BRI GRIRE - Wik
BN FIRBIME 2 BE SRR
BEZERE -

Automated Systems Holdings Limited BB12#%EBERAT 141



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

47 5 M35 R R M 5E

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3. EEEEHER »

(n) Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(n) BPEARIEIEFRISHR (@)

(ii) Deferred income tax (ii) BAEFFTS

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill,
the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other
than a business combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date
and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, except
for deferred income tax liability where the timing of the reversal
of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

For investment property measured using the fair value model in
accordance with the accounting policy above, the measurement
of the related deferred tax liability or asset reflects the tax
consequences of recovering the carrying amount of the
investment property entirely through sale, unless the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale.

When different tax rates apply to different levels of taxable
income, deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using
the average tax rates that are expected to apply to the taxable
income of the periods in which the temporary differences are
expected to reverse.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR5 M R M

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEGSIHE »

(Continued)

(n) Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(n) BPEAREIEFRTSHR (&)

(ii) Deferred income tax (Continued) (ii) BAEFRSR (42
The determination of the average tax rates requires an EETHEREBMG()RAYRMSE
estimation of (1) when the existing temporary differences will EEA A AT B 1R O] R (2) % E SR E R 2k g

reverse and (2) the amount of future taxable profit in those years.
The estimate of future taxable profit includes:

- income or loss excluding reversals of temporary differences;
and

- reversals of existing temporary differences

(iii) Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities
and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation
authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where
the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously.

(o) Provisions and contingent liabilities

(i) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The
increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

47 5 M35 R R M 5E

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(o) Provisions and contingent liabilities (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Provisions (Continued)

An onerous contract exists when the Group has a contract
under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations
under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be
received from the contract. Provisions for onerous contracts are
measured at the present value of the lower of the expected cost
of terminating the contract and the net cost of continuing with
the contract.

Contingent liabilities

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future uncertain
events not wholly within the control of the Group, are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
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outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(p) Revenue recognition

Revenue arises mainly from the sales of IT products and contracts for
the IT services.

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows a
5-step process:

1. Identifying the contract with a customer

2. ldentifying the performance obligations

3. Determining the transaction price

4. Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations

5. Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are
satisfied
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR5 M R M

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEGSIHE »

(Continued)
(p) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(p) WATESR (&)
REFEBRT » 882835 BRIBEE

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is allocated
amongst the various performance obligations based on their relative
stand-alone selling prices. The transaction price for a contract
excludes any amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time, when (or
as) the Group satisfies performance obligations by transferring the
promised goods or services to its customers.

Where the contract contains a financing component which provides
a significant financing benefit to the customer for more than 12
months, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected
in a separate financing transaction with the customer, and interest
income is accrued separately under the effective interest method.
Where the contract contains a financing component which provides a
significant financing benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under
that contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition
policies are as follows:

(i) Sales of goods and rendering of services

Revenue from the sale of goods for a fixed fee is recognised
when (or as) the Group transfers control of the assets to the
customer.

For stand-alone sales of goods that are neither customised
by the Group nor subject to significant integration services,
control transfers at the point in time when the customer takes
undisputed delivery of the goods.

When such items are either customised or sold together
with significant integration services, the goods and services
represent a single combined performance obligation over
which control is considered to transfer over time. This is
because the Group’s performance creates and enhances an
asset (either tangible or intangible) that the customer controls.
Revenue for these performance obligations is recognised over
time as the customisation or integration work is performed,
using the cost-to-cost method to estimate progress towards
completion. As costs are generally incurred uniformly as the
work progresses and are considered to be proportionate to the
entity's performance, the cost-to-cost method provides a faithful
depiction of the transfer of goods and services to the customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

47 5 M35 R R M 5E

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(p) Revenue recognition (Continued)
(ii) Installation service

For sales of goods together with installation service, where the
installation is simple and does not include an integration service
and could be performed by another party, such installation is
accounted for as a separate performance obligation. In this
case, the transaction price will be allocated to each performance
obligation based on the stand-alone selling prices. Where
these are not directly observable, they are estimated based on
expected cost plus margin. For sales of goods, control transfers
at the point in time when the customer takes undisputed delivery
of the goods. Where the installation is complex and goods or
services are highly interdependent or interrelated (i.e. the sales
of goods are significantly affected by the successful installation
services in the contract), the installation and goods or services
are not separately identifiable and revenue is recognised upon
completion of the installation.

(iii) Maintenance service

The Group enters into fixed price maintenance contracts with
its customers. Customers are required to pay in advance and
the relevant payment due dates are specified in each contract.
Revenue is recognised over time based on the maintenance
service period.

(iv) Rental income

Rental income is recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the terms of the
relevant leases.

(v) Finance income

Finance income implicit in finance lease is recognised as
interest income over the period of the lease so as to produce an
approximately constant periodic rate of return of the outstanding
net investment in the leases for each accounting period.

(vi) Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR5 M R M

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(q) Retirement benefit

Retirement benefits to employees are provided through defined
contribution plans. In addition, the employees employed under the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance are also entitled to long service
payment (“LSP") if the eligibility criteria are met. The LSP are defined
benefits plans.

(i) Defined contribution plans

The Group operates Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) and other defined contribution retirement
benefit plans for all qualifying employees. The MPF Scheme is
established under the Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance in
December 2000. Contributions are made based on a percentage
of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme and other defined contribution retirement
benefit plans are held separately from those of the Group, in
funds under the control of trustees. The Group's contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme and other defined contribution retirement benefit plans.

(ii) Defined benefit plans

The amount of long service benefit that an employee will
receive on cessation of employment in certain circumstances
is defined by reference to the employee’s length of service and
corresponding salary. The legal obligations for any benefits
remains with the Group.

The LSP obligations recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position is the present value of the LSP obligation at the
end of the reporting period.

Management estimates the LSP obligations annually with the
assistance of independent actuaries. This is based on the
discount rate, the salary growth rate, turnover rate and the
expected investment return on offsetable MPF accrued benefits.
Discount factors are determined close to the end of each annual
reporting period by reference to high quality corporate bonds
that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be
paid and have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the
related defined benefit liability.

3. EEEHHE »

(q) BAHEF

2 BIR KB H 1B 18 T 2R R0 51 & 1F 1 8
o IS - RBEBEBEGIZENES
ERGERRENBR T ARERRH
ke ((REAKRBE)) - REBRBEAHTE
BEEHEE

(i) FEBRErkEtE

FEBAMECERESEN —1RR
MEstE T (CRREE ) REMA
ERTEE - BETFHENN _2F
TE+ARBRHEATERIRR
T o RN EEEEAHFEZE—R
DEEEE » WRIREREE SR 28
AR IR R SR R PI0MR 38
Mt B REMAEBAAB ZEE
HEXAZERIZESRA > WAL
BEEDRFR - AEEFBEAT
R ELM 57 E A2 A 51 B itk R - ARRED
SHRREEMA ©

(i) EERFEFIEE

FETRER T EEERLERKRE
RO RARTEN BB E2ERE
HERBFRRIBEFTME ° E7E
HMEVEEEFHAEREE o

iR B MBI R TR EDNRIRS
EEFARFEEBNBREHARNE
=)

EEESFEAFRARBEERT o It
TREREREE  FHEERX « BEX
RegiERiEE RERmNERKRE
[E¥RmstHE o FRERERTSFR
HRB2E BT EEEE
BEHIHARMAERA E AR T B EHAIR
HENBBBUTESFMETE

Automated Systems Holdings Limited BB12#%EBARAT 147



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

47 5 M35 R R M 5E

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(q) Retirement benefit (Continued)

(r)

(s)

(ii) Defined benefit plans (Continued)

Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:

service cost (including current and past service cost, and
gains and losses on curtailments and settlements);

net interest expense or income; and
remeasurement.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed when incurred.

Share-based payment

The fair value of services received were determined by reference to
the fair value of shares and share options granted at the grant date
and expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period or
recognised as an expense in full at the grant date when the shares
and share options granted vest immediately, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share-based payment reserve).

At each reporting date, the Group revises its estimates of the number
of shares and share options that are expected to ultimately vest. The
impact of the revision of the estimates during the vesting period, if
any, is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, with
a corresponding adjustment to share-based payment reserve.

At the time when the number of shares and share options are
exercised, the amount previously recognised in share-based payment
reserve will be transferred to share premium. After vesting date,
when the shares or share options are forfeited after the vesting date
or are still not exercised at the expiry dates, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payment reserve will be transferred to
retained earnings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI
For the year ended 31st December 2024 E_Z _UE+_F=+—HILFE
3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEEFHEw
(Continued)
(t) Leases (t) HE

(i) The Group as a lessee (i) ZFEEEZREA

Definition of lease

At inception of a contract, the Group considers whether a
contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract,
or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an identified
asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for
consideration’.

To apply this definition, the Group assesses whether the contract
meets three key evaluations which are whether:

the contract contains an identified asset, which is either
explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly specified by
being identified at the time the asset is made available to the
Group;

the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of
the economic benefits from use of the identified asset
throughout the period of use, considering its rights within
the defined scope of the contract; and

the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified
asset throughout the period of use. The Group assess
whether it has the right to direct ‘how and for what purpose’
the asset is used throughout the period of use.

For leases of office premises and office equipment in which the
Group is a lessee, the Group elects not to separate non-lease
components and instead accounts for the lease and non-lease
components as a single lease component.
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47 5 M35 R R M 5E

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3. EEEEHER »

(t) Leases (Continued) (t) A& @)

(i) ZFEBEFEHE-A E

(i) The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-
use asset and a lease liability on the consolidated statement of
financial position. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost,
which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability,
any initial direct costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any
costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset at the end of
the lease, and any lease payments made in advance of the lease
commencement date (net of any lease incentives received).

While the Group's land and buildings presented in property,
plant and equipment are carried at revaluation model, the
Group has elected not to apply revaluation model to right-of-
use office premises held by the Group as the Group exercises its
judgements and determines that it is a separate class of asset
apart from the land and buildings which is held for own use.

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line
basis from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the
end of the useful life of the right-of-use assets or the end of the
lease term. The Group also assesses the right-of-use assets for
impairment when such indicator exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease
liability at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at
that date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the
lease if that rate is readily available or the Group's incremental
borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability are made up of fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
payments based on an index or rate, and amounts expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payment of penalties
for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR5 M R M

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. BEEEHHE »

(Continued)
(t) Leases (Continued) (t) A& @

(i) ZFEBEFEZE-A E

(i) The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee (Continued)

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced
for lease payments made and increased for interest cost on the
lease liability. It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or
lease modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed
payments. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as expense in the period on which
the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

When the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding
adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss
if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to zero.

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases using the
practical expedients. Instead of recognising a right-of-use asset
and lease liability, the payments in relation to these leases are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less.

On the consolidated statement of financial position, right-of-use
assets have been included in property, plant and equipment and
lease liabilities have been presented separately.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

TERATANZ HE 518 RS ()

RYMTHEZE > BERMEFEZ
HEMNRTLURL » TMEEERZ
MERATLEN - HEEFEM
HEE BN AERFEERUER
bR M B EEEMRBREE > 75
EEMEAE -

EENGIEHEAER > HEZHAE
RN ERAEEENHERREED
L EZRRBRE IR o

FEHCEENEREE®RARTE
HAZEAR - BARZEBREZ AR
HEEAUBEREN B RER S
X MAERIAERAREERES
& - EHIFEE AR 12 H LT
ZiE -

RiFEMBHIRRE > ERREED
AMZE  BERREREESEES

vA==L |

ENHRENESREZREEBHY
BREERBIFARMRANUARRE
Bt E - PIRAB RN BEREIHKSG
AHESMEENT > W ARAREE
BIRYZS °

Automated Systems Holdings Limited B81&#%&EBARAST 151



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

47 5 M35 R R M 5E

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3. EEEEHER »

(t) Leases (Continued) (t) HE @

(ii) The Group as a lessor

Assets leased out under finance leases as the lessor

When assets are leased out under finance leases, the risks and
rewards of ownership are transferred out to customers. When
assets are leased out under finance leases, the present value of
the lease payments is recognised as a receivable.

(u) Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where
there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and
the Group will comply with all attached conditions. Government
grants are deferred and recognised in profit or loss over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that the grants are intended
to compensate.

Government grants that compensate the Group for staff cost incurred
are set-off with relevant staff costs included in the respective line item
of “cost of services rendered”, “selling expenses” and “administrative
expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

(v) Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company's shareholders is recognised
as a liability in the Group's and Company's financial statements in
the year in which the dividends are approved by the Company’'s
shareholders or directors, where appropriate.

(w)Related parties

For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, a party
is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person, or a close member of that person’s family,
is related to the Group if that person:

(1) has control or joint control over the Group;

(2) has significant influence over the Group; or

(3) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group
or the Group's parent.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR5 M R M

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(w)Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity and if any of the following conditions
applies:

(1) The entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

(2) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of
which the other entity is a member).

(3) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(4) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

(5) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group.

(6) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

(7) A person identified in (a)(1) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(8) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the
reporting entity or to the parent of the reporting entity.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that person in their dealings with the entity.

3. EEEHHE »

(W)REA L @)

(b) BRELZABREILSS NIEMEFEYE
A AEEBRIE
() ZERAFEEBR -—SEZM
AT (BIEAF ~ WEBARKE
ZMBRBRILEARE) -

%Iﬂ]ﬂi@

(2) —HEEAZ —BEZBMEAT
FREhE (RS —BEMBEEER
ENMERRZBMEAR NG E
) -

(B) MEBEIRA-—F=HZEE
B3 o

(4) —HBERBARE=FBEBZaZE
X o Mr—EBEAZF=FEE
ZHENT] o

(5) BESTEENEFERFRE
ZBREESN @RI 2 RS
FEtE o

(6) EREX(a)EPTHLA LRI
2l o

(7) RE@MEBEFMEALTHEREEK
%&%:ﬁ%;%ﬁ(ja &~ FAF])
CIESBERE o

(8) ZERIHMBERZEMNNE
ABMREERNIREERZE
NEREETEEEABR -

BEATZERDIERZERR KA

AR EZ AT ZALIFESR
ERE °

Automated Systems Holdings Limited BB1R#EBERAS 153



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

47 5 M35 R R M 5E

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 4. E R EHEET B FIER
AND JUDGEMENTS

(a) Critical accounting judgements in applying the Q) AT EETHHERNEED

Group’s accounting policies st HIER
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, the R EE BT BERBRER > EEER
Directors have made the following judgements that have the most R T HIB S st ER -

significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements:

(i) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in jurisdictions in which the
Group operates. Significant judgement is required in determining
the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax
audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will
be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the year
in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences and
certain tax losses are recognised as management considers it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised. Where
the expectation is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact the recognition of deferred tax and tax in
the periods in which such estimate is changed.

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below:

(i) Provision for impairment of trade receivables within the
scope of ECL under HKFRS 9

The provisioning policy for trade receivables of the Group is
based on the evaluation of the risk of default and the expected
loss rate. A considerable amount of judgement is required in
assessing the ultimate realisation of these receivables, which
include the current creditworthiness, the past collection
history, the realisation of any repayment pattern promised as
well as forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period. Details of which are as set out in Note 6(b). As at 31st
December 2024, the aggregate carrying amounts of trade
receivables amounted to HK$192,410,000 (net of ECL allowance
of HK$10,181,000) (2023: HK$228,692,000 (net of ECL allowance
of HK$9,512,000)).
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AR5 M R M

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 4. ERDLEHEET B FUER )

AN D JU DGEM ENTS (Continued)

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b) st FHEMEREKR @)

(ii) Revenue recognition (i) WA TR

(iii)

According to the accounting policy as stated in Note 3(p), the
Group uses the cost-to-cost method to estimate progress
towards completion for revenue recognised over time. The
progress is measured by reference to the actual costs incurred
up to the reporting date as a percentage of total estimated
costs of completion. When the outcome of a contract cannot be
estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent of
contract costs incurred that it will be probably recoverable.

Valuation of investment properties and land and buildings

The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an active
market for similar leases and other contracts. In the absence
of such information, the Group determines the amount within
a range of reasonable fair values estimated. In making its
estimates, the Group considers the information from the
valuations of investment properties and land and buildings
performed by external professional valuers by using the market
comparison approach. The market comparison approach is
referenced to recent sale price of comparable properties on
a price per square foot basis, adjusted for a premium or a
discount specific to the quality and floor of the Group's buildings
compared to the recent sales.

Had the Group used different valuation techniques, the fair
value of the investment properties and land and buildings would
be different and thus may have an impact to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

At 31st December 2024, the carrying amount of the Group's land
and buildings and investment properties carried at revalued
amount/fair value were HK$296,137,000 (2023: HK$311,470,000)
and HK$48,500,000 (2023: HK$50,800,000) respectively.
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(iv) Estimated impairment of interest in an unlisted associate

(v)

An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the
higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.

The value in use was determined based on the estimated
present value of the estimated future cash flows expected to
be generated by the unlisted group, namely i-Sprint Holdings
Limited and its subsidiaries (“i-Sprint Group”), including cash
flows from the operations of i-Sprint Group and estimated
terminal value. Based on the assessment, the recoverable
amount of i-Sprint Group is higher than its carrying amount.
Hence, no impairment loss (2023: Nil) on interests in i-Sprint
Group was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss during the year ended 31st December 2024.

Valuation of financial asset at FVOCI

As at 31st December 2024, financial asset at FVOCI amounted
to nil (2023: approximately HK$3,906,000). Judgement and
estimation are required in establishing the relevant valuation
techniques and the relevant inputs thereof. See note 6(d) for
further disclosures.
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

5. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities within the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained
earnings as disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure periodically.
As part of this review, the directors of the Company prepare the annual
budget taking into account of the provision of funding. Based on the
proposed annual budget, the directors of the Company consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based
on recommendations of the management of the Group, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends,
new share issues, bank borrowings and share buy-backs as well as the
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt, if necessary.

As at 31st December 2024, the Group's debt-to-equity ratio was 0% (2023:
0.5%), which was calculated as follows:

5. Ba R ER

FEBEERAEAT BERAEE 2 BRAE
hF@EgE > TRBRtEFRERTE &
BIRARR O -

FEBEAEROEREFAABRGLERF
ZtEm > WHEBRTRA - BERFERNE
B > ZEEERGA RS RAIKE

FABDERERRAEERER - (FARSH
PR ARBEFTERESRBTHREE
ERE - REFMEXZEERE » ARBES
ZRERHAKRERSEERERZ AR o 1B
BAEBEEEZEE > AEERKEBRYR
B BITHRG  RTBERBRRORER
BERATRENEERFES » UFHEE
BRERE -

RIZE-WWE+"_B=+—H  xEFZEE
PR EER A0 (B =% 1 0.5%) » b
U EE

2024 2023

—E-mE —B=H

HK$’'000 HK$'000

Fi#Ex FHET

Bank borrowings RITEE - 11,259
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company ZNATRRAIEA AE(LH#ED 2,276,908 2,177,316
Debt-to-equity ratio MRETSEERE LR 0% 0.5%

There are no changes on the Group's approach to capital risk
management during the year.

AREERAR AR AR NI R -
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk
(including foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk), credit risk, and
liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management programme focuses on
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group's financial performance.

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly earns revenue and incurs costs in HKD and
United States dollars (“USD"). Foreign exchange exposure to USD
of the Group will continue to be minimal as long as the policy
of the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region to peg the HKD to the USD remains in effect. There was
no material exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates, and
therefore no related hedging financial instrument was applied
during the years ended 31st December 2024 and 2023.

(ii) Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation in relations to variable interest rate on bank
balances and bank borrowings. The Group currently does not
have any interest rate hedging policy.

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on
the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative instruments
including bank balances and bank borrowings, at the reporting
date and the stipulated change taking place at the beginning of
the financial year and held constant throughout the reporting
period in the case of instruments that have floating rates. A 50
basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest
rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management's assessment of the reasonably possible change in
interest rate.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the Group’s profit for the
year ended 31st December 2024 would increase/decrease
by approximately HK$1,054,000 (2023: HK$2,012,000). This is
mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on
its variable-rate bank borrowings and bank balances.
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 6. HERIGEERBRAAEE
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) HE o

(b) Credit risk (b) EE R

Credit risk arises from bank balances and cash, time deposits, trade
receivables, contract assets, other receivables and deposit and
finance lease receivables.

Credit risk was managed on a group basis. The Group’s policy is to
deal only with credit worthy counterparties. Credit terms are granted
to new customers after a credit worthiness assessment by the credit
control department. When considered appropriate, customers may
be requested to provide proof as to their financial position. Where
available at reasonable cost, external credit ratings and/or reports
on customers are obtained and used. Customers who are not
considered creditworthy are required to pay in advance or on delivery
of goods. Payment record of customers is closely monitored. It is not
the Group's policy to request collateral from its customers.

To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at
the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial
recognition. It considers available reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information. Especially the following indicators are
incorporated:

internal credit rating;
external credit rating;
actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause a

significant change to the debtors’ ability to meet its obligations;

actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of
the debtors;

significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments
of the same debtors; and

significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour
of the debtors, including changes in the payment status of
debtors and changes in the operating results of the debtors.
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 6. HERAMERRAAREE
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) HE o

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EEEE =)

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring ECL
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables
and contract assets using a provisional matrix.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that receivables with
credit terms are made to counterparties with an appropriate credit
history and management performs ongoing credit evaluations of
the counterparties. The credit period granted to the customers and
the credit quality of these customers are assessed, which takes
into account their financial position, past experience and available
forward-looking information. The management would make periodic
collective and individual assessment on the recoverability of trade
receivables based on historical settlement records, past experience,
current external information and forward-looking information. Other
monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue receivables.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables and contract assets have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past
due. The contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress and have
substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables
for the same types of contracts. The Group has therefore concluded
that the expected loss rates for trade receivables are a reasonable
approximation of the loss rates for the contract assets.

As the Group's historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments,
the loss allowance based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group's different customer bases.

ECL loss rates are based on past actual loss experience. These rates
are adjusted to reflect differences between economic conditions
during the period over which the historic data has been collected,
current conditions and the Group's view of economic conditions over
the expected lives of the receivables.

Trade receivables and contract assets are written off when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the
failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group.

There is no significant concentration of credit risk with respect to
trade receivables as the Group has large number of customers.
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 6. HIERIBERRAAEHE

e =
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) 5E
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) IEE R @)
Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued) BRESHERESHEE (&)
For trade receivables and contract assets, ECL allowance as at 31st RIE_NER_E_=F+"_H=+—
December 2024 and 2023 are as follows: H> BRESHRELREHNEENTERES
ESI8EEmIT ¢
Trade receivables Contract assets
e E R TRIE BHEE
Gross ECL Gross ECL
ECLrate amount allowance ECLrate amount allowance
S e TENAEE S
BEE HE BIERE ESHEE HEE ASiARE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi#Ex Fi#&x F#Ex TF#Ex
At 31st December 2024 R-E-MmE
+=R=+—H
Collective assessment BT
- Current to 1 year past due - BMERERRA—F 0% 191,806 359 0% 338,177 343
- 1-2 years past due - Bf—EmE 37% 1,524 561 - - -
- Over 2 years past due - BHREBBmE 100% 2,291 2,291 - - -
Individual assessment EGIRER 100% 6,970 6,970 100% 504 504
202,591 10,181 338,681 847
Trade receivables Contract assets
ERE ZFIE BHEE
Gross ECL Gross ECL
ECL rate amount allowance  ECL rate amount allowance
TBHREE BREE EHEE TBHEE
[ Spi=E W SRS 518 wEE BEERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET F#ET F#ET
At 31st December 2023 N_B_=F
+—B=+—H
Collective assessment BRI
- Current to 1 year past due - BNEREmAA—F 0% 228,392 440 0% 344,926 343
- 1-2 years past due - B —EWE 26% 1,000 260 = - =
- Over 2 years past due - PEAEIBmE 100% 2,427 2,427 - - -
Individual assessment EGIRER 100% 6,385 6,385 100% 504 504
238,204 9,512 345,430 847
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(c)

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include finance lease
receivables, other receivables and deposits, time deposits and bank
balances and cash.

The Group applies the simplified approach to recognise lifetime ECL
for finance lease receivables that results from transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 16. Based on individual assessment, the
identified impairment loss was immaterial.

For other receivables and deposits, the management makes periodic
collective assessments as well as individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables based on historical settlement
records, past experience and available forward-looking information.
Management believes that the credit risk inherent in the Group's
outstanding other receivable balance is not significant. Besides,
management is of opinion that there is no significant increase in
credit risk on these other receivables and deposits since initial
recognition as the risk of default is low after considering the factors
above.

While time deposits and bank balances and cash are also subject
to the impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the Group only places
deposits in reputable banks and financial institutions, the identified
impairment loss was immaterial.

Liquidity risk

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with
the Board, which has built a liquidity risk management framework
for the management of the Group’s short, medium and long-
term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group
manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves and banking
facilities by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows
and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and financial
liabilities. The Group relies on its operating cash flows as a significant
source of liquidity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR5 M R M

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 6. HERIGEERBRAAEE
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) HE o

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) FeiBME R (&)
The table below shows the Group’s financial liabilities analysing TRAOMAEBRARBESNEIHAZ
into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at B THERARIBANS S22/ E
the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts B RPMEBEZEENETHMEBEZEY
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of REGIRIEME ©

the financial liabilities.

On demand Over 1 year

or but within Carrying
within year 5 years Total amount
ARERY Bia—F
R—FR EREFA Mzt ARMEE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi#Ex Fi#ET F#ET F#ET
At 31st December 2024 W-E-=%+-"RA=+—H
Non-derivative financial FTETEESHMEE
liabilities
Trade payables FET B Z 708 298,705 - 298,705 298,705
Other payables and accruals — HMPERFIEREHE A 179,849 - 179,849 179,849
Bank borrowings (Note) IRIT1EE (M5D) - - - -
Lease liabilities HEEE 6,136 2,552 8,688 8,137
484,690 2,552 487,242 486,691
At 31st December 2023 A B _=F+"FB=+—H
Non-derivative financial FTETESREE
liabilities
Trade payables FET B Z 708 302,821 - 302,821 302,821
Other payables and accruals — EMhfEFIBR Est &R 179,245 = 179,245 179,245
Bank borrowings (Note) RITEE (M) 11,259 = 11,259 11,259
Lease liabilities HEAR 5,709 6,373 12,082 11,158
499,034 6,373 505,407 504,483
Note: BffsE -
Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included in the Mrs i EREBIERNETERELAEEAR
“on demand or within 1 year” time band in the above maturity analysis. As at DA TEBERERFTVN —FEARN I NWEREEE
31st December 2024, the aggregate undiscounted principal amounts of such ANeRTZE_MWME+_"B=+—08 > ZFE7T
bank borrowings amounted to Nil (2023: HK$11,259,000). Taking into account ERNARMIRASEBEAT A T(ZE =4
the Group's financial position, the directors of the Company do not believe that 11,259,00087T) ° EEEIAEBHIMIERR -
it is probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to demand RANTEERERIT AT EER ISR ERENE
immediate repayment. The directors of the Company believe that such bank BN AATESEMEE 0 ZFRTENBIRER
borrowings will be repaid in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates TR EESMEFRHTET B -

set out in the banking facilities.
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table summarises the maturity analysis of bank
borrowings with repayment on demand clause based on agreed
scheduled repayments set out in the banking facilities. The amounts
include interest payment computed using contractual rates.

6. HIFRAIBERRAREE

HFEe
(c) FiEtERPE (@)

TR i B REE RRAIRIT B
RIFIRTTRYE PP EI E RV E TR HARAY E
HIBERDN - ZELRBERAGHOTX
STERF SR o

Over 1 year
but within
Within 1 year 2 years Total
Bis—F
R—FRA BRAEAN “ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET F#ET FET
At 31st December 2024 R-E-mE+-A=+—H
Bank borrowings RITEER - - -
At 31st December 2023 RN_E_=F+"F=+—H
Bank borrowings RITEE 11,390 - 11,390
(d) Fair value measurement (d) AREEHE

Financial instruments and non-financial assets measured at fair value
in the consolidated statement of financial position are categorised
into the three level fair value hierarchies as defined in HKFRS 13, “Fair
Value Measurement”:

Level 1: Fair value measured only using level 1 inputs, i.e.
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement dates.

Level 2: Fair value measured using level 2 inputs, i.e. observable
inputs which fail to meet with Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which
market data are not available.

Level 3: Fair value measured using significant unobservable
inputs for the asset or liability.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR5 M R M

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

(d) Fair value measurement (Continued)

(i) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

6. HIFRABERRAREE

HEw
(d) 2 EBEHE @)

() EHREEREHEBBZIAREE

At 31st December 2024
RIZE-HNE+-"B=+—H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—E BB B=E #act
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TF#T TFi#T TF#T T#xT
Recurring fair value BEEAREENE
measurement
Financial asset at FVOCl RAABESBEMZE
SR ERIE E
Unlisted preferred stock JE EESTR (HI5E23)
(Note 23) - - - -
At 31st December 2023
KRB =F+_"_HB=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E£—E FTE B=E Hast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHBT FHBT
Recurring fair value REHAREESE
measurement
Financial asset at FVOCl EBAAEESBSAEMEE
W FIERE BRI E E
Unlisted preferred stock JE LB (FiEE23)
(Note 23) - - 3,906 3,906

During the year ended 31st December 2024, the unlisted
investee was dissolved as the unlisted investee has not been

able to either secure additional financing or generate sufficient

sales to continue its operations, which was impacted by

macroeconomic environment. The management of the Group
determined that the fair value to be nil as at 31st December
2024, and a fair value loss of HK$3,892,000 on the equity
investment in unlisted preferred stock has been recognised in

other comprehensive income for the year ended 31st December
2024. Upon the issuance of Certificate of Dissolution of the
unlisted investee on 16th December 2024, the Group disposed
of the equity investment in unlisted preferred stock, and the
fair value loss of HK$3,892,000 was transferred from fair value
reserve (non-recycling) to retained earnings.

HE-S-MET-A= + L
R ETBRBARDRKEASEI
é%éi%%ﬁﬁﬁu@@@%’ﬁ
SHRBCHREL SR - £H
EEERRARE-S-MEL A
=t+—B HAREEAT  LRE
E-RME+-AS+RLER
Rz R ERET » Bk L TEs
RIE R T 3,892, 0008 T2 Ast
EEE% - RZF-MET AR
AR ETRBAADRLRKES
% > EEEREZK L HEERER
& 3,802,000 T2 AR EER
KU ARBERKE FIELE) BE
REBEF -
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

(d) Fair value measurement (Continued)

(i) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
(Continued)

The following table gives information about the fair value
determination of the financial asset at FVOCI as at 31st

6. HIFERAIBERRAREE

HE e
(d) AREEE @
() EMEERSMABLAREE ()

TREJEERANBEBEHME
EWmIRZ ERMEEC AREEBEZ

December 2023. B o
Valuation techniques Unobservable input Range
4B % FrIRRBA R EEE
Investment in unlisted Equity value based on Weighted probability rate Weighted probability
preferred stock backsolve method with under qualified Initial Public rate of 20% and 80%,
measured at FVOC]| reference to recent market Offering (“IPO") scenario and respectively under
transaction price allocated to  liquidation scenario® qualified IPO scenario
series A preferred stock and liquidation
scenario*
BARBESEEMEE ENEWEZE 2E0REARR FERERAFEEERKEE SERERAFEEER
W dliRmstE2IF L FIBERMEATSRZE BRI\ N2 FaEBRE N2
MEERKE BEEEE TEEER DRI A520% 5
80%*
Volatility 29.19%
KRR
Risk-free rate 4.09%
vl

*  Qualified IPO scenario represents the circumstances in which the
preferred stock converted to common shares and are available to sell
to the public

An increase/decrease in weighted probability rate used under
liguidation scenario would result in an increase/decrease in fair
value. An increase/decrease in weighted probability rate used
under qualified IPO scenario would result in a decrease/increase
in fair value.

An increase/decrease in volatility would result in a decrease/
increase in fair value. An increase/decrease in risk-free rate
would result in a decrease/increase in fair value.

During the year ended 31st December 2024, there were no
transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 (2023: Nil).

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of other
financial assets and financial liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements approximate their fair values.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR5 M R M

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 6. BRI ERBRANEE

e =
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continueq) STE )
(d) Fair value measurement (Continued) (d) 2R EEHFTE @
(i) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities (i) EHEERZTHMEBZIAABE(B)
(Continued)
The reconciliation of the carrying amounts of the Group's RARBEBREZERNDENRE
financial assets classified within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy EEmMBEERMEHROT :
is as follow:
Investment
in unlisted
preferred stock
measured
at FVOCI
BAREE
EREMS
EUEETIRZ
THEE
HK$'000
FHET
At 1st January 2023 RZIZZ=F—HA—H 3,899
Exchange realignment PE R sREE 7
At 31st December 2023 and 1st January 2024 R =smr T H = —E R
—E_mME—F—H 3,906
Fair value loss recognised in other comprehensive income  REfhEEURGZE TR Z
RREEBEER (3,892)
Exchange realignment PE R A (14)
At 31st December 2024 RIE2-WHFE+—"A=+—8H -
The fair value loss on investment in unlisted preferred stock BANBEESAEMEEW SR
measured at FVOCI is recognised in other comprehensive income RETEBERERE  HAREEE
and included under “Fair value reserve (non-recycling)". KRN EMEERGT » LEE

EAREERHEE CFREDLE) F o
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 6.
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

(d) Fair value measurement (Continued)
(ii) Fair value of non-financial assets

The following table presents the Group's properties measured at
fair value on a recurring basis categorised into the three level fair

MBERMEERAAREE

HFEe
(d) AREEE @
(i) HEHEERREE

TREVNAEBMBEBEEENAR
BEFEZYE > BERAAEBEN

value hierarchies: =EER:
At 31st December 2024
R-E_mNE+-A=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—E BB BB Hgt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ET F#ET S F#Ex
Recurring fair value BEMHAREBENE
measurement
Investment properties (Note 20) & &4 (Ki:£20) - - 48,500 48,500
Land and buildings (Note 19) i R&iEF (Kz£19) - - 296,137 296,137
- - 344,637 344,637
At 31st December 2023
RA—B_=F+_A=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ ==l A= 485t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHET TR TERT
Recurring fair value BEMANBENE
measurement
Investment properties (Note 20) &2 (Fif5£20) - - 50,800 50,800
Land and buildings (Note 19) L& (Hi5E19) = = 311,470 311,470
= = 362,270 362,270

The Group's investment properties and land and buildings were
stated at valuations made at 31st December 2024 and 2023
by an independent professional valuer at market value basis
which is determined by reference to market evidence of recent
transactions for similar properties.

The Group’'s management reviews the valuation performed by
the independent valuer for the financial reporting purposes.
Discussion of valuation processes and results are held at least
once every year, which is in line with the Group's annual reporting
date.

Annual Report 2024 %

AEBZEEMER LT HREFT
BR_E_NE_E_=F+_8
=+t HHEBIYEXGHEMSETHS
FEEYEIER 2 EEE &7
BYERARSHEREEETEGR
FlIAR o

REHEEE BB B ERMET
ZEENUEHBRRALR o (GEBIZ
ZHmRERR DN GEET R
BAERZ FEHRA—H -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR5 M R M

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 6. HERAMRERRAAREE
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) HE o

(d) Fair value measurement (Continued) (d) 2R EEHTE @
(ii) Fair value of non-financial assets (Continued) (ii) FEMEEIAEE ()
The valuation technique and significant unobservable inputs of SEMER T RIEFAAEENG
the fair value of investment properties and land and buildings are BEAFNREENABRZHAZREOT
as follows:
Valuation techniques Unobservable input Range
f&fES TR ERBEA R SRR
Investment properties Market comparison approach Discount on quality of the buildings 6% to 12%
- Hong Kong (2023: 9% to 12%)
REE-BE miGLEEE BFEEITE 6% = 12%

(ZEBZ=F: 9%E12%)

Land and buildings Market comparison approach Discount on quality of the buildings 6% to 12%
- Hong Kong (2023: 9% to 12%)
TMRIRF-BE MG LEBA BFEENE 6% = 12%

(ZBZ=F . 9%ZE12%)

Land and buildings Market comparison approach Premium on quality of the buildings 0%
- The PRC (2023: 1%)
TR AR F-HE MIELEBA BFEERE 0%

(ZBEZ=F:1%)

The fair value of investment properties and land and buildings IR BEBRPREZIEEYHE R TR
located in Hong Kong and the PRC are determined using market BFEZARNBEDERATSLEEES
comparison approach by reference to recent sales price of ZNHAEREOTERMEGSTERR
comparable properties on a price per square foot basis, adjusted ZHHEBRMEE & WALy
for a discount specific to the quality and floor of the Group's HEFHAR - MEEENRSH
buildings compared to the recent sales of similar properties. i I EHNRENARNBESE -

Higher discount on quality of the buildings will result in a lower
fair value measurement.
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

(d) Fair value measurement (Continued)

(ii) Fair value of non-financial assets (Continued)

The reconciliation of the carrying amounts of the Group’s
investment properties and land and buildings classified within
level 3 of the fair value hierarchy is as follows:

6.

MBERMEERAAREE

HFEe
(d) AREEE @
(i) HEHEERREE(E)

RRARBEEBRE=BADENEE
BB E R T RETFIREER R
o

Investment Land and

properties buildings Total

BEME T RIEF et

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET T FHT

At 1st January 2023 AT =F—HF—H 52,000 319075 371,075

Depreciation charge e = (11,724) (11,724)

Fair value loss NRBEEEE (1,200) = (1,200)

Exchange realignment FE AR = (897) (897)

Revaluation surplus = ([H&ER - 5,016 5,016
At 31st December 2023 and B-E-=F+=-R=+—H

1st January 2024 R-_E-_ME—H—H 50,800 311,470 362,270

Depreciation charge e - (12,932) (12,932)

Fair value loss NAEEEE (2,300) - (2,300)

Exchange realignment FE % - (1,531) (1,531)

Revaluation loss = 18 - (870) (870)

At 31st December 2024 Mm-ZE-_mE+=-HA=+—H 48,500 296,137 344,637

Fair value loss of investment properties is recognised under

line item “fair value loss on investment properties” in the

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Revaluation (loss)/surplus of land and buildings are recognised

under line item “revaluation (loss)/surplus of land and buildings”

in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and

included under “property revaluation reserve”.

During the year ended 31st December 2024, there were no
transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 (2023: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR5 M R M

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

7. WA RS BER

The Group's revenue is analysed as follows: AEENBRAZTAT !
2024 2023
—E-E ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Sales of goods HEG M 1,109,716 1,179,728
Revenue from service contracts RERBEHZIA 1,263,260 1,180,697
2,372,976 2,360,425

The executive directors have been identified as the chief operating
decision maker. The executive directors have reviewed the Group's
internal reporting in order to assess the performance and allocate
resources. The executive directors have determined the operating
segments based on the Group's internal reporting.

The Group is currently organised into two (2023: two) operating divisions
- Information Technology Products (“IT Products”) and Information
Technology Services (“IT Services"). These divisions are the basis on which
the Group reports its primary segment information to the chief operating
decision maker. The business nature of each segment is disclosed as
follows:

IT Products

Being the business of information technology in supplying of information
technology and associated products.

IT Services

Being the business of information technology in providing systems
integration, software and consulting services, engineering support for
products and solutions and managed services.

HWITEFEREIRTBREREKE - PTE
FEERAEMA PR ERUETHEE R DEC
HR - WITEFRBEAEEZ B EREEL

EHE -

NEBBRME(CZR-=F : mfE) L= 2948
- BAREER(TEAREER]) REH
R AR (TEAREERESL) o FEPIRAE
BEEREFENFIERNTFTEEEERLEZE
o ZEAWBZ XK MEBERBINT !

BB KRER

B EERR R EmRERER BB RE
})% o

BB IR TS

B R R ~ MM MEERIIRTS ~ EmxE
RBFEZ T2 EMEERB 2 B ESS ©
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47 5 M35 R R M 5E

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

(Continued)

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's revenue and results by reportable segments for the year are

presented below:

Year ended 31st December 2024

7. WA RS EBER

ol

ZEXBZOBERZIWT ¢

B#E_T_MOF+-A=+—HILEE

IT Products IT Services Total

BRRESR  EARSRE st

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

F#ET F#ERT F#ET

Revenue from external customers REIMNEEZ R Z WA 1,109,716 1,263,260 2,372,976

Intersegment revenue D EBE WA 1,557 16,741 18,298

Segment revenue DEBUA 1,111,273 1,280,001 2,391,274

Reportable segment profit AR E 7 B0 m A 102,583 38,021 140,604

Segment depreciation DEBHTEE 3,473 13,411 16,884
Additions to property, NEYE ~ BRERRES

plant and equipment * 19 6,152 6,171

*  Additions to property, plant and equipment of HK$6,647,000 were related to

unallocated assets.

Year ended 31st December 2023

¥ OBERRDEBEEZAEYE S BERRES
6,647,000787T °

BHE_Z_=+_A=+—HIEE

IT Products IT Services Total

BT ER SRR 485t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET THET FHT

Revenue from external customers REIEZR ZA 1,179,728 1,180,697 2,360,425

Intersegment revenue SEREUA 1,765 27,973 29,738

Segment revenue DEBWA 1,181,493 1,208,670 2,390,163

Reportable segment profit EE:S=par il 98,702 46,720 145,422

Segment depreciation DERHTEE 3,385 13,792 17,177
Additions to property, REBYXE  BERRES

plant and equipment * 28 3,091 3,119

*  Additions to property, plant and equipment of HK$15,727,000 were related to Y BERRIEBSEZRABYE  BERZRES

unallocated assets.
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AR5 M R M

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. I AARZEEF @«

(Continued)

The Group's assets and liabilities by reportable segments as at reporting AEBRBRAZUREDHB D2 EEHLS
dates are presented below: BEEFWMTF :

As at 31st December 2024 H-EZME+=-A=+—H

IT Products IT Services Total

HiERESR  EMEHRERS “act

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

F#T F#T TF#T

Reportable segment assets AHREDEPEE 530,236 413,996 944,232

Reportable segment liabilities AR EN AR 382,402 307,695 690,097
As at 31st December 2023 N_ZE_=F+"HA=+—H

IT Products IT Services Total

EREER  ERRRRE AR5t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FET FHET

Reportable segment assets AR EDBEE 506,343 395,947 902,290

Reportable segment liabilities ARENMEE 344,080 263,683 607,763

(a) Segment accounting policies

(a) D EPEEHELR

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as
the Group's accounting policies described in Note 3(c). Performance
is measured based on segment profit that is used by the chief
operating decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance. Income tax expense is not
allocated to reportable segments.

The revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities of the Group are
allocated based on the operations of the segments.

Reportable segment profit is profit before income tax, excluding
unallocated other income, unallocated other gain, net, share of
results of associates, unallocated depreciation for property, plant
and equipment that are used for all segments, fair value loss on
investment properties, finance costs and unallocated corporate
expenses (mainly include staff costs and other general administrative
expenses) of the head office.

FIER & D BB PR AR Y & 5t BURTS B 5 3()
PRt A =BG S BRER - RIBDHRE

EREARERNDEERKTED B
REMDMENAE - FIERASITED

RERREDE o

REMBEA ~ B BEREEDED
ERRYZE B R EE DL ©

FIER & 0 BV A BERFTEIRANET - T
BERDEREMUA ~ KD HMFUR
i~ FEEEE AR EE ~ INFTA D B E A
ZME S BMERREBEZRDEHE « KE
MEZ RARBEBIR - BHERAREHNHE
BRZARDEABMZ (EE2EEE TRAER
Hith—ARITHER) °
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47 5 M35 R R M 5E

For the year ended 31st December 2024 §E_—Z _E+_F=+—HILFE
7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WA B EFEl «
(Continued)

(a) Segment accounting policies (Continued)

(a) S EPEEHELSR

Reportable segment assets exclude interests in associates, deferred
income tax assets, tax recoverable, time deposits, bank balances
and cash and unallocated corporate assets (mainly include property,
plant and equipment and investment properties that are used by all
segments, prepayments, deposits, other receivables and financial
asset at FVOCI).

Reportable segment liabilities exclude current income tax liabilities,
deferred income tax liabilities and unallocated corporate liabilities,
which mainly include lease liabilities, accrued charges of the head
office and bank borrowings.

A EDENEENBEBHE AT Eam
BIEFRSMEE ~ AIRERIE - ERF
o RITERRRERADEARNEE (E
BOEMBDEERZYE « BERRH
URkBEME ~ BARIE ~ e« HME
WRIER AR BEBBHMEZE WD
RNESRBEE) °

ARENMBHEBRTBENAMFIIRE
B IEEFSIRBERARDERAR AR (X
ZOEHESE  BRFRZRAERAK
RITIEE) o

(b) Reconciliation of the reportable segment revenue,
profit or loss, assets and liabilities

(b) THEZ DA ~ i - BE
EaErHER

FISEZDEIRA ~ B - BERERHR
FEBZ FERBEERBEEHERNT

Reportable segment revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities are
reconciled to results and total assets and total liabilities of the Group

as follows:

2024 2023
—E-NE T =F
HK$'000 HK$'000
Revenue A F#ERT FHET
Reportable segment revenue AIERE D EUA 2,391,274 2,390,163
Elimination of intersegment revenue HisE 3 ER R WA (18,298) (29,738)

Revenue per consolidated statement of AR BB AT
profit or loss 2,372,976 2,360,425

Intersegment revenue is charged at cost plus a percentage of profit 3 3B WA 32 Bk A A0 Al A1 URER o

mark-up.
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. I AARZEEF @«

(Continued)
(b) Reconciliation of the reportable segment revenue, (b) AR BFZDEBUWIA ~ B~ BE
profit or loss, assets and liabilities (Continued) Raf@nHEk @
2024 2023
ZE-ME TET=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
Profit or loss Eih FHET FHET
Reportable segment profit AR E D EBiE A 140,604 145,422
Unallocated amounts: ROBCRIA :
Unallocated other income ROEEMUA 27,516 13,813
Unallocated other gain, net ROECHEMFE WS 60,526 59,713
Fair value loss on investment properties REMEZ R BERIR (2,300) (1,200)
Unallocated depreciation ROBCHTE (9.609) (8,344)
Share of results of associates FELEHE A B 2EE 3,918 (1,685)
Finance costs BAFE R AR (1,162) (2,563)
Unallocated corporate expenses RO ABX (51,406) (56,242)
Profit before income tax per consolidated RERGIBmRYIER
statement of profit or loss FRPT1SAR BT A 168,087 148,914
2024 2023
ZE-MmE TEI=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
Assets BE F#T FHET
Reportable segment assets AREDHEE 944,232 902,290
Unallocated assets: ROELEE :
Interests in associates P& A B 1,219,206 1,258,056
Deferred income tax assets RIEFRISIEE 127 781
Tax recoverable B EIRIE 2,140 3044l
Time deposits TEHATFRR 415,306 287,218
Bank balances and cash IRITERRIRE 299,087 252,401
Unallocated corporate assets RABECABIEE 396,323 407,104
Total assets per consolidated statement of PR &SRR RS R
financial position BERT 3,276,421 3,110,894
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. I MARZEEH @«

i

(Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of the reportable segment revenue, (b) TEHREZFEUYA - B - BE
profit or loss, assets and liabilities (Continued) RBf@nHEk @
2024 2023
—TmE =&
HK$'000 HK$'000
Liabilities &aff FET FEx
Reportable segment liabilities AERENHMEE 690,097 607,763
Unallocated liabilities: RKoOkCEE :
Current income tax liabilities BIEAFRISIRBE 5,177 5,331
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEFTIS I EE 163,077 170,229
Unallocated corporate liabilities b AN w/N=TN =i 141,162 150,255
Total liabilities per consolidated statement of PR & SRR RS R
financial position =NERGES 999,513 933,578
The following table sets out information about the geographical TREHIBREATEBEEIIBEL Z WA
segment location of the Group's revenue from external customers KRIEREEE (ST ARELEFRSREE
and its non-current assets (other than financial instruments and FRIN) 2 @B DS c ERZHEUETD
deferred income tax assets). The geographical location of customers ERmERERBNE LG 2T ©
is based on the location at which the services were provided or the NERFRPEEZHEMUEMS » ¥
goods were delivered. The geographical location of the specified non- X HERSEBREEMEDREZEE
current assets is based on the physical location of the asset in the ZEBYZFRTE ~ B E E MR RIEA
case of property, plant and equipment and investment properties, the IEEW D ACES 2 Tt ~ MEE R B~
location of the operations to which they are allocated in the case of m AT HEFSPRTEM] ©

intangible assets and prepayments, and the location of operations in
the case of interests in associates.
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. I AARZEEF @«

(Continued)
(b) Reconciliation of the reportable segment revenue, (b) TEREZDEUA « s - B E
profit or loss, assets and liabilities (Continued) RaFErHER @)
Revenue from external Specific non-current
customers assets
Place of domicile FRiEH REMBEEZIRA HHEERBEE
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZECNE Do =fF ZEI@E T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET TFHET FET
Hong Kong a8 2,222,428 2,232,844 326,839 333,437
The United States (the “US") ESE| - - 1,189,036 1,232,932
Singapore H N - = 30,170 25,124
Mainland China FRER Pt 5,765 7,258 50,671 53,902
Macau P 56,661 56,202 767 1,816
Thailand EE 65,608 50,363 642 973
Taiwan =y 22,514 13,758 510 70
2,372,976 2,360,425 1,598,635 1,648,254
Information about major customers ETEEFREH
The Group has no revenue from single customer contributed over HE_E_WNE+_B=+—HLEE >
10% of the Group's revenue during the year ended 31st December KEMEBEFNRZREBEAER UK
2024. ABI10% ©
The Group has one customer with whom transaction exceeded 10% B EC T = == (EIeEE ¢
of the Group's revenue amounted to approximately HK$295,481,000 FEBE—UZFNRZEBBHNER
during the year ended 31st December 2023. The revenue attributable FEHBUWABI10%EE8A % 295,481,000 %5
to IT Products segment and IT Services segment amounted to ToBE_R_=—F+_A=+—HLF
approximately HK$133,757,000 and HK$161,724,000 respectively B> BEREARKERS S RENR R
during the year ended 31st December 2023. AR5 72 B B9 W A 3 Bl 49 %5 133,757,000 7%

T’ 161,724,000 7T ©
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WA B EFEl «

(Continued)

(c) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with (c) REERESHZHWADE
customers
The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and services REENR—BEHNE—FEMEBEER
over time and at a point in time, details of the Group's timing of HRBUTERA » KEBHE—ZS M
revenue recognition during the years ended 2024 and 2023 were as FRZEZ=F+"“HA=1+—HIEFEZ
follows: WA RESBEREIN T ©
2024 2023
—EME TR
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi#ET FET
Timing of revenue recognition U A TR BFRG
At a point in time R 1,314,513 1,362,195
Over time —F F 1,058,463 998,230
Revenue from external customers REIIEER ZIA 2,372,976 2,360,425
Revenue relates to performance obligation that are unsatisfied as RIZEZMFE+"A=+—H " R=HE
at 31st December 2024 amounted to HK$1,649,772,000 (2023: HETZWAA1,649,772,0008 7T (ZF
HK$1,508,621,000) are expected to be recognised within one to five Z =% 1:1,508,621,000%87t) It TR —
years. FEHERFES ©
2024 2023
—EME TR
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi#ExT FHET
Interest on bank deposits IRITERAE 22,759 10,736
Rental income from investment properties (Note 20) RBE&REYEZFAEWA (Hi5E20) 2,112 2,836
Others HAth 3,508 2,164
28,379 15,736
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

9. OTHER GAIN, NET 9. HthF Uz
2024 2023
—ZTTWE T
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FHET
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  HEY¥ « MEKRRFEZEHE (27) 3)
Exchange loss, net EREEZFE (707) (1,319)
Net gain on disposal of interests in associates HEBS A B R 2 B WS 14,199 668
Net gain on deemed disposal of partial interest in RIEHE—RBEARBOER
an associate (Note 22) FEs (MisE22) 47,107 60,394
Others HAth (46) (27)
60,526 59,713
10.FINANCE INCOME 10.BAFZURA
Finance income represents accretion of discount recognised upon initial AW AIST S IRENA N EERDEREE
recognition of finance lease receivables to their fair values. B IEE RN o
11.FINANCE COSTS M. B FER A
2024 2023
ZEME —EC—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FHET
Finance charges on lease liabilities HEaBEZMEER 683 356
Interest on bank borrowings RITEEFE 479 2,207
1,162 2,563
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EEMBEHRRMEE
For the year ended 31st December 2024 §E_—Z _E+_F=+—HILFE
12.PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 12.BRPFR 1SR A1 EF
2024 2023
—E-WE —ZT=HF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FiT S

Profit before income tax is arrived at after charging/  B&RFRISIRATEFI LM, (Bt A)

(crediting): THIRIE :
Auditors’ remuneration: TZEREMBN &
Audit services ZEARTS
- Current year - REE 2,282 2,167
— (Over)/Under-provision in respect of prior year - BEFE (BRERE) BETRE (54) 50
Non-audit services FERZBIARTS 1,092 1,082
Depreciation: HrEE
- Property, plant and equipment - owned assets - BERRE - BEEE
(Note 19) (MF%19) 20,072 18,339
- Property, plant and equipment - right-of-use assets - #J% - R & H M - CRELE
(Note 19) (PFfF=£19) 6,421 7,182
Lease charges: HEMRE :
- Short term leases - 2HATE 471 730
ECL allowance of trade receivables (Note 26) fEURE ZRE B AE E RS IE 5 E
(FE26) 669 489
Reversal of ECL allowance of trade receivables [EURE ZFBE TEHAE E R IE 5 E
(Note 26) #2[a] (FisE26) - (92)
Provision for/(Reversal of provision for) obsolete BREFERE (BEERE)FE
inventories, net 38 (3)
Write off of inventories EFEMEHE 37 79
13.EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES BEEEFEXZ (FAEIEESR
(EXCLUDING DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS) )
2024 2023
T ME TERC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FHBT
Salaries and other benefits e R H AR T 600,752 564,604
Performance related incentive bonus RIDA R Z SRENTEAL 74,143 76,478
Retirement benefit costs (Note (a)) ROREFFTEMERR (HF5E(a)) 20,983 24,957
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses DGR 2 B SZ (9 2 BT 115 1
695,993 666,050
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

13.EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES BEEEFEXZ(FEEES
(EXCLUDING DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS) A=)

(Continued)

Note: BRHEE
(@) During the years ended 31st December 2024 and 2023, there were no (@) BE_EZ_NE&E+_A=+—BN-T_=
contributions forfeited by the Group on behalf of its employees who left +ZB=+—HILEE  AERRERARERES
the plan prior to vesting fully in such contribution, nor had there been any 5N Z R AR St B MR B IR W
utilisation of such forfeited contributions to reduce future contributions. As at 85 5 8 &% 5 8 W TR B D R IRERR 72
31st December 2024 and 2023, no forfeited contributions were available for —EINF+ZA=+—HMZZEZ=F+=AH
utilisation by the Group to reduce the existing level of contribution. =+—8  AEEEQUE AT A UEEIR
BERKF o
14.DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 14E5E
Directors’ emoluments, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section RiE_EHARA ~ HECRBMEREI) 55383(1)1& X
383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the RAAB (HBEEMmER) 5R6I) B2HMER
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) =TS
Regulation, is as follows:
2024 2023
—T-mE ==
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#T FHT
Fees WwE 556 550
Other emoluments: HEE :
Salaries and other benefits e K A A2 F 5,392 4,700
Performance related incentive bonus RINA R Z SZENEAL 7,937 7,289
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RAR@FEEIHER 18 18
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses ARG R 2B SE 2 fAs% 56 =
13,959 12,557
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

14.DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors were as follows:

14.EEME

FRBENHECSMUESZMEMT !

Year ended 31st December 2024
HE-E-ME+-A=1-HLEE

Performance Equity-settled
related Retirement  share-based
Salaries and incentive benefit scheme payment
Fees other benefits bonus (Notea)  contributions expenses Total
HER RAAMZ BHREH  MURMAER
Name of director ESEh g Hittgs) RETEA (Hika) R %t ZE% a5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tén TFén Tin Tin Tén Térn
Executive directors BiTES
Wang Weihang (Chairman) ThR(ER) - 2,000 1,180 - 12 3,192
Wang Yueou (Chief Executive Officer) TBE (THAR) - 3,392 6,757 18 21 10,188
Non-executive director FaTEE
Zhang Bingxia (Note (c) RRE (M) 55 - - - 8 63
Independent non-executive directors FIFHTES
Pan Xinrong BN 167 - - - 5 172
Deng Jianxin i 200 - - - 5 205
Or Siu Ching Rerina fiNE 134 - - - 5 139
556 5,392 7,937 18 56 13,959
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

14.DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued) UESME »

Year ended 31st December 2023
BE B -E+ A-+-HILEE

Equity-settled
Performance Retirement share-based
Salariesand  related incentive  benefit scheme payment
Fees  otherbenefits  bonus (Note a) contributions expenses Total
HER KRAWZ BIMEN  URGDAER
Name of director EEEE ik EfER]  SRETEA (xta) sl xfiZB% A
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER TER TER TAR TEm
Executive directors YES
Wang Weihang (Chairman) ThR(ER) - 2,000 1115 - - 3115
Wang Yueou (Chief Executive Officer) TBE (THAR) - 2,700 6,174 18 - 8,892
Non-executive directors FafTES
Cul Yong (Note (b)) EE (IzHD) 2 - - - - )
Zhang Bingia (Note (c) RRE (Ha(0) 3 - - - 3 3
Independent non-executive directors FIFHTES
Pan Xinrong BN 167 - - - - 167
Deng Jianxin i 200 - - - - 200
Or Siu Ching Rerina g 128 - - - - 128
550 4,700 7,289 18 - 12,557
Notes: FsE ©
(@) The performance related incentive bonus are determined as a percentage of (@) FIEABEZHEEICALIEAEBFEERFEE
profit for the year of the Group.
(b) Mr. Cui Yong resigned as a non-executive director of the Company with effect (b) BEBELEENR-ZS-=FHA_+NHEEERAT
from 24th May 2023. ZIEHITEE o
(c) Ms. Zhang Bingxia was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company (0 BEEXITWR - E-=FRA-+NHESEA
with effect from 24th May 2023. AT ZIEHTES -
During the year ended 31st December 2024, no remuneration has been BE_E_NE+_—_BA=+—HILEE » K&
paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join or upon Bl EAGEESMANERMSZ N ZME > I
joining the Group and no directors have waived any remuneration (2023: BEEENETAMNES (CE_=F : &) o
Nil).
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 §E_—Z _E+_F=+—HILFE

15.FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS B.EERREWZES
EMOLUMENTS
The five highest paid individuals in the Group for the year included one FRAGREHZEESE—R(CTI=F.

—R)EE > KREZMEFBEEN EXMEE141R
B FRNHBAES(CE=F | OR) 28RS

(2023: one) director, details of whose emoluments are set out in Note 14
above. The emoluments of the remaining four (2023: four) highest paid

individuals for the year were as follows: HFEEZMEFBRUT
2024 2023
—TmE B
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ExT FET
Salaries and other benefits e REMEF 4,914 5,304
Performance related incentive bonus RIAH R IRENTEAL 23,754 20,869
Retirement benefit scheme contributions BRIRER SRR 202 202
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses UM AERSZ M2 48 -
28,918 26,375

Their emoluments were within the following bands: BEZMEN T TIIEHE !

Number of individuals

BAY

2024 2023

—ElmE S

HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 5,500,0017#75%26,000,000#7T - 2
HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 6,000,0017#75%E6,500,000#7T - 1
HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 6,000,0017#75%E6,500,000# 7T 1 =
HK$7,000,001 to HK$7,500,000 7,000,001#7t27,500,000# 7T 2 =
HK$7,500,001 to HK$8,000,000 7,500,001#7528,000,000#7T 1 =

HK$8,000,001 to HK$8,500,000

8,000,001 528,500,000 7T
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

16.INCOME TAX EXPENSE 16.FR1S IR A2

2024 2023
—E-mE TEI=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ERT FHET
Current taxation: BIHEATRIA :
Hong Kong profits tax (Note (i) EHEMER (MIEEO)) 13,155 13,866
Overseas taxation (Note (ii)) EINRIE (B EE(iN) 5,182 2,557
(Over)/Under-provision in respect of prior years: BREE (BEREE) BETE
Hong Kong profits tax EENEF (677) 85
Overseas taxation BIMRIE 6 884
17,666 17,392
Deferred taxation (Note 36): EIERRTE (M95E36) !
Current year KEE 1,099 203
Income tax expense P8 18,765 17,595
Notes: FsE
(i) Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits (i) BENREFERVEXFE > SEREERBEN
of qualifying entities will be taxed at 8.25%, and the profits above HK$2 million B2H 8 BTaMR8.25% i 0 MBiE2E &
will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of entities not qualifying for the two-tiered BT EFIBIZEIZ16.5%ER o R & M AR A
profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at 16.5%. For the years ended BRREGENERBREEEZ16.5%0NEE
31st December 2024 and 2023, Hong Kong profits tax of a subsidiary of the MEFR BE_S_NER_ZT_=F+"A4
Company is calculated in accordance with the two-tiered profits tax rates =+—BHLFE > ARAZ—RWBABEZEH
regime. ISR ERBEMAHIFFRMEGIEHH o
(i)  Taxation on overseas profit has been calculated on the assessable profit for (i) BINBARBELRAEBEEMERRZIRITHR
the year at the rates of taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group LR FENERAF T o
operates.
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

16.INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 16.FRISMBIZ )
The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the REERFAERANRN 2 RIBERKBBERAR S
theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average tax rate HER G 2 NEFIIREEBHZEREE
applicable to profits of the consolidated entities as follows: EEINT
2024 2023
—TomE —TT=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#T FHE7T
Profit before income tax BRPTISAR AT & A 168,087 148,914
Tax at Hong Kong profits tax rate of 16.5% BEBFEMNINZE16.5% stH2MIE
(2023: 16.5%) (ZEBEZ=%F :16.5%) 27,734 24,571
Tax effects of: MBETE
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose ERFAEAINRZ 2 H 4,459 4,307
Income not taxable for tax purpose TEMFEH B ERR 2 WA (13,570) (11,312
Effect of different tax rates of overseas operations BN EBFIEN > FRIME 2 £ 883 622
Effect of temporary differences not recognised REDBHRERXZE 290 -
Effect of two-tiered profits tax rate regime MBI EIRIRTEE 2 E (165) (165)
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised BRLRIRER 2 RIEE 8 (111) (818)
(Over)/Under-provision in prior years BEFE (BEREE) 1EERE (671) 969
Others HAth (84) (579)
Income tax expense PSR 18,765 17,595
The weighted average applicable tax rate was 11.2% (2023: 11.8%). MEFHBEAREA12(ZE =
11.8%) o
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o 2
FaMBHRRME
For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE
17.DIVIDENDS 17.822
2024 2023
—ZTTWE T
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FHET
Dividend approved and paid: HERZARIKRE :
Final dividend in respect of the year ended BHETE_=F+"FB=+—HLt
31st December 2023 of 3.0 HK cents FEZRAKREASE3.0EW
(2023: in respect of the year ended (B =F HE_ZT_—
31st December 2022 +B=+—HIFES
of 3.0 HK cents) per share F/R3.081L) 25,011 25,011
Dividends proposed: BURRE S
Final dividend in respect of the year ended BHE_ZE_NF+_RA=+—HLt
31st December 2024 of 3.0 HK cents FEZRAREASE3.0HW
(2023: in respect of the year ended BT CHEIZT=F
31st December 2023 +ZB=+—BIFEA
of 3.0 HK cents) per share FRE3.084L) (i) 25,011 25,011

BEEEZABMKNBE_Z _ME+_A
=+—HLEFESK30BZARBAREW Lt
RENEIRETZRREFAGERFIEAE -

The Directors have resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31st December 2024 of 3.0 HK cents
per share subject to the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

18.EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to
equity holders of the Company is based on the following data:

BEXBRFFHFEARGLS
igeskdl

FRBREFAANEBLESRERR#ERFTS
BTIHIEEE

188

2024 2023
—EEF —BC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#T FAT
Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company FRUFESREARBERF 2
for basic and diluted earnings per share KRB RATTE AES R 149,322 131,319
Number of shares
RIS E
2024 2023
—E-mE -
‘000 ‘000
TFh& Th
Weighted average number of ordinary shares AU ESREARN 2 ZiBK
for basic earnings per share (Note (i) IOREF 988 (MTEE()) 833,696 833,696
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares B e E B BR s E
- Share awards (Note (ii)) - B&AD 52D (B 5E(iN) 353 -
- Share options (Note (ii) - FERGHE (i) - =
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for BLUGTEEREERA 2 T Bk
diluted earnings per share INREF 981 834,049 833,696
2024 2023
“ZTTHE .
HK cents HK cents
=4 (1 AL
Earnings per share FREF
- Basic - B R 17.91 15.75
- Diluted - #58 17.90 15.75
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ra B RRMEE
For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

18.EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 1. AFIRTIFEAERLE
TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY BREF )

(Continued)

Notes: BT <
(i) The 833,696,000 (2023: 833,696,000) ordinary shares are derived from the () Ei@AL833,696, 000 KENBE_S_NFRK
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during year ended 31st TEC =+ A=+—HILFERBBEETY
December 2024. BRI T8 o
(i)  The calculation of the diluted earnings per share for the year ended (i) HEZ-_NFE+_B=+—HIEFEZERKE
31st December 2024: SERANEE !
has taken into account the issuance of share awards of the Company - BEERRBEZSZINERMIERNFEIET
under the 2024 Share Award Scheme; KA BIRADEEED ;
has not taken into account the exercise of the share options of the R EEREBELEITIN -t FEREST
Company granted under the 2017 Share Option Scheme (Amended) and BIREHNABBERENTE  UREEER
the effect of the dilutive instruments issued by the Group's associates as HMEABETZNERBERNTANR
they are considered as anti-dilutive. 2> RAAEMERAEERIEEER -
The calculation of the diluted earnings per share for the year ended HE_S—Ft+_HA=t+—HIEEZSKE#
31st December 2023 has not taken into account the exercise of the share ERANTLBRAAT S - FREZERER
options of the Company granted in under the 2017 Share Option Scheme and BT BURBEAEERESARETZAE
the effect of the dilutive instruments issued by the Group's associates as they BIERNTIAERE  AACHRRAEARIES
are considered as anti-dilutive. fEF °
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

19.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19.40% -« BB R

Computer
Land and Furniture and Motor and office  Right-of-use
buildings fixtures vehicles  equipment assets Total
Bk
THRET  HARRE AE BAERE  EREEE 3
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAT TAT TER TEr S TET

At 1st January 2023 K-FE-=%-B—H
Cost or valuation AT EHE 319,075 30,191 1,746 129,045 37,052 517,109
Accumulated depreciation BEHFE - (27,457) (1,746) (120,453) (27,702) (177,352)
Net book amount REEE 319,075 2,740 - 8,592 9,350 339,757
Year ended 31st HE_E-=HE
December 2023 +ZB=+—HLEE
Opening net book amount HRAEREFME 319,075 2,740 - 8,592 9,350 339,757
Additions hE - 5194 1,000 3,768 67 10,029
Reassessment of lease term B ENHER - - - - 6,325 6,325
Lease modification HEBN - - - - 2,492 2,492
Disposals HE - (49) = @) - (56)
Depreciation e (11,724) (1,364) (33) (5218) (7,182) (25,521)
Exchange realignment BRI (897) 19 - (20) (96) (994)
Revaluation surplus BB 5016 - - - - 5016
Closing net book amount HRAREFE 311,470 6,540 967 7,115 10,956 337,048
At 31st December 2023 RZEZ=
+=-B=+-H

Cost or valuation A EE 311,470 34,592 1,548 130,376 45,650 523,636
Accumulated depreciation RETE - (28,052) (581) (123,267) (34,694) (186,588)
Net book amount REFE 311,470 6,540 967 7,115 10,956 337,048
Comprising: 2k
At cost [HEN - 34,592 1,548 130,376 45,650 212,166
At valuation &iE 311,470 - - - - 311,470

311,470 34,592 1,548 130,376 45,650 523,636
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

19.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19.49% « BERSHE =

(Continued)

Computer
Land and Furniture and Motor and office  Right-of-use
buildings fixtures vehicles  equipment assets Total
Bk
TiRIEF FRREE pat: WAZRME EREEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FiERT TR TERT TERT FERT
At 1st January 2024 RZZ2-_MF—A—-H
Cost or valuation MAEE 311,470 34,592 1,548 130,376 45,650 523,636
Accumulated depreciation RetiE - (28,052) (581) (123,261) (34,694) (186,588)
Net book amount REFE 311,470 6,540 967 7,115 10,956 337,048
Year ended 31st HE-ZT-MEF
December 2024 +ZB=1+—-HLEE
Opening net book amount HBRmEE 311,470 6,540 967 7,115 10,956 337,048
Additions NE - 1,332 175 7,968 714 10,189
Reassessment of lease term BN ENHEER - - - - 2,629 2,629
Disposals HE - (14) - (13) - (27
Depreciation InE (12,932) (1,527) (215) (5,398) (6,421) (26,493)
Exchange realignment ERAE (1,531) (147) - (77) (83) (1,838)
Revaluation loss B8 (870) - - - - (870)
Closing net book amount HARARERE 296,137 6,184 927 9,595 7,795 320,638
At 31st December 2024 R-E-ME
+-A=+—-H
Cost or valuation AT HE 296,137 35,430 1,605 136,395 48,678 518,245
Accumulated depreciation REHE - (29,246) (678) (126,800) (40,883) (197,607)
Net book amount REFE 296,137 6,184 927 9,595 7,795 320,638
Comprising: aE
At cost A - 35,430 1,605 136,395 48,678 222,108
At valuation ftfa 296,137 - - - - 296,137
296,137 35,430 1,605 136,395 48,678 518,245
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

19.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19.49% « BERSEHE =

(Continued)

The Group's land and buildings were stated at revaluations made at 31st
December 2024 and 2023. The land and buildings were revalued by
an independent professional valuer at 31st December 2024 and 2023
on market value basis, which was determined by reference to market
evidence of recent transactions for similar properties. The revaluation
gave rise to a revaluation loss net of applicable deferred income taxes of
approximately HK$726,000 (2023: revaluation gave rise to a revaluation
surplus net of applicable deferred income taxes of approximately
HK$4,188,000) which has been charged (2023: credited) to the property
revaluation reserve. Details of fair value measurements are set out in Note
6(d).

As at 31st December 2024, if the land and buildings had not been
revalued, they would have been included in these consolidated financial
statements at historical cost, less accumulated depreciation with carrying
amount of approximately HK$72,207,000 (2023: HK$76,013,000).

Depreciation of the Group’s property, plant and equipment have been
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:

NEBZ T HRIEF RN S ZMER T
“=E+B=+t—RZHEVIR - LHKIE
FHEIHEE£GHEAIN _S_MNER_T_=
F+ZRB=+—HETEEERETERG )
BEMR LREMELPRZZ2ENEE - &
BENREREIEMENEBELEEMEBIENS
7260008 T (Z2 2= : EFEMMKRER
FIEFTSIMBELE EMERERAA4,188,000%
7T MEEERYESHEE c AAEEE
Ed N ML)

RIZZMWE+ZA=+—8 > Mt KIEF
AWEMRL > HERELHMAINRRINE »
HEEEEXN%72,207,0008 T (Z2E =4 :
76,013,000787T) 5t A4 & B FERER ©

KEBZME - BEMRBZINECHEGRGIE
mARPHBRAT -

2024 2023

—E_@mE =R

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#ERT FET

Cost of goods sold and services rendered HHE P AN R AR AR TS 2 P AR 15,066 15513
Selling expenses HEEHR 3,891 3,579
Administrative expenses THER 7,536 6,429
26,493 25,521

As at 31st December 2024, the Group had pledged land and buildings with
carrying amount of HK$154,700,000 (2023: HK$156,000,000) to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group as disclosed in Note 44.
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

19.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19.49% « BERSHE =

(Continued)
As at 31st December 2024 and 2023, the net carrying amount of right-of- RIBIMFRZE=F+"A=+—H">
use assets included in property, plant and equipment are as follows: IAME - BERREBEZEAREEZRES
LELI

Carrying amount Depreciation

IREEEE e

For the

As at As at year ended

31st December 1st January 31st December

2024 2024 2024

BE_T_NFE

g a1 3 R-g-mE +-HA=+—H

+=ZB=+—H —A—H L E

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Fi#x F# F#

Office premises EYNEXY/E S 6,431 9,248 6,077
Office equipment N 1,364 1,708 344

Total 4a%E 7,795 10,956 6,421

Carrying amount Depreciation

IREEEE e

For the

As at As at year ended

31st December 1st January  31st December

2023 2023 2023

HE—Z-=#

RTB=fF AZZ_=F +"B=+—H

+ZA=+—H —B—H LFE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET FHET

Office premises EYNEXY/E 3 9,248 8,964 6,818

Office equipment WNERE 1,708 386 364

Total k] 10,956 9,350 7,182
During the year ended 31st December 2024, total additions to right- BE_ T U+ _HBA=+—HIEFEE - FH
of-use assets, right-of-use assets with reassessment of lease term and HEEIEN  EGHAEH s FRAEEEKRTE
lease modification included in property, plant and equipment amounting BBz EREEEDA#A714,000%8 7T (=
to HK$714,000 (2023: HK$67,000), HK$2,629,000 (2023: HK$6,325,000) = __E 67,0008 75) ~ 2,629,0008 7T (=
and Nil (2023: HK$2,492,000), respectively, which are related to office =% :6,3250008m) RE(ZCE-=5F
premises and office equipment. 2 492, OOO/%TE) » ZIERAREEENAEYE

KA E AR o

Automated Systems Holdings Limited BB1R2#EBEERAT 193



194

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

47 5 M35 R R M 5E

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

20.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2032 =Y E

2024 2023
—E_mE —TT=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ERT FHE7T
At valuation &8
At 1st January —H—H 50,800 52,000
Fair value loss RRBEEBE (2,300) (1,200)
At 31st December w+=-BA=+—H 48,500 50,800
The following amounts have been recognised in the consolidated U EBEERGEIBmRER
statement of profit or loss:
2024 2023
—TmE ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ERT FET
Rental income (Note 8) TAEWA (F5E8) 2,112 2,836
Direct operating expense arising from investment EERSWAZKEYEMELEZ
properties that generate rental income RS 414 400

The investment properties of the Group were revalued by an independent
professional valuer at 31st December 2024 and 2023 on market value
basis, which was determined by reference to market evidence of recent
transactions for similar properties. Details of fair value measurement are
set out in Note 6(d).

The future aggregate minimum rental receivables under non-cancellable
operating leases are set out in Note 41.

As at 31st December 2024, the Group had pledged investment properties

with carrying amount of HK$47,000,000 (2023: HK$50,800,000) to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group as disclosed in Note 44.
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AR5 M R M

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

21.INTANGIBLE ASSETS

MN.EBREE

Development

cost
ERMA
HK$'000
FABT

At 1st January 2023, 31st December 2023, WZEZ=%—HB—H -ZFZ=

1st January 2024 and 31st December 2024 +=-BA=+—HB -=ZZE-Wm&E—A—H
—EmE+=-B=+—H
Cost [D%:N 5,006
Accumulated amortisation and impairment REHEHRORE (5,006)
Net book amount REEE -
22.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 22 B DT RELS

2024 2023
—E-mE —FC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FHT
Listed (Note) £ (FyaE) 1,189,036 1,232,932
Unlisted JEEm 30,170 25,124
1,219,206 1,258,056

Note:

The Group's interest in listed securities represents the Group's interest in Grid
Dynamics Holdings, Inc. (“GDH") and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “GDH Group”), of which its shares are listed on NASDAQ. As at 31st December
2024, the fair value of the Group's interest in GDH was USD308,895,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$2,398,110,000) (2023: USD197,318,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,541,401,000)), which is based on the quoted stock price of
GDH on NASDAQ of USD22.24 (2023: USD13.33) per share as at 31st December
2024 and is within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. The Group had 16.61% (2023:
19.51%) interest in the listed associate, GDH, as at 31st December 2024 and had
significant influence through its representation on the board of directors of GDH and
participates in all significant financial and operating decision. Therefore, the Group
accounts for its interests in GDH using equity method.

MysE

REER LS 2 R EEAEERGrid Dynamics
Holdings, Inc(TGDH.) K E I EA R (48 TGDH &
) % EROPMETER Eh o RS THE
+ZA=1+—8 ' "EBRGDHZ EHZZ AAEES
308,895,000 7t (HHE 2 492,398,110,0007%8 75) (=
T =1 :197,318,000% 7t (FHEHR#1,541,401,000
BT)) o DEBR-_ZE_NE+_B=+—H&8K
GDHEE R ANHTIZETT 2 $Rj1B22.24% T (T2 =4 ¢
13.33%7%) c AABEDBERTHHEEBAAEBE
BRE—E °
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

22.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

22 Bt E AT

2024 2023

ZEME ===

HK$°000 HK$'000

F#T T

At 1st January »®—BA—H 1,258,056 1,192,897
Net gain on deemed disposal of partial interest in RIEHE—RBEARBOER

an associate (Note (i) FUER (MEEG)) 47,107 60,394

Disposal of interests in associates (Note (ii)) HE B QB R (MEE(i) (75,380) (324)

Dividend received BURE S - (699)

Share of results of associates FE(LEE AR A 3,918 (1,685)

Share of other comprehensive (loss)/income FEILEE AR H A mE

of associates (B8) MW (6,285) 5,059

Exchange realignment (E R % (8,210) 2,414

At 31st December ®+=B=+—-8 1,219,206 1,258,056

Notes:

0]

(if)

During the year ended 31st December 2024, certain restricted stock units
and performance stock units granted by GDH to its employees were vested
and certain employees had exercised the vested stock options of GDH and
GDH concluded a follow-on public offering of 6.6 million shares of its common
stock at USD19.61 per share (2023: certain employees had exercised the
vested stock options of GDH). As a result, the Group's interest in GDH was
diluted from 19.51% as at 31st December 2023 to 16.61% as at 31st December
2024, and a net gain on deemed disposal of partial interest in an associate of
HK$47,107,000 (2023: HK$60,394,000) was recognised in “other gain, net” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

On 4th August 2023, the Group completed the disposal of its entire interest in
an associate, iN Systems (Macao) Limited, at a consideration of approximately
Macau Pataca (“MOP") 1,060,000 (equivalent to HK$1,029,000).

On 12th September 2024, the Group completed the disposal of 913,387 shares
of common stock in GDH, at a consideration of approximately USD11,691,000
(equivalent to HK$90,889,000) (exclusive of transaction costs of HK$1,856,000).
For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated on 13th
September 2024.
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AR5 M R M

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

22.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 22 B E TR @

Particulars of the Group's associates at 31st December 2024 and 2023 are N _E_NER_E_=F+"_RF=+—H"
as follows: RERZBEATFBUNT ¢

Country/
place of Percentage of nominal value of
incorporation issued ordinary share capital held

Name of associate and operations indirectly by the Company Principal activities
MM REE TATMERE
YNGR ZER /i BETEERTZARLE IBEH
2024 2023
—ECmE 2

Unlisted associates

JELHHEAE
ASL Automated Services (Thailand) Limited Thailand 49% 49% Provision of engineering and software services
& RUUTRREM RS
i-Sprint Holdings Ltd. (“i-Sprint”) Cayman Islands 35.42% 35.42% Investment holding
HEHE REER
i-Sprint Innovations (HK) Limited Hong Kong 35.42% 35.42% Provision of distributing, and implementing
technology risk management products
ZilE (FE) BRERAS &% TR DR BB
ERERERES
Beijing i-Sprint Technology Ltd. The PRC - 35.42% Provision of software development, distributing,

implementing and supporting technology risk

management products

TRZAERKEREEAR HE IREBARRE D BIR
SERRRERERER

i-Sprint Innovations (Beijing) Ltd. The PRC 35.42% 35.42% Provision of software development, distributing,
implementing and supporting technology risk

management products

ZiE OtR) BB REEAH I IR « D3 Bk
STREIEREEERES

i-Sprint Innovations Pte Ltd Singapore 35.42% 35.42% Investment holding, provision of developing,
distributing, implementing and supporting

technology risk management products

IR REER - RO

7~ B2 R AR

BEEREH
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

22.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 22 B E AT @)

Country/
place of Percentage of nominal value of
incorporation issued ordinary share capital held

Name of associate and operations indirectly by the Company Principal activities
MM REE EATRMEEE
BEQARAE ZER /8 ERTEERTZAERL FBEH
2024 2023
—EmE —5m=
i-Sprint Innovations Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 35.42% 35.42% Provision of distributing, implementing and
supporting technology risk management products
BARAE D Bt KRR
RREEERER
i-Sprint Innovations Inc. The US 35.42% 35.42% Provision of distributing and implementing
technology risk management products
EEl DR BB
RREEERER
i-Sprint Investment Limited Hong Kong 35.42% 35.42% Investment holding, provision of distributing

and implementing technology
risk management products

BB REZR - RIHHE
28 BiERSREAM AR
BEEMES
i-Sprint Innovations (Thailand) Co. Ltd Thailand 35.42% 35.42% Provision of distributing, implementing and
supporting technology risk management products
RE RN B SRRA
AREEERES
Listed associates
LHHERT
Grid Dynamics Holdings Inc. The US 16.61% 19.51% Provision of enterprise-level digital
transformation in the areas of search,
analytics, and release automation
E3E REERES > 27 &
BECZEXEEAUBALEE
Grid Dynamics International, LLC The US 16.61% 19.51% Provision of service in
Information technology (“IT") engineering
E3E BB (FERRE) TRRS
Grid Dynamics DOO Beograd - Vracar Serbia 16.61% 19.51% Provision of service in computer programming
EfgES B TR
Grid Dynamics Poland Spolka z 0.0. Poland 16.61% 19.51% Provision of service in software development,
consulting and relating professional service
K HHFE - BERERERRS
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

22.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 22 B E TR @

Country/
place of Percentage of nominal value of
incorporation issued ordinary share capital held

Name of associate and operations indirectly by the Company Principal activities
SR R AR E TARMERE
BEARRE ZER /i BRTEERTZARLE TBEH
2024 2023
ZEomE St 2

Grid Dynamics Ukraine, LLC Ukraine 16.61% 19.51% Provision of service in software development,
consulting and relating professional service

Bl HHEY  BRRAEEERS

Cometera Ukraine, LLC Ukraine 16.61% 19.51% Provision of service in software development,
consulting and relating professional service

Bl HHEE  BRRAEEERS
Tixx Soft LLC Ukraine 16.61% 19.51% Provision of service and support on behalf of
Grid Dynamics and its customers

BR# R &KGrid Dynamics RREHZ AR

REM<E

Daxx Web Industries B.V. The Netherlands 16.61% 19.51% Provision of service in software development,
consulting and relating professional service

| HEE  BRRAEEERS

Tacit Knowledge Inc. The US 16.61% 19.51% Provision of global consultancy services
focused on digital commerce

ESE BIRES BB NEERE

Mutual Mobile Inc. The US 16.61% 19.51% Provision of end-to-end design and
development of next-generation applications,

combining mobile, augmented/virtual/mixed

reality, and cloud edge/loT practices

ESE RHET—AEBERNRZRRs
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

22.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Name of associate

Country/

place of
incorporation
and operations

Percentage of nominal value of

22 Bt E AT

issued ordinary share capital held
indirectly by the Company

Principal activities

MM REE EATRMEEE
BEQARAE ZER /8 ERTEERTZAERL FBEH
2024 2023
—EmE —5m=
NextSphere Technologies Inc. The US 16.61% 19.51% Provision of application development, systems
monetization, product development, cloud and
infrastructure services, and quality assurance
EEl EREFRE  7REHE - ERRE
EMERR R UK E iR
Headrunner Limited United Kingdom 16.61% - Provision of software engineering services
specializing in data-intensive information systems
for banking and other financial institutions
EilE] RUHEPIHHRTREM BRI
HERELERARNRELTRRS
Congreve Computing Ltd. United Kingdom 16.61% - Provision of software engineering services
specializing in data-intensive information systems
for banking and other financial institutions
5 RUHEPIHHRTREMERIEER
HERELERARNRETRRE
JUXT Ltd. United Kingdom 16.61% - Provision of software engineering services
specializing in data-intensive information systems
for banking and other financial institutions
EilE] RUHEPIHHRTREMERIEER
HERELERARNRELRRS
Mobile Computing S.A. Argentina 16.61% = Provision of comprehensive suite of solutions
spanning industries including manufacturing,
Consumer Packaged Goods, and financial services.
PIRIE RIERERES O HEERRK

All associates have a reporting date of 31st December and held indirectly

by the Company.
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= 2
ra B RRMEE
For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

22.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continuep) 22 B E AT
The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the opinion of EREBIARDESTAHAERENEES
the directors of the Company, principally affected the results of the year or BAREBUBRAEREEFBEETES DK
form a substantial portion of the new assets of the Group. To give details SEBERTNER c ARBAEERA » BRE
of other associates would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, HE A B N B ESIRHNERIBR T
result in particulars of excessive length. o

The following table illustrates the summarised consolidated financial TREAFRAEDEARZEZHE QT GDH
information of GDH Group and i-Sprint Group, which are material EEKI-SprintEEZ SR EMBERMEE > W
associates accounted for using the equity method, adjusted for fair value BRIBRANEERE (NB) RE5tEEE

adjustments on acquisition (if any) and any differences in accounting HREREGEVBRRNRESEHIR

policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements:

Listed Unlisted
i JEETH
GDH Group i-Sprint Group
GDH £ i-Sprint ££[E
2024 2023 2024 2023

—EFop@E —F=F ZEIQNE —FT-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

F#Ex TET F#ET THET

Non-current assets ERBEE 1,437,616 1,016,996 89,286 82,988
Current assets TMENEE 3,229,138 2,477,960 125,656 103,228
Current liabilities mEERE (431,216) (329,836) (109,713) (92,198)
Non-current liabilities ELiE =K (172,657) (109,565) (8,247) (1,922)
Net assets FEE 4,062,881 3,055,555 96,982 92,096
Revenue for the year FRKRA 2,734,553 2,450,168 149,083 126,771
(Loss)/Profit for the year FR (F518) /afl (9,318) (23,340) 19,774 8,312
Other comprehensive (l0ss)/income FRNEMEE (518) /s

for the year (32,547) 16,626 (2,381) 5,065
Total comprehensive (loss)/income ENEE (518) /WaiesE

for the year (41,865) (6,714) 17,393 13,377
Group's share of: A SR EIFEAS
(Loss)/Profit for the year FR(E518) /5t (3,086) (4,853) 7,004 2,944
Other comprehensive (loss)/income FREMZE (5518) /e

for the year (5,442) 3,265 (843) 1,794
Total comprehensive (loss)/income ENEHE (518) /WEieEE

for the year (8,528) (1,588) 6,161 4,738
Dividend received BIKR - - - -
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HEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

22.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (conTinueD) 22 B E A TR
A reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the AT BRI E R GDHER Ki-SprintE
carrying amount of each of the investments in GDH Group and i-Sprint FZEZRERMEZHRNT

Group are set out below:

GDH Group i-Sprint Group
GDH £ i-Sprint £
2024 2023 2024 2023

ZEComgE T -fF ZEZNE T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TF#x FHT Fi#T FET

Total net assets of associates HENR P EERRE 4,062,881 3,055,555 96,982 92,096
Portion of ownership interests held FEBMFE 2 EEEERE D
by Group 16.61% 19.51% 35.42% 35.42%
Group's share of net assets of associates ~ ANEBELMEARFEE 674,930 596,018 34,351 32,620
Others Hifh (73,621) (54,237) (19,137) (22,998)
Goodwill EES 587,727 691,151 31,256 31,802
1,189,036 1,232,932 46,470 41,424
Less: Provision for impairment R ERE - = (16,300) (16,300)

Carrying amount of interests in associates in iR & HTSIREPIRNEE AT
the consolidated financial statements HERREE 1,189,036 1,232,932 30,170 25,124
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

22.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continuep) 22 B E AT
For the years ended 31st December 2024 and 2023, the Group has BE_ZE_NEKR-ZTE-_=%+Z"8B=+
discontinued recognition of its share of results of ASL Automated Services BEFE > ZAEEEBKREEIEBGASL
(Thailand) Limited. The amounts of unrecognised share of results of this Automated Services (Thailand) Limited 245 o
associate, extracted from the relevant management accounts of the EEZBME AR ZEFNRRTZREREES
associate, both for the year and cumulatively, are as follows: (B EME A B 2 EMEERE) M ©
2024 2023
—E_mE —TT=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
F#ERT FHET
Unrecognised share of: REEDRELS -
Profit for the year FR @ 23 8

Accumulated unrecognised share of losses of

RETREREG—EBE AR

an associate Z K518 596 619
23.FINANCIAL ASSET AT FVOCI BEAREESBSBEMDE
Yrmd RN EREE
2024 2023
ZTmE —B=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ERT FHET
Preferred stock of an unlisted US company —MIE LT EERRNET - 3,906
The Group completed the subscription of 759,301 series A preferred stock BRE—_S__F+_A=+—HILEE » &&E
of an unlisted US company at a consideration of USD500,000 in 2022. The B —EIE EmERATNT59,301 58
Group designated the investment as financial asset at FVOCI. AZTGIBERE » AEASOEET - AEBERH
SEIEEARANEESBHMEEW R
HNERIBEE °
The unlisted investee was dissolved on 16 December 2024. Details of the ZAR ERREEATN S _NE+ -8+~
fair value measurement of the investment are set out in Note 6(d). HER - BB Z AN EBEZHIE > HNMHE
6(d) °
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

24.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the

line items below:

4. B5ERBI N2 ER TR

TRMTEZ B BERERARTIIRE

2024 2023
—E-ME —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET TEx
Financial assets EREE
Financial assets at amortised cost B SHR A VIR Z RIS &=
Trade receivables FEW B Z 78 192,410 228,692
Other receivables and deposits HthEUGERIE R iZE 15,830 15,561
Finance lease receivables FEWRERERIE 22,118 4,225
Time deposits EHATERR 415,306 287,218
Bank balances and cash IRITERRIRE 299,087 252,401
944,751 788,097
Financial asset at FVOCI (non-recycling) BAABEEBHMEERETIRZ
EFEEE (FaT#EE)
Financial asset at FVOCI BARNEEEBEMEEWGESIERA
SHMEE - 3,906
944,751 792,003
Financial liabilities ERAE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BB TRz SR E
Trade payables e B S 708 298,705 302,821
Other payables and accruals H A (T FRIE A fE ST E 179,849 179,245
Bank borrowings RITIEE - 11,259
Lease liabilities HESE 8,137 11,158
486,691 504,483
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4

25.INVENTORIES 257786
2024 2023
—E-NE =g
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ExT &

Inventories 75

- Goods held for resale - HIEEEZEY 97,911 86,799
- Goods pending for customers’ acceptance BRREREMZEY 114,607 91,202
212,518 178,001
Other contract costs HtS 4 121,393 117,889
333,911 295,890

Goods held for resale and goods pending for customers’ acceptance
mainly represent computer equipment and software products.

During the year ended 31st December 2024, the cost of inventories
recognised as expenses and included in “cost of goods sold” and “cost
of services rendered” amounted to approximately HK$905,965,000
and HK$228,369,000 (2023: HK$987,312,000 and HK$187,500,000),
respectively.

Other contract costs relate to the incremental sales commissions paid to
salesperson whose selling activities resulted in customers entering into
sales contacts and fulfillment costs that generates or enhances resources
of the Group that will be used in satisfying performance obligations and
expected to be recovered.

Other contract costs are recognised as expenses and included in “cost of
goods sold” and “cost of services rendered” in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss in the period in which revenue is recognised. The amount
of capitalised costs recognised in profit or loss during the year was
HK$306,122,000 (2023: HK$287,364,000). There was no impairment in
relation to the opening balance of capitalised costs or the costs capitalised
during the year ended 31st December 2024 (2023: Nil).

?T{’Eiii;‘éz S B fr & PR
BISRB KRR ER °

ZEMIER

HE_Z_WE+-_B=1+—HIEE
RABTILA THERE K Fkﬁtﬁﬁkzm‘z
x| ZFEEASDBIA 905,965,000 T &
228,369,000t (ZF =4 :987,312,000%
6% 187,500,000587T) °

Hn Sl ARAHEBEE TR T ATILHE
EONZHEASSNZIRBHERSRED
EESEINRARETREASELARAR I
Bz AERERZBHRAFR o

HtEHOMAR WS ERDZ HEAREGREE
RPN ARY » Wat A MEHEMA ) K& M2
HRFEZHRAE ) c FRRIBRPERZERE
A% 8874306,122,000 BT (ZBE =4 :
287,364,000787T) © BARICHZA 2 BN 458
REEZZ_NE+-A=1t—HIEFERE
TEZ AL MBLRE(CE=F &) °
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE
F>
26.TRADE RECEIVABLES 26.fEUNE BTRIA
2024 2023
—E-mE TR
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi#Ex THT
Trade receivables - gross FEUN B Z 7018 - 48%8 202,591 238,204
Less: ECL allowance L TRERE B EE (10,181) (9,512)
Trade receivables - net FEURE Z 7018 - 7F38 192,410 228,692
The Group has granted credit to substantially all of its customers for 30 KNEBZRAERRER FIHZHE30HEEH
days and has credit control procedures to minimise credit risk. Overdue AEEFNGEEEESRUBEERBRER
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. Further details on 1K o SR EIEE Y A H 2 RIBHRETEL T 8B
the Group's credit policy are set out in Note 6(b). EE - REEMNEEBEREBYENMEE6(D)
Based on the invoice dates, the ageing analysis of the gross trade RIEREH > BIRBZHIBZREDFNT !

receivables, is as follows:

2024 2023

—EME -

HK$°000 HK$'000

F#T T

0 - 30 days 0ZE30XK 92,776 131,852
31 - 60 days 31260K 34,485 55,324
61 - 90 days 61290k 30,317 19,1790
Over 90 days BiB90X 45,013 31,838
202,591 238,204
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P EALE:
For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE
&
26.TRADE RECEIVABLES (conmiuen) 26.FEUN B 5 FRIE ()
The movement in the Group’s ECL allowance of trade receivables is as REERWEZRIBNEREEHREEES
follows: wr
2024 2023
—E-NE ===
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FHET
At 1st January w—B—H 9,512 9,115
ECL allowance TEREERERE 669 489
Reversal of ECL allowance BRI EERERERRD - (92)
At 31st December R+=ZB=+—H 10,181 9,512
Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when BHEERING T £2E— RN B 2 U [O] 285k
there is no expectation of recovering additional cash. The Group does not INEEMEY o REBRTEITEEMKHFRIES
hold any collateral as security. HE(D o
The gross trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies: FEUR B S =R IEAB 26 L R oI S & g -
2024 2023
—E-ME S S
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T T
HKD BIT 192,220 216,200
ushD E7T 1,960 3,035
RMB AR 988 102
Thailand Baht (“THB") Zeik (TZR=E%]) 5,145 11,002
MOP SHLPS i 313 6,332
New Taiwan dollars (“NTD") Hmat(TFHats) 1,965 1,517
Other currencies HEH - 16
202,591 238,204
As at 31st December 2024 and 2023, the carrying amounts of trade RIE_WERER_E_=—F+_B=+—H"
receivables approximate their fair values. EWEBSHIE Y RESEEEAABEAES -
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

27.FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES

The total minimum lease receivables under finance leases and their

27.FEW Rt SR S 7R

NTF»REmERAERER AR ZXERK

present values at the reporting date are as follows: HEMREERHIRE :
2024 2023
—E-WE —ZT=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET TEx
Non-current receivables: JETREN UGS
Gross finance lease receivables FEW R E TR ERUIBAE %R 16,419 2,651
Unearned finance income REREN 2 R A (1,109) (152)
15,310 2,499
Current receivables: TRENFEURNIA
Gross finance lease receivables FEW R E T SR IE4E 5 7,660 1,877
Unearned finance income RERE 2 RRE A (852) (151)
6,808 1,726
Gross receivables from finance leases: RERERE 2 EWIEAR%E ©
Not later than 1 year —FRN 7,660 1,877
Later than 1 year but not later than 2 years —EBRMERN 6,810 1,243
Later than 2 years but not later than 3 years MEBKR=ZEN 5,729 1,226
Later than 3 years but not later than 4 years =FBERAFA 3,880 182
Gross finance lease receivables PR R ETH & T IEAEER 24,079 4,528
Unearned finance income REREN 2 R E A (1,961) (303)
Net finance lease receivables FEW RS B RIS 5 22,118 4,225
The net finance lease receivables are W ERERIE T 58
analysed as follows: BRI FEADN -
- Not later than 1 year - —FR 6,808 1,726
- Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years - —EFBKRAFA 15,310 2,499
22,118 4,225

As at 31st December 2024 and 2023, finance lease receivables are all
denominated in THB.

A _E_NMER_F_=F+_/F=+—8"
FEIR R B A B FIRIRIG AR KT AR ©
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

28.0THER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 28 HfhPEURERIE « IS K TFE

o
PREPAYMENTS PEAL]
2024 2023
—E-mE T4
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ERT FET
Other receivables HAFEURRIE 7,044 2,104
Deposits Be 5,606 5,975
Prepayments FE{IFIE 69,314 28,689
Amount due from ultimate holding company R A BN 832 832
Amount due from immediate holding company BHEZERABIXRR 438 =
Amount due from an associate — B E A B R 2,742 7,482
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments - gross HAPEWERIE « 2 R TEN - 4258 85,976 45,082
Less: ECL allowance W TRERE B EEE (832) (832)
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments - net ~ HMREWERIE « S & TENFIE
- 3R 85,144 44,250
Representing: DRI
Non-current assets ERFEE 10,291 2,350
Current assets MENE 74,853 41,900
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments - net  HAhFEWFUE - ##& KB FUIE
- REE 85,144 44,250
As at 31st December 2024 and 2023, amounts due from ultimate R_EBE_WER_ZTE_=F+"_H=+—H >
holding company, immediate holding company and an associate are REERRATIRNR » BERERAB RN —MH
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. The carrying amounts SN BRI ABEIRE R R REEREE
approximate their fair values due to their short maturities. HREEATE  HEZRAERAEAAEE
1HE o
As at 31st December 2024 and 2023, prepayments mainly represented RIE_OER_E_=F+"H=+—
advance payments for suppliers and prepayment on collaboration fee to H oEdRBETEZagERHERNENR KR
the service vendor amounted to HK$43,104,000 (2023: HK$12,382,000) A RS H e X T E’jé\fﬁgﬁﬁﬁx R A
and HK$8,007,000 (2023: HK$2,350,000) respectively. 43,104,000 75 (ZE 2 =4 : 12,382,000
7T) 528,007,000/ 7t (ZZ =4 : 2,350,000
/ﬁm) ©
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

28.0THER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

28.HMMEURIE « MERTE

=

PREPAYMENTS (conTinuep) {FIFRIH )

The balances (before ECL allowance) are denominated in the following Eer G ATERRE E 1B ER) DU T &
currencies: FHE !

2024 2023
—TmE ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHBT
HKD BIT 61,147 30,318
THB EogvN 5,357 3,900
RMB AR 2,587 2,152
NTD ek 798 802
UusD ES 14,177 6,312
MOP i 1,910 1,598
85,976 45,082

As at 31st December 2024 and 2023, the carrying amounts of other

receivables and deposits approximate their fair values.

29.CONTRACT ASSETS

As at 31st December 2024 and 2023, the balance represented contract
costs incurred plus recognised profits less recognised losses and progress

billings.

The movement of contract assets for both years is due to the progress of
the projects and various billing patterns. As at 31st December 2024, the
decrease (2023: decrease) of contract assets is mainly due to decrease

(2023: decrease) of ongoing contracts during the year.

30.TIME DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES AND
CASH

A B CNER_E_=F+"/A=+—H >
HhfEW AR ZE Z RESEEAHEAANEE

iEEER

.58 E

R-CE-WER-_E-_=F+"/B=+—H >
ERIEFMEE 2 G4 I E R imf R E

SRR EMER I

MEEENANEEEDERAEENENS
BREER - R-BE-ME+-F=+—8 -

BNEEZRL (CTE =

EETZRORENRD (TE2Z=

DIEIN) EEMIE

£ 1 4800 -

0.EMEFEMR RITEMRE

&

Time deposits at 31st December 2024 represented bank deposits
placed in banks in the US, Hong Kong and Macau (2023: placed in bank
in the US). The interest rate ranged from 3.5% to 4.2% (2023: 5.0% to
5.3%) per annum and are denominated in HKD and USD amounted to
HK$38,000,000 and HK$377,306,000 respectively (2023: all denominated

in USD).

As at 31st December 2024, bank balances carry interest at market rates

with an average interest rate of 0.25% (2023: 0.39%) per annum.

210 Annual Report 2024 4R

RIZTME+—B=+—HZERERSBN
EE > BEERRFMZBT(CEZ=F  RERH
ZIRIT) ZIRITERR o FRIEZR35%E4.2% (=
T =4 15.0%F5.3%) RUETKRETHESD
7l #%938,000,0007% 75 & 377,306,000/ 75 (=
BT=F  2HUUETAE) ©

RIZME+"B=+—H - RITEeRED
BHESFE > PHFEFNER025% (TR =
£ 10.39%) ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR5 M R M

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

30.TIME DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES AND 30.FHiTZZh SRITTEEh RRIR

CASH (conminuep) =
Bank balances and cash are denominated in the following currencies: RITERRIRES U TG EHE
2024 2023
—EMmE T
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FEx
HKD BT 250,112 199,551
RMB AR 7,542 5,395
NTD ma 7,917 9,631
usD EPar 22,502 16,821
THB ik 7,199 11,613
MOP B 1,872 8,915
Other currencies Hn g 1,943 475
299,087 252,401
31.SHARE CAPITAL 31.087s
Number
of shares Amount
Ri7EH =%
HK$'000
FEx
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each SIREH0.10/#E T2 SiEAg
Authorised: EERRE
At 1st January 2023, 31st December 2023, WZE=Z=%—H—H
1st January 2024 and 31st December 2024 —E=%+=-B=+—H-
—E-ME—B—AXK
—E-mE+=-B=+—H 2,000,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid:
At 1st January 2023, 31st December 2023, W-EZ=%—H—H -
1st January 2024 and 31st December 2024 —E_=%+=-BA=+—-A-
—E-_ME—HB—AXk
—E-_mE+=-HB=+—H 833,696,492 83,370
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE
3
32.TRADE PAYABLES 2B EBMIA
An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the reporting date, based on FEAT 8 5 IBR BRIk BRI R EI A B 2 IR e
payment due date, is as follows: DIAT
2024 2023
—Eg-mEF —F=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#ERT FHET
Current BNHA 178,334 222,681
Within 30 days 30 KA 68,277 51,376
31 - 60 days 31 &£60 X 9,299 6,132
61 - 90 days 61 £90 X 14,365 3,313
Over 90 days 81890 Xk 28,430 19,319
298,705 302,821
The balances are denominated in the following currencies: MEERTD AN PIEEEEHE ¢
2024 2023
—TmE TET=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#ERT FET
HKD BT 201,625 207,060
RMB AR 2,120 3,230
usD EPav 43,540 67,782
THB =4k 43,850 17,257
NTD et 7,140 3,429
Other currencies HGH 430 4,063
298,705 302,821
At the reporting date, the carrying values of trade payables approximate RHE KB ENEBEZEEEEREAAE
their fair values. (=GR
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

33.0THER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

33 Hfth B (IR IE R B 5t B

2024 2023

—E-NE ===

HK$’000 HK$'000

T#T FHBT

Other payables HARETRIE 5,724 6,313
Accruals (Note (a)) FEsTE B (FYEE(a)) 172,164 169,198
Amount due to ultimate holding company (Note (b))  REARIERR AT FIE (FizE(b)) 1,869 1,460
Amounts due to associates (Note (b)) REE A BFRIE (MEE(b)) 9 2,252
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries (Note (b)) REZH B ABFIE (D)) 83 22
179,849 179,245

Notes:

(a

As at 31st December 2024, accruals mainly included provision of employee
benefit expenses amounted to HK$138,137,000 (2023: HK$140,223,000), which
include accrued salary, provision for bonus and provision for long service
payments.

The Group's provision for long service payments was determined based on the
actuarial valuation as at 31st December 2024 prepared by a qualified actuary,
using the projected unit credit method.

In June 2022, the Hong Kong SAR Government (the “Government”) gazetted
the Hong Kong Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting
Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment Ordinance”),
which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits derived from employers’
mandatory MPF contributions to offset the LSP. The Amendment Ordinance will
take effect on 1st May 2025. The retirement benefit obligation arising from LSP
has been remeasured accordingly.

The amounts due to ultimate holding company, associates and fellow
subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and are repayable on demand.

MysE

(a)

RIZZWE+ZB=+—H > E:tERZEE
EEERMNFXZTERL138,137,0008 T (=8
T =4 1140,223,00087T) > EPEIERE
& BETEAZBERERRES B -

SEEZ RERES BEDRIESEREEM
MUEstBNEREZR S ME+—_A=+—H
ZIEEGEETE o

RIZZZFx8 » EBFEBFES T (2022
FRERE AR BIRE GESH2HE) (BE]) 1%
Bl) o ZEFTHASBEREBRMIEEN _2 -8
ENEEBHA(NAEBE) ERBEN > B%A
e seiEE TMEE MBI HFT REHEN T EE
RS HRIETE B e RENENEN RIS
& o At R EHRBZHRKENFAIEER
EHEtE o

RERERAE ~ BEARKRBRIBATZR
TR EIRIT - RERANERFFEE
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

33.0THER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS BHMECNHIERESER

(Continued)

The balances are denominated in the following currencies:

(%)

MEERTH U RO SR EHE :

2024 2023

—E-mE ==

HK$'000 HK$'000

T#T FHBT

HKD BT 152,433 149,605
usD E7T 12,717 12,733
RMB NG 9,507 9,589
NTD e 878 705
THB ok 2,383 3,138
MOP sl 1,923 3,475
GBP HEgE 8 =
179,849 179,245

At the reporting date, the carrying values of other payables and accruals
approximate their fair values.

34.RECEIPTS IN ADVANCE

Receipts in advance represent advance payments received prior to
delivery of goods which is recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss upon the delivery of goods; and provision of service which is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss over the service
period stipulated in the respective customer contract. Contract liabilities
arising from billings in advance of performance recognised and from
receiving deposits of orders are reported as receipts in advance.

The increase (2023: increase) of receipts in advance as at 31st December
2024 is mainly due to increase (2023: increase) in billings in advance and

RERA » EtENRIERESERZREE

BHAREEES -

34. TR W =5

FAW U BISZ A & dm Al U 2 ZR

R(EHREm

ARTEARSIRmRIER) ; RIRHARFATREZ

BN (AR AR R A#T RN AR AR

B RER) © B2 BNRIERHUEE] 8%
EFFEEZ GMEEEUFARK@EER

R TECME+"A=+—H > ARR@z1E

m=E=—=

DM TEHERAFERER

deposit received from customers during the year. WMEZEMNRERESEMN(ZE2=4 18
m) e
As at 1st January 2024, receipt in advance amounted to HK$253,535,000 RZEZHWMFE—B—H ERK=m A

(2023: HK$246,561,000), of which HK$198,526,000 (2023:
HK$203,510,000) has been recognised as revenue during the year ended
31st December 2024.
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

35.BANK BORROWINGS

35.8R1TIEE

2024 2023
—TmE s
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Current ENER R
Bank borrowings, secured BILRIRITEE
- repayable within one year or on demand —FEUATIRERER - 11,259

The bank borrowings are repayable by 60 equal monthly instalments
commencing from 29th March 2019 and bears interest at floating interest
rate. As at 31st December 2023, the bank borrowings are denominated
in HKD with an effective interest rate of 6.78% per annum. All bank
borrowings are fully repaid during year ended 31st December 2024.

As at 31st December 2023, the bank borrowings are secured by:

(1) the legal charges over the Group's land and buildings with carrying
amount of approximately HK$156,000,000 (Note 44);

(2) the legal charges over the Group’s investment properties with
carrying amount of HK$50,800,000 (Note 44);

(3) the guarantees given by the Company and certain subsidiaries of the
Group up to a limit of HK$330,000,000;

(4) assignment of rental and sales proceeds from the Group's land and
buildings and investment properties; and

(5) assignment of insurance of all insurance policies (other than third
party liabilities and public liabilities) over the Group’s land and
buildings and investment properties.

The banking facilities of term loan is subject to the fulfilment of certain
financial and non-financial covenants relating to certain subsidiaries of the
Group, which are commonly found in lending arrangements with financial
institutions. If the Group was to breach the covenants, the drawn down
facilities would become repayable on demand.

The Group regularly monitors its compliance with these covenants, is
up to the date with the scheduled repayments of the loans and does
not consider it probable that the banks will exercise its discretion to
demand repayment for so long as the Group continues to meet these
requirements.

Subject to repayment on demand clauses which can be exercised at the
banks’ sole discretion, the above bank borrowings are classified as current
liabilities as at 31st December 2023.

RITEER_T—HhhE=RB_tAHEBEKt+
HEREHEIBNREERE  WiRFEHA X
Bo-RIBE_=F+"HA=+—H RITEE
MABTAEN > BREFNES678%(ZTEZ
F :560%) c TEEEEREBE_SUE
+ZB=1+—BILFERHEHEE °

RN_EBE_=ZF+_"_H=+—H RITEEUT
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

36.DEFERRED INCOME TAX 36.MEIEFR1F

The components of deferred income tax assets/(liabilities) recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position and the movement during
the year are as follows:

FARGEYBRARIER ZIBLERSIRE
E/(al) 2D R EZEHFIRMT !

2024 2023

—EmE “2C=HF

HK$'000 HK$'000

T#T FAT

At 1st January H—B— (169,448) (168,210)
Tax credited/(charged) to other comprehensive income QE%EEH&A—Jr]\/(?D f&) #2185 144 (828)
Tax charged to profit or loss BEmilfRIRE (1,099) (203)
Disposal of partial interest in an associate HE—EATDE DS 6,780 -
Exchange realignment fE R 673 (207)
At 31st December R+—B=+—H (162,950) (169,448)

The investments in the PRC, Thailand and the US incorporated operations
give rise to taxable temporary differences arising from the distribution of
profits by way of withholding tax.

As at 31st December 2024 and 2023, no deferred income tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group's subsidiaries
established in Thailand and the US. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute such
earnings in the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with investment in a subsidiary in Thailand
and the US for which deferred income tax liabilities have not been
recognised totalled approximately HK$12,831,000 (2023: HK$11,277,000)
and HK$1,155,163,000 (2023: HK$1,139,786,000), respectively as at
31st December 2024.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward
to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefit through the future
taxable profits is probable. As at 31st December 2024, the Group had total
tax losses of approximately HK$1,886,000 (2023: HK$2,451,000) available
for offset against future profits. No deferred income tax asset has been
recognised in respect of tax loss of approximately HK$1,739,000 (2023:
HK$2,414,000) due to unpredictability of future profit streams, of which
approximately HK$1,639,000 (2023: HK$2,314,000) will expire within 1 to
5 years and HK$100,000 (2023: HK$100,000) with unlimited expiry date.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for the consideration
shares received by a US subsidiary, GDD in 2020. Such consideration
shares will be taxed until they are sold. As at 31st December 2024, the
Group had deferred tax liabilities in relations these consideration shares
of approximately HK$102,952,000 (2023: HK$110,405,000), which is
calculated based on the US federal tax rate of 21% (2023: 21%) and the
applicable US state tax rate.

216 Annual Report 2024 4R

RENRHE > REKEBEMNILZ AR ELEER
RMERMER > RAZUBENRERA D TOaEF
TR o

A B NER-_E_=F+_B=+—H >
FEBTERNEERERARILZHBAT
2ARELBAMEEZBINRERELERS
e RATREERS » ZEMBATNRTRE
RAKNBIBEDIRBRERF o B ZRE KA E=EM
MBARREEMNEREEZESHEDL
#12,831,0008 T (ZE =4 : 11,277,000
#IT) & 1,155163,000 8 T (ZE =4 :
1,139,786,0007 7T) M FEFERIEIEFR S E1E o

ARIRIERBRI R ERRENREE A EEB
EHEW%D%R,ﬁﬂ%u;fﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁaﬁ%ﬁwﬁ

BREE -R_Z_NWE+_-_A=+—H =&
% BEMBERIEEEEL A1,886,0008 7T (Z
T~ =4 2,451,000 75) B B YEIK 8 5k 2K
A o B SR BE TE AR A% E A SR 0 B S R
MIEEEZ 41,739,000 BT (ZE =4 :
2,414,000 7T) BEBIEILFTSIRE E » HFY
1,639,000 (ZE =4 : 2,314,000 7T)
BR—Z2RFENEHE > &%100,00087T (Z=
Z =4 : 100,000 7T) AERH o

EEFFSMERET m— =B E AT GDDHE
RIBE-TEHESEREZ RPN ET URE
o ZERMAREBNREERFFEIR - R
“HE+ZB=1+—H  ~EEBRZERD
ﬁﬁ‘fz IEEFRIEE E49102,952,0008 75 (ZF
=4 : 110,405,000/ 7T) JH iR % E BB FRR
121%(_7__£E 21%) o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR5 M R M

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

36.MEIERRISIR

EAARREIARNEEERFRRREEEN
BIOEAITIEN - BZFEEKREERF—R
BERBBWATSNER - IREFTSMEER
SIRIEFRSIR B A BRI o INER > EIEPR
FREERER (NRHFER—NBEEER ZEER

36.DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxation authority.
The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities (prior to
offsetting of balances within the same taxation jurisdiction) during the

year are as follows: AW :
Accelerated
tax
depreciation Revaluation Interestsin LSP
and others of properties  associates Tax loss obligations Total
e HEAT RIAIRH

RERE MEES tei R £5% 5t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TFi#n T#n TEn T#n T T

At 1st January 2023 R-E_=%—F—H (7.323) (51,813) (110,197) 1123 = (168,210)
Credited to other comprehensive income  BEM2ERERSA - (828) - - - (828)
(Charged)/Credited to profit or loss (INB3) /st A B2 140 = - (1,118) 775 (203)
Exchange realignment ERAEE - - (208) 1 - (207)

At 31st December 2023 and RIZEZ=F+"B=1—-Hk
Ist January 2024 “Z_mE—A-H (7,183) (52,641) (110,405) 6 775 (169,448)
Credited to other comprehensive income  BEMZEWE T A - 144 - - - 144
(Charged)/Credited to profit or loss (NB3) /3t \BR (343) - - 19 (775) (1,099)
Disposal of partial interest in an associate  HE—FIBEATBAES - - 6,780 - - 6,780
Exchange realignment EREE - - 673 - - 673
At 31st December 2024 RZE_MmE+-A=+-H (7,526) (52,497)  (102,952) 25 - (162,950)
The analysis of deferred income tax is as follows: EEFRSIM Z 2R

2024 2023

—EME —T=4F

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#ERT FHET

Deferred income tax assets FIEFTISINEE 127 781
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEFTIS I EE (163,077) (170,229)
(162,950) (169,448)
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37.LEASE LIABILITIES 37.70B&E

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of the TR#IIAEFBEEAGEZ SHEIHARREE ¢
Group's lease liabilities:

2024 2023
—E-mE TEI=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi#Ex THT
Total minimum lease payments: REBEENRAEE
Due within one year —FNEIH 6,136 5,709
Due in the second to fifth years “ERFERNEIE 2,552 6,373
8,688 12,082
Future finance charges on lease liabilities RREEBBEZUBFER (551) (924)
Present value of lease liabilities HEaRRE 8,137 11,158
Present value of minimum lease payments: HEaERE
Due within one year —FERNEIH 5,784 5,189
Due in the second to fifth years “ERFNEE 2,353 5,969
8,137 11,158
Less: Portion due within one year included under i BETERESaER—FER
current liabilities ZHARIER(A (5.784) (5,189)
Portion due after one year included under BETIERBEER —FE
non-current liabilities ZIHRRVER (D 2,353 2,269
During the year ended 31st December 2024, the Group entered into eight HE_E_ME+_HB=+—HILEE » k&
(2023: six) lease agreements for use of office premises with remaining BT\ B(CE-=F : ~P) SRR NE
lease term of six months to two years (2023: three months to three years). BEME(CE_=F . —@BAE=HF)58EF
The Group makes fixed payments during the contract periods. Two of A ASYE>HAEAR o« AEEMPR A jﬁﬁm
the lease agreements contains an option for further extending the lease EBEEME - EhRAEES ARG SNEE
period by giving three to six-month notice before the end of the lease. SAERATHIR S = ENE RS %D,H\HL(ELE
The Group considered that no extension or termination option would be SR « AEEREEEBEEEER
exercised at the lease commencement date. B REF o
During the year ended 31st December 2024, the Group entered into two BE—E_NE+—A=4+—HILEE » &£
(2023: two) lease agreements for use of office equipment with remaining BE:TmMe (CE-=F  mH) EHRG=F
lease term of three to four years (2023: four to five years). The Group ME(CE_=—F . UEZR&E) 5REARAST
makes fixed payments during the contract periods. The leases do not LESHAEESRE - AEBRSNEERNERE N
contain any renewal options. The Group considered the option would not o LI SRS EEER o
be exercised at the lease commencement date.
During the year ended 31st December 2024, the total cash outflows for BRE_E_NE+_BA=+—HILEE > BE
the leases are HK$7,433,000 (2023: HK$8,441,000). ZHEIRS S B 47,433,008 T (CE-=4

8,441,000/87T) °

218 Annual Report 2024 ¥k



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR5 M R M

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

38.EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS

(a) Share option scheme

The Company's share option scheme was adopted by the Company
on 13th March 2017 (“2017 Share Option Scheme”). Such scheme
was amended by an ordinary resolution passed at the special general
meeting of the Company held on 4th September 2024 (the “2017
Share Option Scheme (Amended)”). The 2017 Share Option Scheme
(Amended) is valid and effective for 10 years commencing on 13th
March 2017 and ending on 12th March 2027.

(i) Purpose

To enable the Company to grant share options to the eligible
participants as retention incentives or rewards for their
contribution to the Group, and to attract suitable personnel to
enhance the development of the Group.

(ii) Participants

Eligible participants shall be employee participants and related
entity participants as determined by the Board from time to time.

(iii) Total number of shares available for issue

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all share options to be granted under the 2017 Share
Option Scheme (Amended) and any share options or share
awards to be granted under any other any other share schemes
of the Company shall not, in the absence of shareholders’
approval, in aggregate exceed the scheme mandate limit, being
10% of the shares in issue (excluding treasury shares) as at the
adoption date.

(iv) Vesting period

Save for the circumstances prescribed, every grantee must hold
a share option for at least 12 months before he/she can exercise
such Share Option.

(v) Vesting requirements

The Board has the absolute discretion to determine the
performance targets or other conditions, restrictions or
limitations in relation to the vesting of share options on a case-
by-case basis. Unless otherwise determined by the Board
and specified in the grant letter, there is no requirement of
performance target which needs to be achieved before the share
options can be vested.

The Company's circular dated 15th August 2024 and the heading “Share
Scheme” in the Directors’ Report section contain further details of the
2017 Share Option Scheme (Amended).

The 2017 Share Option Scheme (Amended) will be settled in equity. The
Group has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the
options other than by issuing the Company's ordinary shares.

BIEFEEAURGSER
X5
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38.EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED BEDMGHAURGGAER
TRANSACTIONS (conminuep) XA
(a) Share option scheme (Continued) (a) RERRtEREl ()
The following table discloses details of the share options under the TREBCEREE(BEER)FE-Z
2017 Share Option Scheme (Amended) and movements during the —tFEREABIZERERNBE_S
years ended 31st December 2024 and 2023: TR =F+"_A=+—HLFE

BERE 2 BB -
2024 .

Number of options

IRRESE
Exercise At Granted Lapsed  Exercised At 31st
price per 1st January during during during  December
share 2024  theyear  theyear  theyear 2024
RIE-MmE
RZSZmE +ZB
Grant date RitA% sRiEE —-B-BH EAEE  FARR  ERTE =1+-R
31st March 2017 “$-t§=A=t-H HK$0.970 14,832,125 - (118,800) - 14,713,325
0.970#7T
28th April 2017 ZE—tEMAZ+N\H HK$0.909 7,260,000 - - - 7,260,000
0.909%7T
13th December 2017 —Z—t&+ZR+=H HK$0.867 503,400 - (158,400) - 345,000
0.867#7T
22,595,525 - (277,200) - 22,318,325
Weighted average exercise MEFSRITEE HK$0.948 - HK$0.911 - HK$0.949
price per share 0.948#7 0.911&T 0.949%7
Number of options exercisable RZB-mE+ZRA=+-H
at 31st December 2024 AfTERRESE 22,318,325
Weighted average exercise price per ~K-E-MF+-F=+-H HK$0.949
share of options exercisable A{TER AR AT
at 31st December 2024 BRTHEE 0.949387T
Weighted average remaining MEEIRBANEN 2.28 years
contractual life 2.28%
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BIEFEEAURGSER

38.EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS (conTinuep) A5 @
(a) Share option scheme (Continued) (a) FERRHEETE ()
2023 BT =F
Number of options
fRreHE
Exercise At Granted lapsed  Exercised At 31st
price per  1st January during during during  December
share 2023 the year the year the year 2023
RIZZ=F
RIBZ=% +ZA
Grant date betil=l gRPE —A-B  ERRE  ERKR EAGE =+
31st March 2017 “Z—+t&£=A=+-H HK$0.970 16,270,925 - (1,438,800) - 14832125
09707
28th April 2017 “Z—tFmA-+N\R HK$0.909 7,260,000 = = - 7,260,000
0.9097E7c
13th December 2017 “Z—tF+2B+=R HK$0.867 503,400 = = - 503,400
0.867ATT
24,034,325 - (1,438,800) - 22,595,525
Weighted average exercise METSERTHEE HK$0.949 - HK$0.970 - HK$0.948
price per share 0.949%7 097087 0.94887
Number of aptions exercisable RIBZ=#+"A=+-H
at 31st December 2023 TENERESRE 22,549,625
Weighted average exercise price per RZEZ=8+"A=1+-H HK$0.948
share of options exercisable afTER RN ETY
at 31st December 2023 SRTHE 0.94887
Weighted average remaining SRR G A FH 3.28 years
contractual life 3284

During the year ended 31st December 2024, there was no share
options granted under the 2017 Share Option Scheme (Amended)
(2023: Nil).

During the year ended 31st December 2024, no share-based payment
expense was recognised (2023: recognised share-based payment
expense of HK$11,000) in the profit or loss in relation to equity-
settled share-based payment transactions under the 2017 Share
Option Scheme (Amended).

REBE_E_NE+_A=+—HILEF
B 12F T -t ERERESE THE
RIERL (T2 -=F 1 #8) °

RBE_E_NE+_A=+—HILEF
E>rAEERGESEaRPEIE_Z
—CEBRESE TURMAERSZNZ
BEZRBHEIT(CTE =4 '11,000%
70) M AR AR 2 B BE ST A REFBARR ©
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

38.EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (conTinuep)

(b) Share award scheme

The Company's share award scheme was adopted by the Company
by an ordinary resolution passed at the special general meeting of
the Company held on 4th September 2024 (the “2024 Share Award
Scheme”). The 2024 Share Award Scheme is valid and effective for
10 years commencing on 4th September 2024 and ending on 3rd
September 2034.

(i) Purpose

To enable the Company to grant awards in the form of share
options, restricted share units (“RSUs") or restricted share
awards (“RSAs”) to the eligible participants as retention incentives
or rewards for their contribution to the Group, and to attract
suitable personnel to enhance the development of the Group.

(ii) Participants

Eligible participants shall be employee participants and related
entity participants as determined by the Board from time to time.

(iii) Total number of shares available for issue

The maximum number of shares which may be issued pursuant
to all awards to be granted under the 2024 Share Award Scheme
and any share options or share awards to be granted under any
other share schemes of the Company shall not, in the absence
of shareholders’ approval, in aggregate exceed the scheme
mandate limit, being 10% of the shares in issue (excluding
treasury shares) as at the adoption date.

(iv) Vesting period

Save for the circumstances prescribed, an award must be held
for at least 12 months before it vests.

(v) Vesting requirements

The Board has the absolute discretion to determine the
performance targets or other conditions, restrictions or
limitations in relation to the vesting of awards on a case-by-case
basis. Unless otherwise determined by the Board and specified
in the grant letter, there is no requirement of performance target
which needs to be achieved before the award can be vested.
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38.EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (conTinuep)

(b) Share award scheme (Continued)
(vi) RSUs

A grantee of a RSU shall not be entitled to vote, to receive
dividends or to have any other rights of a shareholder in respect
of shares subject to a RSU until the shares are issued to the
grantee upon vesting. A grantee may not transfer, assign or
otherwise dispose of a RSU or any rights in respect of it. If he
does, whether voluntarily or involuntarily, then it will immediately
lapse.

(vii) RSAs

A grantee of a RSA shall not be entitled to vote, to receive
dividends or to have any other rights of a shareholder in respect
of shares subject to a RSA until vesting.

A grantee of a RSA must enter into the RSA agreement with the
Company that:

to the extent that the RSA lapses under the Scheme, the RSA
is forfeited and he shall immediately transfer his interest in
the RSA or the shares subject to it, for no consideration or
nominal consideration, to any person (which may include the
Company, where permitted) specified by the Board;

to the extent that the RSA Vests, such agreement will cease
to apply to that part of the award that has vested; and

he/she will not transfer, assign, pledge, dispose of or
otherwise deal with any RSA or any rights in respect of it
before vesting and if he does his RSA will lapse except in
the case of the transmission of his RSA on his death to his
personal representatives.

The Company's circular dated 15th August 2024 and the heading
“Share Scheme” in the Directors’ Report section contain further
details of the 2024 Share Award Scheme.

The 2024 Share Award Scheme will be settled in equity. The Group
has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the
awards other than by issuing the Company's ordinary shares.
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

38.EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED

BIESEEAURMAER

TRANSACTIONS (conTinuep)

(b) Share award scheme (Continued)

The following table discloses details of the RSUs under the 2024
Share Award Scheme and movements during the year ended 31st
December 2024:

X5 )

(b) Bz LZ@h=+E) ()

MR RIEHWET — T UERD RS
TRSUMFHBEARBE _—S _MFE+—
A=+—HIEFENEHER :

2024 —ENE
Number of RSUs awarded

Fair
value per At Granted At 31st
RSU at 1st January during December
Grant date Vesting period grant date 2024 the year 2024
S
RiEFEA i k111 3
ZEHRSU  —FZMEF +=AH
#FHH REEA AREE —A—H FhiEt =+—H

HK$

AT

11th December 2024 11th December 2024 to

11th December 2027 0.68 - 6,450,000 6,450,000

—F-mE+=BA+—H —Z-mE+=-A+—HBE

—E-tHF+ZR+—H

The fair value per RSU at grant date was based on the market closing
price of the Company's share at the date of grant, and adjusted by the
fair value of the dividends during the vesting periods as the grantees
are not entitled to dividends during the vesting period.

Subject to (i) the satisfaction of the relevant performance targets
of the grantees set out under the terms of the grant letter; (ii) the
grantee remaining an employee participant on the vesting date; and
(iii) the terms of the 2024 Share Award Scheme, the RSUs granted
shall vest as follows:

(@) the first 50% of the RSUs granted will vest on the first anniversary
of the date of grant (i.e. 11th December 2025);

(b) the next 25% of the RSUs granted will vest on the second
anniversary of the date of grant (i.e. 11th December 2026); and

(c) the remaining 25% of the RSUs granted will vest on the third
anniversary of the date of grant (i.e. 11th December 2027).

During the year ended 31st December 2024, share-based payment
expense of approximately HK$171,000 (2023: Nil) was recognised in
the profit or loss in relation to equity-settled share-based payment
transactions under the 2024 Share Award Scheme.

224 Annual Report 2024 3

BT HEBNSMHRSUNARBERRET
ERARBRMOTIHZUEE > TRET
BEHRANREAREE  RERAER
BREANEEZRERE o

SRR | () BRANERK TR MG
PREMBREEBR ; (NERATERER
HNaEESEE ; UK(iiNFEa -2 =0
FERM RS BIRVIERR » BT HIRSUR IR
MTFAREE :

(a) BES50%MIRSUBIRIZT HEANE —1@
BEEIE_AF+_B+—R0)E
B

(b) T—25%RIRSURRIZF HEAME —
BEEEI B2 E+-8+—H)
5

(€) FIERAI25%KIRSUMB N IE T BEAM S5
—EEEEZBE-_tE+="A+—
H)RB o

BHE_Z_NME+_A=+—HILEEE >
ERRE T T UERDIEE A TR
FHEARDERLZ AT ZERENKRGER
S BERLN171,0008T (S -=4 .

") o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR5 M R M

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

39.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  39.7s QA B BAFZ4R AT

OF THE COMPANY

2024 2023
—E-ME =8
HK$'000 HK$'000
TF#T FEx
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME ~ BERERE - 1
Investments in subsidiaries KB AR ZRE 491,913 428,893
Deferred income tax assets FIEFRSMEE 85 95
491,998 428,989
Current assets RENEE
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments HAEWGERIE « e RTENRIE 523 460
Amounts due from subsidiaries RN 634,229 684,971
Amount due from an associate —EHE AT R 72 34
Tax recoverable EIEE ] 1,034 -
Bank balances and cash RITERRRE 1,194 2,115
637,052 687,580
Total assets s E 1,129,050 1,116,569
Equity HE
Share capital f& 7 83,370 83,370
Share premium s ER 403,164 403,164
Reserves (Note) & (H5E) 110,733 112,160
Total equity e 597,267 598,694
Current liabilities wEEE
Other payables and accruals HE R Ia R EsTE A 10,856 10,845
Amount due to ultimate holding company KRR ATIRIE 82 84
Amounts due to subsidiaries R B A T RRIE 520,845 506,630
Current income tax liabilities BHRFR SR B A - 316
531,783 517,875
Total liabilities waR 531,783 517,875
Total equity and liabilities HREREE 1,129,050 1,116,569
Net current assets MENE EIRRE 105,269 169,705
Total assets less current liabilities WEERTHER 597,267 598,694

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26th

March 2025. FI) 2% o
WANG Weihang WANG Yueou
E4ER/ TEE
Director Director
2 2
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47 5 M35 R R M 5E

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

39.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  39.Z4x2 BB AR @
OF THE COMPANY (conTinuep)

Note: The movement of the Company's reserves are as follows: MizE : ARBEEEZELEFUWT -
Share-
Special based
reserve payment Retained
(Note (i) reserve earnings Total
HhGE URHBAER
(BF3E(T)) EARNE T RE&RF 4zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET FHET FHET
At 1st January 2023 RIBZ=%F—HF—H 95,513 7,704 3,586 106,803
Profit and total comprehensive income FREMNREE R E
for the year - - 30,357 30,357
Recognition of equity-settled share-based RBUR MG AERZ 2T
payments - 11 = "
Lapse of share options transferred to BRERERANZRBERE
retained earnings - (479) 479 -
Final dividend for the year ended HE_Z__HF+"A=+—H
31st December 2022 IEFEZREARE = 5 (25,011) (25,011)

At 31st December 2023 and 1st January 2024 RIE_=F+"_A=+—HK

“ETME—HF—H 95,513 7,236 9,411 112,160

Profit and total comprehensive income FRiEf 2l

for the year - - 23,413 23,413
Recognition of equity-settled UMD AER 2%

share-based payments - 171 - 171
Lapse of share options transferred to ERERE RN 2 RN

retained earnings - (76) 76 -
Final dividend for the year ended HE-Z--—F+"H=+—H

31st December 2023 IEEEZRERE - - (25,011) (25,011)
At 31st December 2024 R-f2-_mE+-A=+—H 95,513 7.331 7.889 110,733

(i) The special reserve of the Company represents the difference between the () FTRABZFIRERNETFEERAT 2 HREH
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange for the issued share B A5 B BT AR AN T 2217 2 B T 18 S P W B
capital of the subsidiaries and the net asset value of the subsidiaries acquired BABEEFEZERE - REERE—N/N\—F
in prior years. Under the Companies Act 19871 of Bermuda (as amended), the NEE (RERT) » MAREBERAEETIE
contributed surplus shall not be distributable if there are reasonable grounds 15 B ARER I H DK :
for believing that:

(1) the Company is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities (1) ARABREFHRIEHONRBREENESR
as they become due; or FHAR S M & 1E ;5 8K

(2) the realisable value of the Company's assets would thereby be less than (2) ARABDEEZISREEZSAMIONES
the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share BREBEITRAURBRMNAERZAERN o
premium account.

(i) As at 31st December 2024, in the opinion of the directors, the aggregate (i) MRIEZWMFE+ZB=+—H > EEZRA°7
amount of reserves available for distribution to equity holders of the Company HARFRATRETFE A ZHEEREN S
was approximately HK$103,402,000 (2023: HK$104,924,000). 103,402,000 7T (ZE == : 104,924,000

JT) °
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AR5 M R M

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

40.CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(a) Cash generated from operations

0IREREFH
(a) BEEEZIREWA

2024 2023
—TTmE T
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
FaE F#T FHET
Profit before income tax FRPTISIR AR F] 168,087 148,914
Adjustments for: KRR
- Share of results of associates - OSSN B EE 22 (3,918) 1,685
- Depreciation of property, - W%~ BEREEITE
plant and equipment 19 26,493 25,521
- Net gain on deemed disposal of - RIERE—RBE AT
partial interest in an associate e 2 3 W 9 (47,107) (60,394)
- Net gain on disposal of interests in - HEBE AR 2P
associates 9 (14,199) (668)
- Loss on disposal of property, - HEYX ~ BERREZEIE
plant and equipment 9 27 3
- Fair value loss on investment properties - E¥EZ A NEBEEIE 20 2,300 1,200
- Provision for/(Reversal of provision for) - [REETZERiE, ~ (BiEE])
obsolete inventories, net FE 12 38 (3)
- Interest income - FBEWA (22,759) (10,736)
- Interest expenses - FMEXZH 11 1,162 2,563
- Equity-settled share-based - UMD AERSZ MMz
payment expenses 38 171 11
- ECL allowance for trade receivables - BN E B2 FEEAE B8
bedic 26 669 489
- Reversal of ECL allowance for - BB ZFIa2 FElEEER
trade receivables B ERE 26 - (92)
- Write off of inventories - T E 12 37 79
Changes in working capital: SESSE .
- Inventories -758 (38,096) (9,434)
- Trade receivables - BB S8 35,087 (36,945)
- Finance lease receivables - R R B RIS (17,893) 793
- Other receivables, deposits and - EMEREIE ~ 2E K
prepayments FAfRRIE (43,585) (10,565)
- Contract assets - GHEE 2,674 23,717
- Trade payables - BB ZIE (2,378) (10,731)
- Other payables and accruals - HthE R RIa R EsTE R (108) 10,145
- Receipts in advance - TRl 91,265 6,949
Cash generated from operations KEXERE IR A 137,967 82,501
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

40.CASH FLOW INFORMATION (conTinueD)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities

The table below set out the reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities for the years ended 31st December 2024 and

0.IREREFHE @
(b) M EEBNEE N A BINEHIR

TREJIBE_ T _NWEKR_T_=
+A=t+—HIEFERETHEENE

2023: BRVHER -
Bank
borrowings
and interest Lease
payable liabilities Total
RITEHER
FEFFIS HEaE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TET T
(Note)
(B 5E)
At 1st January 2023 RIEZ=F—HF—H 56,380 9,734 66,114
Cash flows REme
- Repayment of bank borrowings - BERTEE (45,000) - (45,000)
- Interest paid - BfFE (2,320) = (2,320)
- Principal portion of lease payments - FAE{J A& ER{% = (7,355) (7,355)
- Interest portion of lease payments - FAEIFFI E 515 = (356) (356)
Non-cash changes JEIRSEH
- Finance costs — IAFE A 2,207 356 2,563
- Reassessment of lease term - BhEREEEZHER
(Note 19) (FFzE19) = 8,884 8,884
- Exchange difference -ERER - (105) (105)
At 31st December 2023 and R_E_=F+"_H=+—H
1st January 2024 2 E—H—H 11,267 11,158 22,425
Cash flows REmE
- Repayment of bank borrowings - BIER1TEE (21,250) - (21,250)
- Proceeds from bank borrowings - SRITIEEFTIS 10,000 - 10,000
- Interest paid - TS (496) - (496)
- Principal portion of lease payments - FA& I % 2R 1H - (6,279) (6,279)
- Interest portion of lease payments - FAE {J7FI B 2515 - (683) (683)
Non-cash changes JEIR G
- Finance costs — AT AN A 479 683 1,162
- Entering into new leases - MR A - 714 714
- Reassessment of lease term - BhEREEEZHER
(Note 19) (PfF5E19) - 2,629 2,629
- Exchange difference -EREE - (85) (85)
At 31st December 2024 R-E_mE+_A=+—H - 8,137 8,137
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AR5 M R M

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

40.CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continueD)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities (Continued)

Note:

The following table shows the breakdown of the bank borrowings and interest
payable as at 31st December 2024 and 2023:

0.IREREFE @
(b) M EBIEENEBINEHIR @)

PI5E

TRIR BN ERZZTEZ=F+ZTAH
=+—HIRTEERENTIS ZE4A :

2024 2023

—E-mE —E=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

TFHET F#ET

Bank borrowings (Note 35) $RITIEE (M45E35) - 11,259
Interest payable (included in other payables FEMFI 2 (BT R IE R

and accruals) FEsHERAR) - 8

- 11,267

41.LEASE COMMITMENTS

As lessee

At the reporting date, the lease commitments for short-term leases are as

4. FRERE
EAEBA
REBEIAR > EERE AERRNT ;

follows:
2024 2023
—TmE .
Office Office
premises premises
MAEME WREYZE
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi#ET THT
Not later than one year —FR 194 486

As at 31st December 2024, the Group had not committed to any lease
in which the lease had not yet commenced (2023: not committed to any
lease in which the lease had not yet commenced).

As at 31st December 2024, leases for office premises are negotiated for an
average term of one year (2023: one year) and the rentals are fixed over
the terms of the leases.

A ZE_MEF "B =+—0H » AEEWRK
EAEMEERRMENEESTN(CEZ=F:
W ARAFEEREAERARMBINEESTLN) -

AT _WE+"B=1+—H  WAEYE

ZHEOTI9E—FER—R(CE_=F | —
F) » HERBEORBETE -
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

41.LEASE COMMITMENTS (conTinueD)

As lessor

At 31st December 2024, the Group had contracted with the tenant and an
associate in respect of office premises under operating leases as follows:

MNFEEKIE @
EALHIBA

A ZE_NFE+"_B=+—H  xEEEHM
RNEYREZ EXBOEB R R—BBEABRE]

A
2024 2023
—E_mE T =4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ERT FET
Within 1 year —FR 1,391 574
After 1 year but within 2 years —FBRMEN 980 -
After 2 year but within 3 years MEBRKR=FEN 163 -
2,534 574

Leases for office premises run for an initial period of one year to three
years (2023: one year to three years) and the rentals are fixed over the
terms of the leases.

42.CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

MAEYEZ BN TR —E=FEH —R(Z

PRT=EE §

42, B TKIE

—E=F) ' HERBHIABEE °

2024 2023
—EME T =4
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ERT FET
Contracted but not provided for: BEETAEREME !
Capital expenditure in respect of property, Mz~ BER&EZBARRS
plant and equipment 2,013 369

43.CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31st December 2024, performance bonds of approximately
HK$113,215,000 (2023: HK$126,819,000) have been issued by the bank on
behalf of the Group to customers as security of contracts.
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AR5 M R M

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

44.PLEDGE OF ASSETS 44. 5 E T
As at 31st December 2024, land and buildings with carrying amount RIZEZMFE+ZRB=+—H > "EEZ T
of HK$154,700,000 (2023: HK$156,000,000) (Note 19) and investment KRBT ZERE S EE4154,700,0008 T (=&
properties with carrying amount of HK$47,000,000 (2023: HK$50,800,000) — =4 1 156,000,000 %) (izE19) R&EN
(Note 20) were pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group. X IRE&EA47,000,008T(ZE =4 :

50,800,000 7c) (MizE20) B BIEAERE Z IR
TEEZ R -

45.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 45.FAEANLIRZ S
As at 31st December 2024, Hong Kong Teamsun 67.66% (2023: 67.66%) of RZEZWE+AH :‘F*El EBEBX
the Company's issued shares. The remaining 32.34% (2023: 32.34%) of the BEBARRBRID267.66% (ZF =4 :
Company's issued shares are widely held. The ultimate holding company of 67.66%) » BR F32.34% (2T =4 : 32.34%)
the Company is Teamsun. BHOBEMALRER - XRABRKIERAF
AERRAY
(a) Transactions with related parties (a) HRAEALZRS
2024 2023
—TmE =
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ERT FET
Nature of transaction RS
Fellow subsidiaries RZRKKBAT :
Service income charged by the Group NEBRUW Z RFEWA 694 -
Service fee charged to the Group REE X AR E B 2,501 962
The associates HERT :
Sales by the Group KERHEE 3,829 4,427
Purchases by the Group rEBBEES 13,120 8,281
Staff costs charged by the Group KEBBKRZETHAS 65 66
Rental income charged by the Group KEBBURZBEUA 410 398
Sale and purchase of goods and services are transacted at normal SRR RS EIRER R RS R —E
commercial terms that are consistently applied to all customers and A2 SRR IEETE o
vendors.
Rental income was transacted with reference to the rental rates LW AT R ETIZEHIMNESKEEE o

prevailing in the market.

(b) The Group's balances with related parties are set out in Notes 28 and (b) &= mEErHE A+ EHA RSN 28
33. K33

(€) Key management personnel remuneration are disclosed in Notes 14 (c) =ESEASMESHHEE14R15RE o
and 15.
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

46.PARTICULARS OF MAJOR SUBSIDIARIES 46. X EMBATIZH15

Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries at 31st December 2024

and 2023 are as follows:

Country/place

of incorporation/ Issued and fully

AT T

S —=—

MER—T_=F+"F=+—H"

FABZEEBMBABFHELT -

Percentage of issued

establishment paid share capital/ share capital held
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital by the Company Principal activities
SEMARIL, R BE1TR AR
WEARRE RBEZER /e BRRS SRES BRITRFE AL TEEH
2024 2023
“ECmE —TC°-f
Automated Systems (H.K.) Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares 100% 100%  Investment holding, sale of computer
Limited HK$2 products and solutions and provision of
hardware services (including installation
and maintenance services) and software
services (including software development,
consulting and professional services)
BRRGR(58)BRAR &% 2R BB REER  HEBMERKBAS ZRIRHEE
2B IR (BERERRERS) RBHRS
(BIEEAREE - BEREERTE)
ELM Computer Technologies Hong Kong 12,000,000 100% 100%  Sale of computer products and solutions and
Limited ordinary shares provision of hardware services (including
HK$12,000,000 installation and maintenance services)
and software services (including software
development, consulting and professional
services)
RMERREERAR &% 12,000,000 HEBMER KBRS ZRITHREA RS (B
Lk BRERMERE) R IR (RN
12,000,0007 % BRREXRS)
ASL Softwing Investment Hong Kong 10 ordinary shares 100%* 100%*  Investment holding
Holdings Limited HK$10
B EERERAR &% 10K EBR REER
1087
CSA Automated (Macau) Macau MOP10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding, sale of computer
Limited products and solutions and provision of
hardware services (including installation
and maintenance services) and software
services (including software development,
consulting and professional services)
BBZ% (RF) BRAT il BF9#10,0007T REER  BEEREMRBRALRRIEME
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AR5 M R M

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

46.PARTICULARS OF MAJOR SUBSIDIARIES 46. X EMB AT ZH1E «

(CONTINUED)

Country/place

of incorporation/ Issued and fully  Percentage of issued
establishment paid share capital/ share capital held
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital by the Company Principal activities
SEMRARIL, R BE1TR BATFREE
WEARRE RBEZER /e BB SRES BRITRFEAL TEEH
2024 2023
“ECmE ZZI=F
ASL Automated (Thailand) Thailand 1,110,000 100% 100%  Investment holding, sale of computer
Limited ordinary shares products and solutions and provision of
THB50,000,000 hardware services (including installation
and maintenance services) and software
services (including software development,
consulting and professional services)
& 1,110,000 @R REER » HEBMERKBAS ZRIRMHAE
%#£50,000,0007T IR (BERERRERS) RBHRS
(BERHRE « BRREZERS)
Guangzhou Automated PRC HK$95,000,000 100% 100%  Sale of computer products and solutions and
Systems Limited (Note 1) provision of hardware services (including
installation and maintenance services)
and software services (including software
development, consulting and professional
services)
BNREEEEERRARAR RE 95,000,0003 7T HEBRERRBRDRRIBMHB RS (8
(HizE1) BRERRERE) R IR (ERIH
% BRREXRE)
Zhuhai Automated Systems ~ PRC HK$5,000,000 100% - Sale of computer products and solutions and
Limited (Note 2) provision of hardware services (including
installation and maintenance services)
and software services (including software
development, consulting and professional
services)
HBREEEERRK HE 5,000,000 HEBMER KBRS ZRIT LR RS (B
BIRATF (MrE2) BRERRERE) R IRE (RN
% BRREXRE)
ASL Security Solutions Limited Cayman Islands 1 ordinary share 100%* 100%*  Investment holding

HEHE

HK$0.1
TREER
0.1
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

46.PARTICULARS OF MAJOR SUBSIDIARIES 46. X EMB AT ZH1E «

(CONTINUED)

Country/place
of incorporation/

Issued and fully

Percentage of issued

establishment paid share capital/ share capital held
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital by the Company Principal activities
SEMAIL FRaZ BEITR BATFREE
WEARRE RBEZER /e BB SRES ERTRFESL TEEH
2024 2023
—EoME —EC=F
ASL Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands* 1 ordinary share 100%* 100%*  Investment holding, sale of computer
usD1 products and solutions and provision of
hardware services (including installation
and maintenance services) and software
services (including software development,
consulting and professional services)
RERUHE 1R EER REER  BEEREMRBRDRRIME
1%70 IR (BERERRERS) RBHRS
(BERHRE « BRREZERE)
ELM Technologies British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share 100%* 100%*  Investment holding
Holdings Limited usD1
HEERUHE 1R EER RERK
1%
Express Success Limited British Virgin Islands* 2 ordinary shares 100%* 100%*  Property holding
usb2
HEERUHE 2R BB MERE
VEST
Express Returns Limited British Virgin Islands* 2 ordinary shares 100%* 100%*  Property holding
usb2
HEERUHE 2R BB MERE
VEST
Express Profits British Virgin Islands* 2 ordinary shares 100%* 100%*  Property holding
Development Limited usb2
HEERUHE 2R BB MERE
VEST
Automated Systems Fortune  British Virgin Islands* 1 ordinary share 100%* 100%*  Investment holding, international

Investment Holdings
Limited
HRERHEH
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For the year ended 31st December 2024 HE T _NE+_"B=+—HILEE

46.PARTICULARS OF MAJOR SUBSIDIARIES 46. X EMB AT ZH1E «

(CONTINUED)

Country/place

of incorporation/ Issued and fully  Percentage of issued
establishment paid share capital/ share capital held
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital by the Company Principal activities
ML/ Rz BETR BATFREE
WEARRE RBEZER /B BRIREGEMES ERTRAESL TERH
2024 2023
—EomE “EC=F
GDB International Investment British Virgin Islands 2 ordinary shares 100%* 100%*  Investment holding
Limited USD54,650,001
RERUHE pEiER RERK
54,650,001
GDD International Holding ~ The US 100 common stocks 100% 100%  Investment holding
Company USD54,650,100
ES 100K EER RERK
54,650,100%7T
Notes: BEE <
1. Guangzhou Automated Systems Limited was registered in the PRC as a wholly 1. BENREEEGEERZRBRARNRFHZMS
foreign-owned enterprise. The paid-up capital up to 31st December 2024 was IEBELAE - HE_ S _NE+—-_F=+—
HK$95,000,000 (2023: HK$95,000,000). B 8944 B 7 495,000,000 T (Z B =4 :

95,000,00087T) ©

2. Zhuhai Automated Systems Limited was registered in the PRC as a wholly 2. HKBRBEEEERRBRATERRZM A
foreign-owned enterprise. The paid-up capital up to 31st December 2024 was EEENE R-Z-NE+—A=+—H B
HK$5,000,000 (2023: Nil). BEZA25,000,0008T (T2 2=F : &\&)

#  These companies operate in Hong Kong. * ZERTNEBLE

*  Subsidiaries held directly by the Company. *  KRATEEEFEZEAT -

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion EERAH 0 LRAVIEAAFNMBRABEFEFER

of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or formed a BAFEXEHENTEREEFENEEY

substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other 7 BEERAEINHMMBRABNFBELREE
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of HE) AR =

excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the RAFEEHEH » BENEASEITEMER
reporting period. FE5 o
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Particulars of Investment Properties

REYMEFR

For the year ended 31st December 2024 HZE_—ZT _E+_"F=+—HItEE

Particulars of the Group's investment properties at 31st December 2024 areas RZZ_NE+_B=+—H » xEFZREYE
follows: RN

Location Gross floor area (sq.ft) Use
thEs BHEEE(FERR) A&

Units 1 to 7 and 15 to 21 on 12th Floor 11,761 sq.ft Commercial
Topsail Plaza 11,761 F 7R EES
11 On Sum Street

Shatin

New Territories

Hong Kong

aE

R

7

L1198

| E8E 5

12181 E 758 K 152158 B8 MU

Car parking space No. P4 on Ground Floor 125 sq.ft Commercial
Topsail Plaza 125 R EES
11 On Sum Street

Shatin

New Territories

Hong Kong

aE

R

7DH

L1198

#|BES

HRPAEE (L
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Automated Systems Holdings Limited
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HONG KONG

Automated Systems (H.K.) Limited
15/F, Topsail Plaza

11 On Sum Street

Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2601 6998

Fax: (852) 2601 6936

ELM Computer Technologies Limited
Unit 1201, 12/F, Topsail Plaza

11 On Sum Street

Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2541 9900

Fax: (852) 2541 1338

i-Sprint Innovations (HK) Limited
Room 6-7, 10/F, Topsail Plaza

11 On Sum Street

Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2608 6226

Fax: (852) 2645 8069

Automated Center of Excellence (ACoE)
15/F, Topsail Plaza

11 On Sum Street

Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2601 6998

Fax: (852) 2601 6936

Security Operation Center Plus (SOC+)
15/F, Topsail Plaza

11 On Sum Street

Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2601 6998

Fax: (852) 2601 6936

Service Center

15/F, Topsail Plaza

11 On Sum Street

Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2601 6998

Fax: (852) 2601 6936

Service Center

Unit 2303, 23/F,

148 Electric Road,
North Point, Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2601 6998
Fax: (852) 2601 6936

Unified Operation Center (UOQ)
15/F, Topsail Plaza

11 On Sum Street

Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2601 6998

Fax: (852) 2601 6936

&&

BEI&4 (F8) BIRAE
SEMA A

ZLE115%
:’:J\LEJ%%B@

B 1 (852) 2601 6998
{8HE : (852) 2601 6936

WM BRI A RAT
HEMFIHE
ZE115%

E|EEIB 1618

EBEE | (852) 2541 9900
f8HE : (852) 2541 1338

ZH (FB) MR ARAE
BEWAVE
L1198
E|EEH10186-7T=

1 (852) 2608 6226
Tii}ﬁ (852) 2645 8069

HEhZ# 2 A 0(ACOE)
EBRHAA

ZIOET 1158
il\LEr%t%m%

EEE 1 (852) 2601 6998
%E (852) 2601 6936

Bl Z2EEHL(SOCH)
SEMANHA

ZIE115R

#E|BEI5 1518

EaE [ (852) 2601 6998
fHH : (852) 2601 6936

BRF L
HAMIVHE
L1158
H|EEY5 1518

:(852) 2601 6998
%E (852) 2601 6936

BRFS 0

HBILA

ERIE 14858
231%2303?

EEE 1 (852) 2601 6998
%E (852) 2601 6936

FEEERNUOQ)
HEHMAHE
ZIE115R
E|EEIB1 58
BEE | (852) 2601 6998
fEE : (852) 2601 6936

Automated Systems Holdings Limited B81##%&EBABRAS 237



Automated Systems Holdings Limited

- Information of Major Subsidiaries, Associates and Relevant Centers

BERAGEBRBRAR — FEWE - BEARNKRMBAPOER

MAINLAND CHINA

Guangzhou Automated Systems Limited
Room 1701-1709, HNA Building,

No 8 Linhe Zhong Road, Tianhe District,
Guangzhou, Guangdong, China

(Postal Code: 510610)

Tel: (86) 020 2203 8111

Fax: (86) 020 2203 8000

Offshore Delivery Excellence Center (ODEC)
Room 1701-1709, HNA Building

No 8 Linhe Zhong Road,

Tianhe District, Guangzhou, Guangdong, China
(Postal Code: 510610)

Tel: (86) 020 2203 8111

Fax: (86) 020 2203 8000

Offshore Delivery Excellence Center (ODEC)
Room 1501, Huahui Building,

No. 46 Zumiao Road, Chancheng District,
No. 29, Zumiao Foshan,

Guangdong, China

(Postal Code: 528000)

Offshore Delivery Excellence Center (ODEC)
Room 701, 7th Floor, Building 1,

Yue Zhang Mansion, No.1067 Feng Lin 3rd Road,

Lu Gu Street, Xiangjiang New District,
Hunan Province, China
(Postal Code: 410221)

Offshore Delivery Excellence Center (ODEC)
Room 404, 4/F, Block C,
Building No.24, Tech Bay,

No.1 JinTang Road, Tangjiawan Town, High-tech Zone,

Zhuhai City, Guangdong Province, P.R.CHINA
(Postal Code: 519000)

Beijing i-Sprint Technology Ltd

Room 9, Floor 9, Shougang, International Tower,
No. 60 Xizhimen North Street,

Haidian District,

Beijing, China

(Postal Code: 100082)

Tel: (86) 108 273 6009

Fax: (86) 108 273 6009 ext 623

i-Sprint Innovations (Zhuhai) Ltd

Unit 2, 4/F, Block B2, Southern Software Park,
No. 1 Software Road, Zhuhai,

Guangdong, China

Post Code: 519080

Tel: (86) 0756 6322 668
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MACAU

CSA Automated (Macau) Limited
Alameda Dr. Carlos D'’Assumpcao,

No. 180 Edificio Tong Nam Ah Comercial Campo

14 Andar O-R, Macau
Tel: (853) 2878 6392
Fax: (853) 2878 6390

Security Operation Center SOC?
Rua de Lagos, Telecentro, 4/F
Taipa, Macau

Tel: (853) 8891 5000

Fax: (853) 8891 3031

TAIWAN

Taiwan Automated Systems Limited
9F., No.19, RuihuSt., NeihuDist.,
Taipei City 114067, Taiwan (R.0.C.)
Tel: (886) 2 2659 8598

Fax: (886) 2 2659-8569

THAILAND

ASL Automated (Thailand) Limited
283/42 Home Place Office Building,
Unit 0901, 9th Floor,

Soi Sukhumvit 55 (Thonglor 13),
Sukhumvit Road,

Klongtan Nua, Vadhana,

Bangkok 10110, Thailand

Tel: (662) 185 3206

Fax: (662) 185 3207

ASL Automated Services (Thailand) Limited
283/42 Home Place Office Building,

Unit 0902, 9th Floor,

Soi Sukhumvit 55 (Thonglor 13),
Sukhumvit Road,

Klongtan Nua, Vadhana,

Bangkok 10110, Thailand

Tel: (662) 185 3206

Fax: (662) 185 3207

i-Sprint Innovations (Thailand) Co., Ltd
Level 32, Interchange 21,

399 Sukumvit Road,

North-Klongtoey Wattana,

Bangkok, 10110, Thailand

Tel: (662) 185 3206

Fax: (662) 185 3207
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SINGAPORE

i-Sprint Innovations Pte Ltd

Blk 750D Chai Chee Road,

#08-01 ESR BizPark @ Chai Chee (Lobby 1),
Singapore 469004

MALAYSIA

Automated Systems (M) SDN. BHD.
2-25, The Cube, Jalan Puteri 7/15,
Bandar Puteri,

47100 Puchong Selangor,

Malaysia

i-Sprint Innovations Sdn Bhd

The Starling Mall,

Lot 4-401 & 402, Level 4,

6 Jalan SS 21/37,

Damansara Utama 47400 Petaling Jaya,
Selangor, Malaysia

Tel: (60) 127 922 088

AUSTRALIA

Automated Systems (AU) PTY LTD
Unit 3, 2 Bringa Avenue,
Camberwell, VIC, 3124

ARMENIA

Engineering Center
6 Bryusov street,
Yerevan, 0023
Armenia

INDIA

Engineering Center

Plot No.16 Survey No.83/1, 5th Floor,

Tower 1 Knowledge Park,

Serilingampally Mandal,

Raidurg, Pan Maktha Village

Cyberabad Shaikpet Hyderabad TG 500081 IN
India

JAMAICA

2752+84W, Mona Rd,
Kingston,
Jamaica

MEXICO

Engineering Center

Av. Américas 1545,

Piso 6-7 Colonia Providencia,
Guadalajara Jal, 44630
Mexico

Tel: (52) 333 615 4413
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MOLDOVA

Engineering Center

38, Serghei Lazo str. business center
“"AVENUE" MD-2004,

Chisinau, Moldova

Tel: (37) 322 856 985

NETHERLANDS

Engineering Center
Zaandijkerweg 8,

15217 AX Wormerveer Amsterdam,
Netherlands

POLAND

Engineering Center
Grzybowska 78, 12th floor,
00-844 Warsaw, Poland
Tel: (48) 733 732 767

Engineering Center
Aleja 3 Maja 9, 3rd floor,
Krakdw, 30-062, Poland
Tel: (48) 733 732 767

Engineering Center

Jaworska Street 13,

CU Office A building, 6th floor,
53-612 Wroctaw, Poland

Tel: (48) 734 732 767

Engineering Center
Olivia Star, 19th floor,
Aleja Grunwaldzka 472C,
80-309 Gda sk, Poland
Tel: (48) 884 777 288

ROMANIA

Office

Mindspace Business District - Globalworth Campus A,
Bulevardul Dimitrie Pompeiu 4-6,

Bucuresti 020335

Romania

SERBIA

Engineering Center

Bulevar Kralja Aleksandra 18,
Beograd - Vracar, 11000 Beograd
Serbia
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SWITZERLAND

Office
Oberallmendstrasse 18, 6300 Zug
Switzerland

UKRAINE

Limited Liability Company “GD Ukraine”

Engineering Center

Business Center BC ArtGarmat,
4 Garmatna str, 1 floor, Kyiv,
Ukraine

Engineering Center

5A Pidmurna str, 8-9 floors,

Lviv, 79000,

Ukraine

Tel: (38) 093 911 8862, (38) 050 911 8862

Engineering Center

BC Diamond City, 46 Nauky Ave.,

6 floor, of. 607, Kharkiv, Ukraine, 61072
Ukraine

Tel: (38) 050 911 8862

Engineering Center
Sviatoslava Khorobroho,
12, Dnipro, 49001, Ukraine
Tel: (38) 050 911 8862

UNITED KINGDOM

Office

10 Midford Place London,
WA1T 5AG, London,
United Kingdom

Tel: (44) 020 740 480 40

UNITED STATES

Grid Dynamics Holding Inc.

Corporate Headquarters
5000 Executive Parkway,
Suite 520 San Ramon,
CA 94583, United States
Tel: (1) 650 523 5000

Engineering Center

5601 Granite Parkway,
Ste 720, Plano, TX 75024,
United States
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